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(I worship Him whose greatness has no limit, on hearing whose words, nothing
remains to be heard, on seeing whose graceful form, nothing remains to be
seen, on prostrating before whose feet, nothing remains to be done and on

obtaining whose grace, nothing remains to be attained.)

This book is humbly dedicated at the lotus feet of His Holiness
Jagadguru Sri Abhinava Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin.



Jagadguru Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin






Benedictory Message of the Reigning Pontiff of the
Dakshinamnaya Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham,

Jagadguru Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin

Having adorned the Dakshinamnaya Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham
for thirty-five years, having exceptionally propagated the tenets
of the Sanatana-dharma and having propelled several thousands
of people along the path of dharma, Our pre-eminent Guru,
Jagadguru Sri Abhinava Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin, who ought to
be thought of at the commencement of every day, shone brightly
with renown spread across the quarters. Having embraced
samnydsa at the age of fourteen and having duly performed the
duties ordained for a samnyasin till the end, He was an ideal for all
ascetics. Besides being embellished by unparalleled erudition in
Nyaya, Vedanta and other sastras, He was steadfast in the practice
of the yoga of eight limbs and experienced even nirvikalpa-
samadhi. By setting up the Veda-posaka-sabha, the Surasarasvati-
sabha and the like, by establishing numerous pathasalas and
by honouring many thousands of scholars, He multitudinously
propagated the lore of the Vedas and sastras. Having toured
throughout the country several times, He enlightened the people
on the essence of dharma and the Truth of the Supreme Brahman.
Though published hitherto in several languages,His life has not
been exhaustively covered so far; in order to fix that lacuna,
the recipient of the infinite grace of that most exalted Guru, the
celibate Sri Umesh penned His biography comprehensively in



English for the comprehension of one and all, and submitted it to
Us. We are immensely pleased on having looked into that
volume. We also trust that this work will profoundly delight the
devotees of the Guru.

It is @ matter of great felicity that this book is being published on
the occasion of the centenary of the most venerable Guru. We
bless that by the grace of the pre-eminent Guru, may all those
who are endowed with faith and have assisted in the publication
of this tome, prosper well by a stream of auspiciousness.

Thus, with the recollection of Narayana, the Supreme,
(S/d Bharati Tirtha)

The disciple born of the lotus-hand of Sringeri Jagadguru
Sri Abhinava Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin

Sringeri
Hemalamba-bhadrapada-krsna-saptami
Tuesday, 12.9.2017



Jagadguru Sr1 Vidhusekhara Bharati Svamin paying obeisance to
Jagadguru Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin



Author’s Preface

His Holiness Jagadguru Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin directed me to pen this book,
specified that it should be comprehensive and, in response to my request, blessed it with
His srimukha. My respectful namaskaras to Him.

Puspadanta states in the Siva-mahimna-stotra, “O Lord! If the ink in the inkpot that is the
ocean were comparable to a dark mountain, the pen were to be a branch of a heavenly
wish-fulfilling tree, the writing leaf were to be the earth and if, by taking recourse to
these, the Goddess of Learning were to pen for eternity, even then the limit of Your
glories will not be reached.” These words, | believe, do apply to His Holiness Jagadguru
Sr1 Abhinava Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin in toto. As for His intrinsic nature, even the Veda
declares, “Failing to attain which, speech, together with the mind, turns back...” Such
being the case, who indeed is competent to portray His corporeal and transcendental
aspects? Much less am |, an insignificant disciple of His, capable of doing so. Yet |
derive solace from Puspadanta’s words, “O Lord, if praise by one who is ignorant of the
extent of Your greatness be unbecoming then the eulogies of even Brahma and others
are inadequate for You. If all remain blameless by panegyrising You in accordance with
their intellectual capacity then even this endeavour of mine to laud You is not flawed.”
To me, He is everything; He is God, even more than God; and is the absolute acme of
perfection. It is only because of His natural and unbounded grace that | am aware of even
an infinitesimal fraction of His splendour and this itself has been sufficient to submerge
me in an ocean of bliss and to confer on me a sense of total fulfilment. Notwithstanding
my aforesaid personal view about His Holiness, in this book, | have avoided hyperbole
and stuck to just the presentation of facts. To the reader, | hasten to add, in the words of
Sri Madhusiidana Sarasvati, “Whatever is proper here is due solely to my Guru and not
due to me. Whatever is improper here is solely on account of me and not on account of
my Guru.”

This book presents the life and teachings of His Holiness Jagadguru Sri Abhinava
Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin, who adorned the Sringeri Sharada Peetham asits 35" Jagadguru
Shankaracharya for 35 years, from 1954 to 1989. His birth and early days in Bengaluru,
His pre-monastic life in Sringeri and His embracing samnydsa are reported in the first
three chapters. Next, His intense practice of spiritual disciplines up to their culmination
in His enlightenment and jivanmukti (liberation while living) on 12" December, 1935, has
been reported in detail. The bond between Him and His Guru was extraordinary; while



He was very deeply devoted to His Guru and served Him with dedication, His Guru loved
Him dearly and even regarded Him as God incarnate. This has been brought out in the
chapter, “Unique Bond.” The Mahasamadhi of His Guru and His coronation as a pontiff
are described in the next chapter.

He was multifaceted. The chapters, “Technical Acumen” and “All-round Administrator”
throw light on some of His facets. His role as a Guru is highlighted in the chapter titled,
“He Graced All.” His interactions with the young and with animals are covered in the
chapters, “At Home with the Young” and “Love for Animals” respectively. He was deeply
patriotic and the chapter, “Nation First” deals with this. The next chapter, “Admired
Personage” has for its content His interactions with different spiritual and religious
leaders. His giving samnydsa to and choosing as His successor a disciple, the present
pontiff, Jagadguru Sri Bharati-tirtha Mahasvamin, is described in the chapter, “Chosen
Successor.”

His teachings are given thereafter under the heads, “Enriching Stories”, “Cogent
Elucidations” and “From His Pen.” The content of the next chapter is patent from its title,
“His Scientific Insight.” The chapter that follows, “Beyond Embodiment” describes His
Mahasamadhi and continued presence.

Following His becoming a pontiff, He toured extensively, spreading dharma, expounding
the Truth and uplifting thousands upon thousands. During His pontificate of 35 years, He
toured for over 17 years, the total number of tours, long and short, being 35. The details
of His tours have been presented in tabular form; this big chapter is titled, “Journal of
Journeys.”

For easy readability, only the translations or the imports of the Sanskrit quotations have
been provided in all the chapters as has been done in this preface. The interested reader
may refer to the Appendix for the Devanagari text of those quotations tabulated chapter-
wise, along with their references.

It is only due to His grace that it has been possible to ready this book, which has over
1000 pages and around 1000 photographs, in around two months itself so as to meet
the deadline of the book’s release on 18" October, 2017, which marks the completion of
His birth centenary.

But for Sri G. Ramasubramanian, this book could not have seen the light of day. All |
did was to pen some material; the rest was essentially done by him. Working night and
day, unmindful of his poor health, he collected and collated much of the information that



has been incorporated in several chapters, gathered and processed the photographs,
cross-checked and tabulated the data pertaining to His Holiness’s tours, typeset the
book and coordinated with the press. He was ably assisted by a dedicated team, which
included Sri P. Parimala Rangan, Sri Sridhar Sathi, Smt. Sujatha Sridhar, Ms. S. Sharada,
Sri K. Parthasarathy and Sri V. Rajesh Kumar.

Dr. H. N. Shankar and Dr. B. R. Vidyashankar gave valuable suggestions and not only
checked but also contributed significantly to the contents of this book.
Sri V. Subrahmanian, Smt. Sumita Vidyashankar and Sri K. Suresh Chandar proofread the
material.

The primary sponsors of this publication are Sri Venkataramanan Krishnan, Sri Suresh
Krishnamoorthy and Sri A. Ramaswamy.

Sri N. Subramanian of Sudarsan Graphics, Chennai, printed this book with personal
interest and in a short time.
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Key to Transliteration

il d 3
= a g
2 1 e
g 1 @
3 u 9
Ed k 4
9 kh g
1 g %
q gh T
=S n da
q C 9
] ch T
E J 9
# jh q
= i 9
< t %

Note on use of Diacritical Marks in this Book

Sanskrit words have been spelt in English with diacritical marks to enable them to be

=i

@ — = H

dh

g 8 ~

e - BRI B e - R

. (anusvara) m

ai
0
au

S
h

: (visarga) h

correctly pronounced. Examples: pranayama, puja.

Names of divinities and of monks have been written with diacritical marks. Examples:

Saradamba; Candramauliévara, Sri Nrsirhha Bharati.

Names of buildings and institutions have generally been written without diacritical marks
even when the names are clearly of Sanskrit origin. Examples: Shankara Krupa (not
Sankara-krpa), Sandhya-mandapa (not Sandhya-mandapa); Shankar Math (not Sankara-

matha); Sharada Peetham (not Sarada-pitha).
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CHAPTER 1

The Advent

The sun had set. An orange glow filled the evening sky and gave a golden tinge to
the softly flowing river that wound its way through the valley. Atop a hill, in a
secluded temple, a sage sat motionless. His eyes were half-closed. Time passed on
but He seemed to be oblivious of it, lost as He was in some blissful state. His very
silence seemed dynamic, for He
undoubtedly radiated peace. Finally,
His breathing became discernible
and His eyes opened. He turned to
the installed deity and called out
its name. His voice reverberated in
the small structure. He stepped out
and gracefully walked down the hill
to a building that was His abode in
the picturesque valley. There, many
awaited Him and to Him they paid
obeisance. A kind word, a sagacious
advice, a smile and a benevolent
blessing to cheer the assembled
ones and then He disappeared
from their midst for a session of
mantra-yoga. He reappeared before
them, this time to be lost in some
mystic communion with the Divine
as He sat to worship a treasured
crystal linga. The Vedic chanting in &
perfect unison seemed to transport




those present to some divine realm. In the temple, amidst devotees and during
the worship, the saint who shone with spiritual splendour was His Holiness
Sri Abhinava Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin, the 35" Jagadguru Shankaracharya of the
Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham.

His flawless character, noble virtues, intense dispassion, deep devotion to God and
His Guru, thorough grasp of Vedanta, profound meditation, direct realization of the
Supreme and jivanmukti (liberation even while alive) made Him stand out as a living
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testimony to the scriptural statements about enlightened sages with nothing further to
accomplish. Exceptionally compassionate and egoless, He was an accessible Guru par
excellence who touched the hearts of the hundreds of thousands who came into contact
with Him, mitigated unhappiness, conferred happiness and uplifted people, even to
the extent of liberating them once and for all from the bondage of samsara. He was
truly multifaceted; He was not only a spiritual giant, yogin, scholar and compassionate
preceptor but was also an adept in agriculture, horticulture, forestry and the
construction of buildings, an able administrator, a lover of animals, an admirer of nature
and environmentalist, a staunch patriot, a polyglot, an extensive traveller, a patient and
attentive listener, a well-read and fluent orator, an impactful communicator, a congenial
and cheerful personage grounded in tradition yet catholic in outlook, a towering
intellectual at home with religion and science and a visionary instrumental in the setting
up of various religious and secular institutions to benefit the public.

In the Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham, His Holiness was the 35" in the unbroken line of
Gurus headed by Sankara-bhagavatpada. His Guru, to whom He was deeply devoted
and whom He served with diligence and dedication, was Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara
Bharati (1892-1954), the 34" pontiff of the Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham (from 1912
to 1954). His Holiness’s Guru was thoroughly dispassionate and inward-turned and this
was obvious to those who had contact with Him. Widely venerated as a jivanmukta
(one liberated while living), He was recognised by scholars as an unmatched authority
on the Tarka, Mimamsa and Veddanta sastras. He authored a definitive commentary
on the Vivekaciidamani and to those who have carefully perused it, it is apparent
that His knowledge of the scripture was very deep and that His exposition of some of
the verses about enlightenment and jivanmukti bore the stamp of His own realization
of the Truth and blissful abidance in It. The Mundaka-upanisad unequivocally specifies
that to realise the Truth, one must resort to a Guru who is versed in the scripture and
established in the Supreme Brahman and, in His Holiness’s case, His Guru was decidedly
of this kind.

His Holiness’s Paramaguru (Guru’s Guru) was Jagadguru Sri Saccidananda Sivabhinava
Nrsimha Bharati (1858-1912), the pitha’s 33rd pontiff (from 1879 to 1912). This saint’s
greatness found manifestation even on the day of His being initiated into samnyasa at
the age of eight. As He slept that night, He was heard saying softly, “sarvo’ham (I am
all)” The Brhadaranyaka-upanisad points out, “And when in his sleep, he thinks, ‘This
universe is myself. | am all’ — that is his highest state.” It is recorded that even when
young, He often used to go into nirvikalpa-samadhi, the pinnacle of meditation, and had
to be explicitly prohibited by His Guru from entering that exalted state for a time so that
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SriSaccid@nanda Sivabhinava  Sri Candrasekhara Bharati

Nrsimha Bharati

Shrines at Kalady

His scriptural studies may not be
affected. To Him goes the credit
of determining the birthplace,
Kalady (in Kerala), of Sankara-
bhagavatpada, consecration of a
temple for Bhagavatpada there
and instituting the celebration
of Sankara-jayanti every year in
a grand manner for five days at
Kalady and elsewhere. Such was
His Holiness’s glorious spiritual
lineage.

Kaipu Sitarama Sastry was, in the
19%" century, a respected judge
of the Huzur Adalat (a Court of
Appeal with three Indian Judges)
of the erstwhile princely state
of Mysore. His forefathers had
migrated from Kaipu in Andhra
Pradesh and hence the prefix
Kaipu was appended to his name
and that of his progeny. He
belonged to the kaundinya-gotra.
He had three sons — Nanjunda
Sastry, Srinivasa Sastry and
Veeraraghava Sastry. Srinivasa

Sastry worked as a Tahsildar in the Chennapatna Taluk before becoming a judge like his

esteemed father. Apart from being proficient in his profession, he commanded deep

respect as an honourable and learned man. Srinivasa Sastry was a great exponent of the

puranas and a gathering used to converge at his place to listen to him. When a young
boy, he found an idol of Lord Ganapati in the Dharmambudhi Lake (where the large
Kempegowda Bus Station in Bengaluru is now located). He carried the idol home and

began to worship it. That idol has now been installed in a temple in Bengaluru. Several

incidents reveal that Srinivasa Sastry was a recipient of Lord Ganapati’s grace. One such

is as follows.
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One night, before lying down, his wife went around to see if all the children were asleep.
She noticed that a child was sleeping with its legs in Lord Ganapati’s shrine. Irritated,
she struck the young one. The child, however, did not awaken. She herself put the child
in the proper place and then retired for the night. The next morning, Srinivasa Sastry
was seated in his bed and did not move out for some time. Seeing this, she asked him,
“Why are you seated? Did you not sleep or are you not well?” “Sleep? | had just little
of it” he responded. “Is anything upsetting you?” she queried. He asked, “Did any of
our children do any mischief yesterday? Did the elders punish them?” “Who beat the
child?” he continued, to the surprise of his wife. “Why do you ask?” she counter queried.
“Someone has beaten a child. Are you not telling me or have you forgotten? Do you
not know what has happened?” he pressed. She had not attached any importance to
her striking her sleeping child and it had slipped from her mind. On her recalling what
had transpired the previous night, she narrated the same to her husband. At this,
Srinivasa Sastry revealed, “Lord Ganapati said, ‘Are these children not mine?
Why should | be angry?’ He directed that the children should not be so beaten.”

Srinivasa Sastry’s elder brother Nanjunda Sastry had one son and one daughter. The son’s
name was Subbaraya Sastry. He, in turn, had three sons — Nanjundiah, Lakshminarayana
and Rama Sastry — and two daughters, Seethamma and Janakamma. His third son, Rama
Sastry, married Venkatalakshmamma. Her father Ramaiah of Kanakapura was a student
of Rama Sastry’s father, Subbaraya Sastry, and he retired as a Munsif in the Revenue
Department. He belonged to the Haritasa-gotra and had two sons and three daughters.
Venkatalakshmamma was his second daughter.

Rama Sastry was very fair, of medium height and handsome. He was not well-to-do.
He worked as a teacher for a primary school at Bengaluru. His income was primarily
confined to what he got at the school and what he collected from a village owned by him
jointly with his relative, S. G. Narasimhaiyya. The amount payable to the Government
was small and the rest went to the owners. There was no territorial or peasant-wise
division and, basically, he who collected the money got it. Rama Sastry was rather
haphazard in his procurements. This may have been due to his carefree attitude to
life, with little care for the morrow.

He never demeaned himself by soliciting petty loans. By nature, he was always cheerful
and ready to help others. He stood in the forefront whenever an occasion arose to
perform some dharmika activities. Given to sharing, he never consumed a delicacy
without first distributing it to others. He was extremely fond of animals and had several
pets. Later in life, he took care of several cows and was greatly attached to them. The
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cows used to be at his side at his call. Narasimhaiyya had the occasion to witness Rama
Sastry calling a cow by name. However, another cow moved forward. He pointed out to it
that he had not called it and again called the cow he wanted. That cow immediately came
to him. He even started rearing a tiger cub but as his neighbours grew apprehensive of
the carnivore, he had to hand it over to a zoo.

According to Narasimhaiyya, Rama Sastry had some mantra-sakti obtained by him from
his friend Vajapeyam Govindaiyya. Those suffering from acute single-sided headache as
also those stung by scorpions used to approach him for succour. He chanted a mantra,
waved a handkerchief and pressed the temples of the patient with the thumb and middle-
finger in order to cure headaches. He resorted to protracted chanting of a mantra to deal
with scorpion bites. To treat ailments relating to the

liver and the spleen, he took up some thin sticks that Venkatalakshmamma was

were six to nine inches long, moved them as if he a gem of a person. Her
were playing a drum and chanted an incantation; he devotion and loyalty to her
also gave some medicines to be taken for a few days. husband were exemplary.
In Narasimhaiyya’s view, many felt better after being She was extremely patient,
treated by Rama Sastry. never complained about

her family problems and
Venkatalakshmamma was a gem of a person. Her bore them with remarkable

devotion and loyalty to her husband were exemplary. fortitude. She was
She was extremely patient, never complained about unable to tolerate
her family problems and bore them with remarkable the least criticism of
fortitude. She was unable to tolerate the least her spouse.

criticism of her spouse. On an occasion, an important

wedding was to take place. However, she abstained from attending it. The reason was
that her clothing was not up to the mark. She felt that if she went there, it would lower
her husband’s prestige and people might feel that he was not giving her enough. If any
of the children was injured or beaten during play and came complaining to her, she
would say, “It is better that you avoid that place. At any rate, your suffering is due to your
karma. Therefore, bear it with fortitude.”

She used to narrate numerous stories from the puranas and other religious and moral
texts to her children and was deeply committed to grounding them in righteousness.
She carried out her domestic duties efficiently. A loving mother, she even starved herself
on certain days so that her offspring — three boys and three girls — may eat adequately.
Her first child was Sitalakshmi. During her second pregnancy, she stayed for some time
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at her sister’s house in Hosakote, near Bengaluru. While there, she bathed daily in the

Pennar River and, with wet clothing, repeatedly went around an asvattha-vrksa (fig-

tree), regarded as sanctified by Lord Visnu’s presence. Her prayer was that she should

give birth to a good son. This supplication was heard by the Lord and He graced her with

an exceptional male child, who went on to become the 35" Jagadguru Shankaracharya
of the Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham.

She gave birth to her first son at Basavan-

gudi in Bengaluru in a small room in Rama

Sastry’s sister’s house (A multi-storeyed

building is what is seen there now). As fate

would have it, it was not given to Rama

Sastry to be around when the child was

born. He was then an inpatient at the

Victoria Hospital in Bengaluru, having

House where His Holiness was born been admitted there for the surgical

treatment of an abdominal condition.

Venkatalakshmamma'’s devotion to

her husband was so intense that even as the time of delivery approached, she

expressed disappointment at not being able to be of any help to her husband in the
hospital!

The blessed child was born at 6:45 a.m.
on 13" November, 1917, corresponding
to krsna-caturdasi of the month of
asvayuja of the cyclical year Pingala,
with the child’s lagna (sun-sign) being
vrscika (Scorpio), rasi (moon-sign) being
tula (Libra) and the naksatra (birth-star)
being svati. Almost as if to mark a divine
advent, there were widespread joyous Dipavall
celebrations with religious fervour; dipavali was being celebrated at that time in several
parts of India. Relatives attributed Rama Sastry’s quick recovery and early discharge from
the hospital to the benign influence of the child. The couple named their child ‘Srinivasa’.

When Sri Srinivasa Sastry was a child, His elder sister Sitalakshmi, who used to help
her mother in taking care of Him, took Him with her one day when she went to
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the Dharmambudhi Lake to wash
clothes. She was aghast to see when
she turned that He had slipped into the
water and was almost drowning. It was
with great difficulty that He was able to
come out. He who knew no swimming at
that age would, in a matter of time, become
an ace swimmer and swim like a fish in
various rivers and the ocean; not just that,
| He would swim across even the ocean of
: transmigratory existence and help many
an aspiring soul to reach its farther shore,
| the Supreme.

He had His primary education in the
" Municipal Primary School and then
studied up to the eighth standard at
the Arya Vidyasala in Bengaluru. He

From left: Ramanatha Sastry (brother), SriRama ~ Was an obedient and conscientious

Sri Srinivasa Sastry (extreme right)

Him trekking on time to His school
in the prescribed uniform, which included a cap and a coat. He was sociable and
friendly. In the evenings, He used to play various games with His friends. He was an
adept at climbing trees and often played ‘marakoti (tree-monkey)’; the game was
tree-based and involved chasing and catching. When a tree that appeared very difficult
to climb was seen and the question, “Who can climb it?” arose, the answer, invariably,
was “Srinivasa.” To Him foul play was abhorrent and He never indulged in it.

He and His friends used to assemble after play and relate morally relevant stories.
He proficiently narrated stories from the Puranas, Mahabharata and the Niti-cintamani.
When narrating the story of Hariscandra, He stressed the importance of veracity and
the advantages of being truthful. The dire consequences of attachment described in
the story of Jadabharata and the soul-stirring devotion of Prahlada were driven home
by Him in some of His presentations.

His belief in God was deep. There was a body of water that His friends feared to
approach after sunset as it was believed to be infested by ghosts. He had no such fear.
In response to a challenge from His friends, He boldly went to it late in the evening
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on an amavasya, washed His hands and feet, rinsed His mouth and returned. Later, on
later being asked about His lack of fear, He said, “l was chanting the name of God. How
could any evil spirit accost me?” Interestingly, while He thus affirmed His confidence
in the existence and protection of God, He expressed no opinion about whether or
not ghosts actually inhabited that water body and harmed people who came to it.

One evening, on being asked what He would like to do when He grew up, He said that
He would strive to realise God. When a friend asked Him why He opined thus, He said,
“For that is what is good.” That friend then challenged His conviction that God exists
on the ground that neither He nor those He knew had seen God.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: Can you prove that there is no God? Would you say that something
does not exist because you have not seen it? For instance, have you seen Bombay
(now Mumbai)? No. Does it then follow that Bombay is non-existent?

Friend: | have not seen Bombay. But | have seen many who have. That is why | believe
that Bombay exists.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: Very well. Likewise, our ancient sages who had beheld the Lord
have given clear-cut indications to that effect. What is wrong if we unreservedly
accept their words? Their experience cannot be set aside and so we must concede the
existence of God.

Here, He was not arguing to convert an atheist but to rebut a believer who challenged
His conviction about the existence of the Supreme on the specific ground of non-
perception of the Supreme by Him and by those He was familiar with. The crux of
His response was that He was relying on verbal testimony (Sabda-pramana). It is
noteworthy that Vedantins give great importance to verbal testimony as a means of
valid knowledge. Sankara-bhagavatpada does not accept inference, divorced from
verbal testimony, as competent to conclusively establish the existence of the Supreme.
Being rooted in the teaching of the scripture, the direct experience of the Supreme
had by the truly great, such as the ancient sages, is deemed to be valid. Thus, His
effective reliance, even when He was a young boy unexposed to Vedanta, on
verbal testimony to substantiate the existence of the Supreme was quite in line with
Vedanta, of which He would go on to become an undisputed authority.

He greatly valued ahimsa. The following dialogue is suggestive of this:

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: Hunting of animals is improper.
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Friend: Carnivorous animals prey on weaker creatures. Such being the case, they
deserve to be killed.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: God has created some animals as food for the carnivores. This
does not entitle man to poke his nose into the laws of nature and indulge in slaughter.

His statements about hunting were in harmony with the teaching in the Mahdabharata
that desire-driven hunting is a grave vice and that the one who never yields to the
delusion that hunting is right is praiseworthy.

He was patience personified. One day, His friends sought to test the limits of His
forbearance. In the course of a game, they fetched a stick and began to beat Him with
it. He bore their unprovoked onslaught without a murmur. When the boys stopped,
aghast at how far they had gone in testing Him, He won their hearts with kind words.
To impress upon them the power of fortitude, He also told them the following story.
A Buddhist monk was unjustly tortured by a monarch. At the end, the king softened.
Ashamed, he begged the monk’s pardon. As an act of atonement, he catered to the
subsequent needs of the monk. Thus, merely by non-retaliation, the monk was able
to humble the emperor. His friends hung their heads in shame on hearing the tale and
went home wiser.

While He was ready to put up with any nonsense involving Himself, His approach
was different when others were troubled. There was a sturdy bully called Gundu.
He often disrupted the games that Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s friends played. Sri Srinivasa
Sastry resolved to terminate the unwarranted bullying and disruption. Though of
a small build, He pounced on the bully. A scuffle ensured. The other boys stood as
silent spectators, expecting Gundu’s might to overpower His valour. That, however, was
not to be. It was the bully who was vanquished. The victor, Sri Srinivasa Sastry, sat on
him and asked for a sheet of paper to be brought. On it, He made Gundu write that he
would not trouble the boys again.

He was prepared to go out of the way to terminate the suffering being inflicted on
even a small creature. He once beheld a boy cruelly catching thoroughly innocuous
butterflies, tearing out their wings and throwing the hapless creatures to a dog.
Walking up to the boy, He quickly grasped his hands and twisted them. The boy yelled.
Relaxing His vice-like grip, Sri Srinivasa Sastry said, “The butterflies also must feel
like this. Just as you have hands, they have wings. Abstain from torturing them
hereafter.” According to the scripture, even a butterfly does have a jiva (transmigrating,
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individual soul) that can undergo suffering and it is possible for one to be reborn,
as a consequence of one’s sins, as a butterfly. In the Mahabharata, there is the story
of a learned rsi named Mandavya being impaled on a stake. On his later going to Yama,
the god of death, and asking the reason for his suffering, he was told that as a boy he
had tormented butterflies. As Sri Srinvasa Sastry’s mother had narrated many stories
from the scriptures to Him, it is presumable that He knew the story of Mandavya.
By getting the boy to desist from totally unjustifiably and sadistically torturing and
killing harmless butterflies, He not only provided relief to the butterflies but also saved
the boy from sinning by continuing to kill them and, thereby, saved him from having
to suffer, at some time, the painful consequences of such sin.

He was willing to even put up with suffering to relieve others of their distress. Once,
His friend did not fare well in the examinations. Determined to severely punish him,
the boy’s strict father ordered him to bend and placed a heavy stone on his back. Unable
to bear the load, the boy soon began wailing. Sri Srinivasa Sastry heard the piteous
cries and rushed to the spot. Addressing the father, He said, “You are older than me
and wiser too. Your son is in great pain. Please let him rest, at least for a while. You may
place the stone on my back instead and | shall support it for him.” The father was moved
by Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s heartfelt concern and relieved his son of the burden imposed.

In the Bhagavadgita, same-sightedness in pleasure and pain has often been eulogised.
Such equanimity came naturally to Him. One day, He and His friends were served a
dish and they began to partake of it. It was only then that they realized that it was very
pungent. To assuage the strong burning sensation in their mouths, His friends screamed
for water and jaggery. He, however, remained undisturbed. He suggested to them
to be calm. Misunderstanding His well-intentioned suggestion, they reacted cuttingly
to it. “You speak thus,” they challenged. “Can you eat a handful of chillies without
a murmur of protest?” “Yes,” was His nonchalant reply. A handful of highly pungent
chillies was placed before Him. One by one, the chillies disappeared into His mouth.
The boys looked on, more surprised than disappointed. All the chillies were consumed
by Him, without even a slight change of expression in His face. He then said, “One need
not consume spices like this. As you demanded that | eat the chillies, | did so. My aim was
only to convince you that it is possible to be contented with and thankful for whatever
food one gets.”

Even as a young boy, He made it a point to help His mother every day. He conscientiously
performed various domestic chores, such as cleansing of vessels and sweeping. He also
took care of His younger siblings. When once asked about His attending to His brother
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like a foster-mother, He said, “My mother
is busy in the kitchen and my elder sister is
assisting her. Who will attend to this young
one? If | do not do so, it will add to my
mother’s strain.”

He privately worshipped a small crystal idol
of Lord Ganapati. One day, He asked His
mother, “Can | have something to offer as
naivedya?” The poor lady was at a loss to
do anything, for there was nothing in the
house to give Him. Sensing His mother’s
discomfiture, He hastened to reassure her
and said, “Do not be ill at ease. If it is difficult
for you to give me anything, please do
not concern yourself.” The Lord could not be made to go hungry, could He? Nor was

Lord Ganapati

there anything to give Him. How did Sri Srinivasa Sastry extricate Himself from
the horns of this dilemma? Bhagavan has said in the Bhagavadgita, “Whatever the
pure-minded one offers Me with devotion, be it a leaf, flower, fruit or water, that do
I accept.” Accordingly, with a heart full of love and a spoonful of water, Sri Srinivasa
Sastry satiated the Lord’s appetite.

He was a bright student. His father, a primary-school teacher, was a strict disciplinarian
and students feared him. Consequently, several young boys of the primary school
sought Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s help to clear their doubts. Never did He grudge them help
though such tuition demanded that He regularly spare time for them. His elucidations
were impressive and the young ones benefitted thereby.

One day, under the completely mistaken impression that Sri Srinivasa Sastry did not
study properly, Rama Sastry upbraided Him and ordered Him to stretch out His hand.
Even though He was not at all at fault, He obeyed, without uttering even a single
word in His defence. His father’s hand held an upraised cane. The cane descended
repeatedly on His upturned palm. He did not wince and no sound emerged from
His mouth. When His father was done with caning one hand, He calmly stretched out
His other hand to facilitate the continuance of the unwarranted corporal punishment.
Venkatarama lyer, an astrologer from Palakkad, who lived in a rented room in
Rama Sastry’s house, intervened to terminate the chastisement. Wanting to gauge
the extent of injury, he inspected Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s palms. He was conversant
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with palmistry and the lines there captured his attention. Turning to Rama Sastry, he
exclaimed, “You are fortunate. This boy is dissimilar to your other children. He is destined
to be a dispassionate one adept at yoga. It will not be surprising if the Jagadguru
of Sringeri nominates him as the successor to the pitha. Do not beat him, for it is
likely that you may have to prostrate before him.” Venkatarama lyer then scrutinised
Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s horoscope and asserted that He would become a samnyasin.
Rama Sastry was sceptical about the prediction. However, perhaps because his
curiosity was aroused, he requested an astrologer named Sathyanarayana, who lived
nearby, to examine the horoscope. After careful perusal, the astrologer said, “If you
permit him to become an ascetic, you will have the privilege of at least beholding
him. Else, he will go away to a forest for meditation.”

With the passage of time, Sri Srinivasa Sastry began to regularly express to His friends
His desire to renounce the world. At first His companions found His longing ludicrous
but soon realised that He was inexorably resolved. One boy asked Him, “What use is
there in becoming a samnydsin? By becoming a great king, one attains an exalted
position.” Sri Srinivasa Sastry responded, “Do not think thus. What long-lasting benefit
is there in becoming a monarch? An emperor can enjoy only when he is in power. That
state of affairs must come to an end, sooner or later. If, however, | become a samnyasin,
I can constantly meditate and be without any worries. There will be a wonderful
opportunity to behold God and I shall remain ever protected by Him.” He was only twelve
years of age when He said this.
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CHAPTER 2

Meeting His Master

One evening, Sri Srinivasa Sastry went to the residence of His elder sister, Sitalakshmi.
There, ghee had just been melted. On His stretching out His hand, His sister poured
a little clarified butter into His palm. He immediately sipped the same. Sitalakshmi’s
husband, Narasimha Sastry, observed this and remarked, “Such drinking of ghee is
done in our tradition at the time of the upanayana. Hence, you will soon be invested
with the sacred thread.” These words gladdened Sri Srinivasa Sastry.

Meanwhile, at Sringeri, Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati desired to throw off
the burden of pontifical duties and remain absorbed in Brahman. Hence, He resolved to
choose a successor to whom He could entrust the responsibilities of the pitha. He had
made known His resolve to Srikanta Sastry, the Agent, who administered the Matha on
behalf of the pontiff.

One day, Srikanta Sastry arrived at Bengaluru. He asked Venkatarama lyer, the

astrologer who resided in Rama Sastry’s house, “Have you come across any boy whose
horoscope indicates that he will take up the samnyasa-
asrama? The Jagadguru of Sringeri is looking for a
successor.” Venkatarama lyer replied, “Yes, | have come
across such a horoscope and shall bring it.” He quickly
fetched Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s horoscope and handed
it over to Srikanta Sastry. “Bring this boy and his father
to the Matha,” instructed Srikanta Sastry. Venkatarama
lyer proceeded to Rama Sastry’s house and arrived
at the Shankar Math with Sri Srinivasa Sastry and
Rama Sastry.

Srikanta Sastry (to Rama Sastry): Has this boy’s
upanayana been performed?
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Rama Sastry: Not yet. | am waiting for an
opportune moment.

Srikanta Sastry: In that case, if you bring Him
to Sringeri, the investiture can be done there
at the Matha’s expense. Will you come?

Viewing the offer as a godsend, Rama

Sastry readily consented. Srikanta Sastry

gave him in writing the day of the

upanayana. Subsequently, Rama Sastry

and his family left for Sringeri so as to

Horoscope of Sri Srinivasa Sastry be there a few days before the specified

date. They travelled by train from Bengaluru and reached Tarikere, via Birur. They

then proceeded by tramway from Tarikere to Narasimharajapura (According to the

Railway Timetable of 1930, the tramway, running on a two-feet track, left every

day from Tarikere at 7:00 a.m. and reached Narasimharajapura at 10:30 a.m., the

fare being eight annas, half a rupee. This tramway service was discontinued in

1941.) At Narasimharajapura, they had lunch at Lakshminarayana Sastry’s house.

(Lakshminarayana Sastry later became His Holiness’s Private Secretary). After food, they

left by bullock cart and reached Sringeri that night, around 10 p.m. Good arrangements

had been made for their stay and they were accommodated in the Dharmasala

(This choultry housed the Matha’s school in the 1970s). When the Jagadguru came to

that location in connection with the ongoing five-day Sankara-jayanti celebrations, His

glance fell on Rama Sastry and He said, “Everyone is busy now. You can have darsana
at leisure tomorrow.” The functions concluded on the 3™ of May, Saturday.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s upanayana was scheduled to take place the next day, that is, on
4™ May, 1930, corresponding to vaisaka-sukla-sasti of the cyclical year Pramodiita, in
Goddess Saradamba’s temple itself. According to the Manu-smrti, “For the boy’s second
birth (at the time of his upanayana), Savitri is said to be his mother.” Savitri, Gayatri
and Sarada are names of Goddess Sarasvati. That morning, Srikanta Sastry told Rama
Sastry, “The time when the brahmopadesa (initiation into the Gayathri-mantra) is to
be performed has been decided. The bell in Saradamba’s temple will ring at that time.”
The ringing of the bell began just past 12:00 noon, at the start of the abhijit-muhdrta
(That day the abhijit-muhdrta was from 12:02 p.m. to 12:50 p.m.). Sri Srinivasa Sastry
received His initiation and, thereby, had His ‘second birth’ at that time.
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Saradamba Temple

The Matha’s main purohita (priest), Venkatasubba Avadhani, had been deputed
to conduct the ceremony and it was he who taught Sri Srinivasa Sastry His first
madhyahnika (religious rite to be performed every afternoon). That evening, he sent
his son, Ganapati Subrahmanya Avadhani (who later succeeded his father as the
purohita) to substitute for him and teach the evening sandhya-vandana (religious rite to
be performed every day at dawn and dusk). Sri Srinivasa Sastry meticulously repeated
what He was told to say till the portion on abhivadana (salutation with self-introduction)
was reached. “Kasyapa-vatsara-naidhruva-trayarseya-pravaranvita (Belonging to the
line of ancestors headed by the three sages Kasyapa, Vatsara and Naidhruva),” intoned
Avadhani. “Stop,” retorted Sri Srinivasa Sastry. “I think something is wrong.” “You
do not know. Repeat what | tell you,” countered Avadhani. “What you are telling me
now is different from what | was taught in the afternoon regarding this,” persisted Sri
Srinivasa Sastry. His sister Sitalakshmi’s spouse Narasimha Sastry, who had heard all
this, told Avadhani, “Your gotra is Kasyapa, whereas Srinivasa’s is Koundinya. Hence,
he should say: Vasistha-maitravaruna-koundinya.” Avadhani corrected himself but was
surprised that Sri Srinivasa Sastry had remembered what He had heard once earlier
and that too amidst numerous Vedic and non-Vedic metrical and prosaic utterances.
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The religious observances connected with the upanayana were completed in five days

and in this period Sri Srinivasa Sastry was required to observe ceremonial purity and
was not supposed to cross any river. Thereafter, Rama Sastry and members of his family
crossed the gently flowing Tunga and went to Narasimhavana to behold the Jagadguru.
Looking compassionately at Sri Srinivasa Sastry, the Jagadguru said, “Now you are

a brahmacarin. It may be necessary for you to go home and perform the ordained
duties.” “l would like to remain here,” Sri Srinivasa Sastry responded, with reverence.
The Jagadguru asked, “Do you not have to study English and take up a job to earn
your livelihood? If yes, it is imperative that you go.” Undaunted in His resolve and frank

Looking compassionately at
Sri Srinivasa Sastry, the Jagadguru

said, “Now you are a brahmacarin.

It may be necessary for you

to go home and perform the
ordained duties.” “I would like to
remain here,” Sri Srinivasa Sastry
responded, with reverence.
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in His expression, Sri Srinivasa Sastry said,
“l desire neither that education nor a job. |
wish to study Sanskrit here.”

Jagadguru: Tell me what you are now reading
inschool.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: | am studying the
Nalacaritra and | know it by rote.

Jagadguru: Recite some verses from it.

At this point, He unexpectedly placed His
right palm on Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s head.
Sri Srinivasa Sastry recited and expounded
some passages in such an exemplary manner
that Rama Sastry was astonished.

Jagadguru: What else have you studied?
Sri Srinivasa Sastry: History and geography.
Jagadguru: What are you taught in history?

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: About kingdoms, wars
and the like.

He proceeded to give a brief account of some
of the historical facts learnt by Him.



Jagadguru: What about geography?

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: We read of oceans, | [elefeleloliIdiin (o]l el N = 5=y
continents, etc. taught various morals. Tell me one
moral which you regard as being

Jagadguru: You must have been taught .
rather important.

various morals. Tell me one moral which
you regard as being rather important.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry: Keep good
company and eschew evil

The elders who were present became
tense, for they did not know what answer | Ghiis il
would be given. They need not have had

any fears.
Sri Srinivasa Sastry: Keep good company and eschew evil associations.

On hearing these words, which were spoken unhesitatingly and with conviction, the
others heaved a sigh of relief. For His part, the Jagadguru was visibly pleased. He spoke
to Srikanta Sastry for a while. Next, addressing Sri Srinivasa Sastry, He asked, “Will
you study here?” Without a moment’s hesitation, Sri Srinivasa Sastry answered in the
affirmative. Turning to His parents, He said, “You can go home, for | wish to be a student
here.” In accordance with the Jagadguru’s instructions, arrangements were made for His
stay and study at Sringeri. His parents and other relatives left for Bengaluru.

Desiring that Sri Srinivasa Sastry should not be disturbed in the course of His studies,
the Jagadguru lodged Him in Siddhashrama (a building that is not extant now but
was then situated near the present Office of the Private Secretary) in Narasimhavana. The
atmosphere was that of a hermitage in ancient times. Ramaswamy Avadhani (who later
served as the principal of the Matha’s pathasala at Sringeri), a boy from Kerala named
Krishnan, Vireswara Dongre and Anantarama Somayaji were among those who became
Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s classmates and stayed with Him. Sitarama Holla was instructed to
sleep in Siddhashrama at night. He was also tasked with supplying warm water to the
boys in the mornings for their bath. {When Holla gave me this information, He added
that he had been instructed to ensure that Sri Srinivasa Sastry did have warm water for
His morning bath. This showed the Jagadguru’s concern for His disciple’s health, which
He felt was in need of attention.}

Sri Srinivasa Sastry developed the habit of waking up at around 4:30 a.m. After taking
a bath, He used to perform His nityakarma (scripturally-ordained religious observances
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to be practised regularly)
with meticulous care. He
then partook of light tiffin
and some milk. Thereafter,
He set Himself to studies.
In the afternoons, after His
madhyahnika, He used to go
for a meal, which had been
arranged in Narasimhavana
itself. He was not in the
habit of taking recourse to
any siesta in the afternoons
and was mostly engaged in

Narasimhavana studies. It used to be around
10:30 p.m. before He retired
for the night.

About the Gayatri-mantra into which one is initiated during upanayana, it is said
in the Sata-samhita, “By the performance of the japa of the Gayatri-mantra and homa
with it, a person gets all that he desires. There is no room here for doubt” and in the
Manu-smrti, “He whose upanayana has been performed is freed from even a great sin,
like a snake from its sloughed skin, by chanting the Gayatri-mantra, together with the
pranava (Om) and the vyahrtis (‘bhidh, bhuvah, suvah’), a thousand times a day for a
month at a place outside the village (such as on the bank of a river or in a forest).”
Sri Srinivasa Sastry felt a great fondness for the Gayatri-mantra and started chanting
it mentally whenever He could, right from the day of His upanayana. In about a
month’s time, He was able to do so even while engaged in His regular activities. He was
happy to soon find that He mentally repeated the Gayatri even during dreams. He
did not disclose any of this to others. {It was only in 1982, fifty-two years later, that
His Holiness compassionately blessed with these particulars in response to my asking
Him about His initial weeks in Sringeri as a brahmacarin.}

One day, Ganapati Subrahmanya Avadhani asked Him to stand with him near the
entrance of Saradamba’s temple to await the Jagadguru. Some other students were
also present. Avadhani felt that on seeing the students, the Jagadguru would order
something to be fetched from the storeroom for them to eat. The Jagadguru did do
that and then told the boys to state their names, one by one. On hearing the first boy
give his name, He asked, “Why were you given this name?” The boy stood still. Next,
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Sri Srinivasa Sastry felt a great
fondness for the Gayatri-mantra
and started chanting it mentally

whenever He could, right from the
day of His upanayana. In about
a month’s time, He was able
to do so even while engaged in
His regular activities.

He asked Avadhani. He too remained
quiet. When it was Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s

III

turn, He immediately replied, have
been named Srinivasa, which is a name
of God. Our elders developed the practice
of naming their wards after God so as to
enable the thought of God to be constantly
present.” This reply not only gladdened
the Jagadguru but also pleased the other

students who were present there.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry was of a small build and
this emboldened some of His classmates
to tease Him. They used to sometimes
verbally make fun of Him and, at times,
used to hide His books. Being an epitome
of patience, He never protested. On the
contrary, He would wait silently for them
to return what they had taken. So the
teasers did not have any reason to fear a
reprimand from the Matha’s authorities.
This teasing was an infrequent affair and
was partly done in good humour. As such,
it produced no disruption in Sri Srinivasa
Sastry’s studies.

The boys used to play various games,
such as running and catching and blind
man’s bluff. On one occasion, Ramaswamy

Avadhani had a cloth tied over his eyes and was the one who was supposed to touch
the others who were moving around to evade him. As he came near Sri Srinivasa Sastry,
the latter dexterously stepped aside. Ramaswamy struck himself mildly against a pillar
there. Infuriated, he loosened the cloth that veiled his vision, struck Sri Srinivasa Sastry a
blow and shouted, “You are the cause of this injury.” His hitting and accusing Sri Srinivasa
Sastry were decidedly unjustified. Someone else in Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s place might
have chosen to retaliate with sharp words or, if possible, with a blow. He was made
of finer stuff. He gave no room to anger. On the contrary, noting that Ramaswamy had
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injured himself slightly, He patiently pacified him and
attended to his injury. Thereby, He won the heart of
Ramaswamy, who was able to recollect this incident
clearly even after the lapse of over fifty years. {He was
moved to tears when he narrated this to me in 1984.
It was on that occasion that he also told me about
the teasing.}

Off and on, the Jagadguru asked the boys, in general,
questions such as, “Was the food satisfactory today?
Was it tasty? Was it excessively salty or pungent?” The
boys used to enthusiastically express their views on
the food eaten by them. Sri Srinivasa Sastry, however,
remained silent on these occasions. One day, the
Jagadguru asked Him, “While all the others readily
comment on their food when | ask these questions,
why is it that you remain silent?” He replied, “All
that we get is Your Holiness’s prasdada. As such, it is
always tasty.” On hearing this reply, the Jagadguru
was visibly happy.

Decades prior to that, when the Jagadguru was a
brahmacarin studying in the Matha’s pathasala,
to similar questions posed to the students by a
representative of His Guru (the 33" pontiff), He had,
unlike the others, answered, “What does all that
matter? We are being taught our lessons properly.” When the representative had
reported the matter to His Guru, who was then on tour, His Guru had been pleased
and said, “He has simply defined his attitude that he is concerned only with his studies
and other considerations do not enter his mind. Know him, therefore, to be a very good
and pure soul.”
Vaidyanatha Sastry (later, Sri Bhasya-svamin) was deputed to instruct the students in the
performance of their daily rituals and to teach them basic texts such as the Amarakosa
(an authoritative metrical lexicon) and the declensions of Sanskrit nouns, pronouns
and verbs. After their study of the Sanskrit kavyas (literary poems) had commenced,
the Jagadguru used to regularly send for the boys and question them with a view to
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examine their progress. Every time, He found that Sri Srinivasa Sastry was head and
shoulders above the others. When the boys had gained some degree of competence
in literature, the Jagadguru asked them to recite antadi-slokas. (Herein, when a verse
was chanted by a person, another had to intone one commencing with the syllable with
which the previous verse had ended.) In the evenings, the Jagadguru generally went to
the Kalabhairava Temple situated on a hill in Narasimhavana and often took Vaidyanatha
Sastry and the young students with Him. On such occasions, several subjects were
discussed and quite often antadi-slokas were chanted.

One day, in the course of His walk to the Kalabhairava Temple, the Jagadguru was
explaining to the students the importance of the Sanskrit language. A scholar happened
to come there. The Jagadguru discerned that he was distressed and recited the following
verse: “dara ime me, tanaya ime me, grha ime me, pasavasca me me. ittham naro mesa-
samana-dharma me-me-karah kala-vrkena nitah (This wife is mine (the Sanskrit word
‘me’;, meaning ‘mine’, sounds, when pronounced, a little like the bleating of a sheep).
These children are mine (‘me’). These houses are mine (‘me’) and these cattle are mine
(‘me’). The man who, in this manner, keeps saying ‘me-me’ is on par with a sheep (which
bleats ‘me-me’). He is killed by the wolf that is time).”

As soon as the scholar heard this, he wept

copiously and said that the purpose for

which he had come all the way to Sringeri

had been fulfilled. He sought prasada; the

Jagadguru readily blessed him with it. The

scholar then moved away. Vaidyanatha

Sastry, who was standing nearby, was

puzzled but said nothing. Though having

asked for and received prasada, the B

i i i Way to Kalabhairava Temple
scholar did not leave Sringeri and returned

the next evening to the Kalabhairava Temple. The Jagadguru asked the students to recite
the verse that He had cited the previous evening; He had directed them to learn that
verse by rote. He then asked, “Do you know why | wanted you to recite this verse?”
Different students gave different reasons but the answer that Sri Srinivasa Sastry gave
was considered most appropriate. He said, “This verse illustrates the power of Sanskrit.
Here, ‘me’ means ‘mine’ and, through it, the verse portrays the hold of the sense of
possession in a human being. It also represents the sound made by sheep. Thus, in
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Sanskrit, the same sound can bring to
mind even what are quite different.” The
Jagadguru was pleased with the reply.

The scholar, however, opined that the
verse was particularly applicable to him.
He said, “I am very rich but have no
progeny. Not one of the children | have
begotten has survived. My wife too is
unwell. | came here to supplicate Your
Holiness for a talisman for her and to
obtain blessings for progeny. However,
as soon as | heard Your Holiness reciting
this verse, my mind cleared and | realised
the uselessness of all possessions. | deem
that this verse was chanted only for my
benefit.” Interestingly, this scholar later
took samnydsa in North India.

The Jagadguru had asked the
students to recite a verse. He then
asked, “Do you know why
| wanted you to recite this verse?”
Different students gave different
reasons but the following answer
that Sri Srinivasa Sastry gave was
considered most appropriate:
“This verse illustrates the power
of Sanskrit. Here, ‘me’ means
‘mine’ and, through it, the verse
portrays the hold of the sense of
possession in a human being.

It also represents the sound
made by sheep. Thus, in Sanskrit,
the same sound can bring to mind

even what are quite different.”
The Jagadguru was pleased
with the reply.

One day, Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s mother
came to have the darsana of and pay her
respects to the Jagadguru and to see her
beloved son. After meeting Them briefly
in Narasimhavana, she returned to the northern bank of the Tunga at about five in
the evening. The Jagadguru then proceeded to the Kalabhairava Temple. On the way,
He recited a verse that conveys, “A sow quickly brings forth many luckless piglets.
A she-elephant, after long gestation, gives birth to a single calf that is loved by kings.”
He then asked the students what, they thought, He had sought to point out through
this verse. While the others were puzzled and remained silent, Sri Srinivasa Sastry
stepped forward and remarked, “A big school may give instruction to more than a
hundred students. But if they are unable to grasp the substance of the teaching, the
instruction will be a useless effort. A small school may have a single student. But if
that boy is endowed with brains and takes maximum advantage of the instruction,
he will bring fame to the institution. This, | think is the implied meaning of the verse.”
The Jagadguru then turned to Vaidyanatha Sastry and asked him his view. Sastry said,
“It is given only to some rare lady to give birth to a child who becomes a Jagadguru
worshipped by kings. Other mothers do not get this blessing.” The reason for his
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giving this interpretation was
that the Jagadguru had cited the
verse just a few minutes after Sri
Srinivasa Sastry’s mother had left
Subsequently, the boys started
talking amongst themselves about
this. One of them asked Sri Srinivasa
Sastry whether it was not apparent
that the verse referred to His mother.
With His characteristic humility,
He replied, “I cannot even imagine
giving such an interpretation.”

A few months later, as the Jagadguru

was proceeding to the Kalabhairava

Temple, He saw the watchman

belabouring a cow with a stick. The

Jagadguru called him and said, “It is

improper to beat a cow thus.” The

watchman replied, “This cow does

not belong to the Matha. It is a stray

cow and is feeding on the flowers.

That is why | am beating it.” The

Jagadguru said, “It is improper to distinguish between one’s cow and that of another
and beat it. A cow should not be beaten.” The watchman pleaded his inability to drive
out the cow in any other way. The Jagadguru said, “1 will explain a simple means to you.
Pluck some grass and hold it in front of the cow. It will come towards you. Gradually, you
can lead it out.” The watchman followed the advice and, in a short while, the cow was
led out of the Matha’s premises.

The Jagadguru then turned to the boys and asked them to recite something pertinent
to the occasion. None of them could do so, barring Sri Srinivasa Sastry. He said, “updyena
hi yac-chakyam na tac-chakyam parakramaih (What can be achieved by tactful means
cannot be accomplished by the use of force).” At that juncture, a wealthy landlord came
to have the darsana of the Jagadguru. He asked if he could accompany the party to
the temple. The Jagadguru readily agreed. He, however, continued the conversation
about the beating of the cow. It turned out that the cow belonged to the landlord.
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Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s Perhaps purposefully, the Jagadguru turned
response that met with the to Vaidyanatha Sastry and asked him to say
something that was relevant to the incident.
After thinking over the matter for some time,
he said that it exemplified what is said in
Bhagavatpada’s Brahmasdtra-bhasya. He then
quoted the portion that conveys, “On noticing a

sustenance is very little. man approaching them with an upraised stick,

In the same way, the Vedas cows begin to run away thinking, ‘He wants to
contain an enormous amount hurt me’ and they approach a person holding
of wisdom. The person who green grass in his hand.”

takes the essence out of

them is alone intelligent. opinion. But what | have in mind is different.”

The essence must be He then cited a verse that means, “Though one

contemplated upon.” may have a hundred cows, one needs but a little
milk. From heaps of grain, one’s requirement is
confined to a small measure. Likewise, though one may have a palatial mansion, one
needs only a portion of a cot to sleep. The rest are mere luxuries of others.” He proceeded
to cite another verse whose import is, “Whosoever consumes the milk of a cow — be it a
calf, one who tends to it, its owner or one who steals it — is associated with it (and should
not harm it).” He then asked the students what, they thought, He was seeking to convey
through the verses. Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s response that met with approval was, “A person
may have hundreds of cows but what he needs for his own sustenance is very little. In
the same way, the Vedas contain an enormous amount of wisdom. The person who
grasps their essence is intelligent. The essence must be contemplated upon.”

Jagadguru’s approval was,
“A person may have
hundreds of cows but
what he needs for his own

The Jagadguru smiled and said, “This is your

The landlord, who was present during this conversation, felt that all the verses were
particularly relevant to him. He said, “All that Your Holiness has spoken about cow-
protection relates to me. | have numerous cows but do not take proper care of them and
even beat them. This indeed is a shortcoming of mine. It is also my fault that | just keep
selling all the milk of the cows to make much money. Henceforth, | shall utilise the milk
for pdja and for the benefit of holy ones. This is certain.” He then acted accordingly.

One evening, as the Jagadguru was proceeding to the Kalabhairava Temple with the
students, a person came there bringing several kinds of fruits. He placed them near the
Jagadguru’s feet and offered prostrations. The Jagadguru began to distribute the fruits
to the boys. A monkey appeared on the scene. He tossed a bunch of black grapes to it.
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The simian took the whole bunch to a distance, crushed each fruit with its hands and
threw every one of them away. The boys were surprised that it discarded tasty fruit.
Sastry remarked, “Like giving a garland of flowers to a monkey!” Sri Srinivasa Sastry
said that what the monkey did was like what Hanuman had done to the pearl necklace
presented to him. As the boys and Sastry looked puzzled, the Jagadguru turned to
Sri Srinivasa Sastry and asked him to elaborate. Sri Srinivasa Sastry replied that He had
in mind a story about Hanuman. He then narrated the following story:

“At the time of Rama’s coronation He gave away several presents to the assembled
monkeys, such as Sugriva. Sita observed that nothing had been given to Hanuman. She
therefore asked Rama the reason for the omission. The Lord replied that He had nothing
worthy enough to give Hanuman. He had already embraced Hanuman when the latter
had returned from Lanka after seeing Sita there. Perhaps, He felt that there was nothing
that Hanuman would regard as worthy when compared to His affectionate hug. Sita
was not satisfied. She took a pearl necklace from Her neck and gave it to Hanuman.
However, Anjaneya did not wear it round His neck. He took it to a corner and looked
at each pearl carefully. He then bit every one of them and threw them away. Sita was
annoyed. In anger, She asked Him why He had behaved in that manner. Anjaneya replied,
‘l examined each pearl to find out if any of them contained what is dear to my heart. | even
broke them open to see if what captivates
me was inside the pearls. What can | do
with an ordinary pearl necklace?” ‘What
was it that you were seeking?’ Sita pressed.
Anjaneya pointed to Sri Rama. ‘He is not
inside your body. So will you destroy it?’
She asked. At that instant, Anjaneya tore
open His chest with His hands. Therein,
Sita beheld Rama seated on the throne |
along with Her. Rama praised Anjaneya =
and said that there was no devotee in the |
universe equal to Him.”

On hearing the story and its moral, the
man who had brought the fruits declared
that he had been more than recompensed |
for his submission of fruits. Finally, the
Jagadguru asked Sri Srinivasa Sastry, “Who
told you this story?” He replied that it had




been narrated to Him by His mother a few years ago. When they returned from the
temple, He mentioned to His friends that it had been strange that while the Jagadguru
had given them oranges and bananas, which the monkey would have readily eaten,
He had given only black grapes to the monkey. He felt that the Jagadguru had
intentionally done so to make Him speak what He did.

On another evening, the Jagadguru was proceeding to the Kalabhairava Temple with
the students and Vaidyanatha Sastry. They were engaged in chanting antadi-slokas.
Required to present a verse beginning with ‘ta’, Sastry recited the 75" verse of the
Soundaryalahari. This verse commences with the words “tava stanyam manye” and
means, “O Daughter of the mountain (O, Goddess Parvati)! | think that the ocean of
milk of poetry flows from Your heart as the milk of Your breasts. On savouring that milk,
given by You who are compassionate, the ‘dravida-sisu (Dravidian child)’ became the
poet-laureate among great poets.” When the Jagadguru asked Sastry to give the gist
of the verse, he said, “O Divine Mother! The milk that flows from Your breast is a
veritable flow of learning because after drinking it, the dravida child, Sambandhar,
became a great poet. Thus, in the guise of giving milk, the Divine Mother actually gives
knowledge.” The Jagadguru asked him, “What is the authoritative basis on which you
have understood the word ‘dravida-sisu (Dravidian child)’ as referring to Tirujfiana-
sambandhar (the celebrated Tamilian saint-poet who was a great devotee of Lord
Siva and lived in the 7t century)?” No satisfactory answer was forthcoming from Sastry.
The Jagadguru then said that He had read another story in this regard and related
it. The story that He narrated is as follows and is essentially what is recounted in
the commentaries of Laksmidhara and Kaivalyasrama on the Soundaryalahari:

“Parvati and Parames$vara were coursing in the heavens. When seeing whether
anything interesting was happening in the world below, they heard a child in the
southern part of India calling out, ‘Mother, Mother!’ Parvati came down to the place
from which the sound had come. She beheld a male child resplendent in beauty.
She took him on Her lap and gave him milk from Her breast. Immediately, the child
praised Her in a hundred verses. The Goddess then returned to where Siva was in
the sky. He asked Her to recount the verses. She felt reluctant to do so as the verses
glorified Her. After reaching Kailasa, the Lord again asked Her to repeat those verses.
Instead of reciting them, She wrote them on a rock. Bhagavatpada was then in samadhi
and directed His mind towards Kailasa. He saw the slokas on the boulder. He read
seventy-four stanzas. Meanwhile, Parvati had finished the hundred verses and had
started erasing them one by one. As Bhagavatpada could not see the final twenty-six
verses, He composed them on His own. It is said that Bhagavatpada had mentioned
this incident in a disguised manner in the seventy-fifth verse.”



Sri Srinivasa Sastry said, “I have heard that the Divine Mother had given milk from Her
breast to Bhagavatpada.” The Jagadguru asked Him to narrate the story that He was
having in His mind. Sri Srinivasa Sastry proceeded to do so. He said, “When Bhagavatpada
was a child, He used to be given cow’s milk that had first been taken to the temple and
offered as naivedya to the Goddess. One day, as

there was some pollution in the household, no

such offering was made to the Divine Mother.

Hence, Bhagavatpada’s mother, Aryamba, gave

Him unoffered milk to drink. On imbibing a little

of it, the child found it to be insipid and started

weeping. He said, ‘You have given me some other

milk. Give me some milk which | can first take

to the Divine Mother. So she gave Him another

tumbler of milk. He took it with great joy to the

temple and beseeched the deity to partake of

it. As the milk was delicious, the Goddess drank

the whole of it and left nothing for Him. The child

began to cry. At this, the Divine Mother embraced

Him and gave Him the milk of Her breast. When

He narrated this incident to the members of His

family, they were sceptical. It is said that His consumption of the milk of knowledge
contributed to His unique greatness.”

The Jagadguru asked Sri Srinivasa Sastry if this story had been narrated by His mother.
He answered in the affirmative.

Another evening, during the chanting of antadi-slokas, it was Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s turn
to recite a verse beginning with ‘ma’. He intoned a sloka that began with the words
“mano na me” and meant, “My mind does not incline towards the breasts of women
or to a young disciple or to gold. | only know the delight of the lotus feet of Siva.” The
Jagadguru asked Him, “Who is the author of this verse?” Sri Srinivasa Sastry indicated
Vaidyanatha Sastry. The latter, however, stated that it was not his composition but was
that of the Jagadguru Himself. “I heard it when Your Holiness was in an indrawn state,”
said Sastry.

The Jagadguru asked him whether there were other such verses. Sastry replied that
he had noted down a few. The Jagadguru asked him to bring his notes the next day.
When the jottings were brought and read out, the Jagadguru selected one verse and
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wanted Sastry to give its meaning later. The

verse’s thrust is, “Siva, in His manifestation as

Daksinamarti, indicated through His silence and

cinmudra that the Atman is without a second, is of

the nature of consciousness and is all pervading.

The book, snake and flame (in His hands) evidence

this.” {The cinmudra is characterised by the tips

of the index finger and the thumb of the right

hand touching one another, and the other fingers

being held straight. This is deemed to be the sign

of knowledge of the non-dual Truth, with the

touching of the tips of index finger and

thumb pointing to the non-difference of the

individual soul and the Supreme. As for the

Lord teaching through silence, Bhagavatpada

has recounted in His Brahmasitra-bhasya,

a Vedic account of Baskali approaching the

sage Badhva and requesting to be instructed

about the Supreme Brahman. Badhva remained silent. Baskali repeated his request;
Badhva remained silent. When Baskali made his request for the third time, Badhva
said, “I have already taught you (by my silence) but you have failed to comprehend.
This Atman is quiescence.”}

The next day, scholars of the Matha also came to the Kalabhairava Temple. They were
unable to go beyond the basic meaning of the verse and explain what the book, snake
and fire stood for and how they evidenced the non-dual Truth. Vaidyanatha Sastry
emphasised that the book stood for Advaita, the serpent for knowledge and the fire
for all-pervasiveness. Although the leaves of the book are separate, there is unity in a
book. This indicates Advaita or non-duality in the midst of the appearance of variety.
The example of a rope mistaken for a snake is common and shows that with the dawn
of knowledge, illusion disappears. Fire represents all-pervasion. Just as the whole world
is pervaded by the heat of fire, so also the Atman is omnipresent. This explanation did
not satisfy the Jagadguru.

Sri Srinivasa Sastry then remarked that the book, snake and fire indicated the scripture,
reasoning and direct experience respectively. {The book, understandably, represents
the scripture, which is the fundamental means of right knowledge of the non-dual Truth.
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Though learning from the scripture that there is just the non-dual Truth, one may be
assailed by the doubt about how this could be so as the world of duality is seen. The
snake stands for the illusory snake of the well-known rope-snake example. Just as a snake
that is mistakenly seen in the place of a rope does not affect either the actual non-duality
or the intrinsic nature of the rope, the perceived world of duality, being like the snake
of the example, does not affect the Truth, which is non-dual. In this fashion, the snake
held by Lord Daksinamirti is suggestive of reasoning that is in consonance with the
scriptural teaching and serves to dispel any doubt about the non-dual Truth. The Lord
has said in the Bhagavadgita, “O Arjuna, just as a well-kindled fire reduces wooden
fuel to ashes, so does the fire of knowledge reduce all karma to ashes.” In this and
several other places, direct realization of the Truth has been presented as analogous
to fire. So the fire held by Lord can indicate direct experience.} Thus, according to the
Jagadguru’s verse, Lord Daksinamurti teaches the non-dual Atman, of the nature of
consciousness, through His silence and the cinmudra and, as explained by Sri Srinivasa
Sastry, the book, snake and fire in His hands represent the scripture, reasoning and
direct experience, the means to rightly know that non-dual Atman. Neither the
Jagadguru nor any of the scholars had any objection to Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s profound
explanation, which was advanced by Him on the spot and that too when He was just
twelve years of age and without prior exposure to Vedanta.






CHAPTER 3

Young Ascetic

The scripture points out that dispassion towards worldly and heavenly pleasures is
vital for securing enlightenment and liberation. For instance, the Mahanarayana-
upanisad teaches, “Not by work (rites), progeny or wealth did they attain immortality.
It is by renunciation that some have attained immortality.” The Jagadguru emphasised
detachment to Sri Srinivasa Sastry. One evening, after Vaidyanatha Sastry had informed
the Jagadguru that he had noted down some verses uttered by Him when He had been
in an inward-turned state, the Jagadguru directed him to recite one of them. He was,
at that time, proceeding to the Kalabhairava Temple with the students. Sastry recited
a verse, the meaning of which is, “A mortal should never have the sense of ‘mine’
with regard to even his body. The packs of jackals in the crematorium deem it to belong
to them when the body lies there.” The Jagadguru then proceeded to explain the
worthlessness of attachment to the body. He concluded His instruction by quoting a
verse of the Prabodha-sudhdkara, attributed to Bhagavatpada. This verse conveys,
“People felt joy on seeing a person (their king) seated on the royal throne. However,
they shut their eyes upon seeing that very person when he is pulled by Death.”

The following day, He directed Vaidyanatha Sastry to come to Him with just Sri Srinivasa
Sastry. When His directive was complied with, He said, “Today, we shall discuss the
comparative merits of being a householder and a samnyasin. You first explain the
advantages of family life” In obedience to His command, Sri Srinivasa Sastry and
Vaidyanatha Sastry spoke of the plus points of one being a householder. The Jagadguru
then detailed the disadvantages of that stage of life. He gave many examples and also
chanted two verses, the combined meaning of which is, “Who indeed knows which day
shall be his last? Even when young, one should practise righteousness; life is decidedly
transient. During childhood, one is shorn of discriminative insight. While a youth, one is
engrossed in the experience of sensual pleasures. Later, what success can an infirm old
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man achieve after the dawn of discrimination?” At the end, He asked, “Now, tell me. Is it
better to become a householder or a samnyasin?” Bereft of any hesitation, Sri Srinivasa
Sastry averred that taking up samnyasa was, indeed, superior.

Subsequently, Sri Srinivasa Sastry posed some queries to Vaidyanatha Sastry. These were:
(i) I have heard that the eldest son in the family must compulsorily get married. Is it so?

(ii) Our Guru embraced monasticism after becoming highly erudite. Is it obligatory that
one acquire a deep knowledge of the scriptures prior to renouncing the world?

(iii) I have heard that when one is born, immediately a set of debts accrue to one. Some
of these are repaid by serving one’s parents, some by worshipping the devas and yet
others by begetting progeny. Is this indeed the state of affairs?

(iv) Is one permitted to enter another asrama only after dwelling for long as a
brahmacarin in the hermitage of the Guru?

(v) Can a young boy like me take up samnyasa
if he desires to? Parents may not grant
permission. Can samnydsa be taken up without
their consent?

Vaidyanatha Sastry was not in a position to reply
satisfactorily to Him. That evening, the Jagadguru
went on His evening walk to the Kalabhairava
Temple accompanied by both of them. On the
way, He recited a verse from the Prabodha-
sudhakara, the literal meaning of which is, “The
Veda says that ‘loka’ is not there for one bereft
of a son. What is that ‘loka’? Is it liberation or
transmigration or another world? It cannot be the
first one.” He then directed Vaidyanatha Sastry
to recite the next two verses of the Prabodha-
sudhakara and give their meaning. Sastry gave
the overall meaning as follows:
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“It cannot be said that begetting a son
confers liberation. This is because not all
people who have sons have attained the “Marriage is compulsory only
exalted state. Further, if mere procreation for a person who wants to enjoy
were to yield emancipation, then the cycle of sensual pleasures. It is not
transmigratory existence itself would cease | ol ll=Eidela Aol i el (=nialel gl i delq) =
since numerous people do have children. dispassion and is disinclined to
A son cannot necessarily be the cause of lead a householder’s life. Further,

happiness in this world and the next. The there is no Vedic injunction that
reason is that to attain a higher world, the a dispassionate one should

Veda prescribes the performance of special

get married.”

rites, such as the jyotisthoma. It does not
explicitly declare begetting of progeny as - The Jagadguru
constituting the means. The Veda clearly

proclaims that wealth, progeny and the like
cannot serve to confer liberation. Only the
realisation of the Atman, by hearing the Truth, cogitating upon It and focusing one’s
mind on It, yields immortality.

“Utterances of the sruti to the effect that a son is essential should be understood as
merely eulogising the performance of sacrifices, such as the putresti. The putresti-yaga
serves to obtain a son. To induce people who have a desire for children to perform it,
its importance is stressed. The Veda, which is like a mother, certainly does not intend
to compel one without desires to perform such sacrifices.”

After this, the Jagadguru proceeded to give a detailed exposition. He said that marriage
is compulsory only for a person who wants to enjoy sensual pleasures. It is not obligatory
on one who has strong dispassion and is disinclined to lead a householder’s life. Further,
there is no Vedic injunction that a dispassionate one should get married. The Vedas
indicate remedies for the removal of desires and never exhort the gratification of longings
or procreation. Just as fond parents would only try to save their child from falling into
fire and would not induce it to tumble into it, so too do the Vedas indicate the means for
people to abstain from bad ways and to proceed in the holy path. In fact, the moment
one becomes extremely dispassionate, one can renounce and become an ascetic. Thus,
a man can become an ascetic regardless of whether he is a celibate or a householder or
a forest-dweller.
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He went on to explain the futility of
begetting a child. He strengthened
His explanations by various citations
and firmly drove home His points. For
instance, He said that only rarely does
one beget a son who is endowed with
all good qualities. Even on such a son
being born, if the lad were to be short-
lived or diseased or were to later have no
children, the parents would have to put
up with mental suffering. If a young child
were to suffer on account of diseases
or planetary influences, the grief of the
parents would know no end. If the child
were to grow up a little but were to be
stupid, then too the parents would be far
from happy. Further, if after upanayana,
the boy were to fail to become learned or,
having become learned, were to refuse to
get married, then also the parents would be unhappy.

The Jagadguru explained that sraddha (a rite performed for the deceased) is an
obligatory duty that purifies the performer. He emphasised that the manes do not
sustain themselves exclusively on the pinda (ball of cooked rice) that is offered during the
sraddha ceremony. He went on to add that the stories found in texts like the Mahabharata
about the necessity of offspring are not meant for advanced spiritual aspirants who have
strong dispassion. All the queries raised earlier by Sri Srinivasa Sastry to Vaidyanatha
Sastry were thus categorically answered by the Jagadguru; in fact, neither of them had
mentioned any of the questions to the Jagadguru.

At times, circumstances seemed to aid the Jagadguru’s imparting of instructions about
detachment. For instance, on one occasion, when He was proceeding to the Kalabhairava
Temple together with His students, a funeral procession was visible. He spontaneously
identified the deceased one as a wealthy man and gave out his name. He went on to say
that that man was young and had been living in comfort. However, the Lord of Death,
Yama, had not chosen to spare him.

At this juncture, Vaidyanatha Sastry cited a verse that the Jagadguru had composed
when in a state of seclusion. Its meaning is, “Though having much wealth, grains or
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objects of enjoyment, who says at the end of
his life that he has been contented for long? On
seeing in front of him the teeth of Yama bared
in wrath, what can even a king do?” On hearing
this, the Jagadguru said, “There is a verse in
the Prabodha-sudhadkara that is fitting on this
occasion and worthy of being cited.” All but Sri
Srinivasa Sastry remained silent. He chanted
the verse that conveys, “The body that slept on
a bed adorned with flowers is now taken, tied
by ropes to logs, and consigned to fire.”

The Jagadguru explained the significance of

the verse. He pointed out that the dead man had, even on the previous night, been in
the midst of all comforts. His heart had suddenly collapsed while he was asleep and so
he now lay tied by ropes to bamboos. He was about to be consigned to fire. This would
be the fate of all without any exception. He quoted half a verse from the Narada-purana
and then half a verse from the Hitopadesa. The combined meaning of these is, “Death
is ever at hand. Hence, one should accumulate dharma. One should practise dharma
(without delay) as if one’s tuft were in the grip of Death.”

He proceeded to say, “We should perform our dharma and purify the mind so that we
can obtain the realisation of the Atman and become liberated from all misery. Only then
will the goal of our lives be reached.” As He spoke, the Jagadguru’s gaze was constantly
on Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s face. At that juncture, a woman’s wail was heard. Seeing the
pitiful face of the dead rich man, his mother had given the cry of anguish. “Even the
son that | gained after the observance of many a
fast and vow has not lasted. Had he not even been
born, | would not have had to suffer my present
deep anguish. Having got married, he has now
left his young wife a destitute. Is this the only
benefit of begetting progeny?” wailed the
disconsolate mother. Sri Srinivasa Sastry noted all

“We should perform our
dharma and purify the
mind so that we can
obtain the realisation of
the Atman and become

liberated from all misery. ] _ )
this. “Is this the worth of ephemeral existence? |

do not want this at all,” He muttered. These

Only then will the goal of
our lives be reached.”

words were heard by Vaidyanatha Sastry. From
- The Jagadguru His facial expression, the Jagadguru could readily
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comprehend His disciple’s state of mind. He looked glad that His teachings were having

the desired effect.

“No amount of
learning, wealth

or enjoyment can
confer total freedom
from sorrow and
everlasting bliss.
Only the realisation
of the Truth can do
so. Kingship, divine
weapons, heavenly
damsels and the
power to even create
a new universe did
not, for instance,
free Visvamitra from
all unhappiness.”

- The Jagadguru

On several occasions, the Jagadguru spoke to Sri Srinivasa
Sastry in private about detachment and brahmacarya.
What follows is a brief account of the advices given in
some of the private sessions; they were described to me
in detail by His Holiness, partly in 1977 and partly in 1984.

(i) No amount of learning, wealth or enjoyment can confer
total freedom from sorrow and everlasting bliss. Only
the realisation of the Truth can do so. Kingship, divine
weapons, heavenly damsels and the power to even create
a new universe did not, for instance, free Visvamitra from
all unhappiness. In the Chandogya-upanisad, it is narrated
that though versed in the Vedas and various Sastras,
Narada continued to experience sorrow; he transcended
all sorrows only when he received enlightenment from
Sanatkumara. Bhagavatpada has said, “So what if learning
respected by the sovereign himself has been acquired?
So what if unsurpassed affluence has been obtained? So
what if a belle has been enjoyed? What is there for him
who has not realised his own Atman?”

Enlightenment dawns only in a very pure mind. Desires are impurities that sully the mind.
To render the mind pure and fit for enlightenment, they must be assiduously eradicated.

(ii) Sense objects are not the source of happiness. It
is a mistake to think that they are. Were an object
intrinsically a source of joy to a person, he ought not
to ever find it to be a pain. However, it is well known
that objects are sometimes liked and sometimes
disliked. For instance, to a person who develops
severe nausea during a meal, the very dishes he
found delectable appear to be unappealing and a
burden to consume. How can an object intrinsically
be a source of happiness to a person when, though
remaining just the same, it is at times a bane to the
very same person?

“Sense-objects are not
the source of happiness.
It is a mistake to think
that they are. Were an
object intrinsically a
source of joy to a person,

he ought not to ever find
it to be a pain.”

- The Jagadguru
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When a desire for an object arises in the mind, the mind | F[El el e de e el pleiie
loses peace and the period of longing is not one of joy. | ielsIS=/aV i1 o=l gilos
When the desired object is obtained, the desire that FerayeiooeiesiavEl o) iiily
agitated the mind becomes temporarily quieted. With complete control over
the calming of the mind, there is joy. Thus, calmness
gives happiness and not desire or a sensory object.
In deep sleep, when no sensory object whatsoever
is apprehended and the mind is in a state of latency,
there is very great happiness. The sage whose mind is
very calm and focused on the Supreme has unsurpassed
happiness.

the mind is important.

To achieve such
mastery, one should
avoid thinking of
sense objects.”

- The Jagadguru

Stable mental calmness can never be had by the
gratification of longings. Though briefly quieting a desire,
gratification only leads to the growth of the desire; the desire manifests again later,
with increased strength. Desiring and striving for sense objects constitute, therefore,
the wrong approach to obtain happiness, which is what all want. By discerning that
sense objects are never the cause of happiness, one should develop detachment
towards them. The dispassionate one is calm and happy.

(iii) There is great benefit in observing perfect brahmacarya. For this, complete
control over the mind is important. To achieve such mastery, one should avoid thinking
of sense objects. The reason is that as one thinks of sense objects, one gradually
develops a degree of attachment to them. When attachment is allowed to grow,
it becomes an intense desire. When a powerful longing is permitted to manifest,
checking and uprooting it becomes difficult. When a man strongly desires some object
or honour and a person or situation thwarts the consummation of his longing, he
becomes irritated.

When a man gives way to anger, he loses his power of proper discrimination between
right and wrong. It is well known that an irritated man may be disrespectful even to
his Guru. From delusion, the recollection of what one has been taught regarding
righteous conduct is lost. This destruction of memory disrupts the functioning of the
intellect and the man in this state is as good as destroyed. The seed of all this evil is
thus thinking about sensory objects. So if you wish to control your mind, you must
not allow your mind to cogitate upon the objects of the organs.

(iv) Married life is a big source of bondage. A householder has to cater not only
to his own requirements but also to those of his family. Hence, he cannot devote
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himself entirely to meditation
and such spiritual practices. Many
are the people who get married

“Married life is a big source of
bondage. A householder has to cater

and think that that course of life | Uk only to his own requirements but
also to those of his family. Hence,

is good for them. Actually, for a

e R AL T e cannot devote himselfentirelyto
TRl o ae meditation and such spiritualipractices:

stand on burning coal rather thanto - The Jagadguruy

get married.
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The body is made up of skin, blood, flesh, bones
and so on. It contains within it urine and faeces. The
body of even the female whom the undiscriminating
consider to be extremely beautiful is only of this
kind. Bhagavatpada has taught, “Seeing the breasts
and the navel region of a woman, do not fall a prey
to delusion. The female form is but a modification of
flesh, fat, etc. Reflect well thus in your mind, again and
again.” Such recourse to discrimination enables one
to combat lust and be established in Brahmacarya.”

{His Holiness has told me, “My Guru was so kind that
even when | was too young to be afflicted by passion,
He emphasised the worthlessness of sensory
pleasures and stressed the importance of dispassion
and thereby precluded any scope for even the seed
of passion finding a place in my mind. He rendered
me fit for samnyasa.”}

In the first quarter of 1931, Sri Srinivasa Sastry
developed high fever one night and became
delirious. He started to speak incoherently. When the
matter was reported to the Jagadguru, He neither
authorised medical attention nor did He give vibhiti
(sacred ash) as prasdada as He had done in the case
of the other students when they had taken ill. He,
however, specifically instructed Vaidyanatha Sastry



to note whatever Sri Srinivasa Sastry
uttered while delirious and inform Him.
Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s words primarily
comprised an unusual combination
of dedication to the Jagadguru and a
declaration of the Truth. He kept saying,
“sadguro saranam Sivo’ham sivo’ham Truth. He kept saying, “Sadguro
(O Sadguru! You are my refuge. | am | Seldelalelaab S ex clelaai i e alelai
Siva. | am Siva)” Three days passed (O Sadguru! You are my refuge.
without His condition improving. He | am Siva. | am Siva).”

was awaiting vibhdti-prasada from
the Jagadguru. To assuage Him,
Vaidyanatha Sastry told Him a lie to the effect that the Jagadguru would be gracing Him
in person. Thereafter, He started to continuously chant, “sadguro pahi, sadguro pahi
(O Sadguru, protect me. O Sadguru, protect me).”

Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s words
primarily comprised an unusual
combination of dedication to the
Jagadguru and a declaration of the

When the Jagadguru was proceeding the next day, an ekadasi, to the river for His
afternoon bath, He heard Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s chant. After ascertaining that only
Vaidyanatha Sastry was around, He abruptly entered the room where Sri Srinivasa
Sastry lay. On seeing the Jagadguru, Sri Srinivasa Sastry got up and then prostrated in
such a way that His forehead rested on His Guru’s feet. Vaidyanatha Sastry was shocked
as it was not customary for anyone to touch the Jagadguru like this. The Jagadguru,
however, showed no signs of disapproval. Gently raising His disciple, He placed His
hand on Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s head. He innocently asked, “Have you still got fever?”
and added, “Do not worry. Go and lie down.” He then left. Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s fever
promptly vanished. Following the Jagadguru’s touch, He became relatively introverted
and avoided casual conversations.

That night and on the subsequent ones, the Jagadguru audibly prayed during His
Candramoulisvara-pdja, “sarvajiam Srinivasam kuru Siva-dayite satvaram mad-
vinamram (O beloved of Siva, quickly make Srinivasa, my disciple, omniscient).”
Interestingly, decades earlier, when the Jagadguru was a brahmacarin, His Guru
(Jagadguru Sri Saccidinanda Sivabhinava Nrsimha Bharati, the 33" pontiff) had
prayed, during pdja, “O beloved of Siva, quickly make Narasimha, my disciple,
omniscient.”

Days later, He felt the impulsion of Goddess Sarada to choose Sri Srinivasa Sastry as His
successor. That night, He had a dream in which His Guru (the 33" pontiff) fully approved
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of the choice. The next day, He communicated His resolve to Srikanta Sastry, the Agent
of the Matha. The latter expressed his concern that Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s health was
fragile. Without any hesitation, the Jagadguru declared, “Saradamba will take care of
everything.”

A letter in this regard was sent to Rama Sastry, who was at Bengaluru. The contents of
that letter put him in a quandary. Sensing his discomfiture, Venkatalakshmamma sought
to know the reason.

Venkatalakshmamma: Why are you so silent after reading the missive?

Rama Sastry: Nothing is the matter. The letter has come from Sringeri.
Venkatalakshmamma: Is our child doing well?

Rama Sastry: Yes, he is.

Venkatalakshmamma: Then why are you lost in thought?

Rama Sastry: There is some information in that letter. | need to ask you about it.

Venkatalakshmamma: What is it?

Rama Sastry: The Jagadguru desires to give samnyasa to Srinivasa and make him the
successor designate. For that, his mother’s permission is desired. | have been asked
to consult you and send a reply. | was
wondering how | could pose the matter
to you.

Venkatalakshmamma: | am very glad.
Please reply that | have given my approval.
Our family shall attain good. One must
be extremely fortunate to take samnyadsa
like this.

He then conveyed her consent to the
Matha. {These details were provided
by Rama Sastry to Subbarattinam lyer,
the author of the Tamil book Srimad-

Abhinava-Vidyatirtha-Vijayam.}
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The Jagadguru decided that as Sri Srinivasa Sastry would be soon entering the
samnyasa-asrama, He should go to Bengaluru and see His parents before that. Sitarama
Holla was told to escort Him. Sri Srinivasa Sastry was to be first taken to Mysuru and
then to Bengaluru. The Jagadguru had informed the Maharaja of Mysore (Mysuru),
Krishnaraja Wodeyar, about His intention to make Sri Srinivasa Sastry His successor
designate and the king had readily given his full consent. While the Jagadguru had the
right to select His successor, He duly informed the monarch in keeping with the tradition
inthe Matha. Sri Srinivasa Sastry and Holla left Sringeri for Tarikere by bus. That night they
proceeded from Tarikere to Mysuru by train. At Mysuru, Holla took Him to the residence
of Krishna Sastry, Srikanta Sastry’s brother. Srikanta Sastry was already there. He had
arranged for a medical check-up for Sri Srinivasa Sastry. The doctor gave Him a clean
bill of health. After the scheduled visit to the palace, He left for Bengaluru that night,
accompanied by Holla. Srikanta Sastry too travelled by the same train. At Bengaluru, He
was taken to His former home and brought back to the station at the scheduled time by
Rama Sastry. From Bengaluru, Srikanta Sastry and Sri Srinivasa Sastry, accompanied by
Holla, left by train for Tarikere. The Matha’s car came there to pick up Srikanta Sastry.

The public announcement about the initiation ceremony was through a sSrimukha
(benedictory epistle) of the Jagadguru. The content of that Srimukha in English is:
“It is known to the people of our country, from the Setu (the place of Lord Rama’s
bridge in the South) to the Himalayas (in the North), that the ancient Sringeri Math,
endowed with pristine purity and renowned as the Daksinadmnaya-pitha (the southern,
Vedic seat) is one of the four Amndya-pithas (Vedic seats) established by Sankara-
bhagavatpada to propagate noble religion and virtuous conduct. Following the
path showed by our Paramaguru (Jagadguru Sri Nrsimha Bharati, the 32™ pontiff), a
personage endowed with powers, a foreseer realising the obstacles propped up by
Kali (the personification of the present, ‘iron age’) to the institution of dharma and
personages propagating dharma and aware of the differences in opinions arising
amongst people every moment, we came to know that from now onwards it is
necessary that a Guru and Sisya should be present together in the Matha to implement
to the extent possible the directives of our revered Guru (Jagadguru Sri Saccidananda
Sivabhinava Narasimha Bharati, the 33" pontiff). Hence, with our mind impelled by
the will of the glorious World-mother Saradamba and our revered Guru, we have
resolved to bestow samnyadsa and accept as disciple on Friday, the fifth day (pafcami)
of the bright fortnight (Sukla-paksa) of the month of Jyestha of the cyclical year
Prajapati (that is, on 22" May, 1931), Sri Srinivasa Sastry, a young celibate born in a
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noble family, endowed with the meritorious deeds of past births, possessed of qualities
such as humility, and the son of Rama Sastry, residing in Bengaluru. We bless that
you, who, through a line of forefathers who were disciples (of the Matha), are a
disciple and have great reverence, come to Sringeri on the occasion, participate to the
extent possible and, having aided in the completion of the proposed function, become
the recipient of the grace of Saradamba and our Guru and fulfil your objectives.”

The said Sisya-svikara (‘acceptance-of-disciple’) ceremony was scheduled to be held
on 22" May 1931. Rama Sastry and his family arrived from Bengaluru a few days
before that. As they waited for the Jagadguru at the samadhi of the 33" pontiff, one
of the members of the family underscored to Sri Srinivasa Sastry, who came there,
that He would be very soon becoming an eminent Guru. Sri Srinivasa Sastry’s poignant
response was, “A seed is sown. The hope is that it will gradually grow into a big
tree yielding fruit that may be eaten. If someone were to want the fruit on the very next
day, it would be most surprising.” He indicated that it would be erroneous to presume
that He would suddenly become spiritually great on being initiated into samnyasa
and made a successor-designate.

That night, the relatives got an opportunity to converse privately with Sri Srinivasa
Sastry and were enthusiastically doing so. A short while later, Srikanta Sastry came
there. He firmly said, “All the people who are here may leave. He has important
work to do tomorrow. For that, He needs to awaken early.” After saying so, he softened
and added, “Very close relatives may, however, stay on for another five to ten minutes
if they so desire.” Accordingly, five or six relatives remained and the others left.
An elderly person among them told Sri Srinivasa Sastry that even after His becoming a
Jagadguru, He should have special affection for the close relatives who were present
there. Upon hearing these words, He responded, “It is improper for elderly people
like you to speak thus” and made known that He would be the same towards all and
would not have any favouritism towards relatives.

On the day prior to samnyasa, Srikanta Sastry told Sri Srinivasa Sastry, “Tomorrow, you
are going to take up samnyadsa. Thereafter, it will not be possible for you to prostrate
before your father. Hence, you may do so now itself.” {In keeping with teachings,
such as, “A samnyasin is decidedly fit to be saluted by his father,” a samnyasin is
not supposed to prostrate before his father and, it is the father, a householder, who
should prostrate before him.} Sri Srinivasa Sastry promptly prostrated before Rama
Sastry and Venkatalakshmamma and obtained their blessings.
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On a night before the
ceremonies, He dreamt
that He had gone to
the temple to have the
darsana of Saradamba
and was standing amidst
a large crowd of persons.
His Guru beckoned to
Him and asked Him
to enter the sanctum
sanctorum.  On  His
entering, the door was
closed. Saradamba took
Him on Her lap and said,
“Your good times are
ahead. Even kings will
pay obeisance unto you.
Do not become proud.
Continue to worship
Me and be with your
Guru. Wear this crystal
necklace to remind you
of Me.” So saying, She
put the necklace on His
neck and permitted Him
to leave. Thereafter,
the diparadhana took

place; at the same time, the necklace disappeared. The dream ended there. One may
conjecture that the Divine Mother had felt that as He had firmly lodged Her in His
heart, there was no need for any external cue to remind Him of Her and so had caused

the necklace to vanish in that dream.

The ceremonies began on 21% May, 1931, the day prior to the initiation into
samnyasa. After His morning bath in the river, He did sandhyd-vandana. He then
paid His respects to His Guru and received His blessings and consent for all functions
of that day and the next. In keeping with the norm that Lord Ganapati should be
invoked at the commencement of religious activities, a Ganapati-homa was performed.
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Afterits completion, He prostrated at the samadhi of the 33" pontiff and crossed over
to the northern side of the river from Narasimhavana. There, He paid obeisance
at the samadhis of the previous pontiffs, such as that of the 32" pontiff, Jagadguru Sri
Nrsimha Bharati, and at the temples, including those of Bhagavatpada and
Goddess Saradamba. On His return to Narasimhavana, He had a bath. After this, He
performed the asta-sraddhas. One of these eight rites was the atma-sraddha. Herein,
He made offerings even to Himself as done to the manes. With this, He
completed once and for all His ritualistic obligations to His progenitors and became
decoupled, as it were, from His life so far. His head was then tonsured; just a few
strands of hair were left unshaven in His tuft. Having bathed in the river, He performed
some purifying rituals, such as brahma-vandana, and then did dandabhiseka, involving
ritualistic pouring of water on the staff that He would bear after samnyasa. He fasted
that day. At night, He performed ‘brahma-anvadhana’, involving the setting up of a fire in
a homa-kunda in accordance with the scriptural prescriptions and then making a single
offering into it. He sat in its vicinity, keeping vigil the whole of the night, with His mind
on God; He mentally repeated the Gayatri-mantra.

The next morning, after bathing in the river and completing His sandhya-vandana,
He performed the Purusa-sikta-homa and Viraja-homa. In doing so, He chanted the
pertinent mantras and poured an oblation of a sacrificial faggot (samit), caru (comprising
rice, barley and pulse boiled for presentation to the devas) and ghee at the end of each
mantra into the fire that He had tended. The mantras of the former, potent homa are
those of the well-known Vedic hymn,
Purusa-siikta, which commences
with the words “sahasra-sirsa
purusah (God as the Cosmic Person “By this oblation, may sound, touch,
has a thousand heads, that is, the colour, taste and smell become

very many heads of all the beings).” purified. Freed from all obstructing
The Viraja-homa is specially meant
to completely purify one and the
mantras pertaining to it are found in
the Mahéanardyana-upanisad. Three | not have any suppressed feelings of
significant mantras there convey, [ cifeliypiaieieleidolinlelleloiiial eyl

“By this oblation, may earth, water, |81 T GE 0TS E  ee) l
fire, a.ir a.nd space (the five elements the Light. Svahal”
constituting my body) become

purified. Freed from all obstructing
sins and passions (the sins’ causes),

sins and passions, may | become the
Light. Svaha! By this oblation, may
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may | become the Light (the Supreme Brahman of the nature of consciousness). Svaha! By
this oblation, may sound, touch, colour, taste and smell (the qualities of the five elements)
become purified. Freed from all obstructing sins and passions (the sins’ causes), may |
become the Light (the Supreme Brahman of the nature of consciousness). Svaha! By this
oblation, may | not have any suppressed feelings of egoism. Freed from all obstructing
sins and passions (the sins’ causes), may | become the Light (the Supreme Brahman of
the nature of consciousness). Svaha!”

After completing the Viraja-homa, He proceeded to Sandhya-mandapa situated at the
riverside in Narasimhavana. There, He entered the river and stood in waist-deep water.
He then performed “savitri-tyaga (giving up of Savitri, that is, giving up of the Gayatri-
mantra).” {Paramahamsa-samnyasins (the highest of the four types of samnyasins, the
other three being the kuticaka, bahidaka and hamsa samnydasins) do not wear the sacred
thread and have no tuft and, hence, are not supposed to chant the Gayatri-mantra. For
them, ‘om’ substitutes for the Gayatri-
mantra.} In the course of the ‘savitri-
tyaga’, He chanted the Gayatri-
mantra once, for the final time, and
discarded into the flowing water His
yajiiopavita (sacred thread) and tuft
(by plucking out the few strands of hair
that were left there after tonsuring on
the previous day). By discarding His
yajiiopavita and tuft, He renounced
His entitlement to perform scriptural
rites and to chant the Gayatri-
mantra. He discarded His upper
garment, lower garment and even His
loincloth and stood stark naked. The
paramahamsa-samnyasin should discard not only any longing for this world but also that
for the next higher world and even heaven. Accordingly, as prescribed, He repeated thrice
“om bhih samnyastam mayd; om bhuvah samnyastam mayd; om suvah samnyastam
maya; om bhur-bhuvah-suvah samnyastam maya (I renounce this world. | renounce the
higher intermediate world. | renounce heaven. | renounce, this world, the intermediate
world and heaven).” This is termed ‘praisoccarana (the declaration of renunciation)’.
He then recited the words that mark the vow of ahimsa of a monk: “abhayam sarva-
bhitebhyo mattah svaha (I grant freedom from fear to all beings. Svaha).” This is

Sandhya-mandapa
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termed  ‘abhaya-pradana  (the
granting of freedom from fear)’. With
His ‘praisoccarana’ and ‘abhaya-
praddna’, He became a samnyasin.
He then moved towards the north
in the river. {According to texts on
samnyasa, the new samnydasin may go
away and, thereafter, live, without any
possessions, as a wandering monk,
centred on the Supreme Brahman.
Alternatively, He could, in response to
his Guru’s call, turn back and approach
His Guru. Thereafter, He should serve
and learn from His Guru, strive to
realize the Truth taught and, after
attaining full enlightenment, may go
. away with the consent of His Guru.}

The Jagadguru had been silently

watching the scene. When His
disciple had taken a few steps, He called out, “bho ayusman, ita ehi (O long-lived one,
come here).” {Ganapati Subrahmanya Avadhani told me, in 1977, that some astrologers
had predicted that Sri Srinivasa Sastry would be short-lived and that, as the words of the
sages cannot be in vain, the Jagadguru set to naught this possibility by addressing His
disciple that day as “O long-lived one.” It was in 1979 that His Holiness told me about
how His Guru had called out to Him but He did not mention any reason for this.} On His
Guru calling Him, His Holiness approached the senior Jagadguru with all humility. The
senior Jagadguru gave Him an ochre kaupina (loincloth), katisitra (thread tied around
the waist to hold up the loincloth), lower garment and upper garment. His Holiness
donned the ochre clothing. He applied a little vibhditi, sacred ash, on the crown of His
head and three stripes of vibhiti on His forehead, neck, chest, stomach and arms.

A samnyasin of the paramahamsa order holds a single danda, staff, in his hand.
This sacred danda is made of bamboo and must not have any hole passing
through it. The length of the bamboo stick is regulated. When placed upon
the big toe, it should either reach up to the tip of the nose or the level of the
eyebrows or the head. In its upper part is tied the ‘parasu-mudrd’, which resembles
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a small flag, and little below it is wound a thread with special set of knots. The senior
Jagadguru gave His Holiness, who was clad in ochre, the danda and then a ‘kamandalu
(water-pot)'.

Then the senior Jagadguru, followed by His Holiness, proceeded to the samadhi of the
33" pontiff. There, in the room adjoining the sanctum sanctorum, the senior Jagadguru
sat facing east and told His Holiness to sit near Him, facing north. He then chanted some
mantras and placed His right palm on His disciple’s head. This step by a samnyasin-
guru is said to characterise the new, spiritual birth of the samnyasin-disciple and is
the basis of the samnyasin-disciple being deemed to one who is ‘kara-kamala-safnjata
(born of the lotus-like hand) of the samnyasin-guru. The senior Jagadguru then
initiated His Holiness into the mantra ‘om’ and into the mahavakyas. The mahavakyas
are profound sentences that occur in the scripture and make known the identity of
the individual soul with the Supreme. Four of them, one belonging to each of the four
Vedas, are particularly esteemed. The Aitareya-upanisad of the Rg-veda contains the
mahavakya, “prajidnam brahma (Consciousness is Brahman).” The mahavakya of
the Yajur-veda occurring in the Brhadaranyaka-upanisad is, “aham brahmasmi (I am
Brahman).” The Chandogya-upanisad of the SGma-veda has the mahavakya, “tat-tvam-
asi (You are That).” The mahavakya of the Atharva-veda occurring in the Mandikya-
upanisad is, “ayam-atma brahma (This Atman is Brahman).” As the senior Jagadguru
and His Holiness belonged to the Yajur-veda, He first initiated His disciple into the
celebrated mahavakya of that Veda. He also softly uttered in His Holiness’s right ear
the ‘yoga-patta’, post-samnyasa name, chosen by Him for His disciple.

Years ago, His Holiness specified (in a communication sent from the Matha) the
following criteria bearing on the selection of a successor to the Dakshinamnaya Sringeri
Sharada Peetham:

1. He should belong to the Yajurveda.

2. With the exception of Suresvaracarya, all the acaryas who have adorned this pitha
have been celibates. Hence, the person chosen should be a celibate and not a house-
holder.

3. He should come from a good family.

The senior Jagadguru named His successor-designate “Abhinava-Vidyatirtha.” Itis apparent
that He chose this name, which literally means ‘The new Vidyatirtha’, in memory of
Sri Vidyatirtha, the 10" pontiff of the Sringeri Sri Sharada Peetham.
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So important was Sri Vidyatirtha in the Matha’s Guru-
parampara (line of Gurus) that one of the honorifics
of all the pontiffs of the Sringeri Math after Him is,
“Worshipper of the lotus-feet of Vidyasankara (=Sri
Vidyatirtha)” and the seal of the Matha bears, to this
day, just his name. Sri Bharati-tirtha, the renowned
author of several influential works on Vedanta was
amongst His disciples and so was Sri Vidyaranya,
who was instrumental in the establishment of the
Vijayanagar Empire and was a prolificand authoritative
writer, as also Sri Sayana, the author of the esteemed
and traditionally-studied commentaries on all the
four Vedas. So deeply revered was Sri Vidyatirtha that obeisance has been paid to Him
in the following manner: “Having saluted the Supreme Atman present in the form of
Sri Vidyatirtha...”; “May Vidyatirtha, the great God, who is immutable, who knows the
true import of the Vedas, Smrtis and the Itihasas, be pleased...”; “I salute the great
God, Vidyatirtha, whose breath is the Veda...”; “He who delights in lambika-yoga and is
none other than Lord Siva...”; “He whose compassion for anyone He has accepted never
wanes...” and, “Vidyatirtha, the greatest of samnyasins, excels the sun (that dispels
the darkness outside during daytime) as He dispels the darkness (of ignorance) that is
within people (in the mind) and outside them (as projected in the form of objects) and

Sri Vidyatirtha

by day and by night.” He was a consummate vedantin and yogin.

This great sage spent His last years in lambika-yoga, freed from hunger and thirst. He
entered an underground chamber prepared for this purpose, having ordered that the
entrance be sealed after His entry. He had had a stone sculpture made prior to His
entering and this is seen even today in a small shrine in Simhagiri (near Sringeri) and is
known as Caturmiurti-vidyesvara. Three of its four faces contain images of Brahma, Visnu
and Mahesvara. In the front portion is an image of Sri Vidyatirtha in a sitting posture.
The top portion of the sculpture contains a linga. This sculpture signifies that the Guru
is Brahma, Visnu, Mahesvara and indeed, the Supreme. Sri Vidyatirtha indicated that
after twelve years in the underground chamber, His body would become akin to that
idol. He, however, warned that under no circumstances should the cave be opened
before twelve years. Three years passed. When the next pontiff, Sri Bharati-tirtha, was
on tour, curiosity got the better of some of the Matha’s staff. They opened the cave to
see how Sri Vidyatirtha was sustaining Himself within. To their chagrin, they found that
the sage’s body had completely disappeared. They saw there only a linga corresponding
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to that on the upper portion of the model
in Simhagiri. Subsequently, Sri Bharati-tirtha
had a dream in which Sri Vidyatirtha said
that on account of the indiscretion, His body
would no more assume the shape specified
earlier and instructed that the cave be again
closed and the linga be installed above it.
The Vidyasankara Temple, an architectural
wonder seen in Sringeri, is built above the
place where He disappeared and its sanctum
sanctorum houses that linga. Vidyasankara Temple

Being greatly percipient, the senior Jagadguru perhaps felt that His Holiness would
go on to equal or excel Sri Vidyatirtha and so chose the name ‘Abhinava Vidyatirtha’
or ‘the new Vidyatirtha'. Be that as it may. After the senior Jagadguru had initiated
His Holiness into the pranava and the mahavakyas and mentioned the yoga-patta in
His disciple’s ear, they moved to the northern side of the river.

His Holiness crossed the river in a boat. Such crossing of a river by a new samnyasin
is symbolic of the crossing of the ocean of transmigratory existence. On the riverbank
on the other side, He performed ‘paryanka-sauca’, a formalised cleansing of the body
involving balls of mud and water. The senior Jagadguru and His Holiness then went to
Goddess Saradamba’s temple.

The texts on samnydsa prescribe that the Guru should worship the disciple on the day
of initiation, seeing the Divine in the latter and that thereafter, the disciple should
worship the Guru. In the elevated southern corridor of the temple of Goddess
Sarada was kept, facing north, a venerated seat termed ‘Vydkhydana-simhasana’.
The word ‘vyakhyana-simhasana’ literally means, ‘The throne of exposition’; it has
been translated in the Matha as ‘The throne of transcendental wisdom’. Only the
head of the Sarada-pitha or his chosen successor-designate is permitted to occupy
it. Going to it, the Jagadguru seated His Holiness on it and placed on His head a
Salagrama (a special stone that is regarded as symbolic of Lord Visnu and as ever-
sanctified by His presence). He then sat near His Holiness’s feet, facing east, and
commenced His worship. He proceeded to perform abhiseka to the salagrama by
pouring water on it with a conch. After performing arati, the senior Jagadguru
lay prostrate before His Holiness. His Holiness sat still and silent throughout
this worship. After the senior Jagadguru finished the worship and removed the
Salagrama from His Holiness’s head, He occupied the vyakyana-simhasana.
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His Holiness sat near His Guru’s feet, worshipped them and prostrated before them.
After this worship was complete, the senior Jagadguru made public His Holiness’s
yoga-patta. With the conclusion of the functions at the vyakhyana-simhdsana, the
initiation of His Holiness into samnydsa was formally complete.

Thereafter, on behalf of the Maharaja of Mysore, Nalvadi Krishnaraja Wodeyar, his
representative, Rama Rao, submitted, as a mark of respect, ‘khillats (in the form of special
clothes)’ to the senior Jagadguru and His Holiness and received blessings. Following
this, other distinguished devotees paid their respects, one by one, by presenting their
‘khillats’. The Mysore Government was represented at the ceremony by the Revenue
Commissioner. Srikanta Sastry had, since a few years, been expressing his wish to take
retirement. The senior Jagadguru granted his wish that day and announced that he
deserved rest after the strenuous work that he had put in for the Matha for decades.
Sastry was presented with a diamond and gold necklace as a mark of appreciation.
The senior Jagadguru nominated Rao Bahadur Nanjundaiah as the next Agent. The
initiation ceremony attracted over 5000 disciples to Sringeri; elaborate arrangements
had been made for the boarding and lodging.

That evening the Guru and disciple
were to be taken through the
streets of Sringeri in golden and
silver palanquins respectively. In
keeping with the tradition based on
Harihara | and Bukka [, the first
rulers of the Vijayanagar Empire,
reverentially  submitting  royal
insignia to their preceptor, Sri
Vidyaranya, They were attired in
royal robes. The senior Jagadguru
held out His index finger and His
Holiness gently grasped it. He was
so fond of His disciple that as He
walked, He kept turning back to see
His Holiness’s face. He led the way till
they reached the silver palanquin,
with the golden palanquin still ahead
of them. Here, He made a surprise
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move. He withdrew His finger and sat down in the silver palanquin. This was strange,
for He was supposed to occupy the golden palanquin and His Holiness, the silver
palanquin. He asked His Holiness to move ahead and sit in the golden palanquin. This
act of His resulted in confusion in the minds of those present nearby. Srikanta Sastry,
Nanjundaiah as also some others approached the senior Jagadguru and requested
Him to proceed to the golden palanquin as that was the tradition. He replied,
“Let this be the tradition now. Have you forgotten the essence of the occurrences
of today? If so, try to recall it and keep it fresh in your memories. Henceforth, all the
honours pertaining to this pitha must be shown to Him and not to me. | desire to
withdraw from worldly activities.” The procession commenced, with His Holiness
seated in the golden palanquin and going in the front and with the senior Jagadguru
sitting in the silver one and following.

The scripture says that a disciple should follow his Guru and not go ahead of him.
Further, the seat of the Guru is to be respected and not occupied by the disciple;
the golden palanquin was the one that the senior Jagadguru had used for years. The
senior Jagadguru’s directive to His Holiness to move ahead and occupy the golden
palanquin required His Holiness to break these rules. Further, the large number of
people who had gathered in the streets of Sringeri to witness the procession could
not be expected to know the reason for His Holiness occupying the golden palanquin
and could have censured Him, at least mentally, for this apparent breach of propriety.
Notwithstanding such considerations and though He was just thirteen and a half years
of age at that time, He experienced no confusion whatsoever. He just did as He was
told to do and occupied the golden palanquin. In 1983, | referred to this incident and
asked Him, “What did Your Holiness feel on receiving such a difficult instruction from
the senior Jagadguru?” “What was there to feel? ‘My Guru’s command is inviolable.
As a disciple, it is my duty to carry it out.” That was my only thought then,” He replied.

In a benedictory address delivered, in Kannada, in Bengaluru on 5™ September, 1987,
His Holiness described as follows what had transpired earlier that day: “At that time,
He (the senior Jagadguru) told Srikanta Sastry, ‘Hereafter, | will not sit in a palanquin
and will not come for functions.” Sastry wondered, ‘What is all this? What is to be
done now?’ My Guru’s point was, ‘I have chosen a disciple. Why should | come for any
function?’ Sastry said, ‘This decision of Yours is unacceptable to Sistas (decorous people).
I know of Your extreme dispassion. However, in accordance with the worldly custom
followed in the Matha, you must come in a palanquin, donning royal robes, along with
Your disciple” My Guru then said, ‘Oh! So in accordance with the worldly custom, | have
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to come. All right.” | learned this directly
from my Guru. Srikanta Sastry also told
me this. Such was His dispassion. He
found pontifical functions such a burden
that though at that time He had only given
me samnyasa and not yet trained me, He
readily maintained, ‘I have prepared one
to handle the Matha’s activities.””

The following was narrated to me by
Narasimhayya in 1984. The
Jagadguru and His
proceeding that evening to the inner
chamber in Goddess Sarada’s temple. The
seniorJagadguru stopped at the threshold

senior

Holiness were

and said, “We are going to the Mother’s
chamber. She is no ordinary mother; She
is transcendent and grants all wishes.
Whatever you wish for, She will confer.
Enter with full faith and tranquillity.”

The day after samnydsa, when His Holiness was walking in Narasimhavana, a cobra
partially crossed His path, a little further down. It then moved towards Him and stopped
just in front of Him. It raised its hood. Its upraised hood was directly above His feet.

He stood still, admiring the snake and not in the least fearful of it. The snake, for its

part, remained motionless. After some
time, it lowered its hood and went away.
Maharsi Patafijali has aphorised in the
Yoga-sdtras, “In the presence of one who
is established in ahimsd, even inimical
creatures abandon their hostility.”
Recalling this incident in 1974, His
Holiness told me, “It was not as though
the snake did not fear me because |
believed in ahimsa. All | can say is that
| derived great joy because | regarded it
as a good sign.”
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So firm was His commitment to samnydsa that He successfully observed its norms
even in His dreams. In May 1975, in response to a question of mine, His Holiness
told me, “Two days before taking samnyasa, | had thought, ‘Dreams are not under my
control. Mistakes committed in them do not result in sin. Nevertheless, my renunciation
should be so sincere and firm that after being initiated into samnyasa, | should not
see myself in any dream as clad in white as | am now. | love chanting the Gayatri-mantra.
Yet, as Gayatri-japa is disallowed for paramahamsa-samnydasins, | should not engage
in it even in my dreams from the day after tomorrow. By God’s grace, till today,
this has come to pass.”

71






CHAPTER 4

Hatha-yoga Mastered

His Holiness was exhausted when He retired for the night on 22" May 1931, the day He
was initiated into samnyasa. As was usual, He fell asleep almost the moment He shut
His eyes. That night He had a dream that
He could vividly recall even decades later.
In it, He found Himself on the amazingly scenic
summit of a tall, ice-clad mountain. Though the
mountain was icy, He felt no cold. In front of
Him, at a distance of about twenty feet, He saw
a huge, crystal Sivalinga. A torrent of water was
falling on it in a column from above. He could
not see the source of the water. He could hear
the chanting in chorus of the Vedic Rudra-
prasna but no chanter was visible. Suddenly,
there was a great flash of light and from the
linga, Lord Siva manifested.

The Lord appeared as
possessed of one face and
two arms. He was extremely
fair and radiant. His hair was
matted and was tawny in
hue. On beholding Siva, His
Holiness was so struck with

awe that He stood unmoving.
The Lord smilingly looked at
His Holiness and raised His
right hand in a gesture
of blessing. His Holiness
felt a great power entering
into Him.

The Lord appeared as possessed of one
face and two arms. He was extremely
fair and radiant. His hair was matted
and was tawny in hue. On beholding Siva, His Holiness was so struck with awe
that He stood unmoving. The Lord smilingly looked at His Holiness and raised
His right hand in a gesture of blessing. His Holiness felt a great power entering
into Him. Automatically, He began to chant ‘om’ mentally. Siva gestured to
Him to sit down. A seat of deer skin with an ochre cloth spread on it appeared
where His Holiness was standing. He did namaskara and, strictly in obedience to the
Lord’s wish, sat down even though Siva was standing.
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The Lord came near Him. A big tiger skin appeared on the ground and Siva sat on it.
He positioned His legs in the padmasana and told His Holiness to do the same. While
His Holiness knew even earlier how to adopt the padmdsana, Siva’s approach was
particularly graceful and His Holiness imitated it as best as He could. Then Siva assumed
the siddhasana. In response to the Lord’s directive, His Holiness copied Him. With His
hands, the Lord corrected His Holiness’s posture. The correction consisted in adjusting
the left heel to be in better contact with the perineum.

Padmasana Siddhasana Pranayama

Seated in the siddhasana, the Lord demonstrated how to perform pranayama. Exhaling
the air within, He began to smoothly inhale through the left nostril. On the completion
of paraka (inhalation), He blocked both His nostrils with His fingers and lowered His
chin to His chest to form the jalandhara-bandha. At the close of kumbhaka (retention),
His Holiness saw Him deeply pull in and upward His abdomen to adopt the uddiyana-
bandha. His body smoothly rose to about a foot above the ground. Raising His head,
He exhaled smoothly through the right nostril. As He did so, His body gradually descended
to the ground. He then repeated the process by inhaling through the right nostril
and exhaling through the left nostril.

{The Hathayoga-pradipika defines the jalandhara and uddiyana bandhas thus: “Having
contracted the throat, the chin should be held firmly at the chest. This is the bandha
called jalandhara. It destroys old age and death. The abdomen above and below the
navel should be drawn against the back. This is the uddiyana-bandha. It is the lion that
kills the elephant of death.” About when these two bandhas should be practised during
prandayama, it is said therein: “The bandha named jalandhara should be practised at
the close of inhalation. The uddiyana should be practised towards the end of retention
and the start of exhalation.” The commentary Jyotsna explicates that the uddiyana-
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bandha should be adopted before the retention of breath is concluded and exhalation
is commenced. This description of these bandhas and the specification of when
they are to be practised during pranayama tally with those contained in some minor
Upanisads, such as the Yogasikha-upanisad and Yogakundali-upanisad.}

By seeing the position of the Lord’s fingers on His nostrils and by observing His midriff,
His Holiness could judge when Siva was engaged in pdraka (inhalation), kumbhaka
(retention) and recaka (exhalation). As His Holiness had been spontaneously chanting
the pranava (om) in the dream, He discerned, with the number of pranavas as basis,
that the Lord’s kumbhaka lasted four times His piraka, while His recaka was twice His
piaraka. He made this determination during the Lord’s second round of pranayama.
Having demonstrated the practice of pranayama in the siddhasana, the Lord did it in
the padmasana.

After this the Lord cited three passages, the
combined import of which is, “When breath is
active, so is the mind. When breath is still, the
mind is calm. As a result of prandyama, the
mind becomes fit for fixed attention. Just as the
impurities of ores are burnt by the furnace-blast,
the faults of the organs are singed by the restraint
of prana.” As His Holiness heard the Lord’s words,
the understanding that automatically dawned on
Him was, “When the mind is agitated, breathing
is not slow and rhythmic. On the other hand, the
breathing is gentle and rhythmic when the mind is
calm. This common observation suggests that there
is a relationship between one’s mental state and
breathing. Not only does one’s mental state influence one’s breathing, the converse
is also true. Breathing is a gross manifestation of the activity of prana. The correlation
is fundamentally between the activities of the mind and prana. By controlling prana,
the mind can be controlled. Through the control of breath, the practitioner of
pranayama checks the activity of prana and thereby that of the mind. Pranayama is
a great purifier”” The Lord remained silent for the few moments during which all this
spontaneously registered in His Holiness’s mind.

“When breath is active, so
is the mind. When breath
is still, the mind is calm.
As a result of pranayama,
the mind becomes fit

for fixed attention. Just
as the impurities of ores
are burnt by the furnace-
blast, the faults of the
organs are singed by the
restraint of prana.”

Thereafter, Siva demonstrated how prandydma can be done with breathing
being suspended after exhalation rather than after inhalation. Finally, He showed
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His Holiness the various kinds of restraint of prana like sdryabhedana, ujjayi, sitkari,
sitali and bhastrika in such a way that His Holiness could clearly understand and
distinguish them.

{About sidryabhedana, ujjayi, sitkari, sitali and bhastrika, the Hathayoga-pradipika says:

Now, sdryabhedana is spoken of. Seated in a firm Gsana on a comfortable seat, the yogin
should slowly draw in air from outside through the right nostril. He should retain it to
the limit till he feels it right from the hair on his head to the tips of his toe nails. Then, he
should slowly exhale the breath through the left nostril.

Now, ujjayi is described. Having closed the mouth, one should draw in air slowly through
both the nostrils such that it is felt to be sonorous from the throat to the heart. Then,
the breath should be retained as in siryabhedana and exhaled through the left nostril.
This eradicates the defect of phlegm in the throat and intensifies the fire of digestion.

Now, sitkari is presented. One should inhale through the mouth, making a hissing sound
(by placing the tongue between the teeth). Exhalation should be only through the nostril.
By practising thus, one becomes attractive like the god of love.

Now sitali is spoken of. One should inhale air through the tongue (kept protruding
and curled to resemble a bird’s beak). Kumbhaka should be done as in siryabhedana.
Then, the wise one should slowly exhale the air through the two nostrils.

Now bhastrika is spoken of. Having properly adopted the padmdasana and kept the body
and the neck erect, the wise man should close his mouth and forcefully exhale through
the nostril such that there is sound from the heart and throat to the skull. Then, he should
rapidly inhale air up to the region of the heart. He should repeatedly exhale and inhale
in this fashion.}

When the Lord finished His demonstration of bhastrika, His Holiness’s dream ended
and He awakened. The time was about two o’clock in the night. His mental chanting
of the Pranava, which had begun when the Lord blessed Him in the dream, persisted
throughout the dream, inclusive of when He heard the passages voiced by the Lord.
On waking up, He noticed that He spontaneously continued to recite in His mind
the Pranava.

Impelled by some force, He stood up, with His legs somewhat apart. He slightly bent
forward and gripped His thighs with His hands. Then, He gradually exhaled and pulled
His abdomen towards His back and upwards to adopt the uddiyana-bandha in a standing
posture. Though He could not understand why He was doing all this in the middle of the



night, He felt amazed to see the extent to which a deep cavity had formed in the region
of His abdomen. After some moments, He gradually exhaled and straightened up.

Directed further by the force, He sat down in the siddhasana and started to perform
prandyama. He inhaled for a shorter duration than had the Lord. This simplified the
practice; however, it was not the result of any decision of His. At the end of pdraka,
He adopted not only the jalandhara-bandha but also the mala-bandha, characterised
by the contraction of the anus. He had not identified the Lord’s performance of the
mula-bandha in His dream and was unfamiliar with it.

{The Hathayoga-pradipika describes the mala-bandha thus: “Pressing the perineum with
the heel, one should contract the anus and draw up apana. This is called mula-bandha.”}

His Holiness’s having practised the uddiydna-bandha in a standing posture facilitated His
doing it during prandydma. Though His pdraka was shorter than the Lord’s, as in Siva’s
case, His kumbhaka lasted four times the piraka and recaka two times the pdraka. Having
performed two prandydamas in the siddhasana, He did the same in the padmasana.
Throughout, there was no planning on His part and the mental chanting of the pranava
proceeded without any interruption. After doing pranayama in the padmasana, He lay
down and fell asleep. He awoke very fresh, well before sunrise. The dream was crystal
clear in His mind. After spending some minutes practising the different kinds of restraint
of prana, such as sitali, His Holiness went for His ablutions. No one knew about His
having done prandyama at night or before daybreak.

His Holiness performing prandyama during pdja




{Having most kindly blessed me with all the aforesaid details in May 1975 at Sringeri,
His Holiness said, “I had no words to express my gratitude to Bhagavan for having
extraordinarily graced me in spite of my being so unworthy and that too on the very
day of my new life. | did not have an iota of doubt that the Lord would ever take care of

“I had no words to
express my gratitude
to Bhagavan for having
extraordinarily graced me
in spite of my being so
unworthy and that too on
the very day of my new
life. | did not have an iota
of doubt that the Lord
would ever take care of
and guide me. All | needed
to do was not give
room to egoism.”
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and guide me. All | needed to do was not give room to
egoism.” | asked Him, “Did the mental chanting of the
Pranava persist spontaneously after Your Holiness woke
up?” He responded, “No. The Lord had, by His blessing,
initiated the chanting and given me an understanding
of how natural, uninterrupted and delightful it can
be. | felt that the Lord intended that | should practise
such chanting to the extent of it becoming effortless.
Accordingly, | began to engage voluntarily in mental
Pranava-japa within a minute of my awakening. By
Bhagavan’s grace, within a year, such japa became as
effortless and uninterrupted as in the special dream. It
continued even in dreams and while | conversed.”}

On that and the next several days, the senior
Jagadguru personally familiarised His Holiness with
the performance of ghnika and other duties. He also
initiated His Holiness into mantras such as the Srividya.
His Holiness regarded it as inappropriate to take any
more of His Guru’s time by reporting His experiences to
Him and so abstained from doing so till later.

His Holiness performing ahnika



On the night of 23 May, His Holiness had a dream in which the Lord continued His teaching.
Siva first gave a demonstration of kevala-kumbhaka. His breathing stopped all of a sudden
and He remained motionless for some time, with His eyes closed. His Holiness began to
experience tremendous peace. His breathing too stopped without any reference to the
preceding state of inhalation or exhalation. Gradually, the Lord started to breathe again
and opened His eyes. As Siva did so, His Holiness realised that this kumbhaka is superior
to and is the fruit of the practice of restraint that considers piraka and recaka.

{Maharsi Pataiijali has described kevala-kumbhaka thus in his Yogasitras: “The fourth
(kevala-kumbhaka) is that which follows when the spheres of the external and internal
are transcended.” After detailing the practice of pranayama in which kumbhaka and
recaka are respectively four and two times the pdraka, the Yogatattva-upanisad
presents and eulogises kevala-kumbhaka thus: “Thereafter, he acquires the capacity
to restrain his breath for as long as he wishes. From such stoppage of breath, there
accrues the attainment of kevala-kumbhaka. On his attaining kevala-kumbhaka, which is
not associated with inhalation and exhalation, nothing in the three worlds is difficult for
him to achieve.”}

During that dream and the ones

During that dream and the ones on on the succeeding five nights, the
the succeeding five nights, the Lord Lord demonstrated numerous

demonstrated numerous yogdsanas and yogasanas and kriyds such as
nauli. There was no repetition.

He performed the asanas very
swiftly but with unmatchable grace
and with each step unmistakably
clear. No human adept could
have performed even a quarter of the number of dsanas in the same time. He did not
name any dsana. Also, He did not direct His Holiness to do any asana before passing
on to the next. However, whenever He performed one, His Holiness automatically
understood whether this was just for His information or for His practice later. Such
was the impact of and imprint created by the Lord’s teaching that even decades later
His Holiness was in a position to vividly recall the Lord’s demonstration of any asana
that He wished to see.

kriyas such as nauli. No human adept could
have performed even a quarter of the
number of asanas in the same time.

On the seventh night, that is, on the night of 28" May, towards the close of His teaching
in His Holiness’s dream, the Lord threw light on the khecari-mudra. Sitting in the
padmasana, He stretched out His tongue. In moments, the membrane connecting it
with the lower part of the mouth began to give way gradually as if it were being cut
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with a knife. Simultaneously, the tongue became thinner and longer. Soon, it resembled
that of a dog. The Lord turned it upwards. It reached up to the head. His Holiness
automatically understood that the normal procedure involved cutting the fraenum, little
by little, over a long period and elongating the tongue by shaking and pulling it.

Having transformed His tongue into a thin long one, Siva directed His gaze to between
the brows. He then turned His tongue backwards and inserted it into the cavity at the
back of the throat that leads to the nose. Thereafter, the Lord remained motionless
and with no perceptible signs of breathing. At that time, His Holiness’s breathing too
stopped. He felt something cool and very pleasant to taste descend into the back of His
mouth. It greatly invigorated Him. The understanding dawned that this fluid obviates
hunger, thirst, weakness and dullness. As the Lord lowered His tongue, His Holiness’s
experience ended. The next moment, Siva’s tongue became normal.

{The khecari-mudra has been described and eulogised in the Upanisads such as the
Yogakundali and in hatha-yoga texts. The Hathayoga-pradipika says: “The tongue should
be gradually lengthened by cutting, shaking and stretching till it reaches the middle
of the eyebrows. Then khecar is successfully accomplished. Turning back the tongue,
it should be put into the path of the three nadis (that is, into the cavity in the roof of
the palate). This is the khecari-mudra that is also known as vyoma-cakra. He who
knows the khecari-mudra is free from disease, death, dullness, sleep, hunger, thirst and
clouding of the mind.”}

Finally, Siva taught His Holiness ndada-

Siva taught His Holiness
nada-anusandhana. With
His fingers, He closed His

nose, mouth and ears.

Then He concentrated
on the ocean-like sound
heard in the right ear. His
Holiness comprehended
that the Lord was doing
so because, without any

effort, His Holiness’s
attention locked on to
such a sound in His own
right ear.

anusandhana (contemplation on the internal
sound). With His fingers, He closed His nose,
mouth and ears. Then He concentrated on the
ocean-like sound heard in the right ear. His
Holiness comprehended that the Lord was doing
so because, without any effort, His Holiness’s
attention locked on to such a sound in His own
right ear. His Holiness also got the feeling that
with practice one can focus on this sound even
without closing the ears. Soon, His Holiness heard
different sounds in succession. Finally, all sounds
ceased and He was overwhelmed with bliss. The
next moment, His Holiness’s experience ended.
The Lord took His hands away from His face.



The Lord then raised His right hand in a gesture of
blessing and got up. His Holiness promptly prostrated
before Him, placing His head on Siva’s lotus feet.
As His Holiness rose, the Lord walked towards the
crystal linga from which He had manifested. A flash
of light preceded His disappearance into that linga.
At this point, His Holiness’s dream ended. The Lord
had not left His seat at the close of the preceding
six extraordinary dreams. Hence, when His Holiness
woke up at His usual time, He knew that this was
the last of this series of dreams.

In the course of the seven dreams, the Lord had demonstrated hundreds of asanas. These
included all those described in the authoritative works such as Hathayoga-pradipika and
numerous others not referred to in any text. His Holiness did not think even an expert with
a highly supple body would be able to do more than a few of the many asanas of the
latter kind. The Lord demonstrated the various kriyas but not vasti; also, He did not take
up the vajroli-mudra.

{The six kriyas are dhauti, vasti, neti, trataka, nauli and kapdalabhati. These serve
to purify the body. The Hathayoga-pradipika describes their practice thus: “One
should slowly swallow, as taught by the Guru, a wet cloth that has the width of
four fingers and is fifteen spans long. One should then draw out the cloth. This is
the dhauti-kriya. One should sit in utkatasana in water reaching up to one’s navel
with a tube inserted into the anus. Then, one should contract the anus (draw in
water and expel it). Such washing is the vasti-kriya. One should insert into a nostril,
a smooth thread that is a span (or more) long and draw it out through the mouth.

Parsva-kondasana Pirna-bhujangasana
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Yogasanas demonstrated by Master Logesh

Cakrdsana Dhanurdsana Padangusta-dhanurasana

Pascimottanasana Parna-salabhdsana Salabha-Sirsdsana

“I began to devote
half an hour
exclusively for
asanas and kriyas
and half an hour
for pranayama. |
performed some
asanas, such

as sirsasana,
sarvangasana,
matsyasana,
pascimottanasana
and ardha-
matsyendrasana,
and kriyas such as
nauli, on all days.”

Sarvangasana Halasana

Matsydsana Sirsasana - His Holiness




Urdhva-kukkutasana

Tittibhasana

Upavista-konasana

Pifica-kokila-vriscikasana Padma-vriscikasana

Ganda-bherundasana

“To the extent that |
could accommodate
within the available

time, | did other

asanas from
my repertoire.”

- His Holiness

a-pada-vamadeva-
vriscikasana

Dvipada-vamadeva-salabhasana

Dvipada-vamadeva-salabhasana



Eka-pada-viparita- Omkarasana Gherandasana Ardha-mat-
dandasana syendrasana

Mukhotthanasana Nauli-kriya Savasana

The siddhas call this neti. One should gaze steadily with a focused mind at a minute
object till tears fall. Teachers regard this to be trataka. With shoulders lowered, one
should rotate the abdomen to the left and right with the speed of a swift eddy. Siddhas
reveal this to be nauli. One should draw in and push out air rapidly like the bellows of a
blacksmith. This is called kapalabhati. It destroys phlegmatic defects.” As described in the
Hathayoga-pradipika, the practice of the vajroli-mudra begins with gradually inserting
a tube into the penis. Having cleared the passage by blowing, one learns to draw water
through it. An aim is to be able to draw ejaculated semen back into the penis.}

After the dreams, while His Holiness was able to perform the simple asanas such
as sirsasana in the first attempt, the tougher ones such as gheranddasana and
mukhottanasana needed effort and practice.

As the Lord did not demonstrate vasti, His Holiness never practised it. However, having
once witnessed its performance, He knew how to do it. He mastered the other kriyas

easily and practised dhauti, neti and nauli regularly.




About His mastering dhauti, His Holiness told me in 1973, “I took a long thin piece
of muslin cloth, and swallowed some of it. Then, | gently pulled it out. | did this two
or three times. The next day, | swallowed a much greater length. By the fourth day, |
could comfortably put as much of the cloth as | wanted into the throat and stomach
and slowly pull it out. | found that this kriya helped to clear any phlegm in the throat.”

Describing His practice of neti, He said, on the same occasion, “l used my index finger
to push a soft cloth or thread into a nostril as far as | could. Closing the other nostril, |
inhaled in jerks and exhaled through the mouth. By the suction and the guiding force
from outside, the thread went well into the nostril and came down to the back of the
mouth. In the initial stages of practice, | found the thread going slightly into the wind
pipe or gullet and producing a funny sensation. However, | soon learnt the remedy.
When the inserted material appeared at the back of my throat, | cleared my throat
with a sound. At the same time, | inserted my index finger and thumb into the throat
and, grasping the thread, pulled it to make it protrude from the mouth. The pulling
should be done slowly to avoid damage to the nasal tissues. Thereafter, | oscillated
the cloth or thread by pulling and releasing its opposite ends. This too should be done
slowly. After this, | pulled out the thread through the nostril and repeated the whole
process through the other nostril. | found this kriya to be quite useful in clearing
the phlegm blocking the nostrils.”

After speaking of neti, His Holiness demonstrated how He did nauli. He stood with
His legs separated and His palms pressed against His thighs. Having fully expelled air
from the lungs, He deeply pulled in His abdomen. He then controlled His muscles to
make the abdominal region resemble a cavity with a vertical tube in the middle. He
then made the tube swing from side to side and execute a churning motion. Finally, He
restored His abdomen to its normal form and said, “This used to be my favourite kriya.”

In May 1975, subsequent to hearing His Holiness’s account of the seven dreams,
| asked Him, “How many of the dsanas demonstrated by Siva but not mentioned in
books did Your Holiness master?” He said, “Six. Close the door. | will show you one of
them and you can see how tough it is.”

This conversation took place in the hall extending from east to west in the upper storey
of Sacchidananda Vilas. As directed, | shut the door on the eastern side that led to the
stairs. By the time | returned to his Holiness, He had removed His upper garment and
was spreading His dhoti on the ground to serve as a mat. He was attired in just an ochre
loin cloth. | watched thoroughly spellbound as, step by step, His Holiness assumed an
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extremely complex, inverted pose. Such was the tight knot into which He tied Himself
that it appeared that His body was made of highly elastic rubber and comprised no
bones. Having held the final pose for about a minute, He gradually unwound Himself
and put on His lower and upper garments.

He then told me, “The first two times that | tried to do this, | failed. The third time |
succeeded only partially. On my next attempt, | somehow managed to adopt the final
position but became stuck in it. | found that | was just unable to release the knot that
bound my hands and legs. | called to mind Bhagavan’s performance of this asana.
In imitation of what He had done, | emptied my lungs and used my middle fingers
to release myself a little. The rest was manageable. From the fifth try onwards, | had
no difficulty.”

| asked His Holiness, “When teaching me asanas, Your Holiness had told me, ‘When | was
young, | asked Kasi-svamin (Sri Iévarananda Sarasvati, a very dispassionate sarmnyadsin
and an adept at performing dsanas who had learnt the Brahmasitra-bhasya from
senior Jagadguru and was close to the senior Jagadguru and His Holiness) if | could
watch him perform dsanas in order to do them myself. In those days, bairagis
(dispassionate, wandering mendicants) used to come to Sringeri, stay for a time and
go away. | saw them practising various asanas. My curiosity was aroused and | carefully
noted how they performed them. As my body was supple, | did not have difficulty
in mastering the dasanas and kriyas that | had observed them do. Further, | enjoyed
doing them and so the learning process was expedited. | used to get clarifications
whenever necessary to ascertain that what | was doing was right.’ It is now clear to me
that Bhagavan had taught Your Holiness. | am, however, unclear as to how to reconcile
this understanding with Your Holiness’s earlier statement.”

His Holiness replied, “l have not done any dsana or kriya that Siva had not shown me in
the dreams. However, | practised the asanas and kriyas only after learning, as it were,
a number of them from Kasi-svamin and the
bairagis. Further, | did come to know the names
of asanas from Kasi-svamin and the bairdgis and, “I have not done any

later, from books.” asana or kriyad that Siva

had not shown Me in the
{When interviewed in the 1980s, Kasi-svamin

said that when young, His Holiness had
approached him and watched him perform - His Holiness
the uddiyana-bandha and dasanas, such

dreams.”
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as goraksa. His Holiness did not do the dsanas in his presence. Regarding the kriyas
such as dhauti, Kasi-svamin stated that he did not practise them. Presumably, it was only
the bairagis who did the kriyas that His Holiness referred to.}

| then queried, “What was the reason for Your Holiness postponing doing asanas and
kriyas till having seemingly learnt many of them from humans?” His Holiness said,
“] felt that this is what God wanted me to do. Because of this, there was no scope for
the Math staff and others to wonder how | was abruptly able to practise hatha-
yoga without having been taught. As for pranayama and the bandhas, | initially did
them secretly at about three in the night and then went back to sleep. Subsequently,
for some time, | did them privately during my ahnika. It is only after having supposedly
learnt them from others that | practised them without being secretive. As for nada-
anusandhana, | did it once a week along with my ahnika. | believe, | only did as God
intended me to when | started doing pranayama with the bandhas after the first dream
and nada-anusandhana after the seventh dream.”

About the number of asanas He used to perform every day and the number of cycles of
pranayama with the bandhas, His Holiness said, “The number of dsanas varied. Within
a few years after samnyasa, | began to devote half an hour exclusively for asanas and
kriyas and half an hour for pranayama. | performed some dasanas, such as sirsasana,
sarvangasana, matsyasana, pascimottanasana and ardha-matsyendrasana, and kriyas
such as nauli, on all days. Apart from these, to the extent that | could accommodate
within the available time, | did other asanas from my repertoire. | ended with five
minutes of savasana. | required a week to complete one cycle of all the asanas that
| practised. After Savasana, | took up prandyama with the three bandhas. | did 16
cycles with pdraka, kumbhaka and recaka lasting for 16, 64 and 32 seconds respectively
or eight cycles with the timings being 32, 128 and 64 seconds. Over the course of
every week, | also briefly accommodated the forms of restraint of prana such as sitalr.
After prandyama, | spent about 15 minutes on stamina and strength building exercises
before going for my morning bath.”

In response to my asking Him whether He had straightaway started doing pranayama
with the retention lasting for over two minutes, His Holiness stated, “No. Over the course of two
weeks, | raised the retention time from about a minute to this. Within a month of practice,
| could retain my breath comfortably for five minutes. However, the idea of performing
prandyama regularly with so long a kumbhaka did not appeal to me for, then, | could
not have done even four cycles within my scheduled half an hour. Though it is many
years since | casually retained my breath for five minutes, | shall demonstrate this to
you now.”
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A thought crossed my mind whether during such prolonged retention He would
slow down His metabolism and lower His pulse rate. Immediately, He laughed and said,
“You can note my pulse now and in the final minute.” | measured His pulse rate and
found it to be 67 beats per minute. Then, His Holiness fully emptied His lungs, pressed
His nostrils shut and performed the jalandhara-bandha. His eyes were open and
there was a light smile on His face. At the end of the fourth minute, | began counting
His pulse and did so till the end of the fifth minute. His pulse rate was just 29 beats
per minute. As | withdrew my hand from His Holiness’s wrist, which He had held out
to facilitate my measurement, He released the pressure on His nostrils and smoothly
took a couple of deep breaths.

{His Holiness has given the following clarification about guidance and directives
received in dreams:

It is certain that all that is seen in a dream is false. The Brhadaranyaka-upanisad states,
“There are no chariots, horses or paths there.” In the Brahmasiitras, it is said, “But
the dream creation is a mere illusion on account of its nature of not being manifest
with the totality of the attributes (found in the waking state, such as adequate
space, time and circumstances and not being nullified).” Nevertheless, what is
encountered in a dream may, uncommonly, form a basis for spiritual practice. In the
Yogasutras, it is said: “Alternatively, the mind reaches the state of steadiness by having
as its object of focus a perception had in dream or sleep.” Explaining this, Vacaspati has
said (in his gloss Tattvavaisaradi) that a person may see in a dream an exquisite, well-
decorated image of Siva in a forest. After waking up, the person concerned can recall
that image and meditate upon it.

Rarely, a person may have a dream in which he
receives initiation from God or the Guru into a
mantra. In the Mahdabharata, there is an account
of a dream in which Arjuna received instructions
from Siva. Having vowed to slay Jayadratha by
sunset the next day, Arjuna was worried about
how he could achieve success. When he fell
asleep, hehad adreamin which Krsnacameto him
and led him on an aerial journey to the summit
of the Kailasa Mountain. There, they beheld Siva
and eulogised Him. In response to Arjuna’s prayer,
the Lord directed them to fetch His bow, pindka,
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and His pasupata-astra from a celestial lake.
When they did so, a brahmacarin emerged from
Siva’s side and taught Arjuna how to discharge
the pasupata arrow. The Lord also taught Arjuna
the mantras for invoking the weapon. Arjuna’s
memory of the instructions about the use of the
pasupata that he had received much earlier from
Siva was thereby restored. On waking up, he was
in a position to invoke with mantras and employ
the irresistible pasupata, if needed.

A dream in which one sees the Guru or God is
good and can be viewed as a sign of divine grace.
However, one ought not to indiscriminately
assume that whatever instruction one has
received in the dream is indeed the directive
of the Guru or God and blindly carry it out. For
instance, it would be a grave error for one to harm another because of having dreamt
of being commanded to do so. One should not implement what is contrary to one’s

dharma nor give weight to a teaching that is discordant with the actual position of
the scriptures and one’s Sadguru.

Rare are the dreams in which one is actually

blessed with the instructions of God or the A dream in which one sees the
Sadguru. A sceptic who hears of a dream Guru or God is good and can
of this kind would, perhaps, dismiss it as be viewed as a sign of divine
a fabrication of the narrator or seek to grace. However, one ought not

explain it in some other way such as that
the apparently new information acquired
is actually based on knowledge unwittingly . : o
gained earlier. The extraordinary nature of received in the dream is indeed
such dreams and the appropriateness and  FRASRCIESEVE R RETTTTReTREL o]
worth of the guidance received through and blindly carry it out.
them are, however, generally unmistakable
to the one who has them.}

to indiscriminately assume that

whatever instruction one has
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CHAPTER 5

Everything unto God

[The following conversation took place in October 1987 at the Sringeri Shankara
Math, Bengaluru. When | went to His Holiness during His morning ahnika to offer my

namaskaras, | saw Him wiping tears of joy.]

His Holiness: | just completed the japa
of the Narasimha-mantra. Suddenly,
| remembered what happened when
my Guru graced me with initiation into
the Narasimha-mantra subsequent to
His giving me samnydsa. The memory
brought tears of joy to my eyes. During
the initiation, when my Guru was about
to start voicing the dhyana-sloka, |
found myself spontaneously visualising
Narasimha in my heart. As | heard and
repeated the dhydna-sloka, | realised
with surprise and happiness that the
form of Narasimha described therein
and the one | was seeing matched.

{The import of dhyana-sloka concerned is:
“Iworship Laksmi-nrsimha whose essential
nature is absolute existence, consciousness
and bliss, who is immaculate, who is

Laksmi-nrsimha

established in yoga, whose countenance is very pleasing, who is glorious with numerous
ornaments, who has three eyes, who bears (in His four hands) the (sudarsana) cakra,

the pinaka (bow) and the signs of granting fearlessness and boons, who is lustrous like
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the sun, who is fair in complexion like the moon, who has (the set of hoods of) the king
of snakes (Sesa) serving as an umbrella over Him and who dwells in the middle of the
ocean of milk.”

In1976, in the course of His evening walk, His Holiness casually chanted this verse and then
told me, “God, who is formless and of the nature of absolute existence, consciousness
and bliss, appears as Siva, Visnu, Amba (Divine Mother) and so on for the sake of His
devotees. The form of Narasimha described in this dhydna-sloka is itself suggestive of
the actual non-difference between Siva and Visnu. That Narasirhha is an incarnation of
Visnu is well known. Here, He is spoken of as being with Laksmi, the consort of Visnu, as
bearing the cakra, the weapon of Visnu, and as having the hoods of Sesa as His umbrella,
like Visnu. Further, He is said to be in the middle of the ocean of milk. This too fits Visnu.
However, Narasimha is presented here, like Siva, as three-eyed. He bears the pindka, the
bow of Siva. Further, like Siva, and unlike Visnu, Narasimha is described as very fair in
complexion.”}

His Holiness: The words relating to the ‘paficopacara-pija (worship with five offerings,
done after saying the dhydna-sloka)’ took only some seconds for my Guru to utter and
for me to repeat. Yet, | experienced
no shortage of time in elaborately
worshipping the Lord mentally in my
heart with offerings of sandal paste,
flowers, incense, lamp, food and so
on. | can attribute only to divine grace
the irresistible urge that led me to
begin the worship. During naivedya,
| served the Lord a variety of dishes
in a jewel-studded golden plate, put
a little food into His mouth, waited
for Him to masticate and swallow
and only thereafter offered another
morsel. It was as if the several seconds
miraculously became extended to
over half an hour from my perspective.
Even while performing the worship
with concentration and dedication, |
was able to see my Guru and repeat
His words without delay.
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{The ‘pancopacara-pdja (worship with five offerings)’ is performed as follows:

Simultaneously touching the middle joint of the little finger with the tip of the thumb in
both the hands and saying words to the effect, “lam (the bija, seed-syllable, of prthvi,
earth)! | present sandal paste to Him who is the essence of prthvi, earth.” Touching the
upper joint of the thumb with the tip of the index finger and saying words to the effect:
“ham (the seed-syllable of space)! | offer flowers to Him who is the essence of space.”
Touching the middle joint of the index finger with the tip of the thumb and saying words
to the effect, “yam (the seed-syllable of air)! | submit the fragrance of incense to Him
who is the essence of air” Touching the middle joint of the middle finger with the tip
of the thumb and saying words to the effect, “ram (the seed-syllable of fire)! | show a
lamp to Him who is the essence of fire.” Touching the middle joint of the ring finger with
the tip of the thumb and saying words to the effect, “vam (the seed-syllable of water)!
| serve an offering of divine food to Him who is the essence of ambrosia.” Touching
the tips of the fingers of a hand with the tips of the corresponding fingers of the other
hand and saying words to the effect, “sam (the seed-syllable of jagat, the world)! | offer
worship with all articles of homage to Him, who is the essence of all.”}

His Holiness: When my Guru started to utter the Narasimha-mantra (after the
pafcopacdara-puja), He placed His right palm on my head. He did not do this when He
initiated me into other mantras such as the Medha-daksindmdrti and Srividya.

{The overall meaning of mantra-rdaja of Narasimha is, “I salute Nrsimha, the fierce, heroic,
great one who pervades all, the lustrous one with faces everywhere, the fearsome one,
the auspicious one and the destroyer of death.”

His Holiness told me, in 1976, “Every word of this mantra is deeply significant. | shall
illustrate this by briefly considering three of the words. A term describing the Lord in the
mantra is ‘jvalantam’. That Narasimha is lustrous is a simple meaning. Consciousness
is the light of lights; but for it, no luminary like the sun or a lamp would be visible.
Narasimha ever shines as the light of consciousness. This is a deeper meaning. Another
term of the mantra is ‘sarvatomukham’. This literally means that He has faces on
all sides. The Upanisads teach that though devoid of all organs, the Supreme grasps
everything everywhere. In this sense, Narasimha is ‘sarvatomukhah’. The mantra speaks
of the Lord as ‘bhisanam’. The word literally means, ‘fearsome’. The Bhagavata-purdna
conveys that when Narasimha slew Hiranyakasipu and continued to be fierce, the gods
and even Laksmi feared Him. The term fits the Lord in another way too. The Supreme
ordains and enforces order in the universe. The laws of Nature are His. It is said, ‘Out of



fear of Him, the wind blows. Out of fear of Him, the sun rises.’ In this sense, Narasimha
is ‘bhisanah’. The Nrsimha-pirvatapaniya and Nrsimha-uttaratapaniya upanisads deal
extensively with this mantra.”}

His Holiness: The moment my Guru chanted the mantra once and, following Him, |
too did so, an amazing event occurred. He abruptly withdrew His hand from my head,
joined His palms and gazed at me silently with deep reverence. My breathing stopped.
The form of Laksmi-nrsimha that | was seeing within me vanished. However, | began
to experience the Lord as my Antaryamin (Inner Controller), refuge and intimate well-
wisher as clearly as one can see a fruit in one’s open palm. | ceased to regard the body,
prana, organs, mind and intellect as mine; everything was just His. | do not know how
long | remained thus, motionless and immersed in bliss. All along, | did see my Guru
keeping His palms joined and looking in my direction.

The form of Narasimha then reappeared
and my breathing resumed. My mental
state reverted to what it had been during
my chanting of the mantra but with the
difference that | now felt extremely intimate
with Narasimha. At the same time, my Guru
lowered His hands. He then recited the
mantra two more times, giving me time to
repeat His words.

After completing the initiation, my Guru
said, “After you had said the mantra once,
| saw just Narasimha in your place. That is
why | jerked back my hand from your head
and offered my salutation to Him. When
His form disappeared and you reappeared,
| proceeded with the initiation. Dedicate
everything to Him.” All this came to my mind
a short while ago.

Sri Candrasekhara Bharati Mahdasvamin

{His Holiness stopped speaking and continued with His ahnika. | prostrated before Him
three times. As | did not wish to disturb Him and take His time further, | did not ask Him
about the short-term and long-term impacts of the experiences. As | was starting to
leave, He smiled and Himself provided the answer.}



His Holiness: Throughout that day,
offering everything to Narasimha was
extremely easy. For instance, when |
had my afternoon bath, | automatically
felt that | was performing abhiseka to
Narasimha who abided within me.
During my bhiksa (meal), | promptly
visualised Him as accepting from
within and eating whatever | put into
my mouth. When | read a book after
bhiksa, He appeared to be listening
from inside my heart as if | were
reading to Him. As | walked, it
spontaneously seemed that | was
taking Him, who was within me,
for a stroll. The next day onwards,
however, | needed to consciously
practise dedicating all my activities
and their fruits to Him. | also started
spending some time every day just
for offering Him mental worship. The
experiences of the day of initiation
greatly facilitated both these and
served as models. In a few months,
karma-yoga became natural. From
the time of initiation, Narasimha
became very dear to me. As | have
told you on several occasions, He
takes care of me like a child, guides
me, provides clarifications and sets
right all the foolish things | say and do.
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CHAPTER 6

Contemplating the Self

[The following is my rendering into English of a portion of His Holiness’s benedictory
address delivered in Kannada, at the Sringeri Shankara Math, Bengaluru, on September 5,
1987. This discourse was the last of a series of six by His Holiness on His Guru. The occasion
was a “Smarana-Saptaha (A week of Recollection)” organised at the Math in which
various speakers talked about H.H. Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati.]

“When staying in Narasimhavana with my Guru, | used to go every evening to behold
Saradamba and remain there for up to an hour.

“On my return, He once asked me, ‘You have crossed the river and come. What thought
arose in your mind?’

“ “What thought?’ | wondered and replied, ‘| perceived various objects.
“(He:) What was new?

(I:) Nothing. | saw what was in
front of me.

(He:) Must you see whatever is
in front of your eyes?

(I:) If the eyes be kept closed (to
abstain from perceiving objects),
it would not be possible to walk.

(He:) You must see and yet not
see.

I:) How is th ible? =
(1) How is that possible His Holiness crossing river Tunga
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“l am a wave in the ocean called Atman”

“To this, He said, ‘Gtmambhodhes-tarango’smy-aham-iti gamane (When walking,
one should think that one is a wave in the ocean that is the Atman). This is how we
should conduct ourselves. When we get up from a seated position and start walking, the
feeling should not be, ‘We are walking and going somewhere. In the big ocean - the
Atman - a wave has arisen. That wave is moving forward. This is the supposition.
There is no difference between the wave and the ocean. Yet, because one walks
(and thus moves forward like the wave), one should think of oneself as the wave.
When the occasion to walk arises, one should contemplate, ‘1 am a wave in the ocean
of the bliss, in the ocean of the Atman.

“His advice surprised me. He went on, ‘At all times - even when you talk to someone -
repeat this idea in the mind.” With practice, one uninterruptedly carries on this repetition
even while speaking. Experience confirms this.

“What should be the thought when one is seated? He advised, ‘bhavayann-asanasthah
samvit-satranuviddho manir-aham-iti va’smi (When seated, one should think that
one is a gem strung on the string of consciousness). A gem has been strung on the
thread of knowledge. The gem cannot be removed; the thread is made of unbreakable
consciousness. | am that gem. Contemplation must be done in this manner’
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“l am a gem strung on the string of Consciousness”

“(My Guru further said:) ‘indriyartha-pratitau drasto’smy-atmavalokad-iti (When
perceiving sense-objects through the senses, one should think that one is seen since
the Atman is beheld). Whenever some object is seen, the reflection should not be, ‘This
object is now visible! One must think, ‘Aha! Objectless consciousness has now become
associated with objects. The Atman was manifest earlier but now its manifestation

Whenever some object
is seen, the reflection
should not be, ‘This object
is now visible” One must
think, ‘Aha! Objectless
consciousness has now
become associated with

objects. The Atman was

manifest earlier but
now its manifestation
has waxed.
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has waxed. On receiving a blow, we become markedly aware of the body; do we not?
We normally do have awareness of the body but this awareness increases when we
are beaten. Similar is the case here. Accordingly, even when perceiving some external
object, one should cogitate that apprehension of the Atman has occurred.

“(My Guru further said:) ‘sayana-vidhau magna ananda-sindhau (When lying down, one
should think that one is immersed in the ocean of bliss). Do not just fall asleep. When
lying down, contemplate, ‘l am now immersed in an ocean of bliss’ and, with this feeling,
begin to sleep’

“Doing so is very good. Whoever wants can test the difference between simply lying down
and going to sleep and sleeping after voluntarily eradicating all thoughts from the mind
while lying down, generating a feeling of bliss and retaining it for some minutes till sleep
overtakes one. The great joy that this approach to sleep yields becomes apparent once it
is experienced for a few days.

“I am now immersed in an ocean of bliss”

“(My Guru concluded:) ‘antar-nistho mumuksuh sa khalu tanubhrtam yo nayaty-evam-
ayuh. Amongst the embodied, that seeker of liberation who leads one’s life contemplating
inthis fashionisindeed the one who abides within, in the Atman. Therefore, when walking,
sitting, perceiving objects and even when lying down, this is how we must conduct our
life.

“This is the advice My Guru gave me.”
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When His Holiness first told me, in 1980, about His Guru’s aforesaid advice, which was centred
on the 12" verse of Bhagavatpada’s Satasloki, He compassionately graced me with the
following additional information:

His Holiness: “l was seated in front of my Guru when He gave this explanation. No sooner
had He completed His instruction about the attitude to be maintained when seated than
| strove to put this teaching into practice. | did not think it appropriate to delay doing so
even slightly. However, though | promptly generated the thought, ‘l am a gem strung in
the thread of consciousness, the intensity of my contemplation was poor. A reason was
that | was then primarily concentrating on what my Guru was telling me about the
attitudes relating to perception and sleep. Further, while karma-yoga and japa had
become effortless for me at that time, such contemplation was new to me. As | walked to
my room after my Guru had finished, | contemplated, ‘l am a wave in the blissful ocean
that is the Atman. The intensity of this contemplation was much better.

“While | sincerely strove to practise what my Guru
had taught Me, | did experience two difficulties.

This contemplation clashed now and then with “The time has come for you
my karma-yoga (involving dedicating all actions to go beyond the stage of
and their fruits to God). My Guru resolved this karma-yoga, which you have
difficulty by telling me two days later, ‘The time has mastered. Now, direct your
come for you to go beyond the stage of karma-yoga, efforts to contemplating on

which you have mastered. Now, direct your efforts the Atman.”
to contemplating on the Atman’ The second
difficulty | had was that this contemplation partially
came in the way of my enjoying the presence of
Saradamba in the temple, mentally worshipping
Narasimha and the like. This is because | did these while seated and now | had been
advised to contemplate when seated that | am a gem strung in the thread of consciousness.
My Guru Himself clarified, ‘While the knowledge of the Atman of a jivanmukta (one
liberated while living) remains undisturbed by any thoughts and bodily activity, the
case of contemplation by a spiritual aspirant is different. Hence, for the present, do your
mental worship and the like as before and practise contemplation on the Atman at
other times.

- The senior Jagadguru

“Though | no more had any fundamental problems, my contemplation suffered from
occasional discontinuities. Such breaks mainly occurred when | was speaking and when
| got carried away by the beauty of the river and the surroundings. One evening when
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River Tunga

River Tunga

| went to my Guru’s presence, He asked, ‘Where are you coming from?’ ‘From Amba’s
temple,’ | replied. ‘What did you see on the way?’ He queried. A break had occurred in
my contemplation while crossing the river Tunga. Understanding the thrust of His question,
| said that | beheld fish playing in the Tunga. ‘Did you contemplate correctly at that
time?’ was my Guru’s next query. ‘I was contemplating before and after that but, for a few
moments, the process became disrupted,’ | admitted. My Guru said, ‘Never give room for
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such breaks.” | hung my head in shame and resolved that | should not be such a useless
disciple Thereafter, by my Guru’s grace, such discontinuities in contemplation did not
occur. In a few months, the four forms of contemplation became effortless.”

{The senior Jagadguru advised His Holiness about the fourfold contemplation on the
Atman in the year Angirasa, which ended on March 27, 1933. The contemplation
advocated became effortless for His Holiness sometime before His birthday on asvina-
krsna-caturdasr in the cyclical year Srimukha, that is, prior to His completing 16 years of
age on 18" October, 1933.}
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CHAPTER 7

Meditation on God - Start to Finish

One morning in January-February, 1934, corresponding to the cyclical year Srimukha,
when His Holiness went to offer His namaskaras to His Guru during the latter’s ahnika,
the senior Jagadguru asked Him, “When performing various japas during your ahnika, you
contemplate in accordance with the dhydna-slokas of the mantras chanted. Do you not?”
His Holiness answered that He did. “How do you begin?” questioned the senior Jagadguru.
His Holinessreplied, “I take up the rosary and commence a japa, keeping my eyes partially or
fully open. Simultaneously, | just imagine the form described in the dhydna-sloka concerned
as present in my chest in a red lotus with eight petals.” His Guru said, “Your mind does not
wander when you contemplate. However, you are aware of your body and surroundings. Am
| correct?” His Holiness answered in the affirmative. “Independent of the requirements
of your ahnika, would you like to practice
deep meditation on divine forms?” queried “I will tell you a simple method

the senior Jagadguru. His Holiness expressed that will help you to start any

His keenness on doing so. meditation that you wish to do.
During meditation, there is no need

Having instructed Him to sit down, His Guru
for you to use a rosary. Instead of

told Him, “I will tell you a simple method
that will help you to start any meditation
that you wish to do. During meditation, there
is no need for you to use a rosary. Instead
of straightaway picturing a devata in your
heart, first direct your gaze to the middle of
your eyebrows. While doing so, you could -The senior Jagadguru
chantamantra, such as ‘om’” Demonstrating

the method, the senior Jagadguru focused His eyes on the space between His brows and
remained thus for a few moments. He then said, “Turning the eyes upwards can well be
done with the eyelids partially closed. | have found this to be more convenient, but equally

straightaway picturing a devata in
your heart, first direct your gaze
to the middle of your eyebrows.
While doing so, you could chant a

7n

mantra, such as om’.
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effective. You will experience
a tingling sensation between
the brows. After you mentally
apprehend a light in that region
for some time, picture the divine
form that you wish to meditate
on. Then focus on that form. You
may, when you feel like it, use
this method even in connection
with the visualisation of a form
during your usual japa.”

Deciding to try out what the

senior Jagadguru had taught
Him, His Holiness went a little

later to Goddess Saradamba’s

temple. There, He sat next to

the sanctum, facing Her idol. As

He looked at the idol, a jewel on

the face glittered in the light of

the oil lamps. From His position,

it appeared bluish. When

He shifted His face a little, it

appeared green. After seeing the
blue light for a short while, He half-closed His eyelids and directed His eyes towards the
space between His brows. Simultaneously, He mentally chanted ‘om’ repeatedly in a slow,
lengthened manner. In a matter of seconds, He could feel a tingling sensation between
His brows. This gradually increased in intensity. He also began to see an attractive, blue disc
of light. This resembled the light from the jewel on the Mother’s face. The main difference
was that this was diffused. He then visualised a diminished version of Her idol emerging
from the disc and occupying the lotus of His heart. The great clarity of the image in His
heart and the readiness with which He had been able to visualise it pleasantly surprised Him.
He focused on the form. His chanting of ‘om’ stopped.

Goddess Saradamba

Moments later, He opened His eyes. Actually, about half an hour had passed. During
this time, He was unaware of the surroundings and His body. He realised that while it
is perfectly possible to picture a form without adopting the procedure taught by His Guru,
the method facilitates the visualisation of, and focus on, the form. Further, He understood
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that the light apprehended mentally can be related to
the light seen before gazing at the space between the
brows.

That evening, He went to the Kalabhairava Temple.
After prostrating before the idol, He sat down facing
east. He could see the clear blue sky in front of Him.
He directed His eyes, with partially closed eyelids, to
the middle of the brows. Simultaneously, He mentally
chanted the Balatripurasundari-mantra. This time,
following the onset of a tingling sensation, He beheld
a luminous expanse of blue. He first visualised in His
chest the heart-lotus, in bloom. He then imagined
the form of Goddess Bala described in the dhyana-
Sloka condensing from the blue light and entering His heart. The form was clear. As for His
japa, it automatically stopped. This time too, He lost awareness of His body and surroundings.
He remained in meditation for about 45 minutes.

Balatripurasundari

On both these occasions, the light mentally apprehended between the brows had
semblance to that seen outside earlier. He decided to test whether He would mentally
apprehend any light and, if so of what kind, if He were to begin His meditation in a
dark place. Hence, He woke up that night at about two o’clock. In a seated posture, He
directed His gaze to between the brows, while mentally chanting ‘om’. He promptly felt a
tingling sensation there. In a few seconds, He could see a disc of blue light akin to what
He had perceived in Saradamba’s temple. He did not proceed further. He reasoned that
one’s earlier experience can well serve as a basis for the apprehension of light between
the brows. An extraneous light is not a requirement. He then lay down and went back
to sleep.

The next day, He examined whether He would necessarily apprehend a light of the colour
seen before meditation. For this, He sat facing the evening sun and began His meditation.
The light that made its appearance then was not orange, but blue. He understood that
past experience can be an overriding factor. He assumed that a person may, on the
first occasion, even see a colour that he expects to see and thereafter this experience can
influence the succeeding ones. Over the next few days, He perceived not only a blue light
but also a green one. The size, shape and intensity were not always the same. However,
such differences did not affect His subsequent visualisation of a divine form and
concentration on it.
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In this period, He also reflected on the possible reasons why the new procedure
facilitated concentration. He knew from experience and observing others that the eyes
move not merely when one deliberately shifts one’s gaze but also involuntarily when
one is looking at an object that is not minute and when one thinks. Prior to samnyasa,
He had noted that the eyeballs of even a person whose eyelids are closed and who is
asleep may move, and quickly too. He conjectured that such movement is associated
with dreams. It was only years later that He read that eye movements have been
recorded by scientists in persons who are dreaming. He reasoned that as eye movement
is associated with shifting of attention, arresting of eye movement by looking fixedly
at the middle of the brows could help in arresting attention. The analogy that came to
His mind was the checking of the mind through the control of breath.

When an ant or mosquito bites, one’s attention is drawn to the site of the bite. The
rest of the body is momentarily ignored to a greater or lesser extent. Likewise, the
tingling or slightly painful sensation arising between the brows could help in drawing
attention away from the surroundings and the rest of the body. This was another
reason that came to His mind.

One can comfortably do japa with the eyes open. However, it takes some practice
to keep repeating a mantra mentally while talking to someone. This suggests that a
verbal activity especially interferes with a concomitant verbal, rather than visual,
activity. So mental chanting of a mantra while looking at the space between the brows
ought not to disrupt the apprehension of a light there. However, it should impede
one’s thinking about some conversations or mentally talking to oneself and thereby
becoming distracted. Likewise, the apprehension of a light between the brows should
act against one becoming distracted by recollecting or imagining some visual situations.
He thought that in these two ways also, the procedure could favour meditation. At
that time, He did not think of whether it is relevant that the ajfig-cakra is located in the
region towards which the eyes are directed. In any case, as far as He was concerned, the
primary reason for the effectiveness of the method in His case was that His Guru had,
with blessings and grace, taught it to Him.

He started using this method every day prior to some of the mantra-japas performed
by Him during the morning ahnika. He regularly resorted to it before commencing the
japa of the Narayana-astaksari. In the case of the other mantras, He used it before
one mantra on one day and before another mantra on another day. The visualisation
of the forms described in the dhyana-slokas concerned was facilitated by it. However,
because, in keeping with traditional practice, He used a rosary when performing
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mantra-japas during His ahnika He did not focus on the forms with such intensity as to
forget the body and the surroundings. Further, He ensured that there was not even a
temporary pause in His chanting of the mantras.

His Holiness, in His infinite kindness, recounted the aforesaid details to me in June
1976, at Sringeri. On that occasion, | asked Him whether this procedure may be used
to advantage by all practitioners of meditation. His Holiness said, “No. One may resort
to it if one’s doing so is approved of by one’s Guru. Those for whom it is unsuited will
not derive benefit from it. Moreover, they may even experience some negative effects,
such as poorer meditation and headache.”

What follows was made known to me by Him in March 1981, at Sringeri.

For about a fortnight prior to the senior Jagadguru teaching Him the method to initiate
meditation, His Holiness had, in response to an inexplicable urge, been doing prolonged
japa of the Balatripurasundari-mantra in the mornings. While engaged in such japa with
His eyes open, He had, on some days, imagined Her form as remaining in His heart facing
in the same direction as Himself. On others, He had imagined a bigger version of the
same form as present in front of and facing Him. The special attention that He had been
paying to Goddess Bala-tripurasundart’s mantra and form motivated Him to meditate on
Her on His first engaging in meditation at the Kalabhairava Temple.

Initially, He meditated twice a day; in His room in the afternoon and at the Kalabhairava
Temple in the evening. The idea of meditating just before or immediately after His morning
ahnika and of going for His bath earlier than usual to facilitate this appealed to Him.
However, He did not implement it for a couple of weeks. The reason was that He was not
in a position then to predict or regulate the duration of His meditation. As He used to
go after His morning dhnika to the senior Jagadguru’s presence to offer namaskaras, He
did not want to take the risk of becoming delayed because of unintentionally meditating
for too long.

With regard to the estimation and regulation of the duration of meditation, He reflected
as follows:

“Once | lose awareness of the body and the surroundings and my mind locks on to the
divine form, | have no awareness of the passage of time. So | am not in a position then
to decide how long more | am to continue meditating. Even during deep sleep, | am unaware
of the passage of time and am in no position to determine how long more to remain in
that state. Yet, it is not as though the duration of my sleep is quite unpredictable. Further,
it is not that | cannot, on my own, alter the time for which | normally sleep.
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“Habit influences how long a person sleeps at night. Other factors being the same, he is
likely to sleep at night for as many hours as he usually does. Moreover, if he has the habit
of sleeping for half an hour every afternoon, he is likely to awaken on his own after a half-
an-hour siesta. Presumably, if | were to regularly meditate for fixed periods in the mornings,
afternoons and evenings, my mind will spontaneously emerge from deep meditation at the
end of these periods. Just as one can choose to go back to sleep, | should be able to revert
to a state of deep concentration. By doing so for some days, | should be able to increase the
time after which my meditation tends to lighten.

“When, on some night, | decide before sleeping that | must get up at a particular time, |
awaken at that time on my own notwithstanding my having slept much less that night than
usual. In like manner, | should be able to influence the duration of a session of meditation by
making a resolve about the duration before beginning to meditate.”

His experiences of the first two weeks accorded with this analysis. Confident that He could
now estimate and regulate the duration of His meditation, He ceased to have any inhibition
about having a session of deep meditation even before going for His Guru’s darsana. So He
began to regularly meditate before starting His morning ahnika procedures; apart from
this, He continued to meditate in the afternoon and evening, as before.

Before He became a samnyasin, He had heard a person say, “l went to get my eyes tested.
At some distance in front of me, there was a chart with letters of different sizes. | found
that the letters in the bottom were hazy and unreadable. The doctor put a spectacle frame
on me. | immediately felt that | could see the chart better and told him so. | was surprised
when the doctor smilingly said that he was yet to put any lens into the frame.” A little later,
for the fun of it, He had thought, “Let me try to imagine that there is a leaf in front of me on
the road.” Having done so for a few seconds, He had told himself, with as much conviction
as He could muster, “There is a leaf there that | am seeing.” This had somehow facilitated
the visualisation.

Recalling all this that had happened some years earlier, before His samnydsa, He
reasoned as follows:

“It should be better to regard the form meditated upon in the heart as present there and
visible like an external object rather than as something that one has to try to imagine and
keep conceiving. God is indeed present in the heart of everyone and, though intrinsically
formless, can manifest there with a form for the sake of His devotee. Mantras have the power
to reveal their devatas. The dhyana-slokas describe the divine forms associated with the
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mantras. Sages have chanted
mantras, meditated on the
prescribed divine forms and
thereby obtained, in due course,
the direct vision of God in such
forms. There is thus additional
justification for one to feel, ‘God
is indeed present in my heart in
the scripturally-prescribed form
in which | meditate on Him/
Moreover, one would feel more

God is indeed present in the heart of
everyone and, though intrinsically formless,
can manifest there with a form for the sake
of His devotee. Mantras have the power
to reveal their devatas. The dhyana-slokas
describe the divine forms associated with

the mantras. Sages have chanted mantras,
meditated on the prescribed divine forms
and thereby obtained, in due course, the
direct vision of God in such forms.

drawn to a form deemed divine
and real than to one regarded
as fanciful.”

- His Holiness

Having thought on these lines, He adopted two means to facilitate His viewing the
form meditated upon as realistic and divine. He sought to see the form as emerging
from the light apprehended by Him on His directing His gaze to between the brows. Even
when He initiated His practice of meditation at Saraddmba’s temple, He deliberately
visualised a small version of Her idol as manifesting from the blue disc of light that
He perceived between His brows. Another practice He resorted to was to deem that
His eyes were looking inwards and perceiving the form as it emanated from the light
and as it entered and abided in the lotus of His heart. He incorporated this in His
meditation on the day following the one on which His Guru instructed Him about meditation.

After meditating at the Kalabhairava Temple in the evenings for over a month, He started
doing so on the top of a nearby hill. The Malahanikaresvara Temple, situated atop a hill
in the town of Sringeri, lay
due west and could be seen
from there. On the day He
first went there to meditate, it
was about half an hour before
sunset. As He sat down facing
west, He thought, “l have been
meditating on Narasimha as
shining just by His own lustre.
| could try to see Him today in
the light of the setting sun.” He
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started by first focusing on Lord Narasimha as usual. He then pictured the Lord graciously
curtailing His brightness. Lord Narasimha then resembled the moon seen through a
thin cloud. After this, He visualised Lord Narasimha being bathed in the orange glow of
sunset. The meditation went on smoothly and lasted an hour. This experience led Him to
understand that at the commencement of deep meditation, the luminosity of the divine
form focused upon and the intensity and colour of the background lighting, if any, can
be comfortably adjusted. He confirmed this in His subsequent sessions of meditation.

A few days later, after perusing a text, He reflected, “At any instant, the portion of the
page that | focus on appears far clearer than the portion distant from it. While meditating,
| seek to apprehend a divine form as if | were seeing it with my eyes. So the portion towards
which my attention is particularly directed, such as the face, is presumably clearer to me
than a portion that is removed from it.” In the next session of meditation, He found that such
was actually the case. It was not as though any portion was unclear; only, a portion was
clearer. When He tried to remedy the situation by simply trying to see every part of the
form equally clearly, He experienced difficulty in doing so. He, therefore, completed that
session by meditating as He usually did.

He subsequently thought as follows:

“Rather than forcefully attempt to grasp the complete form with uniform clarity, let me
expand the particularly clear zone in stages. To facilitate this, | could rid myself of the notion
that during meditation my vision is subject to the same limitations as when perceiving
an external object. Next, | could increase the intensity of my concentration. This should
enhance the clarity of the other portions of the form.”

Over the next three sessions, by implementing what He had planned, He learnt to see
the entire divine form in the heart with total clarity.

It then occurred to Him, “I have so far been meditating only on a devata’s full form. | can
now try to meditate not just on the complete form but also on parts of it, such as the feet.
This should be straightforward because | am already used to thinking of just Narasimha’s
feet when | wash them while mentally worshipping Him every day.”

The next time He meditated, He first visualised Narasimha as He normally did. He then
focused exclusively on His feet. Promptly, they occupied the entire range of His vision.
As He had already learnt to see the full form with uniform clarity, seeing the feet in the
same manner required no special effort. Though He saw just the feet, He did not forget
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that they were a part of Narasimha. Towards the end of His meditation, He again visualised
Narasimha’s full form. Subsequent to this session of meditation, He sometimes meditated
on parts of a devata’s form too. However, whenever He chose to do so, He always started
and ended with the complete form.

Onall these days, He had been meditating only on the forms of Bala and Laksmi-Narasimha
and that too in keeping with the dhydana-slokas of their mantras. This was because He felt
that it would be inadvisable for Him to take up other divine forms till He had acquired
proficiency in meditation by repeatedly concentrating on these two. He was sure that
when His preparations were adequate, God would, in some way, make this known to him.
He received such a sign soon.

One evening, without any premeditation or effort
on His part, the form of Krsna emerged from the
light that He apprehended between His brows
and entered His heart. Clad in a yellow vestment,
He wore the vaijayanti garland. Peacock feathers
adorned His crest and flowers His ears. He held a
flute to His lips and was breathtakingly attractive.
His Holiness felt, “The charming form would be even
more attractive, if it were bigger” So He promptly
imagined that Krsna’s feet rested not in a lotus in
the chest but in one at the level of His navel. Then He
pictured the Lord’s body as expanding till Krsna’s crest
was at the level of His neck. As the intensity of His
concentration increased, He beheld Krsna’s complete
form with uniformly great clarity and with much joy.
The form of Krsna that had spontaneously appeared
tallied with that described in the Bhagavata-purana
as follows: “With peacock feathers forming a head
ornament, karnikara flowers on His ears and wearing
a golden yellow vestment and the vaijayanti garland,
He (Krsna), whose body is like that of an excellent
dancer and whose glories are sung by the throng of
cowherds, entered Vrndavana, made lovely by His
footprints, while filling the openings of His flute with
the nectar of His lips.” Krsna
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The next morning, He spontaneously beheld a form of Visnu as a child lying on a fig-
leaf emerging from the light seen between the brows and occupying His heart-lotus. This
form corresponded to that described in a verse of the Balamukunda-astaka as follows:
“I call to mind the child Mukunda (Visnu) who is lying in the concavity of a fig-leaf, putting
His lotus-like foot into His lovely mouth by means of His beautiful hand.” Picturing the
Lord as a child filled Him with the feeling of vatsalya (parental love). That afternoon too,

a divine form manifested without any
volition on His part. It was that of
Visnu with eight, rather than four,
arms. The Lord displayed in His four
right hands the sudarsana-cakra, a
rosary, the kaumodaki mace and the
symbol of granting fearlessness. In His
four left hands were the pancajanya
conch, the sarnga bow, the nandaka
sword and the symbol of granting
boons. He was adorned with various
ornaments, such as a diadem, armlets
and bracelets, and wore a garland.

Visnu with eight arms

114

Child Mukunda

For some time, His Holiness found Himself
mentally chanting the Narayana-astaksari.
Thereafter, His mind locked on to just the form. By
the time He regained some awareness of His body,
over an hour had passed. Even after He got up,
He continued to see the form in His heart. That
evening, He meditated on this form itself. The next
morning, as He started His meditation, He found
this form, which He had been perceiving since the
previous day, replaced by one in which the Lord held
just a rosary. The Lord’s visage was extremely calm
and He radiated peace. His Holiness continued to
apprehend the new form in His heart even after
His meditation ended.

That afternoon, at the start of His meditation,
the form underwent a change and He now saw



The Lord with rosary

Without ornaments

Lord Visnu not merely without weapons but also
without ornaments, such as a diadem. His evening
meditation began with His focusing on this form.
Abruptly, His attention was drawn to just the Lord’s
smiling face. Up to almost the close of the hour-
long session, His focus was exclusively on the Lord’s
face. Till He completed His bath the next morning,
He could see in His heart, the Lord as bereft of
ornaments and weapons and holding just a rosary.
The form then vanished.

When He reported His experiences with the forms of
Visnu to His Guru, the latter said nothing. However,
a little later, the senior Jagadguru sent Him a copy
of the Visnu-purana with an empty sheet of paper
kept in it to draw attention to a portion of the text.
In the portion specified by His Guru, His Holiness
found verses describing the very forms that He had
seen and advising meditation on them in the same
order in which He had done. The meaning of those
verses is, “The yogin should, O king, concentrate
his mind thoroughly on the Lord, as adorned with
a diadem, garland, armlets, bracelets and the
like, as having in His (eight) hands, the sarnga
(bow), conch, mace, sword, discus, rosary and the
signs of granting boons and fearlessness and as
wearing rings of gems in His fingers, till his attention
becomes steady there. Success is to be understood
as achieved when this thought does not leave the
mind even when walking, standing or engaging

in some activity of choice. Thereafter, the wise man should contemplate the form of the
Lord as tranquil, with a rosary, and bereft of a conch, mace, discus, sarnga and so on.
After that focus becomes as firm as before, he should think of God as devoid of adornments,
such as the diadem and armlets. Next, the wise man should fix his mind on a prominent

part of the Lord.”

After these experiences, He did not deliberately limit His meditation, as He had done
earlier, to just the forms of Bala and Narasimha. He started meditating on other divine
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His Holiness focused
on Siva as seated with
Parvati, as Ardhanarisvara,
as Daksinamdarti and
as Nataraja; on Visnu

with four hands bearing
the sudarsana-cakra,
pancajanya conch,
kaumodaki mace and a
lotus; on Rama; and on
Ganapati.




forms too. For example, He focused on Siva as seated with Parvati, as Ardhanariévara, as
Daksinamrti and as Nataraja; on Visnu with four hands bearing the sudarsana-cakra,
pancajanya conch, kaumodaki mace and a lotus; on Rama; and on Ganapati.

He found that short mantras such as ‘om’ are more convenient to chant mentally while
directing the eyes to between the brows than long ones like the Srividya. The length of a
mantra hardly made any difference after His conceiving a divine form. Hence, He often
commenced His meditation with the mental chant of ‘om” and then switched to the mantra
of the devata meditated upon. The chanting of the mantra occasionally persisted till the
end of a session of meditation but generally it automatically stopped after a short while
and, thereafter, only the form remained.

Whenever He did not go in the evening for meditation to the Kalabhairava Temple or
to the nearby hill, such as during the Sarkara-jayanti celebrations and caturmdsya, He
largely compensated by meditating more in the mornings and afternoons. It was during
the caturmasya of the cyclical year Bhava, that is, in the period 26" July to 23 September,
1934, that He gained proficiency in readily setting, at the time of beginning to visualise
a form, the level of His concentration. For instance, He could adjust the intensity of His
focus to block out the sound of a loud peal of thunder or to allow it to be heard but not the
sound of rain or a not-so-loud peal of thunder. If He felt like chanting a mantra throughout
a session of meditation, He pegged the intensity of concentration on the form at a lower
level than otherwise. He did not, however, normally curtail the depth of His meditation.

He had heard people say that their minds wander when they perform japa or when they
try to meditate on a form. From the time He began meditating, He had not experienced
this difficulty. To appreciate the problem of mental wandering, He once experimented,
during the said caturmasya, with progressively lowering the level of His concentration on the
form. He found that when the concentration fell to a level far below that during His normal
meditation, His mind started to wander a little to extraneous sounds. By deliberately
keeping the intensity of focus low enough to allow some distractions, He determined,
during a couple of sessions, over a dozen aids to deal with the disturbances. Chanting the
mantra with greater vigour, temporarily holding the breath and stressing the importance
of meditation were some of them.

Months passed. Sometime in the period April-July, 1935, that is, sometime after the
commencement of the cyclical year Yuva and before the caturmdsya of that year, one
morning, when He was about to visualise the form of Laksmi-nrsirmha, the form of Goddess
Bala made its appearance. He meditated on Her. That afternoon, He felt a strong urge to
meditate upon Her as remaining in front of and facing Him and did so. It was months since
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He had focused on Her in this fashion. After the session, He thought, “Today, God is explicitly
determining the form | am to meditate upon just as He had done nearly a year ago when
He had caused me to focus on Krsna with the flute, child Mukunda and Visnu with eight
arms.” He somehow felt sure that the

evening session would be extraordinary. The experience of that day was

extraordinary. His Holiness vividly beheld
the Goddess’s feet; the sense of reality of
the vision was intense and left no room

When He commenced His evening
meditation at the Kalabhairava Temple, in
response to a powerful urge, He thought
of Bala in the same way as He had done in
the afternoon. While He was focusing as
usual on the full form of the Goddess, His
mind suddenly locked on to Her feet. He
had always been seeing Her form clearly.
However, the experience of that day was
extraordinary. He vividly beheld the Goddess’s feet; the sense of reality of the vision
was intense and left no room for doubts. This was His first experience of savikalpa-samadhi.
During this samadhi, He almost totally forgot Himself and that He was meditating; Goddess
Bala’s feet alone manifested.

for doubts. This was His first experience
of savikalpa-samadhi. During this
samadhi, He almost totally forgot Himself
and that He was meditating; Goddess
Bala’s feet alone manifested.

Maharsi Pataiijali has aphorised in his Yogasitras: “Dharana (fixation) is the binding of
the mind to one place. Dhyana (meditation) is the continuance there of the presented
idea. The same (dhydana) when shining forth as the intended object alone and devoid, as
it were, of its own nature, is samadhi.” Explaining the scriptural position about the term
savikalpa-samadhi, His Holiness has said, “As the name implies, savikalpa-samadhi is
samadhi with vikalpa. Vikalpa here refers to the triad of the concentrator, concentration
andthe object of concentration. In this samadhi, while the object of concentration manifests
clearly and steadily, an awareness of the form, ‘I am meditating’ is almost, but not totally,
absent. The awareness of the distinction of the concentrator,

concentration and the object of concentration is thus

not fully obliterated.”

After remaining for one and a half hours in
savikalpa-samadhi with His mind locked on to
Goddess Bala, He regained awareness of the
body and opened His eyes. He could literally
see Her in front of Him within the temple. He
reached out and touched Her feet with His hands.

A few moments later, She disappeared.
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His next four savikalpa-samadhis had, without any premeditation on His part, Laksmi-
Nrsimha, Krsna with a flute, child Mukunda and Visnu with eight arms as the objects of
focus. It may be recalled that these forms had much earlier manifested spontaneously, in
this order. After these five savikalpa-samadhis, which occurred before the caturmasya of
the year Yuva, He was easily able to attain savikalpa-samadhi with any form of His choice
as the object.

One morning, His Holiness thought of just testing whether He could experience savikalpa-
samdadhi even while lying down. So when doing savasana (in the course of which one
lies flat on one’s back), He pictured His heart-lotus as facing upwards rather than towards
His head and then visualised Laksmi-nrsimha as seated in it. Thus, while He lay supine,
Laksmi-nrsimha was seen as seated with His back vertical. His Holiness concentrated on
the divine form and quickly went into savikalpa-samadhi. The next day, while performing
Savasana, He conceived of the heart-lotus and Narasimha’s back as being in line with
His body, as usual, but to avoid any sense of oddity, He deliberately ignored His supine
position. He kept in mind only the position of Narasimha relative to His own head. In
moments, He was in savikalpa-samadhi. These two experiences convinced Him that, if
necessary, such as in times of illness, He could become absorbed in savikalpa-samadhi on
a divine form even while lying down.

A few days later, He thought, “While | am in samadhi, my back and neck remain erect.
It is likely that even if | were to enjoy samdadhi while in sirsGsana (wherein one stands on
one’s head), my back and neck will remain in a line.” He performed sirsasana near a
wall to arrest a fall, if it occurred during meditation. He then visualised Narasimha as
seated normally in an upward-facing lotus in His chest and attained savikalpa-samadhi.
When He regained awareness of the body after some time, He found that He remained in
Sirsasana exactly as before. On the next day, without any precaution to cater for a fall, He
performed the Sirsasana. He then deliberately ignored His being inverted and meditated
on Narasimha as seated in His heart-lotus with the Lord’s head towards His own, as
usual. In moments, He was in savikalpa-samadhi. He did not bother to go into samadhi
in Sirsasana in the future.

His Holiness reported His experiences with meditation to His Guru on several occasions.
The senior Jagadguru expressed His satisfaction and approval. About meditation on the
Supreme as possessed of attributes such as form, His Holiness has pointed out, in the light
of the scriptures, that it is a very great purifier, a means to obtain the special grace of God
and enables one to focus on and realize the Supreme Brahman, which is intrinsically
devoid of all attributes.
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CHAPTER 8

Headway in Kundalini-yoga

His Holiness’s first experience of the kundalini and the cakras took place a few months
after His initiation into samnydsa on May 22, 1931.

He had just finished His morning ahnika and was about to get up. Without premeditation,
He joined His palms and said, “$ri-éaraddyai namah (Obeisance to the glorious Sarada).”
Abruptly, He felt an upsurge of joy and stopped being aware of His surroundings. It began
to seem that His body was becoming transparent and that He was seeing His backbone from
some vantage point in front of His chest. The backbone stood out, whitish in colour, with
the silhouette of the body appearing dark like a shadow. The backbone then seemed to
become translucent to reveal a canal in its interior. In moments, the canal’s width became
greatly magnified. He could then see a

tube, red and bright like fire, traversing the Brahma-nadr
length of the canal. A mellifluous female Citrini-nadi
voice announced, “iyam susumnda-nadr
(This is the susumnd-nadi).” He just heard
the words but did not perceive the
speaker.

Vajra-nadi

Susumna-nadi

The width of this fiery canal then
expanded and a section along the length
vanished to reveal another canal within.
This one was coloured like the sun half an
hour after sunrise. The same mellifluous
female voice informed Him that this was
the vajra-nadi. The width of this canal too
abruptly increased and a section along the
length faded away. A pale tube looking like Nadis
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the moon seen through a thin layer of cloud became visible within the earlier tube. At
this juncture, He was told, in Sanskrit, “This is the citrini-nadi. The brahma-nadr is here.
It is even termed susumnd.” The meaning that flashed in His mind was that the pale tube
was called citrini, its hollow interior formed the brahma-néadr and that the name susumna
has been employed even to denote the citrini or brahma-nadi. The fiery, sun-like and pale
canals did appear to form a unit.

The scene underwent a change. He could then discern that the triad of nadis stretched
from between the anus and the penis on the lower side to above the level of the eyebrows,
into the head, on the upper side. Next, there appeared a moon-coloured tube that was
distinctly coupled to the triad both at the base of the latter and between the eyebrows.
On its upper side, this tube continued from the junction between the eyebrows to
the left nostril. On its lower side, it ended at the right testicle. Between the two junctions,
it formed arches on the triad’s left and right sides, with the crossovers occurring at the
levels of the throat, chest, navel and genital. For a moment, this shape was replaced by one

Three shapes of the ida and the pingala nadis

in which the tube formed a bow-like arch between the lower and upper junctions and
towards the body’s left side. His Holiness felt that both the forms may be met with.

After the earlier shape was restored, He was told that this was the ida-nadi. Something
appeared to be moving through this tube in synchrony with His breathing, which, He
somehow felt, was taking place through just the left nostril. Also, the flow within this tube
seemed to have a cooling effect.

In moments, this tube disappeared. Instead, another tube manifested that was red and
bright. This too was clearly coupled to the triad between the brows and at the lower end of
the triad but, unlike the idd, continued to the right nostril and the left testicle. Between the



upper and lower junctions, it formed arches on the sides of the triad, with crossovers
at the levels of the throat, chest, navel and genital. However, wherever the previous tube
traversed from left to right this crossed from right to left and vice versa. Then, for a moment,
the shape changed and the tube resembled a bow between the upper and lower junctions,
lying on the right side of the triad. He was informed that this was the pingala-nadi. He
began to feel that His breathing was taking place through just the right nostril. In synchrony
with the breathing, He could apprehend something moving through this tube. The flow
seemed to have a heating effect.

A few moments later, the moon-hued tube that had disappeared again came to sight.
He could then see both the arching tubes simultaneously. Next, His breathing shifted
from the right nostril to the left nostril and, with this, He noticed the activity in the reddish
tube giving way to that in the moon-hued tube. Shortly, He felt that breathing was taking
place through both the nostrils; He could then apprehend activity in both the tubes.

{On a later occasion, His Holiness explicated, “Three shapes of the ida and the pingala
have been spoken of. The first is characterised by each of the two nadis forming arches
alternately on the left and right of the susumna. The second form is that of a near straight
line from the base of the susumna to the middle of the brows; the idd remains on the
left, while the pingala lies on the right of the susumna. The third shape is roughly like
that of a bow in the chest lying on one side of the susumna. The first and the third shapes
are the ones that are poles apart; the second can be regarded as a variant of the third in
which the bow’s curve is negligible with respect to its length.”}

The scene soon underwent a change and
centred on the lower end of the triad of
tubes. There, He could see a beautiful
lotus with four petals that were deep red
in colour. The mellifluous female voice
announced that this was the mualadhara-
cakra. Atthe pericarp of the lotus, there was
a Siva-linga. A cobra lustrous like lightning
lay with its body making about three and
a half turns around the linga. The serpent’s
hood rested on the upper end of the linga
and its mouth effectively blocked the
passage to the triad of tubes. The serpent
was motionless and appeared to be fast
asleep. Yet, it was somehow unmistakable Maladhara




to His Holiness that it was the embodiment of unbounded power. He was told that this
was the kundalin’.

Then, for a few moments, He saw on each of the four red petals, a distinct, bright golden
letter; the letters were vam, sam, sam, and sam. Simultaneously, He could apprehend
a yellow, square region enclosing the pericarp. Inside this yellow square was an inverted
red triangle; the kundalini lay in the red triangle. The letter “lam (the bija of prthvi, earth)”
appeared in the square accompanied by the smell of earth at the start of a spell of
rain. He immediately understood that it was being made known to Him that the
maladhdara-cakra is associated with the element prthvi (earth), which is characterised
by the quality of smell.

Then, there manifested within the yellow square a white elephant with multiple tusks.
On it was seated a deva with four arms, holding a thunderbolt in one of them.
He further saw a swan on which sat a deva with four heads. A red-eyed devi with four
arms was also visible. From the voice, He learnt that the elephant was Airavata and
the divinity on it was Indra; the other deva was Brahma, while the devi was Dakini.
The divinities then disappeared and He could see just the lotus with the linga and
kundalini. His Holiness promptly felt that the kundalini was primary and that a way of
contemplating on the malddhara-cakra was in association with the letters and divinities
as seen by Him.

Thereafter, the scene shifted up the
susumnd to around the level of the root
of the penis. There, He beheld a lotus with
six vermilion-hued petals. He was told
that this was the svadhisthana-cakra.
The central region of the lotus was white
and comprised a figure resembling the
crescent-moon. Then, the letter “vam (the
bija of dpas, water)” manifested briefly
in that region and, simultaneously, He
felt the taste of water. He understood
that the svadhisthana-cakra is associated
with the element apas (water), which
is characterised by the quality of taste.
Simultaneously, there appeared on the
six vermilion petals, one bright letter

124




each; the letters were bam, bham, mam, yam, ram and lam. In the white zone, He could
see a crocodile on which was seated a deva with a noose. Further, He beheld the figure
of Visnu seated on an eagle and bearing in His four hands, a conch, cakra, mace and
lotus. A dark, three-eyed devi was also visible. The voice informed His Holiness that the deva
on the crocodile was Varuna and that the devi was Rakini.

The scene shifted farther up the susumna. At the level of the navel, He could see a
lotus with ten petals that were dark like rain-bearing clouds. In the interior, there was an
inverted red triangle. The voice pointed out that this was the manipdra-cakra. On the
ten petals flashed blue letters dam, dham, nam, tam, tham, dam, dham, nam, pam and
pham. The appearance of the letter “ram (the bija of agni, fire)” within the red triangle
together with a sensation of heat led Him to understand that this cakra is associated
with the element fire, which is characterised by the quality of heat. He also saw in the red
region a deva with four arms seated on a ram, Rudra smeared with ashes and seated
on a bull and a dark devi with three faces wearing a yellow dress. He was told that the
deva on the ram was Agni (Fire) and that the devi was Lakin.

Partly from the hint provided by the shift of focus up the susumna from one cakra
to the next, and primarily on His own, He developed the conviction on seeing the
svadhisthana that this was a centre to which the kundalini could ascend through
the brahma-nadi. A similar certitude arose about the manipira.

From the manipira, the scene shifted up the
susumna to the level of the chest. He could
see a lotus with twelve red petals. The voice
informed Him that this was the andhata-cakra.
In its interior, there was a smoke-coloured,
hexagonal region formed by an upright and
an inverted triangle. An inverted triangle
lay within this and contained a lustrous linga.
This cakra with a linga seemed to be a pure
and sacred place. A non-vocal, internal
sound became audible. He spontaneously
felt that sound that wasin an undifferentiated
form in the mdladhara passed on to a
slightly less subtle state in the manipira and
then reached the stage prior to spoken and
heard speech here. Manipara



After this, the letters kam, kham, gam,

gham, nam, cam, cham, jam, jham,

Aam, tam and tham manifested for a few

moments on the petals. In the hexagonal

region, He saw the letter “yam (the bija

of vayu, air)” and simultaneously felt a

slight breeze. This led Him to understand

that the anahata-cakra is associated

with vayu (air), characterised by the

quality of touch. He further saw in the

hexagonal region, a four-armed deva

of a smoky hue seated on an antelope,

a very attractive three-eyed deva

displaying the abhaya and varada-mudras Anéhata
(symbols of granting fearlessness and

boons) and a devi. The voice announced that the deva on the antelope was Vayu,
the other deva was 1$a (Siva) and that the devi was Kakin.

His focus shifted up the susumna
to the level of the throat. There,
He beheld a lotus with sixteen petals
that were smoky in hue. The voice
conveyed that this was the visuddha-
cakra. In its interior, there was a
white circular region. For a few
moments, the vowels manifested in
red on the petals. The appearance
of “ham (the bija of akasa, space)”
in the circular region accompanied
by the feeling of His being in vast
expanse led Him to comprehend that
this cakra is associated with akasa,
space. He beheld a deva seated on
a white elephant, Siva with five faces
and ten arms together with Parvati, and a devi clad in a yellow dress. The voice announced
that the deva was Ambara, that the Lord was here as Sadasiva and that the devi was
Sakini. This cakra gave the impression of being an exalted centre.
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The scene moved even farther up the
susumna to the level of the eyebrows. He
could see a glorious lotus with two white
petals. The voice informed Him that this
was the gjia-cakra. In its central region,
there was an inverted triangle wherein
there was a linga. Above the triangle was a
crescent. Then, the letters ham and ksam
manifested in the two petals and the letter
om in the interior region. He could also see Rins
a devi with six faces. He was told that she
was Hakinl. Beholding this cakra itself gave
great joy.

Then, above the end of the susumna
and within the head, He saw a lotus with
many white petals hanging downward
and arranged in multiple layers. All the
fifty letters of the Sanskrit alphabet could
be seen here. The voice told Him that
this lotus with one thousand petals was
the sahasrara. At the pericarp of the
lotus was a region that resembled the full
moon and shed nectarine rays. Inside
this was a bright triangle. In a mellifluous
female voice, He heard the words, “atra
paramasivah  sthitah  (Herein abides
Paramasiva).” Sahasrara

While He could somehow sense the presence of a few zones between the gjia and
the sahasrara, He did not directly apprehend them. Even without hearing any words
to that effect, He felt certain that the ascent of the awakened kundalini-sakti ends at
the sahasrdara, wherein Sakti unites with Paramasiva.

At this point, His experience ended. As He opened His eyes, He was a bit bewildered
whether He had been dreaming or vividly hallucinating or had had a divine experience.
Without giving the matter any further thought, He got up and left for His Guru’s presence
as it was time for Him to offer His obeisance to the senior Jagadguru.
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{His Holiness most compassionately blessed me with the above details in May 1978 at
Sringeri while He was seated upstairs in the eastern side of Sacchidanda Vilas. At this
point of His narration, | asked Him, “How long did the experience last?” He responded
with the counter question, “What do you think would have been the duration?” |
answered, “Between half and one hour.” He started laughing and said, “It lasted less
than five minutes.” Clearly amused at my surprise on hearing this, He asked, “What is
the time now?” Looking at my wrist watch, | said, “4:43.” | was seated cross-legged in front
of His Holiness with my arms resting on my legs and with my palms joined. He leaned
forward and grasped my joined palms in His right hand. Closing His eyes, He called out,
“Amba (Divine Mother)!” Suddenly, all that He had described began to unfold before me with
great clarity. | even heard the voice that He had spoken of. My experience ended where He
had told me His had ended.

| regained awareness of my body and surroundings and saw Him withdrawing His hand from
mine. “What is the time now?” He asked. After checking, | reported that it was 4:46 p.m.
“As you can see, less than five minutes has passed,” remarked His Holiness, with a smile. He
then instructed me to describe what | had seen in the hands of Hakint in the ajfia-cakra. As
the vision had been very clear and the memory fresh, | promptly said, “The abhaya-mudra,
the varada-mudra, a book, a skull, a damaru (small drum) and a rudraksa rosary.” With a
nod, He said, “Yes. That is just what | saw then. | asked you about what | had not described
earlier to confirm the similarity of our visions. They being similar, it would be reasonable to
take it that both lasted for the same duration rather than that your vision lasted for three
minutes and mine for half to one hour.”

| then asked Him whether He had read about the kundalini and the cakras before this
experience or whether the senior Jagadguru had spoken to Him about them. He said,
“Neither. | was thoroughly unfamiliar with kundalini-yoga at that time. If someone had
asked me then ‘What do you know about the kundalini?’ perhaps | would have just said
that it is a name occurring in the Lalita-sahasranama!”}

While His Holiness performed namaskaras to the senior Jagadguru, the latter silently
continued with His ahnika. He gave no indication of having noticed His Holiness’s
presence. Not wanting to disturb His Guru, His Holiness started to leave quietly. Abruptly,
the senior Jagadguru looked up at Him and said, “Yes, tell me.” His Holiness submitted, “Some
minutes ago, | had an unexpected experience that seems to be of the nature of a divine
teaching. However, | am not certain that it was not a day-dream or hallucination.” The senior
Jagadguru gazed at His Holiness but said nothing. So, His Holiness proceeded to give
the details. When He finished, the senior Jagadguru said, “All right,” and readied Himself



to perform danda-tarpana. Feeling
happy that His Guru had graced
Him with the opportunity of making His
submission, His Holiness left.

That day, the morning Candramauli-
Svara-puja was performed by the
senior Jagadguru, not the arcaka. In the
afternoon, after bhiksa, He sent for His
Holiness. When His Holiness went to
His Guru’s presence and paid obeisance,
the latter gestured to Him to sit down.
Then the senior Jagadguru said, “You
had sensed something moving in the ida
and pingala nddis in association with
breathing through the left and right
nostrils. The movement was that of
prana. Your feeling that sound that is in an
undifferentiated state in the maladhara
acquires a less subtle state as it reaches
the manipdra and then attains a stage
prior to articulated speech at the anahata
was correct. Sabda is said to have four
forms: para, pasyanti, madhyama and vaikhari. Each form is grosser than the preceding
one. Articulated speech is of the fourth kind.”

Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati

The senior Jagadguru then cited the Veda to the effect, “Four are the definite grades of
speech. Those brahmanas who are wise know them. Three are deposited in secret and are
motionless. Men speak the fourth grade of speech.” He continued, “Vayu arising from
the maladhara ascends through the levels of the navel, heart and throat and produces
audible sound. At these four levels, it has the appellations para, pasyanti, madhyama and
vaikhari. The maladhara and the other cakras that you saw have been spoken of in the
Upanisads and the Tantras” He then quoted from the Yogacidamani-upanisad two verses
that give the names of cakras, present them as lotuses and specify the number of petals
of each lotus. Then He picked up an authoritative text, Satcakra-niriipana (Delineation of
the six chakras), and told His Holiness, “As is discernible from the title, it delineates the
cakras. | shall read out and briefly explain the three verses about the manipdra. You will
find that what you saw is in conformity with what is described here.” Upon hearing the
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verses and the explanation of His Guru, it was
clear to His Holiness that what He had seen of
the manipdra-cakra tallied with the description
contained in the text.

At that point, two doubts arose in His Holiness’s
mind. Are the cakras actual constituents of the
gross body that can be seen within it, by surgeons,
like flesh and bones? Have some aspects of
the cakras and the forms of the divinities
to be contemplated therein been described
in authoritative texts in more ways than one?
What prompted the second doubt was that
He had perceived the ida and pingala in two
forms each. Even without His asking anything,
the senior Jagaguru Himself said, “The cakras
are subtle and cannot be seen with our eyes.
They and the kundalini can, however, be
apprehended in meditation by adepts. There do exist some differences in the descriptions
of the cakras and the devatds therein. It is not necessary to consider them now.”

Jagadguru Sri Nrsimha Bharati

After clearing His Holiness’s unvoiced doubts,

the senior Jagadguru lightly patted Him on The senior Jagadguru told
His left cheek and said, “You are blessed. His Holiness, “You are Her very

Saradamba has directly taught you today and own. So, it is but fitting that
that too, of Her own accord. | am reminded
of the fact that She Herself had expounded
yoga to my Guru (Jagadguru Sri Saccidananda
Sivabhinava Nrsimha Bharati, the 33 pontiff).
My Paramaguru (Jagadguru Sri Nrsirhha
Bharati, the 32" pontiff) had earlier told
my Guru that She would do so. My Guru has
explicitly stated this in His Sri-Sarada-satasloki-
stavah.” The senior Jagadguru then cited the pertinent portion of the hymn wherein
the 33" pontiff has, addressing Goddess Sdradamba, said: “My Guru’s authoritative
utterance to me was, ‘Your Mother Saradd, the ocean of mercy, will definitely instruct
you soon about yoga, which has eight limbs. You are Her own child.” After this, the
senior Jagadguru told His Holiness, “You are Her very own. So, it is but fitting that She

She chose to instruct you. She

will teach you further. My Guru
used to receive Her guidance
not only when awake but
also in dreams. You too shall
do so.”
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chose to instruct you. She will teach you
further. My Guru used to receive Her
guidance not only when awake but also
in dreams. You too shall do so.”

{While the senior Jagadguru did not make
any mention of even His having been
directly taught by Saradamba, this fact
is clear from a pair of verses of His own
composition,  Sri-$arada-stuti-mafijari.
Therein, praising Goddess Sarada, He has
stated, “Earlier, | beheld Saradamba in a
dream as coming to my abode adorned
with earrings and with a joyful face. At
all times, the Goddess has, with great
compassion, again and again called me,
uttering my name, and made known Jagadguru SrT Saccidananda Sivabhinava
everything to me.”} Nrsimha Bharati

That night His Holiness had a dream. It began with His being alone in the sanctum
of Saradamba. The Goddess Herself manifested in the place of the idol and She seated
Him on Her lap. Then in front of Him, He saw a boy who looked like Him. That boy
was seated in the padmdsana and was wearing just an ochre loin cloth. Somehow,
His Holiness could see the boy’s kundalini, in the form of a coiled serpent, asleep in
his maladhdra-cakra. Goddess Sarada lightly touched the boy with Her right hand on his
back, in the region of the maladhara-cakra.

Immediately, the sleeping kundalini awoke and, hissing, raised its hood. The four
petals of the mdladhara-cakra that were drooping earlier turned upward. The
lotus now appeared to be in full bloom, with the letters on the petals bright and
visible. Abruptly, the scene changed. His Holiness again saw the kundalini asleep. This
time the Goddess touched the boy between the eyebrows. The kundalini awakened as
before. His Holiness understood, in the dream, that the kundalini can be awakened by
the touch of the Guru and that the portion of the back corresponding to the maladhara
and the region between the eyebrows are among the places where such touch is
particularly effective in doing so.

As this understanding dawned on Him, He could again see the boy’s kundalini lying
asleep. The Divine mother now raised Her right hand in a gesture of blessing. She did
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not touch the boy. This time too his kundalini awakened. His Holiness realised that the
Guru can arouse the kundalini even by a mental blessing. Next, the boy began to perform
pranayama, together with the jalandhara, uddiyana and mala bandhas. His Holiness
saw a fire building up in the boy’s susumna and its flames beginning to lick his sleeping
kundalini. As the flames heated the kundalini, it abruptly woke up and hissed fiercely.
Then, it began to ascend the susumna. His Holiness understood that the practice of
prandyama together with the jalandhara, uddiydna and miula bandhas serves to
awaken the kundalini.

The scene underwent a change and He saw the boy’s kundalini asleep yet again. It
seemed to Him that He could now experience whatever was going on in the boy’s mind. He
sensed that the boy was visualising the maladhara and contemplating on the devatas
therein. Then, the lad mentally worshipped the kundalini. Thereafter, he conceived of
the kundalini being reverentially led by him to the svadhisthana-cakra. There, he clearly
visualised the svadhisthana and concentrated on the devatas therein. Having done so, he
offered worship to the kundalini. This worship was patently a continuation of the worship
that he had commenced at the mdladhdara. On apprehending all this, a conviction arose
in His Holiness’s mind that such visualisation of the cakras, meditation on the devatas
in them and worship of the kundalini help to awaken and raise the kundalini. The
whole process delighted Him.

The scene changed once again. He saw the boy’s kundalini on the verge of moving up the
susumnd. There appeared to be some obstruction to its ascent. The kundalini, however,
forced its way up. At this point, He heard Goddess Sarada, on whose lap He was seated in
the dream, telling Him, in Sanskrit, “Having pierced the brahma-granthi, the kundalini is
moving upwards.” 1t seemed to His Holiness that the boy was willing the kundalini to rise
and that this exercise of will power was making a positive contribution. As the kundalini in
the boy reached the svadhisthana-cakra, that lotus fully bloomed. The kundalini soon
ascended to the manipira-cakra. Then, instead of moving upwards, she gradually
descended to the mdlddhara-cakra and remained inactive there. On seeing this,
His Holiness comprehended that it is possible for the awakened kundalini to travel
partially up the susumnd, descend and become dormant.

In a few moments, His Holiness again witnessed the arousal and ascent of the boy’s
kundalini. This time there appeared to be no obstacle to her ascent from the maladhara
to beyond the manipira. 1t was at the region of the andhata-cakra that the kundalini
seemed to encounter an obstruction. However, it forced its way through and caused the
andhata-cakra to bloom. At this point, the Divine Mother told His Holiness, “The visnu-
granthi has been cut.”
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His Holiness then saw the kundalini proceeding through the visuddha-cakra to the
djAia-cakra. There, it overcame some obstacle and moved upwards. Goddess Sarada
announced, “The piercing of the rudra-granthi has occurred.” Finally, the kundalint
reached the pericarp of the sahasrara. The Goddess pointed out, “The kindalini is united
with Paramasiva.”

The boy’s face showed signs of his being in a state of bliss and his body was motionless.
From His position on Goddess Sarada’s lap, His Holiness could not discern the boy’s
breathing. At this point, His dream ended and He woke up.

About the locations of the triad of granthis (knots), His Holiness later told me as follows:

“There is some direct evidence in the minor Upanisads that the brahma, visnu and
rudra granthis are at the lower end of the susumna, the chest and between the brows
respectively, which is where the mdladhara, anahata and ajia cakras are located. As the
ida, pingala and susumna unite at the maladhara and at the gjiid cakras, itis understandable
that the first and third of the triad of granthis be associated with these cakras. However,
the Hathayoga-pradipikad hints and the commentary Jyotsna on it explicitly states that
the brahma, visnu and rudra granthis are in the anadhata, visuddha and @jia cakras
respectively. In his commentary on the Lalita-sahasranama, Bhaskararaya contends that
associated with each cakra is a pair of granthis, one below and the other above the cakra,
and that the brahma, visnu and rudra granthis are the pairs of knots associated with the
svadhisthana, manipdra and andhata cakras respectively.

“A practitioner of kundalini-yoga should strive to arouse the kundalini and raise the sakti
all the way to the sahasradra, overcoming any obstruction in the path regardless of where
it may be encountered. He does not have to take radically different steps to pierce a granthi
than to raise the kundalini from one cakra to the next. Further, the way to deal with a
particular granthi, say the visnu-granthi, does not change regardless of whether it be
associated with the anahata, visuddha or manipdra cakras. Hence, the lack of uniformity
in the specification of the locations of the granthis is not of practical consequence to a
spiritual aspirant.”

Even during the dream, His Holiness unambiguously realised that though Goddess Sarada
was Herself making known kundalini-yoga to Him, She did not intend that this be His
principal sddhana. However, He did put into practice what all She led Him to recognize
as meant to be implemented by Him. In the dream, prandyama with the three bandhas
had been made known as a means to arouse the kundalini and this was something He
had started practising even earlier. After the dream, He started the practice of visualising
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the maladhara-cakra, contemplating on the deities It is quite possible for
therein just as they had been shown to Him and then a vedantin or for a

worshipping the kundalini there. Next, He conceived
that in response to His request, the kundalini rose
to the svadhisthana-cakra. He visualised that cakra
clearly, focused on the devatas there and continued
His mental worship of the kundalini. In this fashion,
He carried forward the worship in the higher cakras.
Wherever appropriate, He saw the kundaliniin the form
of Goddess Parvati. He adorned Sakti with ornaments
at the manipdra-cakra, performed diparadhana at

practitioner of patanjala-
yoga to attain samadhi
even without any explicit
experience of the arousal
and ascent of the kundalini.
In His Holiness’s case,

His first experience of
savikalpa-samadhi occurred

the ajAa-cakra and at the sahasrdra, just conceived some months prior to His
that Sakti and Siva had become one. He devoutly first explicit experience of
performed, without expectation of anything, such the ascent of the kundalinr.
cakra-based contemplation and worship every The latter occurred during

Tuesday and Friday morning for about 20 minutes. the caturmasya of the

year Yuva, which was from

16 July to 12t September,
1935.

It is quite possible for a vedantin or for a practitioner
of patafjala-yoga to attain samadhi even without any
explicit experience of the arousal and ascent of the
kundalint. In His Holiness’s case, His first experience of
savikalpa-samadhi occurred some months prior to His first explicit experience of the ascent
of the kundalini. The latter occurred during the caturmasya of the year Yuva, which was
from 16% July to 12" September, 1935.

One Monday morning, His Holiness sat in the siddhasana and did four pranayamas
with the jalandhara, uddiyana and mala bandhas. Then, He began His meditation as
usual by directing His gaze to between His eyebrows and mentally chanting ‘Om’. As
happened generally, a blue hue manifested. Before He visualised any form, He suddenly
felt something like an electric shock at the middle of His soles. The sensation started
to move upwards, diffusing through the body. Its ascent from the soles to the base of
the back was very quick; it was almost instantaneous. When it arrived at the base of His
back, He momentarily saw the lotus of the mdladhara in bloom.

The kundalini’s ascent from the base of the back to a little below the navel was swift. During
this, He first had a fleeting view of the svadhisthana-cakra. Just before the kundalini
rose to the level of His navel, He beheld the lotus of the manipdra facing downwards, with
the ten petals almost fully closed. The lotus became upright and bloomed when the kundalini
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reached it. The kundalin’s upward movement thereafter was akin to that of an ant. As
the kundalini approached the level of the andhata-cakra, He saw the 12 petals of that
red lotus facing downwards and becoming upward-turned when it arrived there. Similar
was the case when it rose to the levels of the visuddha and ajfia cakras. During the
ascent of the kundalini, He felt intense heat and ceased to be conscious of the portion
of the body below whatever level it reached. His body jerked sharply. Then, His breathing
abruptly stopped. When the kundalini travelled into His head, He plunged deeply into
savikalpa-samadbhi.

After He had briefly seen the ajig-cakra in bloom, He experienced a bright flash of light
like lightning. Next, He saw a charming, luminous, tiny blue orb. His attention locked on
to it and as He could then behold only that orb, its smallness was no more apparent.
Thereafter, within it, He apprehended the forms of Siva and Parvati. The blue orb with
the forms of Siva and Parvati constituted the object of His savikalpa-samadhi.

Later, Siva and Parvati disappeared. Thereafter, the blue orb ceased to be seen. He then
felt as though He was moving downwards together with a divine power. Leaving behind
the gjAa, visuddha, and anahata cakras one after the other, the kundalini came to the
manipdra-cakra. Without sensing any further descent of the power, He gained partial
awareness of the body; the part below the level of the navel was, as it were, missing.
As He became aware of the rest of the body too, He realised that He had adopted
the jalandhara, uddiyana and mdala bandhas. He had no idea when He had done so,
involuntarily. He released the bandhas and started to breathe normally. When He opened
His eyes, He noticed that His legs were bluish. In moments, they became normal.

His next experience of the ascent of the kundalini to the sahasrdra in the head took
place the very next day, which was a Tuesday, and differed from the first one in some
ways. Since a few months after His samnyadsa, He used to mentally offer worship to the
kundalini in the various cakras. He continued the worship done in one cakra in the next
higher cakra after conceiving that He reverentially led the kundalini there. He performed
such worship on Tuesdays and Fridays, in the mornings. Accordingly, on that Tuesday too,
He began His mental worship of the kundalini in the maladhara-cakra and continued
it in the svadhisthana-cakra. When He imagined that the kundalini ascended to the
manipara-cakra, His breathing spontaneously stopped and He automatically adopted
the jalandhara, uddiydna and mula bandhas.

He then experienced an upward movement of the kundalini. Simultaneously, He felt that
the elements prthvi (earth), apas (water) and agni (fire) had become sequentially absorbed
into the kundalini, together with the divinities of the maladhara, svadhisthana and
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manipdra cakras. He also felt a great infusion of power into Himself. In a serpentine
manner, the kundalini-sakti soon reached the anahata-cakra. The element vayu (air)
and the devatas of the anahata appeared to become absorbed into the kundalini.

From the andhata-cakra to the visuddha-cakra, the ascent of the kundalini was
not serpentine but instantaneous. He felt that the element gkasa (space) and the
devatas of the visuddha-cakra became merged into the kundalini. The next moment,
the kundalini was at the ajia-cakra. He got the feeling that all the organs became
absorbed into the kundalint there. Then, He had a vision of Siva as Daksinamarti.

The ascent of the kundalini from the ajAd-cakra to the sahasrara was not
instantaneous but was swift. He obtained just a fleeting, indistinct, view of some
centres in between and felt that the mind and intellect were absorbed by the
kundalini en route. At the pericarp of the sahasrara, He had the vision of a nectar-
shedding, moon-like region. This contained a triangular zone, lustrous like lightning,
with a minute, apparently empty, space within. He then spontaneously went into
savikalpa-samadhi. The object of His focus was God as inhabiting the tiny space.

As He emerged from the samadhi, He felt Himself descending rapidly with the
kundalini. At the ajia, visuddha and andahata cakras, what had merged into the kundalint
during the kundalini’s ascent through these cakras reappeared. When the anahata-
cakra was reached, He gained mild awareness of the body. He noticed that His tongue
was folded backwards and felt the descent of a few cool drops of a uniquely tasty
fluid into the back of His throat. Finally, He opened His eyes. Unlike on the previous
occasion, His legs were not bluish for a while. Also, this time, He straightaway regained
awareness of the full body and not merely of its upper half.

His Holiness had no difficulty in identifying the fluid that He felt descending
into the back of the throat to be nectar from the sahasrdra. While seeing Siva’s
demonstration of the khecari-mudra during the dream that His Holiness had on
the night of 28" May, 1931, He had experienced the descent of a fluid into the
back of His mouth and understood that this removes hunger, thirst and dullness.
The taste that He experienced then became imprinted in His mind. The taste of
the fluid that He noticed on becoming mildly aware of the body was the same
as that taste. The invigorating effect too tallied with what He had experienced in
the dream; this one lasted for two days. In the dream in which Saradamba had
taught Him about the arousal and ascent of the kundalini, He had seen the moon-
like region at the pericarp of the sahasrara shedding nectar. What He beheld
in that dream matched what He apprehended in His meditation. So, He had
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no difficulty in identifying the fluid as one stemming from the sahasrdra. An experience
that He had three days later supported His conclusion.

That morning, a Friday, as He was about to visualise and focus on a divine form in His
heart, His tongue folded backwards. Then, for a moment, He saw the Divine Mother as
seated in the sahasrara and pouring down nectar. He decided to meditate on Her in this
very fashion. So, He conceived of Her as He had
glimpsed Her and focused on Her. He was soon in
savikalpa-samadhi. When He regained awareness of
the body, He felt a few drops of fluid descending
into the back of His throat. The taste, coolness
and invigorating effect were the same as on the
previous occasion. As regards Divine Mother being
in the sahasrara and raining nectar, the Lalita-
sahasranadma of the Brahmdanda-purana contains
the names, “sahasrarambujaridha, She who
has ascended the sahasrara lotus” and “sudha-
sarabhivarsini, She who rains torrents of nectar”
and it is said in the Arya-dvisati, attributed to Sage
Durvasa, “The life-span on earth of those who
contemplate every day on You (Mother) as present
within the lotus of the head and raining cool nectar
becomes great.”

As regards Divine Mother
being in the sahasrara and
raining nectar, the Lalita-
sahasranama of the Brahmanda-
purdna contains the names,
“sahasrarambujarudha,
She who has ascended the
sahasrara lotus” and “sudha-
sarabhivarsini, She who rains
torrents of nectar” and it
is said in the Arya-dvisati,
attributed to Sage Durvasa,
“The life-span on earth of those
who contemplate every day on
You (Mother) as present within
the lotus of the head and raining

" As His Holiness engaged in His morning ahnika
cool nectar becomes great.

after the samadhi that Friday, it seemed to Him
that something was beginning to ooze from the
crown of His head. This caused Him no discomfort.
He pushed back His upper garment from over His head and felt the spot concerned. He
determined that a fluid was indeed slowly emerging from there. It looked like pure water
and flowed down the side of His head. In about a minute, the oozing stopped. About a
spoonful of liquid had come out by then.

On the preceding few days, the senior Jagadguru had been somewhat withdrawn.
However, that day, when His Holiness had the darsana of His Guru, the latter gave Him
an opportunity to briefly report His experiences. The senior Jagadguru confirmed that
what His Holiness had felt at the back of the throat was nectar from the sahasrara. He
then revealed to His Holiness that, at times, He had spontaneously experienced the descent
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of this nectar and that in His case its effect had lasted
for one to three days. He further said, “Some water
oozed from the crown of my head either before or
after the descent of nectar. The descent of nectar
and the oozing of water are not related as cause and
effect. The water can be perceived and accessed by
others. However, though the descent, taste, coolness
and invigorating effect of the nectar can be clearly
experienced by one, it is impossible for another to
perceive or collect that nectar. No examination of the
interior of the head, throat or stomach will show up
the presence of any nectar.”

Subsequently, His Holiness discerned from personal
experience toothat, as stated by the senior Jagadguru,
the descent of nectar and the oozing of fluid from the
top of the head are not causally related. Occasionally,
during His meditation on God, His tongue involuntarily
folded back and He spontaneously experienced
the descent of a few drops of nectar, without any oozing occurring before, during or after
that session of meditation. On some other occasions, He noticed the oozing, without any
experience of the descent of nectar on those days.

{In September 1979, during Navaratri, His Holiness sent for me one morning at 6:30 a.m.;
| normally had His ahnika-darsana at eight o’clock. He, who was about to commence
a japa, told me, “I have a feeling that water will ooze from my head in a few minutes.
| thought that you would like to see it” | completed my namaskaras and waited. His
Holiness pushed back His upper garment from His head. Less than a minute thereafter,
| saw a drop of liquid make its appearance at the crown of His head. The rest of His
Holiness’s head was dry. The weather was cool and He was not sweating at all. Slowly,
some more liquid oozed out at that very spot. He bent forward and neatly collected
the entire quantity in His uddharani (spoon for taking up water). | saw that the amount
collected was about 10 ml. It was colourless. Acceding to my request, He poured
the liquid into my cupped right palm. | noted that it was odourless and seemed to be
water. Regarding the fluid as sacrosanct, | wanted to drink it after leaving. However,
His Holiness said, “Throw it away and wash your hands. It has come out like sweat. Being
impure, it is unfit to be drunk.” The oozing on that day was unconnected with any descent
of nectar.}
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About the arousal and ascent of the kundalini, His Holiness has clarified, “Some hold that
the arousal of the kundalini and its ascent to the svadhisthana-cakra are likely to be
accompanied by a temporary manifestation of intense sexual desire. It is also contended
that the piercing of the brahma, visnu and rudra granthis by the kundalini on its way
from the maladhara to the sahasrara is accompanied by much pain and even
sickness. The laudable course is for one to first cultivate intense dispassion and to purify
the nadis. Only sattvika food should be consumed. Further, kundalini-yoga should
be practised under the guidance of an adept and not by just referring to books. For one
who ensures all this, the arousal and ascent of the kundalini are definitely not accompanied
by lust, pain and sickness.”
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CHAPTER 9

An Extraordinary Blessing

It was the 5™ of December, 1935, corresponding to margasira-sukla-dasami of the
cyclical year Yuva, and the time was a little past 4:00 p.m. His Holiness was about to set
out for His meditation spot on the hilltop with a view of the Malahanikaresvara Temple.
An attendant informed Him that the senior Jagadguru had sent for Him. He promptly
presented Himself to His Guru and performed namaskara. The senior Jagadguru gestured
to Him to sit down. On His doing so, He asked, “Were you about to leave for meditation?”
On receiving an answer in the affirmative, He smiled. Then He remained silent for a
minute, gazing fixedly at His disciple’s face.
Smiling again, He said, “l am glad. You can
start.” As His Holiness then prostrated once
more before His Guru, the latter leaned
forward and placed both His hands on His
disciple’s head and loudly uttered thrice
the mantra, “om namah Sivaya (Om.
Obeisance to Siva)” This was unusual.
As His Holiness got up, He strongly felt,
“Today, | must meditate on Siva.”

He went to His room, picked up His asana-
vastra (cloth spread on a seat) and started
for the hill. His attendant followed Him.
He was only a short distance away from
Sacchidananda Vilas when He heard
the senior Jagadguru’s clap. The sound
seemed to come from outside the building.
He turned around and noticed that the




View of Malahanikaresvara Temple steps

senior Jagadguru was standing in front of Sacchidananda Vilas, looking in His direction.
He was about to rush towards His Guru when the latter gestured that He should move on
as He was doing earlier. He, however, beckoned to His disciple’s attendant. His Holiness
walked swiftly and soon reached the base of the hill. He turned to see if His attendant was
trying to catch up with Him but the attendant was nowhere in sight.

The idea of meditating in complete solitude appealed to Him. He nimbly ascended
the hill. At its summit, He sat down at His place of meditation, facing west. The distant
Malahanikaresvara Temple was in His line of sight. The sky was cloudless. Both the sun and the
moon were clearly visible. Charmed by the very appealing scene, He chanted the penultimate
verse of Bhagavatpada’s Daksinamdirti-stotra. The meaning of that verse is: “Obeisance to
that resplendent Daksindmdrti (Siva), who is incarnate in the form of the Guru, whose
eight-fold form is all this moving and unmoving universe, appearing as earth, water,
fire, air, space, the sun, the moon and the soul; and beyond whom, the Supreme and all-
pervading one, nothing else exists for the discerning.”

Having adopted the siddhdasana, He mentally offered His namaskaras to His Guru and
Siva before commencing His meditation. He directed His gaze to the space between His
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eyebrows. Keeping His eyes fixed, He mentally

chanted the mantra, “om namah Ssivaya.”

As usual, He felt a strong tingling sensation

between His eyebrows. He soon began to

behold an attractive and soothing moon-like disc

of light within Him in that region. Such a disc

had made its appearance only on a few earlier

occasions. What manifested often was a blue

hue; much less frequently, a green hue used to

manifest. With His mind having become greatly

tranquil and attentive, He imagined His heart-

lotus in full bloom. As described in the dhyana-

Sloka of the mantra, He visualised Siva therein

as associated with the Divine Mother and as

possessed of five heads and ten arms. The

meaning of the said dhyana-sloka is: “I salute

Parvati’s Lord, who is tranquil, is seated in

padmasana, has the moon in His crest, has five faces (four in the four directions and
one upward-turned), has three eyes (per face), bears a trident, thunderbolt, sword, axe
and the symbol of granting freedom from fear (open upraised palm) in the (five hands
on the) right side and bears a snake, noose, bell, the fire of cosmic dissolution and a
goad inthe (five hands on the) left side, is variously adorned and resembles (in complexion)
acrystalgem.”

As He focused on the form, His awareness of the surroundings and the body vanished.
Soon, His mental chanting of the mantra came to a stop and His mind thoroughly
locked on to the divine form in the heart. Suddenly, the form became extraordinarily
vivid. No effort to concentrate was needed any more. He could then literally experience
the immediate presence of Siva. He was overwhelmed with joy, particularly enthralled
by the affection and smile He apprehended in the Lord’s isGna-mukha (upward-
turned face). After about one and a half hours, as He discerned later but what
then seemed to Him to be just a moment, He became lightly aware of the body. He
opened His eyes. He could see the sun close to the horizon and feel a gentle breeze.
He could, at the same time, distinctly behold the Lord, as associated with the Divine
Mother, in His heart-lotus. The Lord appeared to be emerging from within and expanding.
A deep long sound of ‘om’ was audible. He then unmistakeably beheld Siva in front of
and facing Him.
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Tears of joy flowed from His eyes and
His hairs stood on end. The Lord’s lips
moved and He heard the Lord pleasingly
say, “vatsa, Svahprabhrty-atra nirakare
pare tattve manah samadhatsva. acirena
brahmasamstho bhavisyasi (O child, from
tomorrow, fix your mind here on the
formless, Supreme Reality. You shall soon
become established in Brahman.)” Then
Siva blessed Him by placing His hand on His
Holiness’s head. Having done so, the Lord
disappeared.

No sooner had Siva vanished than there
was a drizzle. Moments later, the sun set;
simultaneously, the light rain stopped. The
sky was quite clear when He had sat for
meditation and even when the sun set, clouds
were not apparent. The sun having been
visible when it rained and as it has been said
that exposure to such rain is akin to bathing
in the Ganga, He felt that the Lord had
blessed Him with a light bath in the Ganga.
In a state of ecstasy, He paid obeisance
to the Lord and extolled Siva through ten
verses that spontaneously occurred to Him.
His impromptu composition in Sanskrit was
in the bhujanga-prayata metre, which
comprises four quarters of 12 syllables each,
with the syllables of every quarter occurring
in the repeating sequence “short syllable,
long syllable, long syllable.” His voice kept
choking as He metrically glorified the Lord.

He then felt an urge to meditate again.
Since the Lord had directly instructed Him
as a Guru, He thought of meditating on
Him as Daksinamdrti, the divine conferrer
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His Holiness distinctly beheld the
Lord, as associated with the
Divine Mother, in His heart-lotus.
The Lord appeared to be emerging
from within and expanding. A deep
long sound of ‘om’ was audible.
He then unmistakeably beheld
Siva in front of and facing Him.
The Lord’s lips moved. He heard the
Lord pleasingly say, “O child, from
tomorrow, fix your mind here on
the formless, Supreme Reality. You
shall soon become established in
Brahman.” Then Siva blessed
Him by placing His hand on
His Holiness’s head.



of knowledge. Mentally chanting the Medha-Daksinamirti-mantra, He straightaway
visualised the Lord in His heart-lotus as described in the mantra’s dhyana-sloka. The
meaning of that dhyana-sloka is: “I adore Daksinamirti who is of crystal and silver
complexion, holds in His lotus-like hands a rosary of pearls, a vessel of nectar, a book
and the symbol of knowledge (characterised by the tips of the thumb and index
finger touching one another and the other three fingers held straight), has a serpent

for His girdle, has the moon in His crest,
is three-eyed and has donned various
ornaments.” Awareness of the surroundings
and the body ceased. Subsequently, the
mental chanting of the mantra automatically
came to a stop and His focus was just on the
form. There were no distracting thoughts
of any kind. The meditation was deep,
with the form quite clear. When He regained
consciousness of the body and opened His
eyes, He found no trace of sunlight. The place
was, however, illumined by the light of the
moon. Stars were visible.

It was only a few moments later that He realised
that there was something on His neck. A big
cobra had loosely coiled itself around it. Its
upraised hood was near His right shoulder,
facing away from Him. He had meditated on
Bhujanga-bhisana (an epithet of Siva meaning,
“He who has a snake for an ornament”) and
now a snake was on His body as an ornament.
Taking this as a sign of the Lord’s grace, He
felt very happy. He stroked the cobra gently. It
seemed to like this and rested its head against
His right cheek. After about five minutes, the
snake slowly uncoiled itself and went away. He
got up and walked down the hill, seeing His way
in the light of the moon.

At the base of the hill, He found His attendant
waiting with a lamp. This was unprecedented,

His Holiness realised that there
was something on His neck. A
big cobra had loosely coiled itself
around it. Its upraised hood
was near His right shoulder,

facing away from Him. He had
meditated on Bhujanga-bhisana
(an epithet of Siva meaning,
“He who has a snake for an
ornament”) and now a snake was
on His body as an ornament.
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“Today, you have
received the very
special grace and
instruction of
Paramesvara. Finally,

for a while, you were

a bhujanga-bhusana
(one adorned with
a serpent). Is it
not?” His Holiness
reverentially
answered, “Yes” and
added that all this
was the consequence
of His Guru’s blessing
bestowed on Him
before He had left for
the hill.

for, on earlier occasions, He was followed up the
hill without any lamp by the attendant on duty. On His
way back, in response to His question, the attendant
said that after calling him, the senior Jagadguru had
instructed him to wait for His Holiness, with a lamp
in hand, at the base of the hill, after two and a half
hours. He had been waiting only for some minutes
when His Holiness came there. It was obvious to His
Holiness that His Guru had accurately foreseen the
time that He would be spending on the hill. He also
discerned that His second session of meditation,
which was totally unplanned, must have lasted for
almost an hour.

While He was ready to report the events to His Guru,
since, as per the normal practice, He was scheduled
to have His Guru’s darsana only the next morning
during the latter’s ahnika, He returned to His room.
However, in a few moments, He received a message
that He had been sent for by His Guru. As the senior
Jagadguru was engaged in His evening dahnika,
He went to His presence and stood silently after
performing namaskara. On completing a japa, the
senior Jagadguru looked at Him with a smile and said,
“Today, you have received the very special grace and
instruction of Paramesvara. Finally, for a while, you were
a bhujanga-bhisana (one adorned with a serpent). Is it
not?” His Holiness reverentially answered, “Yes” and
added that all this was the consequence of His Guru’s
blessing bestowed on Him before He had left for the
hill. As His Guru had just unmistakably revealed that
He was quite aware of what had transpired at the hill,
He felt that it was unwarranted for Him to report the
details. The senior Jagadguru said, “It is getting late for
your evening bath. You can go for it now and proceed
with your ahnika.” His Holiness prostrated and went
straight for His bath.



That night, He had a dream in which He beheld Siva dancing magnificently in the form
of Nataraja, the king of dancers, with the Divine Mother looking on. After some time, this
scene was replaced by one in which Siva appeared in conjunction with Divine Mother, as
Ardhanariswara (The Lord having a half-male and half-female form). In the dream itself, He
venerated Siva-Sakti by chanting Bhagavatpada’s Ardhandrisvara-stotra. Thereafter, the
scene changed to one in which He lay prostrate before the Lord as Daksinamurti seated at
the base of a big fig tree. He found Himself merging into the Lord. With His becoming one
with the Lord, the dream ended and He woke up. The time was 4:30 in the morning.
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CHAPTER 10

Blossoming of Enlightenment

On the 6™ of December, 1935, corresponding to margasira-sukla-ekadast, His Holiness
reached His meditation spot on the hill around five o’clock in the evening. He sat down
there in the siddhasana, facing the Malahanikaresvara Temple in the west. In keeping
with the Lord’s instruction received by Him the previous evening, He intended to focus
on the Supreme Brahman, with the scripture as the authoritative basis and corroborative
reasoning as an aid. He started by calling to mind three profound statements of the
Taittiriya-upanisad, which He knew by rote. The first of these conveys, “He who knows
Brahman attains the highest.” The import of the second is, “On realising the bliss
of Brahman, the enlightened man is not afraid of anything.” The meaning of the third
is, “For, when this (ignorant) man perceives even the slightest variety in Brahman,
then (because of that perception of difference) fear arises in him.” He then reflected on
them as under.

“From these scriptural declarations, it follows that on realising Brahman, | will attain unity
with Brahman, the highest. On the other hand, as long as | do not realise Brahman and
| perceive duality, bondage will not cease. Knowledge does not actually make or modify
an object. It only removes the ignorance relating to the object. So, even now, | am indeed
Brahman and the world has no existence apart from It. It is only because of ignorance
that | seem to be otherwise and perceive
duality. Else, there is no question of my
realisation of Brahman leading to my [RLSWLCT/<ERNCICEN (o] Ao {IE] )Y
becoming Brahman and to the cessation of make or modify an object. It only
diversity as declared by the scripture. removes the ignorance relating

to the object. So, even now, | am
“This body, made up of skin, blood, flesh, BETals(=1=1e V=12olalaalela B0 1010 Bs al=08" /o5 [0
bones and the like, is dependent on food and  BRAEITe MNN[5S {=Ta[ol==1o =] i {¢0) o N 1 4
isinert. It is perceivable like an external object,
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such as a stone. What is inert and perceivable is different from that which is conscious
and perceives it. | am conscious and perceive the body; as for my consciousness, that
is self-evident. So, | am not the body. Likewise, | am not the pranas. The organs are, in
themselves, inert and are merely the instruments of perception and activity. As such, the
possibility of me being the organs does not arise.

“The mind is changeful and comprises thoughts and emotions that arise and disappear. |
am aware of the thoughts and emotions. How can | be the mind, for it is but an object of
consciousness, as is a stone? It cannot be that a second thought, and not consciousness
other than the mind, is necessary or sufficient to reveal a thought. This is because another
thought would be needed to reveal the thought that reveals the first one; yet another
thought would be needed to reveal that thought and so on. There would be the fallacy
of infinite regress.

“Sattvika food conduces to mental purity and calmness, while rajasika and tamasika foods
affect the mind adversely. It is well known that the thinking of a person heavily under
the influence of liquor is impaired. Affected by what is ingested, the mind is a material
entity, notwithstanding its subtlety. Though it appears to be conscious, the mind, which is
material, is inert. | who am patently not inert cannot be the inert mind.

“The agent denoted by ‘I’ in notions such as, ‘I see this,” ‘I feel dull’ and ‘I do this’ manifests
in the states of waking and dream but disappears with the onset of deep sleep. One
would not be in deep sleep at all if one were to have any notion at that time like, ‘1 am
fast asleep.’ |, however, do exist not only in the states of waking and dream but also in deep
sleep. This is confirmed by the ready recognition on awakening, ‘During deep sleep, | slept
happily. | did not know anything at that time.” As the agent disappears during deep sleep
but | persist therein, | cannot be this agent marked by the I-thought.

“Agency involves change and pertains to the intellect. Though reflecting the light of the
sun and appearing bright, a mirror is intrinsically not a source of light. Likewise, though
appearing to be intrinsically conscious, the intellect, being a material entity like the organs,
is inert. | am the witness of even the intellect and, so, distinct from it.”

At this point, He thought of a pair of verses of the Bhagavadgita, the meaning of
which is, “The great elements (space, air, fire, water and earth), egoism, intellect, the
Unmanifest itself; the ten organs and the mind; the five objects of the senses (sound,
touch, form, taste and smell); desire, aversion, happiness, sorrow, the aggregate (of the
body and organs), sentience and fortitude — this is a brief account of the field, together
with its modifications.” He proceeded with His analysis as follows.
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“From these words of the Lord, it is clear that the body,
senses, mind and intellect are all inert objects of knowledge.
Characterised by consciousness and being the one who
ilumines them, | am surely distinct from them.

“The states of waking, dream and deep sleep are neither
natural to me nor absolutely real. This is because while | persist
unchanged in all these three states, the state of waking is
absent during the states of dream and deep sleep; the dream
state is absent during the states of waking and deep sleep; and
deep sleep is absent during waking and dream. What appears
and disappears like a mirage cannot be absolutely real.
Being subject to annulment, the states of waking, dream and
deep sleep are false. | am unstained by them like the desert
by mirages.

“Various objects are illumined by the sun, which is distinct from
themandis one. Likewise, the objects encountered in the waking
state are diverse and undergo changes but the consciousness
that illumines them is distinct from them and is one. As in
the waking state, the changeful, diverse objects seen in the
dream state are revealed by consciousness that is constant
and one. In deep sleep, consciousness reveals ignorance. There
is no ground to presume either that there is any difference in
the consciousness that shinesinthe three states or thatitis subject
to any change. Certainly, the objects revealed cannot establish
anychangeinwhatrevealsthem. Further, consciousness cannot
witness any change in itself. This unchanging consciousness
cannot be other than myself. On the authority of the Sruti, |
am the Supreme Brahman.”

Moving on to the nature of Brahman as made known in the
scripture, He recalled the words of the Taittiriya-upanisad,
“satyam jianam-anantam brahma”; this conveys, “Brahman
is truth (satya), knowledge (jiiana) and infinite (ananta).”
Taking up each of the three characteristics of the Supreme
spoken of, He pondered as follows.

“The body, senses,
mind and intellect
are all inert objects
of knowledge.
Characterised by
consciousness and

being the one who

illumines them, | am
surely distinct from
them.”

“The states of
waking, dream
and deep sleep are
neither natural to
me nor absolutely
real. Being subject
to annulment,
these states
are false. | am
unstained by them
like the desert by
mirages.”
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“Only that which never gets annulled at any time - past, present or
future - is satya. What is subject to change cannot be defined as being
satya. Brahman, thus, ever was, is and will be changeless. It is absolute
existence. Brahman is said here to be jAiana, knowledge, rather than
to be jAatr, a perceiver. It is thus of the very nature of consciousness.
What is delimited by time, space or objects is not unconditionally
ananta, infinite. As the Sruti declares that Brahman is ananta, It cannot
be conditioned by time, space or objects. Thus, there is no time when It
is absent, there is no place at all where Brahman is not present and there
is no object whatsoever that exists apart from Brahman.”

He then brought to mind two passages of the said Upanisad. The first
of these conveys, “From that Brahman indeed, which is this Atman,
was produced space. From space emerged air. From air was born
fire. From fire was created water. From water sprang up earth.” The
import of the second one is, “Seek to know well that from which all
these beings take birth, that by which they live after being born and
to which they go and into which they merge. That is Brahman.” He
proceeded to think as follows.

“That everything is rooted in Brahman is clear from these words.
As Brahman is changeless, there is no question of It actually becoming
transformed into the element space or of It actually producing space
like a potter making a pot. Space and the other elements ought,
therefore, to be appearances in Brahman, like a mirage in the desert.
They have no existence apart from Brahman.”

Having thus ascertained the true nature of the individual self and that
of the Supreme, He recalled a passage of the said Upanisad that points
to their identity as also two allied verses of the Bhagavadgita. The
import of that passage is, “He that is here in the human person and He
that is there in the sun are one.” The two verses of the Bhagavadgita
convey, “He whose mind is absorbed in yoga and who has the vision
of sameness everywhere sees the Atman as abiding in all beings and all
beings as abiding in the Atman. He who sees Me in everything and sees
all things in Me — | do not go out of his vision and he also is not lost to
My vision.” He then concluded as follows.
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“Brahman, which is absolute existence, pure consciousness
and infinite, shines as the self of every being. Though appearing
as the world, It is non-dual and unaffected in any way. As
taught by the scripture, | am indeed the Supreme Brahman, the
Atman of all. | never was, am or will be otherwise.”

His aforesaid enquiry into the Truth lasted for about 45
minutes and resulted in great clarity of understanding,
freedom from doubts and conviction, something that He
thereafter attributed to the grace of His Guru and God. Though
He did not choose to keep His eyes closed during His deep
reflection, He hardly noticed anything external. He felt ready
to deeply focus on the Supreme. It was about 15 minutes
before sunset, which was at 6:00 p.m.

He initiated His meditation as usual by gazing at the
space between the brows and mentally chanting “om”. He
apprehended a blue hue, just as He often did. At this point,
instead of conceiving any divine form, He mentally uttered
the words, “aham-eva param brahma vasudevakhyam-
avyayam,” as they captured the essence of His scripture-
based reflection; these words constitute the first half of
the opening verse of Bhagavatpada’s Brahmanucintana and
convey, “I am indeed the Supreme Brahman, the One free
from decay and known as Vasudeva (He who resides in and
shines in all).” Without repeating the words, He strongly
held on to the idea conveyed. Immediately, He felt himself
expanding and becoming pervasive like space. By countering
the notion of being limited by the body and the like, this
experience intensified the impact of His earlier contemplation.
A great wave of joy arose and submerged Him. While feeling
omnipresent like space, He did not have any apprehension
of either darkness or light. Such was the intensity of the focus
that ensued that He remained, as it were, as just objectless
consciousness and bliss. However, as the need for effort to
hold on to the idea of being Brahman did not vanish, this
was deep meditation, but not samadhi. After what seemed a
trice, He gained mild awareness of the body; actually, about
30 to 45 minutes had passed.

“I am indeed the
Supreme Brahman,
the One free from

decay and known
as Vasudeva (He
who resides in and
shines in all).”
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He mentally repeated the enquiry of that day twice in the course of the next day, the
7t of December, corresponding to margasira-sukla-dvadasi. After sitting down at His
meditation spot on the summit of the hill around 4:30 p.m., He pondered as follows.

“Thoughts of objects and the ‘I’ thought arise in the mind and highlight objects and the
agent respectively. Happiness, sorrow and the like too are only mental modifications as
are the transformations of the mind in the form of external objects. The agent and the ‘I’
thought are relatively fundamental and not characterised by the great diversity of the
thoughts of objects. Nonetheless, even agency and the sense of ‘I’ pertain to the mind
and not to the Atman. The Atman is pure consciousness and is ever changeless. Being
of this kind, the Atman can neither be the mind nor be affected in any way by the mind.
Yet, having falsely identified the Atman with the mind, one deems oneself to be an agent and
treats as valid notions such as, ‘I see this, ‘This is mine, ‘l am happy’ and ‘I am unhappy.
Decidedly, only right knowledge can annul ignorance and misunderstanding.”

He recalled that on the preceding evening He had voluntarily thought of His true nature
as discerned by Him in the light of the scripture and corroborative reasoning and retained
that notion; and that, fortunately, no other thought had cropped up and impaired His
meditation. At this juncture, it struck Him that like using a thorn to remove a thorn that has
pierced one’s sole, He could as well use even unwanted mental activity as a means to
direct His attention to the Atman. As regards this, He reasoned as follows.

“Per se, the Atman is objectless, absolute consciousness and is none other than Brahman.
With respect to the ‘I’ thought as also other thoughts, It is their witness. Hence, instead of
giving importance to any thought that arises or actively quelling it, | could contemplate on
the Atman as being the witness of that thought. The thought would then serve as a pointer
to the Atman rather than as a distracter. If | stand back from a thought as a disinterested
witness, the thought would be deprived of stimulation and should soon die out. Hence, my
using a thought to turn to the Atman ought not to have the undesirable consequence of
making the thought persist. It is not as though the meditation would grind to a halt when
the mind becomes completely still. This is because my aim is not to watch thoughts but to
abide as the Atman, which shines on Its own without any dependence on the mind.”

He thought in this fashion for two or three minutes. To try out what He had planned, He
needed some thought in the mind in the early phase of His meditation. However, His
mind was simply not given to wandering during meditation. So, He decided that instead
of voluntarily generating some thought, He would employ His eagerness to meditate
without delay as the requisite prop. He reasoned that just as when one eats, one’s desire to
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have a meal becomes quieted, the desire to meditate would
automatically disappear with His engaging in meditation and,
so, He would just not be faced with the problem of the thought
persisting.

He affirmed to Himself that He was pure consciousness
unlimited by space, time and objects and started His
meditation. He skipped the step of directing His gaze to
the space between the brows and allowing a hue to be
apprehended there, for He wanted to make immediate use of
the desire to meditate that He had willingly entertained at that
time. He experienced no difficulty in initiating contemplation
on the Atman as the witness of this desire. Almost immediately
thereafter, the mental activity serving as the object vanished.
An essentially isolated ‘I’ thought remained. He maintained
the attitude of being a witness characterised by pure, unlimited
consciousness. Very soon, even the sense of ‘I’ almost completely
faded away. The mind was then quite still and no effort was
needed to keep it so.

Consciousness shone clearly without any object and without
limitations. He was overwhelmed by bliss, which was far greater
than onthe previous evening. The awareness of any distinction
between the bliss and Himself was almost absent. About an
hour passed thus but He was totally oblivious of the passage
of time. As He emerged from His first experience of savikalpa-
samadhi on the formless Reality, He gradually became aware
of the body.

When He opened His eyes, He noticed that it was about half
an hour before sunset. After remaining mentally quiet for
a few minutes, He thought, “I am now in a position to take
advantage of the presence of some thought or feeling at the
start of meditation to focus on the Atman and attain samadbhi.
There is, however, no necessity for me to rely upon what is
basically a source of distraction. Instead, | could commence
my meditation by directly generating and intensifying the
notion that | am not the body and the like but am Brahman,

Consciousness
shone clearly
without any object
and without
limitations. He
was overwhelmed
by bliss. The
awareness of
any distinction
between the bliss
and Himself was
almost absent.

About an hour
passed thus but He
was totally oblivious
of the passage
of time. As He
emerged from
His first experience
of savikalpa-
samadhi on the
formless Reality, He
gradually became
aware of the body.
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That afternoon,
He reflected
on the Truth by
deeply considering
the passages of
Bhagavatpada’s
Paficikarana.
Perhaps because
of that, when He
started to meditate
that evening on the
hilltop, after the
manifestation of a
hue, a sentence of
that text occurred
to Him, without any
premeditation. He
had barely recalled
the sentence when,
effortlessly and
without any delay,
He was in savikalpa-
samadhi.
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which is of the nature of absolute existence, consciousness and
bliss. This is what | did yesterday. Further, the pertinent notion
is indeed in keeping with the teaching of the scripture and my
conviction.” He decided to implement this procedure right then. So,
He repeated what He had done on the previous evening, inclusive
of employing the words to the effect, “/ am indeed the Supreme
Brahman, the One free from decay and known as Vasudeva (He
who resides in and shines in all).” This time, He promptly attained
savikalpa-samadhi. The experience was essentially the same as that
of the preceding savikalpa-samdadhi and also lasted about an hour.
After getting up, He returned to His abode.

The next morning, that is, on 8" December, corresponding to
margasira-sukla-trayodasi, subsequent to His turning His gaze to
between His eyebrows, He apprehended a green hue. At this point,
He directed His attention to the Atman as being the witness of
this hue. The hue soon faded away. Next, the sense of ‘I" well-
nigh vanished and savikalpa-samadhi ensued. At the end of the
session, He recognised that He could comfortably use the hue
rather than a voluntarily stimulated thought or feeling to initiate
contemplation on the Atman as a witness and attain samadhi.

That afternoon, He reflected on the Truth by deeply considering
the passages of Bhagavatpada’s Pafcikarana. Perhaps because of
that, when He started to meditate that evening on the hilltop, after
the manifestation of a hue, a sentence of that text occurred to
Him, without any premeditation. The import of that sentence
is, “I am none other than Brahman, which is eternally pure, ever
enlightened, eternally free, absolute existence, absolute bliss, non-
dual and the innermost consciousness.” He had barely recalled
the sentence when, effortlessly and without any delay, He was in
savikalpa-samadhi. He remained in that state for about 45 minutes.

A few minutes after emerging from samadhi, He thought as
follows.

“I have earlier focused on the Supreme with the aid of a mental vrtti
(modification of the mind) in the form of a desire to meditate or a



hue. | should be able to become absorbed in the Supreme even
by considering any external object. After all, the Supreme is not
merely the witness of mental states but is also the real substratum
of everything.”

At this point, He recalled the portion of the Mahanarayana-
upanisad wherein it is made known, “Whatsoever there is in
the entire world that is seen or heard of, all that is pervaded by
Narayana, within and without (like a bracelet and other golden
ornaments by gold, their material cause).” He proceeded to
reflect as follows.

“An earthen pot has a rotund form, has the name, ‘pot’, and is made
of mud. It is apprehended as something that exists, as ‘is’; it is the
object of the notion of existence (sadbuddhih). What is responsible
for the pot’s being or existence? Decidedly, its name and form do
not lend any being to it. Other than as clay, its material cause, the
pot has no existence; it has existence only as clay.”

Here, He called to mind the passage of the Chandogya-upanisad
that conveys, “A modification (of clay, such as a pot or jar) has
speech as its origin and exists only in name; as clay alone, it is
real.” He went on to reflect as follows.

“Can clay, per se, account for the being of the pot? No, for clay has no
existence apart from the particles of which it is made; the name and
form of clay do not make it existent. Nothing that is an effect has
existence apart from its material cause; only as the cause, does
an effect exist. Thus, no intermediary member of the causal chain
headed by the pot, clay and particles can account for the pot’s being.
Only the ultimate cause, if it be intrinsically existent, can adequately
do so. The scripture teaches that Brahman is the ultimate cause,
the substratum of all, and that It is of the very nature of absolute
existence. Thus, in the final analysis, a pot has existence only as
Brahman; apart from Brahman, it is simply non-existent. The name
and form of the pot are but its false or illusory aspects. Similarly,
every object has existence only as Brahman; the name and form of
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the object are its illusory aspects. Were such not to be the case, the scripture would not
have emphatically taught that on knowing Brahman, everything becomes known, just as
on knowing clay, all products of clay become known.

“In the past, whenever | have wanted to, | have been able to readily ignore the name and
form of an object, such as an earthen pot or a golden vessel, and to apprehend the object
as being just the substance of which it is made, such as clay or gold. Now, | should go
much further. | should thoroughly discriminate the name and form of any selected object
from its being, disregard them, and understand that the object is actually just its ultimate
basis, absolute existence.”

Having reflected in this manner, He started His meditation, taking the sun as the object of
relevance. He gazed at the sun, which was to set in about half an hour and was pleasant to
behold. With effort, He increasingly ignored everything about the sun, such as its shape,
size and brightness, and focused on just its being. Soon, nothing mattered except the bare
existence of the sun; indifference to the illusory aspects became well-established and
effortless. He was unaware thereafter whether His eyes were fully open, partially closed
or fully closed. Abruptly, He almost totally forgot Himself. Just unqualified being, unrelated
to space, time and objects, remained and that too not as an inert entity but as objectless
consciousness. When His mind descended from this savikalpa-samadhi, He found that the
sun had already set and that the place was illumined by the moon. He estimated that His
samadhi would have lasted for nearly an hour.

The next morning, that is, on 9" December, corresponding to margasira-sukla-caturdasr,
the external object that He considered to facilitate His meditation on the Supreme was
the wall in front of His seat in the room where He performed His ahnika. With hardly any
effort, He was able to disregard all its illusory aspects of name and form and focus on just its
bare being. He attained savikalpa-samadhi in moments; the experience was the same as
what He had had on the previous occasion.

In the evening, He went to His usual place of meditation on the hill and, on sitting down,
reflected, “Brahman is of the nature of absolute existence and is the substratum on which
this illusory world of names and forms is superimposed. Even as | perceive what is
external, | could, instead of considering a specific external object, use words to this effect
to direct my attention fixedly to the Truth. This would be equivalent to my earlier using,
when inward-turned, words of the Brahmanucintana and the Paficikarana to become
absorbed in the Supreme.” Then, without shutting His eyes, He mentally said to Himself,
“sarvadhisthanabhdta-sanmatra-brahmasmi”; this means, “I am Brahman of the nature
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of absolute existence, the substratum of everything.” He
intensified the resulting notion by disregarding names
and forms in general. As He proceeded to do so, the
diversity, rooted in names and forms, of the world
seemed more and more to be superficial and irrelevant.
Everything appeared to become stripped to bare
being, without attributes. His sense of individuality
faded. An upsurge in the intensity of concentration
resulted in savikalpa-samadhi that was akin to the
preceding ones. About one and a half hours passed
before His mind descended from samadhi.

The next morning, that is, on 10" December,
corresponding to margasira-paurnami, after the
apprehension of a hue, He did not explicitly recall any
passage about the Truth. He did not select the hue or
any feeling to initiate His meditation either. Since the
previous evening, attention to the Truth had been
persisting effortlessly. Even during dreams, this had
been uninterrupted. He just intensified it. Promptly, He
became absorbed in the Supreme and was in savikalpa-
samadhi.

When He regained awareness of the body and opened
His eyes, He could see His ahnika room. However,
apart from bare being, nothing else seemed to be of
any consequence. He ignored names and forms further.
Straightaway, He was once more in savikalpa-samadbhi.

That afternoon His Holiness read and pondered on
the verses of Sri Sadasiva-brahmendra’s Atma-vidya-
vilasa. Calling to mind the portion that conveys, “The
Supreme Atman shines pure, enlightened and devoid
of all variety” and, specifically, the part “vigalita-
sarvavikalpah, devoid of all variety” therein, He
reflected as follows.

“Even in samadhi, | have not realised the Atman as
shining totally free from diversity. After all, the sense
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of ‘I’ and the awareness of the distinction of the concentrator, concentration and the
object of concentration also shine, no matter how feebly. | do understand from the
words of the scripture, supportive reasoning and my savikalpa-samadhis that | am
pure consciousness. The ripening of my present understanding and conviction into firm
realisation would be greatly facilitated by the disappearance of even the vestige of duality
during samadhi, leaving just the Atman as residue.

“A weary traveller may hear from a trustworthy person familiar with the region that the
water he is seeing in the desert is a mirage. He may then reason that such should be the
case. Yet, his wanting to assuage his thirst may impede his firmly realising that only desert-
sand stretches in front of him. Were he to move on to a new position and the sun were to
be temporarily blocked by a thick layer of clouds, he might see just sand where he once
saw the mirage. He might begin to perceive the mirage again a little later. Nonetheless,
the temporary disappearance of the mirage would highly facilitate his firmly realising the
truth of what he had been told and reflected upon. The thorough vanishing of duality
during samadhi would, for me, be helpful, like the temporary disappearance of the mirage
for this hypothetical traveller.

“Further, while | almost become identified with bliss in samadhi, nonetheless, | do, to a
minute degree, stand apart from it as the one who enjoys it. Infinite bliss is, on the authority
of the scripture, my very nature. What is my very nature cannot, undoubtedly, be known
objectively by me. It is avidya (ignorance) that conjures diversity in the Truth, which is
non-dual. Thus, no matter how great it may be, bliss that is experienced by me as an object
lies in the realm of avidya. It must not be savoured but transcended.

“I should, during my meditation this evening, prevent myself from being overwhelmed
by the bliss of savikalpa-samadhi. Then, by impressing upon myself that | am bliss itself
and not one who enjoys it, | should focus my mind more thoroughly on the Atman. Once my
mind were to become fully established on the Atman and devoid of every transformation
of a form other than that of the Atman, how can any distinction between bliss and the
one experiencing bliss or, for that matter, any other subject-object distinction and the
sense of individuality show up at all?”

He discerned that by establishing His mind on the Atman and remaining without any
thought, He would be acting in accordance with the Lord’s instruction in the Bhagavadgita,
“One should gradually withdraw by means of the intellect endued with firmness; making
the mind established in the Atman, one should not think of anything.”
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He then opened Bhagavatpada’s Vivekaciidamani at random. His
eyes fell on a verse in which nirvikalpa-samadhi is spoken of. He
read it and also the succeeding three verses; they too deal with
nirvikalpa-samadhi. The import of these four verses is, “When thus
purified (of misunderstanding and the like about the Truth) by
continuous practice, the mind merges in Brahman (by remaining
without any thought, in the form of Brahman), then there is
nirvikalpa-samadhi, which brings about the effortless experience
of non-dual bliss. By this samadbhi, there occurs the destruction of the
knot of impressions (rooted in ignorance), the annihilation of all one’s
actions (leading to rebirth) and the manifestation, without effort,
of one’s true nature, within and without, everywhere and forever.
Reflection (on the Truth) is a hundred times superior to hearing
(the Truth). Meditation (on the Truth) is a hundred thousand times
greater than reflection. Nirvikalpa-samadhi is infinitely superior
to that. Brahman, the Reality, is realised clearly, with steady
certitude, by means of nirvikalpa-samadhi but not otherwise, for,
then, because of the inconstancy of mental activity, the realisation
would be mixed up with other notions.” His reading enhanced his
keenness on going beyond the stage of savikalpa-samadhi.

Nirvikalpa-samadhi on the Atman-Brahman has been defined as
follows in the Sarva-vedanta-siddhanta-sara-sangrahah, which is
attributed to Bhagavatpada: “That is nirvikalpa-samadhi, which is
termed yoga, wherein the mind, bereft of the modes of the knower,
knowing and the object of knowledge, remains firmly established as
the object (Brahman). Salt put in water remains as one with the
water and does not manifest separately. Only water manifests. In
like manner, the mental vrtti (of the form of Brahman) remains as
one with Brahman and does not manifest separately. The non-dual
Brahman alone manifests. Due to the absence of the conception of
the knower, known and object of knowledge, this samadhi is called
nirvikalpa.”

He reached His place of meditation on the hill around 4:30 p.m.,
one and a half hours before sunset. Sitting in the siddhdasana, He
performed two cycles of prandyama together with the jalandhara,

“Reflection on the
Truth is a hundred
times superior
to hearing the
Truth. Meditation
on the Truth is a
hundred thousand
times greater
than reflection.
Nirvikalpa-samadhi
is infinitely superior
to that. Brahman,
the Reality, is
realised clearly,
with steady
certitude, by means
of nirvikalpa-
samadhi but not
otherwise, for,
then, because of
the inconstancy of
mental activity, the
realisation would be
mixed up with other
notions.”

- Vivekacudamani
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During His meditation
that evening, the sense of
‘I’ nearly vanished and His

mind entered savikalpa-
samadhi. However, with
effort, He restrained Himself
from being overwhelmed
by it and thought, “l am
not the one experiencing
bliss but am bliss itself.”
In a trice, a sharp change
occurred. No more
was there any sense of
individuality or of space,
time and objects. Only
Brahman, of the nature
of absolute existence,
pure consciousness
and ultimate bliss,
shone bereft of the
superimposition of even
a trace of duality. Though
the bliss of savikalpa-
samadhi was great, it was
nothing compared to the
absolute, non-dual bliss of
nirvikalpa-samadhi.
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uddiyana and mdala bandhas to promote mental tranquillity.
Then, as usual, He directed His gaze towards the centre of His
brows and chanted ‘om’. That day, He beheld an unbounded
expanse of blue, resembling the sky. The notion, “l am the non-
dual Brahman apart from which nothing whatsoever exists” that
was prominent and naturally persistent since the previous evening
had been intensified by His savikalpa-samadhis of the morning
and by His reading and reflection of the afternoon. So, He did not
have to cultivate it. He had barely seen the soothing expanse of
blue when it vanished. He felt Himself expanding and becoming
like space. The sense of ‘I’ nearly vanished and His mind entered
savikalpa-samadhi.

The bliss was very great. However, with effort, He restrained Himself
from being overwhelmed by it and thought, “I am not the one
experiencing bliss but am bliss itself” In a trice, a sharp change
occurred. Awareness of the distinction of the concentrator,
concentration and the object of concentration completely
disappeared. No more was there any sense of individuality or of
space, time and objects. Only Brahman, of the nature of absolute
existence, pure consciousness and ultimate bliss, shone bereft
of the superimposition of even a trace of duality.

After about two hours, His mind descended to the level of
savikalpa-samadhi and mild awareness of the distinction of
the concentrator, concentration and the object of concentration
reappeared. Though the bliss of savikalpa-samadhi was by far
greater than the joy of any worldly enjoyment, it was nothing
compared to the absolute, non-dual bliss of nirvikalpa-samadhi.
Gradually, His became lightly aware of the body and of the build-
up of breathing that had almost totally stopped earlier.

When He opened His eyes, He could see the scene in front of
Him and yet did not see it, for He was quite indifferent to the
apparent diversity rooted in names and forms. So clear was the
realisation that He was of the very nature of absolute existence
that He apprehended nothing whatsoever as existing apart from
Him. Everything was like bubbles on the ocean that was Himself.



When He rose after some time, His body felt light like cotton wool and as He walked down
the hill, it seemed as if He were on a moving canoe.

After about an hour, the apprehension, “I am the Supreme Brahman other than which
there is nothing” started to slowly weaken from being on par with perceiving a fruit in
one’s open palm. However, even when its attenuation stopped, it was much stronger than
it had been when He had sat down to meditate.

That night, when it was time for Him to go to sleep, He readied Himself to meditate.
Even before a hue manifested, the notion, “I am Brahman” became greatly intensified.
Without any effort, He shot past the stages of deep meditation and savikalpa-samadhi and
entered nirvikalpa-samadhi. He remained in it for over three hours. Then, though He felt
fresh, He lay down and slept for a while. He got up at His usual time of awakening.

After having dreamt, on the night of 28" May, 1931, of Siva demonstrating the
performance nada-anusandhdna to Him, He had begun practising it once a week. That
morning, that is, on 11" December, corresponding to margasira-krsna-pratipat, He
felt impelled to do so. So, as usual, He closed His ears, nose and mouth with His fingers
to commence His contemplation on the sound heard in the right ear. The ocean-like
sound that He heard abruptly grew in intensity. Then, in quick succession, He heard a
variety of sounds. These included those of a drum, a flute and a vind. Each sound lasted
for only a few moments before being replaced by the next. He had heard the same
sounds, in the same sequence, when the Lord had demonstrated nada-anusandhana
in the dream. When the last of the sounds ended, there was just silence. His mind
became extremely tranquil and suffused with bliss. The sense of “I” rapidly faded away
completely and nirvikalpa-samadhi ensued. Only non-dual, objectless consciousness
remained. About an hour passed before the mind descended from samadhi.

After practising nada-anusandhana the first few times in 1931, He found that once He
started to hear the internal sound upon closing His ears and focused on it, He continued
to hear it clearly even if He took His fingers off His ears. Thereafter, He had been lowering
His hands involuntarily after closing His eyes, nose and eyes for just a brief while. Thus, when
He emerged from samdadhi that day His hands were not in contact with His face; they were
resting on his lap.

That afternoon itself, He once again attained nirvikalpa-samadhi on the Supreme, this
time through kundalini-centred laya-yoga. He had just apprehended a hue between His
brows when, involuntarily, He adopted the jalandhara, uddiyana and mdla bandhas and

163



His attention turned to the andhata-cakra. He apprehended the
kundalini there. It seemed that the elements earth, water and fire
had become absorbed in the kundalini. As the divine SaktT headed
rapidly to the sahasrara, leaping, as it were, from one cakra to
the next higher one, air, space and the organs too duly merged
into her. When the kundalini reached the sahasrara, all duality,
inclusive of the sense of “I” and awareness of the distinction of
the agent of meditation, meditation and the object of meditation,
thoroughly vanished. Just objectless consciousness of the very
nature of bliss shone. This nirvikalpa-samadhi lasted for about
an hour. As His mind lightly came out of nirvikalpa-samadhi,
He discerned the descent of the kundalini from the sahasrara,
through the ajia-cakra, to the visuddha-cakra. He regained
mild awareness of the body without sensing any further descent
of the Sakti and then opened His eyes.

He felt that having revealed nada-anusandhana and kundalini-yoga
to Him earlier, God had graciously chosen to vouchsafe to Him
their culmination and hence impelled Him to engage in them that
day without any premeditation on His part and attain nirvikalpa-
samadhi through them. In the nirvikalpa-samadhis attained by
Him the previous evening, at night, that morning through nada-
anusandhana and that afternoon through kundalini-yoga, just the
non-dual Truth had shone, without any appearance of duality.
It was now quite clear to Him that consciousness does shine in
all its glory without any object whatsoever and that the Atman
is of the nature of consciousness.

Shortly after His nirvikalpa-samadhi of that afternoon, He
reflected as follows.

“Suppose the Atman were knowable like an object. The
question would then arise as to who can know the Atman. The
answer cannot be that the Atman is known objectively by Itself,
for it is impossible for any entity to be both the subject and
the object of a cognition. The Atman cannot be known by the
intellect, mind, organs, body and objects, for they are all inert.
Moreover, the Atman is the unchanging witness of the presence

164

In the nirvikalpa-
samadhis attained
by Him the previous
evening, at night,
that morning
through nada-
anusandhana and
that afternoon
through kundalini-
yoga, just the non-
dual Truth had
shone, without
any appearance of
duality. It was now
quite clear to Him
that consciousness
does shine in all its
glory without any
object whatsoever
and that the Atman
is of the nature of
consciousness.




and the absence of thoughts. When the intellect and mind are
themselves just objects witnessed by the Atman, how could
they be the perceivers of the Atman? The scripture declares that
the Atman is Brahman and there is no knower other than the
Atman-Brahman. Thus, the Atman is just not knowable like some
external object.

“Though not knowable like an inert object by any means of
knowledge, the Atman, which is none other than Brahman, is
not unknown either. What is other than oneself and inert may be
unknown. The Atman, however, is one’s very self and is of the
nature of consciousness. Consciousness is what reveals objects
and never needs to be revealed by anything else. It is presupposed
in every act of knowing and is ever self-established.

“The agent of even the act of knowing, which has a beginning
and an end, cannot but be subject to change. Further, only an
entity subject to change can experience pleasure and pain. As the
Atman is changeless, It is neither the agent of any act, inclusive
of that of knowing, nor is It subject to pleasure and pain. Agency,
suffering, enjoyment of pleasure and the like belong to the
changeful intellect. However, owing to avidyd, one mistakenly
superimposes these that belong to the intellect on the Atman.
Also, though the intellect is inert, the consciousness of the Atman is
wrongly ascribed to it and the intellect-centred ‘I’ passes off as a
conscious agent and experiencer.

“The scripture advocates realisation of Brahman not in the
sense of knowing what is unknown but in the sense of getting
rid of the avidya-based superimposition on It. Whether focused on
the Atman or distracted, the mind is but an inert entity illumined
by the Atman. However, the mental vrtti of the form of Brahman
destroys, as declared by the scripture, avidya that rests in and
veils Brahman and presents It wrongly.

“Suppose a person, who is adept at yoga, feels he is established
in the Atman when he is in samadhi but that he deviates to some
extent from the Reality when he emerges from samadhi and
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engages in activity. Such a person is not free from avidya. Samadhi and distraction are
conditions of the mind and not of the Atman. The Atman is ever changeless and of the
nature of consciousness. Samadhi and distraction do not affect it in any way. It is because
this yogin is not free from identification with the mind that he sees himself as influenced by
changes in the state of the mind. He who has fully realised that he is the changeless Reality
remains established in the Reality and unaffected regardless of whether his mind is in a
focused, agitated or dull condition. He should not become attached to nirvikalpa-samadhi
under the delusion that for its duration he becomes one with Brahman.

“Perception of the world could affect the vision of the Truth of one who ascribes reality to
duality but not of one to whom names and forms are illusory. He who firmly knows that
what lies in front of him is dry sand is not affected by the appearance or disappearance
of a mirage there. Likewise, he who knows that there is nothing whatsoever apart from
Brahman cannot be affected either by the appearance of the mirage-like world of names
and forms or its disappearance during samdadhi or deep sleep.”

Having reasoned thus, His Holiness reflected, in support of His conviction about the illusory
nature of the world and that there exists nothing apart from the non-dual Reality, on the
similarity between the states of waking and dream. He also thought of how the states of
waking, dream and deep sleep rule each other out and of the persistence in all of them of
consciousness, their witness.

In the evening, He reached His place of meditation on the hill around 4:30 p.m. He effortlessly
and swiftly attained nirvikalpa-samadhi exactly as on the previous night. After about an
hour, He opened His eyes. The falsity of names and forms was crystal clear and there was
certainty that there was nothing that was other than consciousness. Shortly thereafter,
even without His shutting His eyes or making any effort, He plunged once again into
nirvikalpa-samadhi. This time too, the samadhi lasted for about an hour.

Except for an hour, during which He slept, He spent the rest of the night in nirvikalpa-
samdadhi. It was not as though He was particular about doing so, for, by then, there was
essentially no difference for Him between samdadhi and the perception of the world as
regards His abidance in Brahman. As He was feeling very fresh, instead of lying down, He
casually sat cross-legged. Suddenly, His mind plunged into nirvikalpa-samadhi.

The next day, that is, on 12" December 1935, corresponding to margasira-krna-dvitiya,
He went into nirvikalpa-samadhi in the morning and in the afternoon for an hour each.
The conviction about the falsity of duality and of His being of the nature of changeless

166



consciousness was so strong and steady that almost no avidya-based
notions of the non-Atman cropped up. Those few that did were
neutralised swiftly. The knowledge that Brahman alone is all had
almost fully fructified. This was His state when He went in the evening
to the summit of the hill one and a half hours before sunset, which
was to occur at 6:03 p.m.

He directed His gaze to between the brows. Then, without any
premeditation, He mentally chanted not just ‘om’ but “om namah
sivaya”, as He had done a week earlier on the day He beheld the Lord
and received the advice to focus on the formless Supreme Reality. Soon,
He beheld a moon-like disc of light between His brows, as had happened
a week earlier. His mind became increasingly quiet. The sense of ‘I’
faded away and, effortlessly, nirvikalpa-samadhi ensued. When He
opened His eyes, the sun was about to set. Two birds were seated on
His shoulders.

That Brahman is all was as clear to Him as a fruit in one’s palm. A few
minutes later, even as His eyes were open, His mind automatically went
into nirvikalpa-samadhi once again. He remained in that state for nearly
an hour. As He regained awareness of the body and the surroundings,
a big monkey bounded up to Him and positioned itself on Him lap.
After being cuddled for a while by Him, it left. He walked down the hill
and found His attendant, who had not accompanied Him up the hill that
day, waiting there with a lamp, as had happened a week earlier.

He had now attained direct realization of Brahman and jivanmukti
(liberation even while living), characterized by firm establishment in
Brahman. The Lord’s earlier words to Him, “acirena brahmasamstho
bhavisyasi (You shall soon become established in Brahman)” had
found complete fulfilment.

He had now
attained direct
realization of
Brahman and
jivanmukti
(liberation even
while living),

characterized
by firm
establishment
in Brahman.
The Lord’s
earlier words to
Him, “acirena
brahmasamstho
bhavisyasi
(You shall
soon become
established in
Brahman)” had
found complete
fulfilment.
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CHAPTER 11

Ever in the Supreme

When His Holiness was returning from the hill on the
evening of margasira-krsna-dvitiya, corresponding
to 12" December, after attaining enlightenment and
jivanmukti (liberation even while living), He saw His Guru
standing outside Sacchidananda Vilas and looking in His
direction. The senior Jagadguru beckoned to Him and went
inside. When He went to the room of His Guru, the latter,
who was standing there, rushed to Him and embraced
Him even before His Holiness could prostrate before His
Guru or say anything. Holding Him by His shoulders, the
senior Jagadguru said, “I am so very happy.” He then
voiced a mantra of the Mundaka-upanisad, a passage
of the Brhadaranyaka-upanisad and a verse of the
Bhagavadgita, all of which are about an enlightened
person, a jivanmukta (one liberated even while alive).

The import of that mantra is, “When the supreme Atman,
which is both high and low, is realised, the knot of the
heart (comprising the host of tendencies and impressions of
ignorance in the form of desires) is destroyed, all doubts
come to an end and one’s actions become dissipated.”
The cited passage of the Brhadaranyaka-upanisad
conveys, “He who was subject to death then becomes
deathless and attains identity with Brahman while living
in this very body.” The import of cited words of the Lord
is, “But that man who rejoices only in the Atman, is
satisfied with just the Atman and who is contented in just
the Atman - for him, there is no duty to perform.”

Holding His Holiness
by His shoulders, the
senior Jagadguru said,
“I' am so very happy.”
He then voiced
a mantra of the
Mundaka-upanisad,
a passage of the
Brhadaranyaka-
upanisad and a verse
of the Bhagavadgita,
all of which are
about an enlightened
person, a jivanmukta.
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“Such was my Guru’s greatness
that He highly appreciated
anything positive in another. His
instructions, blessings and grace
were responsible for my sadhana
and whatever | achieved. Yet,
He was so thoroughly free from
egoism that He did not take
any credit. Where can one find
anyone like Him?”

- His Holiness

The senior Jagadguru then said, “Such
declarations of the sruti and smrti are
applicable to you who abide as the
Supreme Brahman.! Then altering a verse
of Gaudapadacarya a little, He metrically
asserted, “The Reality has been seen (by you)
in the context of the individual and in the
external world. You have become identified
with the Reality. You rejoice in the Reality.
You are undeviating from the Reality.” The
original verse of Gaudapadacarya contains
the teaching, “Having examined the Reality
in the context of the individual and in the
external world, one should become identified
with the Reality, should have one’s delight
in the Reality and should not deviate from
the Reality.”

On the senior Jagadguru letting go of His
shoulders, His Holiness prostrated before His
Guru for long, placing His hands and head on
His Guru’s feet. Recapitulating all this in August
1989, His Holiness told me, “Such was my
Guru’s greatness that He highly appreciated
anything positive in another. His instructions,
blessings and grace were responsible for my
sadhana and whatever | achieved. Yet, He
was so thoroughly free from egoism that He
did not take any credit. Where can one find
anyone like Him?”

As His Holiness had become fully
enlightened and attained jivanmukti that
evening, samadhi ceased to have any role in

His case as an aid to realise Brahman. However, as He had been repeatedly abiding in
nirvikalpa-samadhi since the evening of 10" December, ‘nirodha-samskaras (impressions
stemming from the interception of the mind)’ had become intense. Because of this and
utter indifference to names and forms, His mind subsided readily and went on its own
into nirvikalpa-samadhi. Such abidance in samadhi made His mind even further disposed
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to reposing in nirvikalpa-samadhi and disinclined towards
everything else. That night, no sooner did He lie down
than He went into nirvikalpa-samadhi. By the time He
emerged from it, the night had passed.

The next morning, that is, on 13" December, corresponding
to margasira-krsna-trtiya, when He completed performing
asanas and readied Himself to start pranayama, His mind
again plunged into nirvikalpa-samadhi. He remained
in that state for about half an hour. Another session of
nirvikalpa-samadhi occurred spontaneously during His
ahnika. Later, He went on His usual Friday-visit to the
temples in the Math complex. Notwithstanding His great
indifference to names and forms in general on account
of great introversion effected by repeated and prolonged
abidance in nirvikalpa-samadhi, when He stood silently
near the sanctum sanctorum of Goddess Sarad3, tears
of joy flowed from His eyes. It is said in the Bhagavata-
purdana, “Even sages who revel in only the Atman and are
without any bond (or, have given up even the study of
texts) are devoted, without any expectation whatsoever,
to the Lord. Such is the excellence of God.”

That afternoon, He attempted to revise a text of the
Tarka-sastra but failed because His mind soon went into
nirvikalpa-samadhi. By the evening, He was in a position
to perform only what He was habituated to doing and
which did not involve fresh application of the mind. Also,
emerging from samadhi became difficult. The nirvikalpa-
samdadhi of the night stretched on to cover even the period
when He would have normally performed His asanas and
prandyama the next morning, that is on 14" December,
corresponding to margasira-krsna-caturthi. Had His
samadhi lasted any longer, His morning bath would
have become delayed. When He engaged in His ahnika
after having a bath, He omitted nothing but because of
introversion, His performance of ahnika was like that of a
sleepy person doing puja.

As His Holiness
had become fully
enlightened and

attained jivanmukti
that evening,
samadhi ceased to
have any role in His
case as an aid to
realise Brahman.
However, as He had
been repeatedly
abiding in nirvikalpa-
samadhi, His
mind even further
disposed to reposing
in samadhi and
disinclined towards
everything else. He
was in a position to
perform only what
He was habituated
to doing and which
did not involve fresh
application of the
mind. Also, emerging
from samadhi
became difficult.
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By the afternoon, the
impact of the nirvikalpa-
samdadhis had become so
much that He succeeded
in doing His second ahnika
only poorly and was
hardly aware of partaking
bhiksd thereafter. Post
bhiksd, He remained in
His room in nirvikalpa-
samadhi till His evening
bath, to  complete
which He needed some
assistance. His mind was
so intoxicated with bliss
that the evening ahnika
fared far worse than the
one in the afternoon.
He did not partake of
anything before retiring
to His room that night
as He felt too disinclined
to do so. There, He sat
down and straightaway
went into nirvikalpa-
samadbhi.

He descended from samadhi on becoming vaguely aware of the intonation of ‘om’ in
the senior Jagadguru’s voice. When He opened His eyes, He beheld His Guru. The senior
Jagadguru was seated next to Him and was gently stroking His disciple’s head with His
hand. “Taking care to avoid any further samadhi, finish your bath and ahnika and come to me,”
He said and immediately left. So intense was His Holiness’s reverence for and devotion
and obedience to His Guru that even the powerful tendency to repose in samadhi
that had built up could not stand in the way of His strictly carying out His Guru’s wishes.

When He went to His Guru and offered namaskaras, the senior Jagadguru directed Him to
sit down and then said, “I knew that your mind was becoming more and more absorbed
in nirvikalpa-samadhi. Though you have transcended any need for samadhi, | did not
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interfere. Last night, however, the
Lord made it clear to me that your
samadhi had become so intense that
you would not emerge from it on your
own. Unless aroused from samadhi, you
would remain in it till physical death.
As impelled by Him, | came to your
room before the night ended. Telling
your attendant to remain outside,
| entered alone. The Math staff have
been under the impression that you
have been unwell since yesterday. So
the attendant assumed that | had come
to check on your condition. | found you
seated motionless, deep in samadhi.
With great difficulty, | succeeded
in awakening you. Regulate your
samadhi and the introversion of the
mind. Else, today itself, your nirvikalpa-

samadhi will become such that you
cannot be aroused from it at all by
anybody. Do not leave me by entering
irreversible samadhi and discarding
your human form. There is so much to
be done by you for me, for others and
for the Math.”

His Holiness eschewed samadhi in
its entirety that day and slept during
the night. The next day, that is, 15"
December, corresponding to margasira-
krsna-paficami, He was once more in a
position to determine the duration of
His samadhi and, as intended, remained
in it in the morning for an hour. When,
after completing His morning dhnika,
He had the senior Jagadguru’s darsana,
His Guru advised Him as follows:

“I knew that your mind was becoming
more and more absorbed in
nirvikalpa-samadhi. Though you have
transcended any need for samadhi,
| did not interfere. Last night,
however, the Lord made it clear to
me that your samadhi had become so
intense that you would not emerge
from it on your own. Unless aroused
from samadhi, you would remain in
it till physical death. As impelled by
Him, | came to your room before the
night ended.

With great difficulty, | succeeded
in awakening you. Regulate your
samadhi and the introversion of
the mind. Else, today itself, your
nirvikalpa-samadhi will become such
that you cannot be aroused from it
at all by anybody. Do not leave me
by entering irreversible samadhi and
discarding your human form. There is
so much to be done by you for me, for
others and for the Math.”

- The senior Jagadguru



“It was in obedience to the directive of my Paramaguru
(Jagadguru Sri Nrsimha Bharati, the 32" pontiff) that my
Guru (Jagadguru Sri Saccidananda Sivabhinava Nrsimha
Bharati, the 33™ pontiff) checked the overpowering urge
to be absorbed in yoga. | am happy that, in deference to
my wish, you have regulated your samadhiand can emerge
from it by yourself after a predetermined duration.

“While you can now manage to perform your routine
activities, your mind is still too introverted to engage
in the serious study of the Tarka and other sastras. Only
tranquillity and happiness can be seen in your face. Even
if I, to whom you are deeply devoted, were to cast off
my body right now, your facial expression would not
change. No matter how much you may be provoked, not
a trace of anger would be visible. Nothing of the world
interests you at all. Such readily noticeable, rock-like
imperturbability and disinterestedness in everything
would be unexceptionable if you were an independent
samnyasin. On you, however, rests the future of this
great pitha.

“My Guru was ever established in Brahman. He had
nothing whatsoever to gain or lose by anything. Yet,
enacting his role to perfection, He wept when His Guru
shed the body, rejoiced when the Candramaulisvara-linga
was recovered, evinced deep interest in promoting the
study of the Vedas and sastras, appreciated the good

The 32" Pontiff

The 33" Pontiff

efforts of people and expressed disapproval of their straying to the path of adharma.
He captivated the hearts not merely of spiritual aspirants and mahatmans but of all.
He was an unmatched master of the sastras whom even the most erudite looked
upon with awe. He brought immeasurable glory to the pitha. It is like Him that you

must be.

“Accordingly, though unswervingly established in Brahman, you should study diligently
and master the sastras. Further, you should learn to show, whenever appropriate, interest,
appreciation, concern, anger, curiosity and the like in your dealings with devotees, the

Matha’s staff and others.”
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The senior Jagadguru then cited, from the Yoga-vasistha, verses that contain the advice
given by Sage Vasistha to Rama when the latter had become withdrawn. The import
these verses is, “Sport in the world, O Raghava, internally bereft of all longing relating to
the future, without attachment to anything current and devoid of tendencies born of the
past, but externally conforming to all the observances. Sport in the world, O Raghava,
with assumed attachment, anger, etc., on the outside but without any turbulence
in the heart, as a doer externally but internally a non-doer.” He then told His Holiness,
“Be as prescribed in them. You must be an ideal for others. Appreciate the condition
of others, conduct yourself suitably and do
good to them.”

To implement His Guru’s directives, His
Holiness ignored the prevailing disinterest
and revised His Tarka lessons. Over the
next week, He gradually regenerated
the interest in sastraic studies that had
vanished. The senior Jagadguru graciously
expedited this process by asking questions
relating to the text studied. Displaying
emotional responses proved tougher for
His Holiness to achieve because His mind
felt just peace and bliss and the emotions
of the past seemed no more than a vague,
distant dream.

It was clear to Him that His Guru did not intend that He learn to pretend to be pleased,
concerned and the like, without such feelings arising in the mind at all. He recognised
that if, while being thoroughly disinterested, He were to make someone think that
He wished that that person come again soon or that He was interested in what that person
was showing Him or that He was displeased as that person had not done something
important, He would be a deceiver and there was no question of His Guru advocating
that He ever resort to such hypocrisy and deceit.

He discerned that to facilitate interpersonal dealings without any hypocrisy or subter-
fuge, His mind should accommodate fleeting emotions. Appearance of thoughts
and feelings merely when necessitated by and as appropriate to situations would
enable effective and totally unpretentious functioning while leaving the mind basically
silent. Further, such mental activity would be powerless to cause any bondage as
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“Even during excruciating
pain, there has been the clear
awareness that it pertains
only to the illusory mind and
that | am the changeless
witness of the nature of
pure consciousness. All this is
solely due to the grace of my
Guru and God. Else, where

was the question of even one
so ordinary as | becoming
unswervingly established in
Brahman and functioning in
the world as | was directed to
do by my Guru?”

- His Holiness
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misidentification of the Atman
with the mind had already ceased
once and for all and there was no
forgetfulness of the falsity of the
mind either. He comprehended
thus the thrust and mode of
implementation of His Guru’s
directive.

When His Holiness told me
this is in August 1989, a month
prior to His shedding His body,
| asked Him, “Over the vyears,
has intense anger, worry or grief
appeared in Your Holiness’s mind,
unaccompanied, even for a while,
by the awareness of its falsity.”
His Holiness responded, “No,
never. Even during excruciating
pain, there has been the clear
awareness that it pertains only to the illusory
mind and that | am the changeless witness of
the nature of pure consciousness. All this is solely
due to the grace of my Guru and God. Else, where
was the question of even one so ordinary as |
becoming unswervingly established in Brahman
and functioning in the world as | was directed to do
by my Guru?”

Several are the instances that leave no room for
doubt about His Holiness’s firm establishment in
the Truth. On 22" February, 1983, His Holiness
suffered an attack of angina, with severe pain in
the chest and dull pain in His left arm. Around
6:30 p.m., He was administered an intramuscular
injection of morphine. Soon, He was in a state
of semi-torpor. Giridhara Sastry, the then



Administrator of the Sringeri Math, and | were seated on the floor by the side of His
Holiness as He rested on a simple wooden platform. Though hardly conscious of what
He was saying, His Holiness muttered a verse, ending with the words, “mati-krta-guna-
dosa mam vibhum na sprsanti — The meritorious and faulty doings of the intellect do
not touch me, who am all-pervading (that is, as per Vedanta, pervading everything by
virtue of being present everywhere, being present at all times and, being the very basis of
existence of everything, just as gold is of a golden ornament).” Who else but a jivanmukta
could have affirmed thus even while experiencing intense pain and being just semi-
conscious?
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CHAPTER 12

A Unique Bond

In a benedictory address delivered at Madurai in 1958, His Holiness spelt out the qualities
of a model disciple. He based His talk on a verse, the import of which is: “The ideal
disciple has a pure mind, resorts to the holy, has good conduct, is desirous of knowing
the Truth, is intent upon serving (his Guru), is free from vanity, greatly values offering
prostrations (to his Guru), waits for an opportune moment to pose his doubts (to his
Guru), is of controlled mind, is of regulated senses, is free from envy, has surrendered
(to the Guru), is possessed of faith in the Sastras, is successful in tests and is grateful
(to His Guru). Such a disciple is fit to be unconditionally taught what is desired.” These
attributes found fulfilment in His Holiness even when He was initiated into samnydsa in
1931.

He was ever prepared to serve His Guru in every possible way. It was customary in those
days to have an extended camp at the Durgamba Temple (near Sringeri) for the rathotsava
(Chariot Festival) there. During one such camp, the senior Jagadguru, who was somewhat
unwell, had retired for the night. Two attendants were sleeping just outside the door of
His room. One of them, Rama Sastry, awakened and told his companion, “The cold is
chilling my bones. | shall proceed to the boiler room to warm myself.” Saying so, he rolled
up his bed and retired to the boiler room, where the flames licking the water vessel
diffused warmth throughout the room. He lay down there and fell asleep. However, a
short catnap was all that he had, for the thought
of the senior Jagadguru’s illness nagged him. He

rose to check from his companion whether the The qualities of a model
senior Jagadguru had been asleep or had asked BeINeloJR{el [l RVl l=I\ RN I
for anything. Making his way in the darkness, he Holiness even

barely touched the one lying there, when the when He was initiated into
response, “What is it?” that he heard caused him samnyasa in 1931.

to freeze in astonishment. The voice was that of
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To His Holiness, who had
the status of a Jagadguru,
functioning as an attendant
to the senior Jagadguru
was not undignified; it was
a sacred privilege.

Even His Guru’s shadow
was sacrosanct for Him.
Not once in the
over two decades that
They were together
did He, even
inadvertently,
overstep His Guru.

His Holiness. Rama Sastry hastened to apologise
but was set at ease by His Holiness, who had taken
the other attendant’s place to Himself attend to
the senior Jagadguru’s needs, if any. To Him, who
had the status of a Jagadguru, functioning as an
attendant to His Guru was not undignified; it was
a sacred privilege.

Once, standing in for His Guru’s attendant, when
His Holiness held a large ceremonial umbrella over
the senior Jagadguru in the place of an attendant,
He stood with one leg off the ground. When later
asked about this, He clarified that He stood that
way for, otherwise, His foot would have touched
His Guru’s shadow that day. Even His Guru’s
shadow was sacrosanct for Him. His walk was swift,
almost a sprint, and His attendants had a hard time
keeping up with Him; the senior Jagadguru’s was

sedate. Yet, when accompanying the senior Jagadguru, not once in the over two decades
that They were together did He, even inadvertently, overstep His Guru. He once told me,
“It is not that | took care not to move ahead of Him; it was impossible and inconceivable
for me to do so.” Even before He learnt of them, He spontaneously followed to the letter
the injunctions, “The disciple must not cross over his
Guru’s shadow,” and, “When the Guru is walking, the
disciple should follow him (not move ahead of him).”

The following account of Sri D. S. Subbaramaiya, an
intimate disciple of the senior Jagadguru and His
Holiness and one led to spiritual consummation by
Them, illustrates how very respectfully His Holiness
conducted Himself towards His Guru; it also brings
out how the senior Guru looked upon His Holiness.

“In 1946, His Holiness once went to behold the senior
Jagadguru, taking me with Him. As He approached
the door of the senior Jagadguru’s room from one
side, He noticed that His Guru was reading a book.
Not only did His Holiness not enter, He did not even
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want to stand next to the door on the
side where He could be seen. Hence,
He walked round Sacchidananda Vilas
and tiptoed to the other side of the
door. He then moved slightly forward,
leaned, peeped in and, finding that
the senior Jagadguru was still reading,
immediately stepped back. Thereafter,
He stood motionless and silent. After
a few minutes, He again looked inside
as before and withdrew. About 15
minutes passed thus before the senior

Jagadguru chanced to notice Him on unexpectedly looking up prior to turning a page.

“Immediately, He called His Holiness in. He entered and respectfully submitted that | had
come for darsana. The senior Jagadguru rose, walked out of the room and began talking
with me. To enable us to converse in private, His Holiness moved out of earshot and
waited; the senior Jagadguru was scheduled to take a Vedanta class for His Holiness that
day. As He approached after some time to have a necessary word with His Guru about the
class, the senior Jagadguru told me, ‘The Guru is coming. Do namaskara. As instructed,
| prostrated before His Holiness. The senior Jagadguru and His Holiness then conversed
for a few minutes. Thereafter, His Holiness walked backwards till He was out of His
Guru’s range of sight; He was unwilling to turn His back towards His Guru. Such was His

reverence for His Guru. The
senior Jagadguru, on the
other hand, declared to me
as His Holiness was walking
backwards, ‘He is not just a
respectable samnyasin. He
is God incarnate.”

His Holiness desired to
follow the teaching that the
Sisya should not eat prior to
his Guru. Though the senior
Jagadguru partook of His
bhiksa late in the afternoon,
His Holiness consistently
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waited for Him to do so. He did this even though
a separate kitchen had been arranged for Him, so He was unwilling to turn His
that the time of His bhiksa could be independent back towards His Guru. Such
of that of His Guru. Later, out of concern for His was His reverence for His

Holiness’s health, the senior Jagadguru cancelled Guru. The senior Jagadguru,

the extra kitchen and Himself started going on the other hand, declared

for bhiksa earlier than before. Subsequently, to me as His Holiness was
the senior Jagadguru noticed one day that His walking backwards, “He
Holiness was mixing up all the food served to is not just a respectable

samnyasin. He is God

Him and then eating the mixture; He was doing /
incarnate.”

so to avoid giving any room for being influenced
by taste. The senior Jagadguru told Him that - Sri Subbaramaiya
what He was doing was unnecessary and that
He should eat His food in the normal fashion. His
Holiness obeyed.

His Holiness greatly valued samnyasa and particularly so since
He had been blessed with it by the senior Jagadguru, whom He
looked up to as the ideal samnydsin. He told me in May 1975,
“Two days before taking samnyasa, | had thought, ‘Dreams
are not under my control. Mistakes committed in them do not
resultin sin. Nevertheless, my renunciation should be so sincere
and firm that after being initiated into samnyasa, | should not
see myself in any dream as clad in white as | am now. | love
chanting the Gayatri-mantra. Yet, as Gayatri-japa is disallowed
for paramahamsa-samnyasins, | should not engage in it even
in my dreams from the day after tomorrow.” By God’s grace,
‘= till today, this has come to pass.” Upon taking samnyasa, He
aking decided that His body should be under His control and not vice
samnyasa that His versa and that He should be same-sighted towards the pairs of
bOC_jV should be under opposites such as heat and cold. Putting Himself to test, when
_H'S control and not winter was at its peak in 1931 (the year of His samnyasa), for
vice versa and th'at He a few nights, He spread a wet towel on the floor and slept on
should be same-sighted . L o
! it wearing just His loincloth. He somehow managed to keep
towards the pairs of . )

. this a secret from even His personal attendant. Thereafter, He

opposites such as heat . T
Sl repeated this every year for the next four years at Sringeri, one

year in Bengaluru, and few years in the 1940s.
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His Holiness was accommodated forsome timeinanindependent placein Narasimhavana.
One day, numerous ants, which made that their home, bit Him, giving rise to red welts
on His legs. He patiently tolerated the bites. This was repeated on the next few days. He
did not mention any of this to anybody and took no remedial measures either. So long
as the swellings were on His lower limbs and covered by His lower garment, the senior
Jagadguru did not notice them. One day, the ants bit His back. The senior Jagadguru
noticed the swellings when His Holiness did namaskara to Him during His morning
ahnika; this was because His Holiness had removed His upper garment, put it on the
floor and placed His danda on it, as He had been taught to do. The senior Jagadguru
ascertained what had happened, directed His Holiness to take proper care of His body
and arranged for Him to move back to Sacchidananda Vilas.

Over the years, the senior Jagadguru almost completely handed over to His Holiness the
presiding over of the traditional religious functions in the Matha. Yet, as His Holiness
had the conviction that His Guru’s presence at any rite would render it extraordinarily
hallowed, whenever one was to take place in the Matha, He approached His Guru and
sought to know whether He would grace it. If the senior Jagadguru agreed to come,
His Holiness got ready far in advance and awaited His Guru; He also made all the
arrangements for the latter. More often than not, the senior Jagadguru was disinclined
to come. His Holiness then submitted, “If | can be of any assistance to Your Holiness, | am
ready.” The senior Jagadguru would ask Him to conduct the function and His Holiness
would do the needful. Even if His Holiness saw His Guru at a distance and moving in a
direction away from Himself, He promptly stood up and waited till the senior Jagadguru
passed out of His sight.

His Holiness regarded the life of His Guru as truly inspiring and any thought of Him as
purifying. To enable others too to think of His Guru and derive inspiration from His life,
His Holiness spoke about Him in several of His public discourses. The following is culled
from a few of His Holiness’s talks in Kannada and in Tamil about His Guru.

Yo Ve

It is said that a samnyasin should not touch any valuable with desire. As for my Guru, He
not only did not keep with Himself anything presented to Him, He did not so much as
touch it, even without desire. He said, “Were | to touch anything of worldly value made
available to me, somebody may wonder whether this samnyasin felt any wish for it. Why
should | unnecessarily cause such a disturbance in anyone’s mind?” Not once did He visit
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the Matha’s vault and see the precious
objects there. He did not even peruse the
book listing the items stored there. He
never enquired about the celebrations in
the Matha. When the officials informed
Him, He listened in silence. Only if He was
told that His presence was needed for a
function, He took part in it. His detachment
was so intense that though He was the
pontiff of a big Matha, He did not even
have the idea that He lived there.

Though absolutely dispassionate towards
all worldly and heavenly enjoyments, He
had limitless motherly love towards every
one of His disciples. Whenever He went
to a temple, He unfailingly prayed to the
Lord for the well-being of all and for their
acquiring enlightenment and liberation.
When it came to religious practices and
activities relating to the welfare of the
devotees, He acted in accordance with the following words of the Bhagavadgita: “O
Partha, there is nothing in the three worlds that |

must do; nor is there anything to be attained that
has not been attained. Yet, | engage in actions. O
Partha, if | do not, without laziness, ever engage in
action, men would, in all matters, follow My path.”
Keeping others in mind, He opined, “You all have
labelled me a great pontiff. Regardless of whether
or not | should perform worship and obtain the fruit
thereof, what would you say if | were to abstain
from worship? ‘Even he does not perform any
worship. Why should we engage in what he himself
is not interested in carrying out?’ Therefore, | must
perform worship. You people will then act likewise,
thinking, ‘The great one engages in worship. It may
or may not be necessary for him but we need it. So
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“You have all labelled me
a great pontiff. Regardless
of whether or not |
should perform worship
and obtain the fruit
thereof, what would you
say if | were to abstain
from worship? ‘Even he
does not perform any
worship. Why should we
engage in what he himself
is not interested in
carrying out?’ Therefore, |
must perform worship.”

- The senior Jagadguru
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we must carry it out.”” That my Guru was a Mahatman (great soul) has been known by
experience to those who were His contemporaries and beheld Him.

When the accumulated good tendencies of numerous previous lives bear fruitin a person
in a particular life, that person becomes a mahapurusa. Such was the case of my Guru.
His introversion did not stem subsequent to His taking samnyadsa, studying the sastras
and practising spiritual disciplines. It manifested right from His childhood. The following
two incidents testify to this.

As a boy He used to go to the market to make purchases for His parents. Neither was
He interested in seeing things in the shops and the street nor did He have the money to
purchase more than what was essential. While setting out, He used to mentally chant
the Mikapaficasati (five hundred verses on Goddess Kamaksi by Miuka-kavi). It even
happened that He became so absorbed in the verses and their import that He forgot His
surroundings and the purpose of His setting out. By the time He realised where He was,
He was outside the limits of Sringeri.

On every pradosa, He used to sit in the evening at the base of a pillar in the Vidyasankara
Temple in the Matha and perform mental worship of

Lord Siva as described in the Sivamdanasapija-stotra

and the Mrtyufijayamanasapija-stotra. With an

unwavering mind, He used to mentally contemplate

on the Lord, invoke Him, offer Him a seat, worship His

feet and, duly, go on to feeding the Lord, performing

arati to Him and doing namaskara.

Since His youth, My Guru had the practice of
performing the pardayana (recital) of the Ramayana.
A verse to be chanted prior to the reading conveys:
“Salute Hanuman, the destroyer of ogres, who remains
with His palms joined above His head and with His
eyes brimming with tears of joy wherever there is the
glorification of Rama.” All of us have read this verse
about Hanuman and know its meaning. Still, we hardly
believe that Hanuman comes at the start of our recital
and leaves on its completion. On the other hand, the
position of my Guru was unique. He reflected, “It is
improper that Hanuman should sit on the ground
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and listen while we sit on a wooden plank
and read. He should be offered respect and a
seat to occupy.” Having thought thus, my Guru
decided, “As | myself sit on a wooden plank, |
should place one for Him.” Accordingly, my Guru
used to place a wooden plank for Hanuman to
occupy and then did the Ramayana-parayana,
with the feeling that Hanuman was actually
seated there. What faith He had!

He was intensely devoted to Jagadguru Sri
Saccidananda Sivabhinava Nrsimha Bharati
Mahasvamin, His Guru. As a boy, His longing
was, “How wonderful it would be if | could
somehow have the Guru’s padukds in my
house and worship them!” If we have faith and
devotion and God is merciful to us, what we
wish automatically becomes fulfilled. Likewise, by virtue of His faith, my Guru obtained
the padukas without any effort on His part.

As a brahmacarin, my Guru had the opportunity to learn Sanskrit as a student of the
Matha’s pathasala. If anything was taught to Him once, it was sufficient; He grasped it.
If He heard anything once, He could recall it accurately. In those days, books were hard
to come by in Sringeri. My Guru copied down, in excellent handwriting, the contents
of several books. He studied with deep sincerity. With His performance, He secured a
double promotion every year. After reaching the fourth class of the Matha’s pathasala,
apart from studying, He began to teach students of the lower classes. His teacher used

to tell Him, “You must take classes. You teach well.” ) :
If we have faith

When my Paramaguru felt that His body had served its purpose, IRCHSKEYe(l)
He sent word for my Guru, who was at Bengaluru (having been and God is

sent there to study Mimamsa). He made the resolve, “I shall give merciful to .us,
samnydsa to Him.” My Guru asked no questions. “My Guru has what we wish
commanded me to come to Sringeri. Hence, | must go” — this was
all that He felt. “What about my parents? What will be my future?”
— no such thoughts arose in His mind. On the way to Sringeri, He
learnt that His Guru had shed the body. Someone else in the place STl
of my Guru might have felt, “He Himself in response to whose

automatically
becomes
fulfilled.”
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command | am being taken is not there. What is the necessity now to proceed to Sringeri
for samnyasa?” However, my Guru had no such thoughts about carrying out the directive
of His Guru. His mind was as undisturbed as that of a yogin in samadhi.

My Guru did not have the opportunity to be initiated into samnyasa through the actual
touch of His Guru’s hand. However, there is manasa-diksa, or initiation of a disciple by the
Guru through just the mind. Bhagavatpada imparted the fourteen vidyads to His disciple,
Giri, just by the thought, “May He get this knowledge.” If the Guru does have the power
to so bless and does so, sakti descends on the disciple from the Guru and the disciple
obtains knowledge. My Paramaguru had indeed made the
resolve to impart samnyasa to My Guru and make Him His
successor in the Pitha.

After becoming a samnyasin, my Guru arranged for the
foremost of Nyadya scholars, Virupaksha Sastry, to take
lessons for Him. He learnt Advaita-vedanta in the mornings
and the Nyaya-sastra in the afternoons. He completed His
studies of both the sastras in just three years. In the line
of pontiffs of the Sringeri Math, there flowed a torrent of
knowledge and austerity and He added to it.

My Guru had the conviction that every single word of
Bhagavatpada is immaculate and significant. He took into
consideration every word of Bhagavatpada and, having
analysed it, spelt out its actual purport. He expounded the
scripture strictly in accordance with the commentary of
Bhagavatpada. He effortlessly integrated into His teaching
of Vedanta, the pertinent points from Nyaya, Mimamsa,
and Yoga. One approach to teaching the Vedanta-sastra
is to explain a text line-by-line; another is to expound the
lines along with one’s experience. The latter characterised His teaching; it gave great joy.

Whenever He delineated scriptural intricacies in a vidvat-sadas (assembly of scholars),
such as when He expounded the Anandamayadhikarana of the Brahmasitras at
Mysuru, all the scholars were struck with awe. Even though my Guru was a consummate
scholar, He did not have the slightest egoism. During the annual vidvat-sadas, if anyone
presented something new, He would be immensely pleased. Even if He saw an iota of
knowledge in another, He experienced great happiness.
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When my Guru arrived in Tamil Nadu during His tour, He was not familiar with Tamil.
Nonetheless, purely out of gracious consideration for the wishes of the devotees, He
agreed to address them in Tamil. To the amazement of all, including the Matha’s officials
who were apprehensive, He straightaway spoke flawlessly and eloquently in chaste Tamil.
Thereafter, throughout His tour of Tamil Nadu, He conversed and discoursed freely in
Tamil like a native speaker. Moreover, even scholars opined that many of His words and
expressions conveyed that He was quite conversant with classical Tamil literature and
with the nuances of modern Tamil.

Many approached my Guru to have their sufferings quelled.
“His knowledge, At times, some failed to voice their wishes and left with
qualities such the thought, “I was unable to put across my problem.”
as mind control, Yet, by the time they left for home, they found that their
establishment in suffering had ceased. Such was the direct experience of
the Atman and relief of even those who did not state their problems to
compassion to Him. Often, my Guru gave fitting replies to disciples even
before they posed any query or request to Him. One day,
after He had given clarifications thus and permitted the
devotees to leave, |, who was then a young boy, asked Him,
“How is it, O Mahdasvamin, that when people come to You
to seek clarifications, You provide the answers even before
they present their requests?” He replied, “There is nothing
to it. God is the one who impels me and | respond in
accordance with His wishes. Such being the case, whatever
- His Holiness is in His mind automatically comes to my mouth. | need
to make no effort.” He was a mahatman who had attained
such perfection. He never took credit for the benefits
experienced by devotees. He invariably maintained that the grace of God was what
was responsible.

beings serve as

ideals. He led His
life in such a way
that there accrued
the welfare of the
world.”

If anyone approached Him seeking knowledge, My Guru imparted knowledge to that
person. He even had the capacity to straightaway confer the direct realisation of the
Supreme on a duly competent disciple. Enlightened mahatmans too came to pay their
respects to Him. He looked upon them as non-different from Himself. His knowledge,
qualities such as mind control, establishment in the Atman and compassion to beings
serve as ideals. He led His life in such a way that there accrued the welfare of the world.

Yo Yoo
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His Holiness told me, “My Guru used to apply some dry vibhiti on His forehead even
before He went for His morning bath. Never have | known Him to remove or adjust His
upper garment even if it was very hot and He was seated in private. He never moved out
of His normal position to near the window to get some breeze on a sultry day. ‘I shall
remain where | am. If the wind blows here let it. Else let it not,” He remarked.”
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His Holiness devotedly
and impeccably served
His Guru not
only in normal
circumstances but

also in extremely trying

ones, where patience,

dexterity and tact were
a sine qua non.

190

Inresponse toaqueryastohow Bhagavatpada
arrived at and selected Sringeri for His
Matha, the senior Jagadguru said, “Does not
the Lord know the locations of the places He
has created?” Years later, when the same
question was posed by someone else to His
Holiness, He replied, “Bhagavatpada must
have been travelling freely. There would have
been some forest path leading to Sringeri and
so He could have come here. Having come,
He felt impressed with the place and chose it
to establish a Matha.” This did not mean that
He did not give great weightage to His Guru’s
views. It was, in fact, the senior Jagadguru
who encouraged His Holiness to take a free
and independent line of thinking in keeping
with the need to cater to a changing and less
orthodox society. To His Holiness, every single
word of His Guru was significant. He even felt
that it may be years before He could fully
appreciate some statements of the senior
Jagadguru.

His Holiness devotedly and impeccably
served His Guru not only in normal
circumstances but also in extremely trying
ones, where patience, dexterity and tact
were a sine qua non. After 1928, the senior
Jagadguru entered now and then,
for varying durations, a state that has
been referred to in some books on Him
as ‘antarmukha-avastha (inward-turned
condition).” During these periods, His
behaviour was unpredictable. Punctilious as
He used to be in all His actions and habits,
this change to an uncommon state was



quite beyond the comprehension of many. There was no regularity in His bath or meals.
Time did not count with Him and the ordinary rules of conduct, worldly or spiritual, were
no more for Him. It would happen that for days together He remained without bath,
food or sleep but the lack of these did not seem to affect Him, for He was ever beaming
with spiritual lustre; His body, however, showed signs of emaciation. Though otherwise
very polite, He could be brutally outspoken at these times; His innate compassion
and preternatural insight did manifest when called for. The following extract from
R. Krishnaswami lyer’s Saint of Sringeri is germane:

Yo Yeoe

As His plane of experience was beyond the grasp of the common men, various rumours
became afloat about him. A high personage at Mysore (Mysuru), hearing them, desired
to know the exact truth and deputed a doctor to go to Sringeri for this purpose. The
doctor accordingly went to Sringeri, was observing His Holiness (the senior Jagadguru)
every morning and evening and was writing to Mysore daily. It so happened that | also
went to Sringeri at that time and stayed in the same building as the doctor and we
became slightly acquainted with each other. One afternoon, he said, “I think of making
His Holiness speak today.”

K: Did His Holiness then not speak to you all these days?

Doctor: No.

K: You are posting letters to Mysore daily.

Doctor: Yes. | have been asked to do so.

K: If His Holiness had not even spoken to you, what can you possibly write about?
Doctor: | have been writing, “His Holiness continues in the same state.”

K: If you say “same state,” you must have described it at least in your first letter.

Doctor: No doubt so. But what | stated in my first letter was only this, “l am not able to
understand His Holiness’s state.” In my subsequent letters | am simply referring to the
“same state.”
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K: You intend to make His Holiness talk today and find out the exact nature of His state?
Doctor: | hope to.

K: Is there any objection to my accompanying you?

Doctor: Nothing. You may come. | have asked the local doctor also to come.

Accordingly, all the three of us went to the other side of the river. The building was open.
We entered and found His Holiness sitting in his usual posture. His eyes were certainly
open but he did not seem to be seeing anything. Just when we entered he signed to us
to sit down and then relapsed into his mood. The doctor had no mind to disturb him. We
sat on like this for a fairly long time and finally realising that the sun was about to set, we
stood up. His Holiness looked up. Availing himself of this opportunity, the doctor began
to speak.

Doctor: | think of returning home tomorrow.
H.H.: Is your business here finished?

It was a very simple question. But if the doctor had given an answer, “Yes,” it would not
have been true, for he did not succeed at all in the mission that took him to Sringeri;
if he had said, “No,” he must necessarily assign some other justification for his leaving
Sringeri. Thus this question placed him in a dilemma.

Doctor: It is long since | left my home. | desire to return.
H.H.: Yes. You may do so.

Then we all prostrated and just when we were coming out, His Holiness asked the doctor,
“Is your mother in good health?” The doctor said, “Yes.” Then His Holiness nodded His
head and we all came out. It is no doubt true that the doctor did make His Holiness
talk but | was unable to gauge what exactly the doctor learned from that talk about the
nature of His Holiness’s state. We were on our way back to our lodgings.

Doctor: Did you notice how mischievous His Holiness was?

| did not only not understand his question but thought it highly improper. But as our
acquaintance was only slight, | kept down my resentment and coolly replied to him.

K: I did not notice any mischief.
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Doctor: Have | no wife, no children, no brothers and sisters? He did not enquire till now
about the welfare of any of them and today he asks only about my mother. Is it not
mischievous?

K: 1 do not see anything mischievous in it. Evidently he asked about the oldest member
of your family.

Doctor: Four or five years back my mother was suffering from some abdominal trouble.
| myself treated her and had her treated by eminent doctors but without any effect. |
had to go to Sringeri just about that time and my mother said, “Now that you are going
to Sringeri, can you not mention my ailment to His Holiness and get from him relief for
me?” When | came here | told this to His Holiness and He was pleased to give me a small
packet of Vibhuti and asked me to mix it with tepid water and smear it on her stomach.
As soon as | returned home, | had it done and since then she is free from that trouble.

K: It is just because of this past incident His Holiness asked you about your mother. What
is wrong with it?

Doctor: | do not say that there is anything wrong in the remark by itself. From the very
guestion whether my business has been finished, it is quite apparent that His Holiness is
aware of the nature of the business which has brought me here. This can be inferred also
from the fact that He has not till now asked me why | have come here. The real import
of his question is this, “Your mother had abdominal trouble. Though you were a doctor,
you could not cure her. You took from me Vibhuti for her. Now you have come here to
treat me. Is it not so?”

Y Yo

The following is extracted from S. A. Karthik’s English translation of S. K. Ramachandra
Rao’s Kannada book ‘Sarada-pithada-manikya (The Ruby of the Sharada Peetham)’ on
Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati Mahasvamin.

Yo e

Among those extremely concerned about the apparent deterioration in the health
of the Jagadguru was then Maharaja of Mysore, Nalvadi Krishnaraja Wodeyar. After
a lot of thought and deliberation, He instructed the then Diwan, Mirza Ismail, to
investigate the matter and take necessary steps, if any, required. The Diwan wrote
to the Chief Medical Officer of the Government Mental Hospital (which later came
to be known as National Institute of Mental Health and Neuro Sciences - NIMHANS)
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ordering that a competent doctor should immediately proceed to Sringeri, check
on the health of the senior Jagadguru and submit a report. Renowned Psychologist
Dr. M. V. Govindaswamy, who was the Chief Administrative Officer of the Hospital, along
with Dr. C. K. Vasudeva Rao, then Head of the Dept. of Psychology, went to Sringeri
to examine the health of the senior Jagadguru and advise suitable remedy. The two
doctors made several trips to Sringeri and submitted reports to the Government. They
faced difficulty in directly contacting the senior Jagadguru or examining Him from close
quarters, since the Jagadguru was in ‘antarmukha’. They had to observe Him from a
distance, talk to Math officials, His attendants and close acquaintances to gather as
much information as they could to identify the ‘disease’ and any remedy that was there.
Another difficulty they had was in giving some ‘curative’ medicines since the Jagadguru
was not accessible by anybody. Even mixing the medicines in His food did not work since
if any medicine were to be mixed with the food, the Jagadguru would not take any food
for several days. Hence, the doctors had several challenges in assessing the nature of the
‘disease’ and provide any medication.

In one of the trips, Dr. Govindaswamy had stayed for a week in Sringeri. Since the
Jagadguru was in ‘antarmukha’ for the last several days, he could not get direct access
to the Jagadguru. On the eve of his return to Bangalore, quite unexpectedly, the
Jagadguru came out of his seclusion and became
‘normal’. Dr. Govindaswamy attempted to have
the darsana posing as any other devotee. Being
an atheist and not wanting to give away his real
intent and identity, the doctor perfunctorily stood
there with folded palms. The doctor submitted,
“I shall be leaving for Bangalore tomorrow with Your
permission.” Looking at him, the senior Jagadguru
queried, “Why? Have you finished your work
here?” The tone of His enquiry suggested that the
Jagadguru knew the purpose of his visit. The doctor
was in a quandary. Answering ‘Yes’ would imply that

The Jagadguru himself
broke the silence and
with a smile, said, “So are
you done with examining
me? Is this an illness
which falls within your
medical specialization?”
As if answering Himself,
He continued, “This is

my fate and | have to
experience this. After all
what can one do? You
may please leave; may
God bless you” and gave
phala-mantraksta.
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the he knew the nature of the ‘disease’. By ‘No’ it
would mean that he was leaving without finishing
his work. Undecided about the answer, the doctor
remained silent. The Jagadguru Himself broke the
silence and, with a smile, said, “So are you done
with examining me? Is this an illness which falls
within your medical specialization?” As if answering



Himself, He continued, “This is my fate and | have to experience this. After all, what can
one do? You may please leave. May God bless you” and gave phala-mantraksata. On
hearing this, both the doctor and the Matha staff there were flabbergasted. Only a few
people knew of the presence of the doctor and the purpose of his visit and none of them
had informed this to the Jagadguru.

Subsequently, over the next few days, the doctor stayed at Sringeri and had several
opportunities to have the darsana of the senior Jagadguru. The doctor did not notice
anything strange in the behaviour or any incoherence in the speech of the senior
Jagadguru. He could not find any evidence to support the claim of some that the
Jagadguru was mentally afflicted.

In connection with that particular interaction with the Jagadguru, there was another
aspect that Dr. Govindaswamy alluded to. To remain inconspicuous, the doctor
had applied ‘vibhati’ on his forehead, since most of the devotees were wearing
them and he thought that wearing vibhiti would please the Jagadguru. While giving
‘phala-mantraksata’, the Jagadguru asked, “Why have you applied vibhiti? Are you not
a madhva (belonging to a Vaisnava sect)?” For this too, Dr. Govindaswamy remained
silent. The Jagadguru said, “You should not give up your practices to please others. | am
pleased only when you remain true to your practices.”

Returning from Sringeri, the doctor submitted a detailed report on his findings and
concluded that the senior Jagadguru had no symptoms of mental affliction and that
the science of psychology had not yet developed to the extent of assessing the state of
mind of such an exalted being. The doctor who till then had no religious and spiritual
inclinations, impressed by the divine presence of the Jagadguru, turned a new leaf.
Having no knowledge of Sanskrit so far, directed by the Svamin, he started studying
Sanskrit and gained sufficient proficiency to be able read the Gita and Upanisads in
Sanskrit texts and comprehend their import. He added the missing spiritual dimension
to his life, solely due to the blessings and guidance of the Jagadguru.

{When Ramachandra Rao, the author of ‘Sarada-pithada-manikya, was the Head of the
Department of Clinical Psychology at what is currently known as NIMHANS, Bengaluru,
he got access to the medical reports that were submitted by Dr. Govindaswamy. He also
obtained several details that were not in the reports directly from Dr. Govindaswamy.
From the above account, it is clear that apart from Dr. Govindaswamy, Dr. C. K. Vasudeva
Rao, then Head of the Dept. of Psychology, was deputed to examine the senior Jagadguru
and report to Mysuru. Vasudeva Rao must have been the unnamed doctor referred to in
R. Krishnaswami lyer’s Saint of Sringeri.}
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The senior Jagadguru’s love for His Holiness
The senior Jagadguru’s love was so intense that even during His moods of
for His Holiness was so intense seclusion, He spoke to His Holiness if His Holiness
that even during His moods sought any essential clarification from Him. His

of seclusion He spoke to His Holiness told me, “He did not take exception to
Holiness if His Holiness sought

any essential clarification from
Him. His Holiness told me, “He

my meeting Him occasionally during His periods
of seclusion and even spoke to me. However,
His words were few and He did not permit any

did not take exception to my
meeting Him occasionally
during His periods of seclusion
and even spoke to me.
However, His words were few
and He did not permit any
prolonged conversation.”

prolonged conversation.” The senior Jagadguru
sometimes foretold the dawn of His unusual
state. For instance, on an occasion, He told a
disciple that His classes would not continue the
next day. In fact they did not, for He had become
withdrawn. During His state of withdrawal
from normalcy, the senior Jagadguru had to be
particularly cared for. In general, the Matha staff
feared to approach Him since His reactions were unpredictable. Sometimes, He used to
go away to the river bank and people feared that He might accidentally drown Himself
or move away into the forest. None dared to approach Him, for He would drive them

away. It was only His Holiness who was able to bring His Guru back to the safe interior
of Sacchidananda Vilas. His Holiness told me how He did so once when His Guru was
walking away into the forest.

The senior Jagadguru (observing His Holiness approaching Him): Why have you come?
His Holiness: To request Your Holiness to come back to Sacchidananda Vilas.

The senior Jagadguru: Why should | come back?

His Holiness: | feel lonely without Your Holiness.

The senior Jagadguru: Why? Others are there.

His Holiness: | feel thoroughly comfortable only with Your Holiness.

The senior Jagadguru: Very well.

Saying so, He accompanied His Holiness back to Sacchidananda Vilas. His Holiness
concluded His account by telling me, ‘Since He responded to my requests to return,
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some humorously remarked that | was like a
she-elephant that could calm down a tusker

in rut.”

There were even times when the senior
Jagadguru’s transition from the normal to
the other state took place rather abruptly.
One hot day, when He was crossing the
temporary wooden bridge across the Tunga
to proceed to Goddess Saradd’s temple,
He started casting off His clothes, and walked on, naked and nonchalant. As soon as
His Holiness learnt of this, He picked up spare clothes for His Guru and also the senior
Jagadguru’s padukas (wooden sandals) and ran behind Him. By the time He caught up
with His Guru, the latter had rapidly traversed much of the main street of Sringeri. On

seeing Him, the senior Jagadguru’s first words were,
“Why are you not wearing padukas?” He was unaware
that He was naked but could not brook His Holiness’s
bare feet treading the hot path! His Holiness told Him,
“How could | wear them when Your Holiness is walking
barefoot?” The senior Jagadguru then acceded to His
Holiness’s request and donned the clothes that His
Holiness gave Him and wore His pddukas. By this time,
an attendant came running with His Holiness’s padukas.
Insisting that His Holiness wear them pronto, the senior
Jagadguru returned to Sacchidananda Vilas with His
dear disciple. There, He again became indifferent to
His body and surroundings and remained so for days,
but in the confines of a room. | learnt all this from His
Holiness. He firmly opined that as the senior Jagadguru
was a jivanmukta par excellence, neither His normal
behaviour nor His abnormal state affected His steady
abidance in the Supreme Brahman in any way.

The senior Jagadguru disapproved of devotees
preferring to have His darsana to that of His Holiness.
Hence, when they came to have His darsana, He would
ask, “Have you had the Guru’s darsana?” If they replied
in the negative or equivocally, He promptly directed

His Holiness firmly
opined that as the
senior Jagadguru
was a jivanmukta par
excellence, neither
His normal behaviour
nor His abnormal
state affected His
steady abidance
in the Supreme
Brahman in any way.
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them to His Holiness. Quite often, He instructed them to take mantrédksata also from
His Holiness. Some Matha staff and disciples have reliably reported that the senior
Jagadguru said that His Holiness was divine and that He often found some reason
or the other to stand up when His Holiness came or even to open a door to let His
Holiness pass.

In 1936 it was decided, at Srikanta Sastry’s instance, that His Holiness proceed to
Bengaluru and stay there for some time, concentrating on His study of Tarka under
Ramachandra Sastry. His Holiness travelled to Bengaluru by car, with a day’s halt en
route. At Bengaluru, as recalled by Ramappaiah who was His Holiness’s cook at that
time, His Holiness used to be up around 4:30 in the morning and, after performing
asanas and pranayama and taking a bath, performed ahnika and meditation ftill
9:00 a.m. Thereafter, He used to engage Himself assiduously in His studies till His
afternoon bath, anusthdana and bhiksa at 1:00 p.m. Then He used to again refer to
His books till evening when He used to go for a stroll in the grounds of the Shankara
Math. He used to take a bath after that and perform His evening ahnika. He did paja
in private twice to a Siva-linga made of crystal. Ramachandra Sastry took classes for
Him every day.

Within a few months of His Holiness’s return (in 1937), the senior Jagadguru had
to proceed, in 1938, to Bengaluru for performing the kumbhabhiseka of the temple
for Goddess Sarada in the Shankara Math there. His Holiness travelled to Bengaluru,
attended the consecration and returned to Sringeri shortly thereafter. The senior
Jagadguru proceeded to Kalady and observed the caturmasya of 1939 there and
returned to Sringeri in 1940. He did not undertake any tour thereafter. In the periods
when His Holiness was at Bengaluru and the senior Jagadguru at Sringeri and when His
Holiness was at Sringeri and His Guru was on tour, They exchanged letters frequently;
in all, His Holiness penned 27 missives and the senior Jagadguru, 22. Here are the
scanned versions and the English translations of some of them. All the letters were
penned in the Sanskrit language; the senior Jagadguru used the Telugu script, while
His Holiness used the devanagari script or the Kannada script.

PAGK A
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1. The following letter was penned by His Holiness on 25% July 1937 at
Bengaluru; the senior Jagadguru was at Sringeri.

Om namah

25.7.1937: Kalyana-nagara (Bengaluru)

(Verse:) | daily prostrate with devotion
before the pre-eminent Guru’s feet,
which are merciful to devotees and an
infinitesimal exposure to the lustre of
which always destroys the entire darkness
(of ignorance) of the mind.

| am keeping good health. To the extent

that time permits and to the best of my

ability, 1 am revising the texts studied

earlier. In deference to the directive

of Your Holiness, | am learning the

Mimamsa work Apadevi (Nydya-prakasa

: of Apadeva), from Mahamahopadhyaya

A e W e Ry Vaidyanatha Sastry. | experienced extreme

- delight on hearing about the greatly

improved physical condition of Your

glorious Holiness. On the full moon day of

asadha (24™ July, 1937), | took, in keeping with tradition, the caturmasya-sankalpa (the

resolve to stay in a place for the duration of the caturmadsya) at the temple of Sankara-

bhagavatpada. Offering my salutations many times, | humbly and repeatedly submit that

I may be enabled to have the darsana of Your exalted Holiness even before Navaratri. All

is well here by the grace of the Lord of the universe. | request Your venerable Holiness to
kindly pen an epistle about Your Holiness’s caturmasya.

(Verse:) By means of numerous unassailable arguments destructive of opposing schools
of thought, He drove away all the Buddhists, who had internal divisions and had taken
possession of the earth, coveted by the asuras, and restored it to its pristine state. May
He, our pre-eminent preceptor of Advaita, Sankara, who is the sun to the lotuses of the
Vedas and is of the image of Daksinamarti, confer happiness on those who are in dread
of samsara.

Everything is propitious.
PA QA g ¢
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2. The following letter was written by the
senior Jagadguru from Sringeri to His
Holiness who was at Bengaluru.

Salutations to the glorious Guru.

May the recollections made of the glorious Narayana, preceded by cogitation of the
unity between the inner Self and Brahman manifest well with regard to the glorious
young king of ascetics. My heart rejoiced on knowing from your letter about your good
physical health, your exposition of the import of the text ‘Satakoti’ in the Vidvat-sadas
and your having got your disciple to talk on ‘avacchedakata’. There is no doubt that
this year’s sabha shall progress well. The gathering of scholars does serve to engender
interest in the study of the sastras. Usually, many congregate. | bless that by the grace
of Sri-Sarada-Candramaulivara, you have the proficiency to make all the assembled
scholars experience incomparable delight (by your exposition). By the grace of the Guru
(the 33" pontiff), | am well here. Thus is one’s own good.

Yo e
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3. The following letter was penned by His
Holiness on 21 September, 1938 at Sringeri;

the senior Jagadguru was then in Bengaluru.

Om
Bhadrapada-krsna-ekadasr (Sringeri)

(Verse:) My salutation to the ascetic whose mind is absorbed in consciousness and the
lustre of whose feet destroys the blinding darkness of avidya.

Having seen the epistle graced by the worshipful Acdarya (Preceptor, the senior Jagadguru),
my mind decidedly became profusely joyful. The Ganapati-(Vakyartha-Vidvat-)Sadas
was greatly enjoyed by the scholars. | eagerly beseech directives from Your Worshipful
Holiness about the observances to be followed by me during the Navaratri festivities. |
deem myself to be well by the grace of the foremost Acarya. | await an epistle with Your
Holiness’s instructions.

Everything is propitious.

One having the feet of the pre-eminent Acdrya as refuge.

PGk 4 ¢
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4. The following letter was penned by the senior Jagadguru in Bengaluru and was His
reply to the above-mentioned letter of His Holiness.

Salutations to the glorious Guru.

May the recollections made of the glorious Narayana preceded by cogitation of the
unity between the inner Self and Brahman manifest well with regard to the glorious
young king of ascetics. Presently, having known from your letter and that of the scholar
Ramachandra Sastry regarding your exposition of the import of the sastra in the sabha,
| am extremely pleased.

In the Navaratri festival which is at hand, conduct yourself in such a way that there
is not even an iota of strain on your body, by taking recourse, without laxity, to food,
sleep, etc., at the appropriate times. As done last year, having completed the Siva-paja,
etc., by 8:30 in the morning, entering the temple of the holy Goddess and worshipping
there till 10 o’clock, proceeding to the river and worshipping the same followed by
darsana of the Gurus at the samadhis and completing the afternoon anusthdna, you
must complete bhiksa by 1 o’clock. This year, let there not be excessive japa and the like.
As before, proceeding to the temple at 8:30 in the night and completing diparadhana
by 10 o’clock, you should quickly resort to comfortable sleep. At this age (of yours), this
much is sufficient.

People who have assembled there attain undiminishing good by being devoted to the
mother, father and the Guru and acting in accordance with injunctions, such as, “Revere
the mother as a god.” What need is there to write more in this regard to you who, by the
performance of appropriate anusthana, are devoutly resolved in conferring higher good
upon all?

At the time of having darsana at the samadhis, chant the Guruparampara-stuti, the ten
peace invocations and also the Daksinamdrti-stotra.

All is auspicious.

(Verse:) O Goddess! O Ocean of mercy! Give firm belief in the performance of the
appropriate sva-dharma and the necessary physical strength for achieving that end.
Further, confer long life, fame, total disinterest in the path of sin, the company of the
holy and the hearing of holy stories. Having given these, O beloved of Brahma, quickly
give knowledge and a pure mind.

Salutations to the glorious Mother, Sarada.

Yo e
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5. The following letter was penned by His Holiness on 1% February, 1939
at Sringeri; the senior Jagadguru was then in Bengaluru:

Om
Magha-suddha-ekadasi (Sringeri)
om.

(Verse:) Bowing low with humility, the
disciple-bee gently touches, with constant
faith, the celebrated Guru’s feet that are
lotuses with the nectar of mercy.

All is well. By Your Holiness’s grace, | am
well here. | received, a few days back, the
epistle graced by Your glorious Holiness.
Having read it, and coming to know of the
tidings, | felt very happy. Having accorded
focus to the study of the sastra and to
the duties ordained for a samnyasin, |
am decidedly profusely happy and free
from mental and physical discomforts.
The study of (the Nydya work) Sakti-vada
will be concluding soon. Learning of the
indisposition of his mother, Veda-brahma-
Sri Ramachandra Sastry has gone to his
native village to attend to her medical
treatment. Currently, | have with me one pair of spectacles, prescribed to ward off the
discomfort in my eyes. Noting that managing with just this pair of (dark) power glasses all
the time is difficult, | have written to Veda-brahma-sri Srikanta Sastry about my requiring
another pair of glasses too.

One desirous of beholding the worshipful Acdrya and having the feet of the pre-eminent
Acarya as refuge.

Yo Ve
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6. The following letter was penned by His Holiness on 21 February,
1939 at Sringeri; the senior Jagadguru was then in Bengaluru.

Om
Phalguna-suddha-pratipat (Sringeri)

Oom. Having  performed  sastanga-
namaskara (full prostration) at the lotus
feet of the pre-eminent Acdrya, | humbly
submit as follows:

All is well. By the grace of the pre-eminent
Acadrya, as of today, | am in good health
and of contented mind. Veda-brahma-
Sri Ramachandra Sastry arrived here on
dvadasi (16 February).lam lookinginto the
‘Savyabhichdra’ and ‘Sadmanya-nirukti’ texts
(of the Nyaya-sastra) with the scholars. On
sivaratri (that was on 18™ February 1939),
| worshipped Lord Mallikarjuna on the hill
(that is, the linga at the Malahanikaresvara
Temple) dedicatedly in the morning as per
the tradition and, at night, | performed
$ata-rudra-abhiseka (abhiseka with the chanting of the Vedic Sri-Rudra a hundred times)
to the linga that | worship daily. The chariot-festival (of Malahanikaresvara, conducted
that year on 19™ February) also went on well, as per procedure.

During the forthcoming Durgamba-festival (the chariot-festival at the Durga Temple near
Sringeri, due that year on 28" February, 1939), should I go to the Durga Temple or not?
If | should go, when should | go and, having gone there, what all should | do? In this
matter, the revered Acdrya is the authority. | am looking forward to an epistle (of Your
Holiness) with directives. The above-mentioned is my humble submission. Everything is
propitious.

One desirous of beholding the worshipful Acdrya and having the feet of the pre-eminent
Acarya as refuge.

Yo e
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| 7. The following letter written by the senior Jagadguru on 7.7.1939 at
Kalady; His Holiness was at Sringeri.

Page 1
Page 2

Salutations to the glorious Guru.

(Verse:) I salute the lineage of Gurus commencing with Sadasiva, having Sankardacarya in
the middle and ending with my Guru.

(Verse:) | repeatedly bow to the divinities Kesava and Sarkara who appeared as

Badardayana and Sankardcdrya and authored the Brahma-sitras and the commentary
thereon.

May the recollections made of the glorious Narayana, preceded by cogitation of the

unity between the inner Self and Brahman manifest well with regard to the glorious
young king of ascetics.
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Presently, by the compassion of the glorious Guru (the 33 pontiff), | am well. Unimpeded
joy is being experienced by me having known from the previous two epistles written by
you and by the letter of Brahmasri (Ramachandra) Sastry that your body is healthy and
that studies are going on without obstacles. | presume that the text ‘Satpratipaksa’ is
completed. Since the vyavahdrika portion is somewhat difficult, it must be repeatedly
cogitated upon.

This year, due to the additional month of sravana, the caturmasya vow must be observed
for three months. You should pray daily in Saradamba’s presence that all people should
resort to proper practices and perform virtuous deeds and, by this means, attain
knowledge of the Truth and become happy. For your happiness, | am sending herewith
mantraksatas (rice grains mixed with turmeric powder), the holy prasada of Vyasa.

All is auspicious.

7.7.1939

Yo e
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His  Holiness’s  studies
in Tarka were as yet
incomplete when a Tarka
scholar from North India
came to Sringeri to seek
some clarifications from
the senior Jagadguru. The
senior Jagadguru directed
the pandita to His Holiness

but the scholar was

hesitant and sought help from the senior Jagadguru Himself. “Let him give the necessary

explanation. If your doubts are still not dispelled, | shall clarify,” said the senior Jagadguru.

Unconvinced, but not in a position to say anything, the scholar settled down to hear what

he presupposed would be the inept mumblings of a novice. He was taken aback when he

heard a torrential flow of intricate points from His Holiness; all his doubts were resolved.

He realised his folly in underestimating His Holiness’s expertise and, after due apology,

returned home satiated and wiser in more ways than one.

On another occasion, a scholar came to the senior Jagadguru for philosophical discussions.

He too was directed to His Holiness who provided all the necessary clarifications. On

Unconvinced but not
in a position to say
anything, the scholar
settled down to hear
what he presupposed
would be the inept
mumblings of a
novice. He was taken
aback when he heard
a torrential flow of
intricate points from His
Holiness; all his doubts
were resolved.
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beholding the senior Jagadguru seated with His teenaged
disciple, a scholar well-versed in the SGdma-veda thought,
“How difficult it must be for Him to train such a young
disciple. Indeed, it must be a burden on Him.” Abruptly, the
senior Jagadguru asked the preoccupied Vedic scholar to
chant the Sama-veda. The man stood up but found words
failing him. He had mastered the Sama-veda in its entirety
but in spite of his best efforts nothing was forthcoming.
Addressing him, the senior Jagadguru said, “Saradamba is
there to take care of things and everything goes on as per
Her wish. She is His (His Holiness’s) guardian.” The Veda-
pandita realised his folly in presuming that His Holiness was
an ordinary teenager, training whom would be a nuisance.



It was only after the senior Jagadguru’s return from
Kalady and His Holiness had become an authority on the
Nydya-sastra that, in the 1940s, His Holiness was formally
taught Vedanta by His Guru. His Holiness told me that His
Guru personally taught Him, with sub-commentaries,
the Bhagavadgita-bhasya, Taittiriya-upanisad-bhasya
and the Brahmasitra-bhdasya, and then the Isavasya-
upanisad-bhasya, Kena-upanisad-bhasya and Katha-
upanisad-bhasya. | did not ask Him whether the senior

His Holiness told me
on different occasions
how wonderful His
Guru’s teaching was.
Even decades later, He

clearly recalled what His
Guru had taught Him
and even reproduced

His exact words
comfortably.

Jagadguru taught Him texts other than the bhasyas. His
Holiness told me on different occasions how wonderful

His Guru’s teaching was. Even decades later, He clearly
recalled what His Guru had taught Him and even exactly
reproduced His words with ease.

The 33" pontiff was an expert swimmer. Any stretch of water, dangerous though it be,
was an irresistible invitation to Him. He had the ability to hold His breath for a protracted
period of time and, on occasions, used to frighten His attendants by diving under water
and remaining there for a long time. The senior

When He first came to Sringeri
in 1930, He did not know
swimming but gradually

mastered it to the extent that

He was as much at home in
water as on land. He swam
with the grace of a fish and the
more torrential the current, the
greater was His affinity to the
flow. Years later, when He went

on tours as the pontiff, He did

not let slip the opportunity to

swim in various mighty rivers,
such as the Ganga, Yamuna,

Godavari, Narmada, and Kaveri,

and the ocean, in many places.

Jagadguru, on the contrary, was thoroughly
unfamiliar with swimming and was never given
to frolic. His Holiness, for His part, was like His
Paramaguru (Guru’s Guru). When He first came to
Sringeri in 1930, He did not know swimming but
gradually mastered it to the extent that He was as
much at home in water as on land. He swam with
the grace of a fish and the more torrential the
current, the greater was His affinity to the flow.
He began jumping into the Tunga from high trees
and swam long distances even when the river
was swollen because of rains. Years later, when
He went on tours as the pontiff, He did not let slip
the opportunity to swim in various mighty rivers,
such as the Ganga, Yamuna, Godavari, Narmada
and Kaveri, and the ocean, in many places. Trying
His hand at rowing a wooden boat used to ferry
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people across the river in Sringeri, He soon became a fine oarsman. Perhaps because of
His ignorance of swimming and His intense love for His Holiness, the senior Jagadguru
used to become jittery whenever His Holiness plunged into the river. He did not expressly
forbid His pupil from having the Tunga for His companion but was heard remarking when
His Holiness swam in the swollen Tunga, “Oh! What is he up to? How dangerous all this
is. | really hope nothing untoward happens.”

Full of life, His Holiness walked far into the forests and along the banks of the river Tunga.
Nageswara Sastry recalled that on an occasion, His Holiness asked him to accompany
Him and kept walking for so long that it became dark, making return difficult. Sri
Subbaramaiya recalled that His Holiness once asked him whether he would be able to
accompany Him to a waterfall a few miles away. He readily agreed. It was late before
they were able to return. As they neared Sacchidananda Vilas, His Holiness remarked,
“I'will slip in through the back door.” Sri Subbaramaiya went to the front of the building.
The senior Jagadguru was there and gently enquired about the trip.

The senior Jagadguru had such intense love for His Holiness that when His disciple set
out for a walk in the evening, He kept gazing at the receding form of His Holiness till
He was out of sight. Now and then, He used to accompany His Holiness to a mandapa,
which was once situated about 100 metres to the east of Sacchidananda Vilas. He then
sat there till His Holiness went out of sight. If it became late for His Holiness to return,
the senior Jagadguru would become visibly restless and start pacing. Shortly thereafter,
He would begin making enquiries and then send a person with a lamp to fetch Him. He
never reprimanded His Holiness for coming late, though He advised Him not to stay out
well after dark.

His Holiness told me, “Barring three things, | do not
remember havingdone, eveninadream, onevenone
occasion, anything that did not meet with my Guru’s
approval. The three things were swimming, climbing
trees and going for long walks in the forests.” He also
remarked that He had on two occasions requested
His Guru in person to kindly forgive Him for these
three irresistible transgressions and had sought
forgiveness once in writing, referring to these three
acts of His implicitly. | asked Him, “How did the
senior Jagadguru respond?” His Holiness said, “The
first time | sought His forgiveness was in the early
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part of 1936, before | went to Bengaluru. He just smiled and patted me on the cheek. |
did so the second time in a letter from Bengaluru. He did not write back anything about
this point. The second time | apologised in person was a year after His return from Kalady
(that is, in 1941). In response to this, He told me, ‘I cannot even imagine them to be
transgressions, for these are exactly the three things my Guru Himself could not resist.
Hence, what is there to forgive? Just as fire cannot give up its heat, you cannot give up
these, at least for the present. Therefore, it is | who must learn not to worry about what
cannot be changed. | did not apologise to Him about these thereafter.”

At that time, | did not ask His Holiness further about His apology in writing. After
having been blessed with the opportunity to peruse His Holiness’s letters to His Guru, |
understood that the written apology was in the form of a verse in the letter penned by
Him on 19* September, 1937. That letter begins with a verse and ends with two verses,
all composed by His Holiness; the apology is in the second verse. The meanings of the
three verses are: “(First verse:) | seek refuge in the lustrous preceptor, whose lotus feet
are embellished by (glorified by) the Upanisads and who eradicates the sorrows of those
who pay obeisance to Him. (Second verse:) Because of childishness or fickleness, | have,
knowingly or unknowingly, committed transgressions. May the revered Guru deign to
forgive them. (Third verse:) | yearn to behold the Guru who is the divine antidote for the
malady of transmigration and on beholding whom, one attains peace.”

The seniorJagadguru gave His Holiness a crystal linga for His private worship. He gradually
handed over the performance of the Candramaulisvara-pija to His Holiness on most
days and contented Himself with the praises He heard of His Holiness’s concentration
and devout performance of the pdja.

The senior Jagadguru had conveyed to the Government that His Holiness’s views may be
taken as His own. Though this empowered His Holiness to freely take decisions within
the framework of government control, His Holiness was particular that nothing should be
done that would not meet with the approval of His Guru. Whenever His Holiness strongly
felt that His Guru’s explicit directive was urgently needed, the senior Jagadguru did give
it even when He was in a secluded state. An instance of this was narrated to me by S. G.
Narasimhaiyya. The government submitted a panel of names from which the pontiff of
Sringeri was requested to select one as the head of the Sivaganga Math, a branch of the
Sringeri Math. Narasimhaiyya took the matter to His Holiness for a decision. His Holiness
could have chosen a person Himself but He keenly felt that His Guru’s view on this was
imperative. He asked Narasimhaiyya to proceed to the senior Jagadguru and ascertain
His choice. Much to Narasimhaiyya’s surprise, the senior Jagadguru did choose a person
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from the list, even though before and after doing so He was in a world of His own and
non-communicative.

Whenever His Holiness took a decision, He did it so well that not only was the senior
Jagadguru saved from problems but was also fully satisfied. For instance, in the 1950s, a
labour problem brewed, with the ryots of the Matha’s Jahagirs forming a committee and
demanding parity with those in the lands belonging to the Mysore State (now Karnataka).
The senior Jagadguru was inaccessible at that time. His Holiness took the initiative to
meet the committee members and gave them a patient hearing. This pleased them. He
then sent them a written message through the Private Secretary, S. G. Narasimhaiyya. A
rendering of that Kannada message into English is as follows:

“Your letter dated Thursday, the 11" was submitted to Sri Sannidhanam (as His Holiness
was referred to, with the senior Jagadguru being referred to as Sri Mahasannidhanam)
and as per His command, following is the reply that is to be given to you:

“We are happy to learn that you, the God-fearing devotees of the Guru, have come
forward to form a committee in the interests of the general public. We are happy that
you will be serving the public and for this we pray to Sri-Sarada-Candramaulisvara.

“We are aware that the ryots of the Matha should be helped in their efforts for betterment
in all spheres. But as you know, the villages which were under the Matha have been,
for the past 18 years, taken over by the government. Hence, the matter raised in your
representation should be decided by the government, which has to go into the matter.

“We also feel that the ryots of the Matha should enjoy the same facilities as those
enjoyed by the other villages that come under the Mysore Government and that the
Matha ryots should not have anything to complain about.

“We are happy that devoted people like you are coming forward to take up the charitable
work in the tradition of the Matha. | pray to Paramesvara to grant all of you good health
and long life.

“May all beings be happy.”

As can be seen, the reply reveals His Holiness’s concern for the welfare of the ryots as
also His tact in the face of a situation where the possibility of abolition of the Jahagirs
was looming large and the key to granting or not granting the parity the ryots desired
lay in the hands of the State Government. Importantly, the committee members and the
ryots were satisfied with His Holiness’s response.
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His Holiness never hesitated to issue any instruction as per the senior Jagadguru’s
bidding as also to modify or reverse it one or more times subsequently if that is what
His Guru merely felt or obliquely hinted should be done. In all circumstances, He saw
to it that credit alone went to His Guru and He shouldered any discredit. The following
dialogue that | had with His Holiness in 1982 throws light on His high regard for the
senior Jagadguru and His unquestioning obedience to His Guru.

I: Has Your Holiness ever felt hurt that the senior Jagadguru dismissed any view or feeling
of Your Holiness?

His Holiness: Never.

llI

As He spoke, He grew visibly excited and, with a face flushed with emotion, continued,
cannot even imagine feeling dissatisfied that my Guru dismissed any view or sentiment
of mine. Who indeed was | to even imagine so? He was everything to me and whatever
He said or did was perfectly right as far as | was concerned. Had it occurred to me even
once that my Guru had insulted me or had not been fair to me, then | would have been
the vilest of human beings, fit to be ostracized.” At this juncture, His Holiness’s voice
choked with emotion.

When the senior Jagadguru was entering the 60th year of His earthly life, some ardent
disciples conceived the idea of celebrating it in a
fitting manner, but He did not accord permission
for this. However, when He found that they did
not intend to make the celebration a secular
affair and that they wanted to arrange for a
Sahasra-candi-mahdyaga for the welfare of all,
He consented. The functions were scheduled
to be performed in the middle of 1953, months
after His Sastyabdapirti. However, the well-
known trait of the senior Jagadguru retiring into
Himself and avoiding publicity of any sort came
to the fore and He abstained from taking part in

“l cannot even imagine
feeling dissatisfied that my
Guru dismissed any view
or sentiment of mine. Who
indeed was | to even imagine
so? He was everything to
me and whatever He said
or did was perfectly right as
far as | was concerned. Had
it occurred to me even once

the religious functions, though He kept Himself
acquainted with the same. It was His Holiness who
made arrangements not only for the conduct of
Sahasra-candi but also for the feeding and stay of
the large number of people who visited Sringeri
on the occasion. He presided over the rites and
actively sustained the enthusiasm of the people
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that would have otherwise waned because of )
| requested my Guru to grace

the parnahuti. He said, ‘If the

Lord is pleased, He will make

it rain.” When the pdrnahuti

commenced, the sky was

completely clear, without any
cloud of even the size of a one-
rupee coin visible. However, as
the piarnahuti progressed, dark
progressed, dark clouds gathered and there clouds gathered and there was a
was a downpour.” downpour”

the senior Jagadguru’s absence. In the course
of a speech in 1977 at Chennai, His Holiness
recounted, “l requested my Guru to grace the
parnahuti. He said, ‘If the Lord is pleased,
He will make it rain/ When the pdrnahuti
commenced, the sky was completely clear,
without any cloud of even the size of a one-
rupee coin visible. However, as the pdrnahuti

In August 1954, the first President of India, - His Holiness
Rajendra Prasad, visited Sringeri. Seeing the

silver palanquin being readied to receive the

head of State, the senior Jagadguru directed his Private Secretary, S. G. Narasimhaiyya,
to send the golden palanquin instead. On seeing it, Rajendra Prasad asked who used that.
On learning that the senior Jagadguru had occupied it in the past, He refused outright
to sit in it and, saying that it was worthy of salutations, paid respects to it. He hesitated
to stay in Chandramouleshwara Thotti because it was the building occupied at times by
the senior Jagadguru, but consented to do so only when he was told that that was what
the senior Jagadguru specifically wanted him to do. The meeting between the senior
Jagadguru and the President took place in Goddess Sdradamba’s temple. His Holiness,
who was present, translated into Sanskrit for His Guru what Rajendra Prasad said in Hindi
and translated for him into chaste Hindi what the senior Jagadguru spoke in Sanskrit.
The President was highly impressed and the senior Jagadguru was pleased. Rajendra
Prasad was scheduled to leave in the afternoon but wished to stay longer; some more
discussions were also pending. Dexterously handling the situation, His Holiness told the
President at the close of the meeting, “We can meet again in the afternoon.” This settled
theissue to the visible delight of the President. His Holiness supervised the arrangements
for the President’s stay and ensured that he was shown around without delays. He had
the President taken to the various shrines in the Matha; as per His instructions, when the
President approached a shrine, mangalarati was promptly performed and the President
was briefly told about that shrine. The students and staff of the pathasala had been
asked to assemble at Bhagavatpada’s temple and chant one verse per class when the
President came there.
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Later, Rajendra Prasad called on His Holiness
in 1960 at Chennai and on that occasion, His
Holiness blessed him with the title ‘Rastra-
ratna (A gem of the nation).

In those days, discourses delivered at Sringeri
by the senior Jagadguru were few and far
between. Hence, it was only about a year
after His samnyasa that His Holiness gave His
first public discourse. He told me, “It was on a
Sankara-jayanti that my Guru directed me to
speak. | had not addressed a general audience before and was a little ill at ease to do so.
Anyway, | just obeyed. Solely on account of His grace, | experienced no difficulty and the
discourse was well received. My Guru subsequently told me that He was delighted with it.”

His Holiness’s intense faith in the senior Jagadguru was readily discernible by devotees in
various situations. Once, when the senior Jagadguru was touring South India, a devotee
prayed to Him for relief from some problems that he was facing. The senior Jagadguru
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blessed him and give him a mango as prasada. “If | consume it, only | shall be purified.
Were | to sow it, it will sprout and grow into a big tree yielding many a fruit by which
numerous persons will stand to gain,” he thought and planted the seed. Sure enough, a
big mango tree grew from that seed but, unfortunately, it yielded no fruits. The devotee
was at a loss as to what he should do and so sought His Holiness’s intervention when He
was camping at his village and was to visit his house the next day.

His Holiness: Have you been taking care of the tree?

Devotee: | have done all | could and | have also consulted others who know about trees.
His Holiness: Have you invoked the services of a horticulturist?

Devotee: Yes, but even his endeavours were in vain.

His Holiness: | shall look into the matter tomorrow.

The next day, having finished His morning anusthana, His Holiness had the tirtha-prasada
of Lord Candramauli$vara taken with Him and proceeded to the devotee’s abode. As
scheduled, the devotee performed padapija. At the end of it, he stood before His
Holiness with joined palms. “Where is the mango tree?” asked His Holiness, “I desire to
see it.” The devotee led Him to the tree. Placing His hand on the tree, He closed His eyes
for a moment and declared, “The fruit given by my Guru cannot be unproductive. By His
grace, this tree will bear mangoes in the very next season.”
Following this unequivocal assertion, He gently stroked
the tree with His hands and poured the tirtha brought by
Him at its base. In the very next season, the tree stood
adorned with flowers and subsequently with delicious
mangoes. When the devotee reported this to His Holiness
and submitted some mangoes from that tree, He told him,

When any major
development or function
took place, He credited
it to the grace of His
Guru and God. On some

“ ), . . oy occasions, His Holiness
Our Guru’s grace is on us. Distribute these fruits.

said, “My Guru would
have been pleased to
see the present state of
affairs wherein there are
funds and scope for the
performance of many
dharmika activities.”

When any major development or function took place, He
credited it to the grace of His Guru and God. For instance,
a large number of coconuts were reaped from the groves
in Narasimhavana and Narasimhapura and, later, a big
heap of coconut coir was temporarily housed in a corridor
of Sacchidananda Vilas. On seeing it, His Holiness’s first

reaction was, “My Guru would have been happy to see
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this.” On some occasions, His Holiness said, “My Guru would have been pleased to see
the present state of affairs wherein there are funds and scope for the performance of
many dharmika activities.”

His Holiness personally typed the handwritten text of His Guru’s detailed commentary
on the Vivekaciddamani, gave the material to Ramachandra Sastry to edit and had the
book published. In His Srimukha to that book, He has mentioned inter alia, “Our revered
Acdrya, who is renowned by the name ‘Sri Candrasekhara Bhdrati, which ought to
be remembered at the start of each day, had performed austerities, was beyond the
confines of all schools of thought, was the foremost adept in the performance of what
is prescribed in the sastras, had directly realised the Reality that is the Atman and was a
jivanmukta.” In His benedictory preface to Sri-jagadguru-caritdmrta, a biography of the
senior Jagadguru by Bhasya-svamin, He wrote, “Our revered Preceptor was ever focused
on Brahman, held Brahman as the ultimate and was a jivanmukta; His life was an ideal
for all astikas.”

The English rendering of the verses composed by His Holiness on His Guru and included
in His letters but not cited so far is as follows:

To those in the darkness of ignorance,
He is the sun that is in the sky as also
in the space within (the heart). To the
multitude of drooping lilies that are
the hearts of scholars, He is the moon.
To those trapped in the forest of sense
objects and without a friend in the path
to the Supreme, He is the flaming torch
that lights the way. Victorious is the
luminous Guru who confers joy on all.

| prostrate before the greatest Guru,
who is a kalpavrksa (wish-fulfilling tree)
to those who bow, who is worthy of
being saluted by pre-eminent knowers
of the Truth, who is the fresh sprout of
bliss and who is the ocean of the sastras
(or, in other words, is fully conversant
with the sastras).
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| pay obeisance to the cloud-like Guru,
who abides in (the sky that is) the
Supreme Brahman, pours forth the
nectar of Veddnta and terminates the
sufferings of people.

| salute the glorious, foremost Guru,
who is highly gracious to those who pay
obeisance and a wee bit of the kindness
of whose feet is itself the saviour in the
forest of samsara.

| place as a crown on my head Your
- my Preceptor’s - pair of paduka-s,
the remembrance of which certainly
terminates the mental darkness of
mankind.

| prostrate before the lotus-like feet
of the glorious King of preceptors by
paying obeisance to whom even a dullard becomes akin to the Guru.

Before His Holiness left for Bengaluru in 1936, the senior Jagadguru referred to His
extraordinary vision of Siva (on 5% December, 1935) and enlightenment (on 12
December, 1935) and told Him, in private, “l know
that you are God Himself and ever perfect. Your
engaging in saddhand and apparently attaining
enlightenment were only a part of your divine
sport. Your vision of Siva and your receiving His
blessings and instruction a few days before your
taking your sadhana to its culmination were on
the same footing as the vision, blessings and
instruction of Siva obtained by Krsna (described
in the Drona-parvan of the Mahabharata.)”

“I know that you are God Himself
and ever perfect. Your engaging in
sadhana and apparently attaining
enlightenment were only a part
of your divine sport. Your vision
of Siva and your receiving His
blessings and instruction a few

days before your taking your
sadhana to its culmination were
on the same footing as the vision,
blessings and instruction of Siva
obtained by Krsna.”

He even composed eight verses about His
Holiness. The first of these was written by Him
on the back of a letter that was addressed to
SRR Him and penned by His Holiness in Bengaluru on
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25% July, 1937. Its import in English is: “O, Candramaulisvara, comprehensively protect
Abhinava Vidyatirtha, whose moral principles are ever exquisite and conduct virtuous
at all times, by conferring on him good health and a strong physique.” The remaining
seven verses were written by the senior Jagadguru on a sheet of paper and given to His
Holiness. He noted on that sheet that the month was asvina and the year was Subhanu;
this corresponds to the period 30" September, 1943 to 29" October, 1943. The meaning
of these seven verses is:

1. O Wise people! Hold in the heart-lotus the Guru, Vidyatirtha, the young one with
a tranquil mind, who is exceedingly compassionate, who destroys the mountain of
impediments by His extremely pure glances, who is skilled in protecting everybody, who
is known by means of the pranava (om) and who is the manifestation of the Supreme
Brahman.

2. Various good works have been done by the revered Guru (the 33" pontiff) for facilitating
scriptural learning. O revered one of controlled mind, the protection of what has been
done is dependent on your glorious self.

3. Numerous rites and festivals relating to the Gurus and the Divinities have been created
to purify the body, the organs and the mind. Your body is their fruit.

4. May Goddess Sarada, the Destroyer of death Lord Candramauli$vara (Siva), the great
Hari (Visnu) and Goddess Rajardjesvari (the consort of Siva) guard you, the foremost

Guru.
“O Wise people! Hold in
the heart-lotus the Guru, 5. May Brahma (the Creator), the sages headed by
Vidyatirtha, the young one Vasistha, my exalted Acdrya (the 33 pontiff) and
with a tranquil mind, who is the chaste ladies such as Lopamudra (the spouse
exceedingly compassionate, of Sage Agastya) guard you, the foremost Guru.

who destroys the mountain of

impediments by His extremely 6. May Vani, Laksmi and Gauri guard you, the

foremost Guru, while you sleep, sit, stand and
walk.

pure glances, who is skilled
in protecting everybody, who
is known by means of the
pranava (om) and who is the
manifestation of the Supreme
Brahman.”

7. May you ever protect the casket of Candra-
maulisvara, who is all-pervasive (The reference
is to the casket in which the Candramaulisvara-
linga is kept). Being protected thus by you, may
Siva (literally, the father of Ganapati) constantly
protect you.

- The senior Jagadguru
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Giving these verses to His Holiness, the senior Jagadguru said, “I have written only what
| definitely know to be true about you. There is no exaggerated praise here.” What an
extraordinary Guru-Sisya relationship!
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CHAPTER 13

Becoming the Pontiff

Jivanmuktas have no attachment or aversion to life or death. In 1954, the senior
Jagadguru began to give hints that He no longer wished to retain His mortal coil since
He felt that His work had been completed. However, the indications were rather subtle
and not taken seriously. He had even said, “Let this body be of some use after death. If
it were to be cast off in a forest, animals could devour it. Likewise, if it were discarded
in the waters of the Tunga, fishes could feed on it.” Though He occasionally made such
statements there was no reason to believe that He had already made up His mind
to terminate His human drama.

On the 24™ of August, 1954, when Mantreshwara Sarma took leave of the senior
Jagadguru less than an hour after the President’s departure, he broke into tears, finding
it heart-wrenching to be separated from his Guru. The senior Jagadguru asked him to
sit down and said, “Why do you grieve? If | get released from my body before you pay
your next visit here, | shall be with you as soon as you think of me.” He thought that
the senior Jagadguru was trying to teach him that death is anillusion. It never struck him
that He was preparing him for His ‘death’. {This is based on a published article.}

In September 1954, C. P. Ramaswamy lyer,
who was then the Vice Chancellor of the
Benaras Hindu University, conveyed that

“Let this body be of some use
after death. If it were to be
cast off in a forest, animals could
devour it. Likewise, if it were

he wished to come to Sringeri to have His
darsana. The senior Jagadguru directed His

Private Secretary, S. G. Narasimhaiyya to reply discarded in the waters of the

that Ramaswamy lyer could come within . = g e
v Tunga, fishes could feed on it.

a week. However, the latter was unable to
do so. A week later, the senior Jagadguru - The senior Jagadguru
attained Mahasamadhi.
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On the 25™ of September,
1954, He was not in a
withdrawn  state and
carried out His routine in
a normal fashion. Around
11 a.m., He came from
Narasimhavana to the
northern side of the river
to have the darsana of
Saradamba. As He was
heading to exit the temple
from the south, He saw
two leaders, Bandi Gowda
and Veeranna Gowda,
awaiting him. He made
tender enquiries and
then walked up the steps.
He was about to cross
the threshold when He
suddenly turned back,
walked towards them and gave them as prasdda some flowers that had adorned the
Goddess’s idol and which He had with Him. He proceeded to the Vidyasankara Temple
and then returned to Narasimhavana. Soon afterwards, the Transport Minister, Siddha
Veerappa, had an audience with Him. In the evening, He returned to the northern side
of the Tunga and granted an interview to Justice T. M. Mallappa. After the visitor took
leave, He crossed the river by boat. A little later, His Holiness, who was camping on
the northern side for the forthcoming navaratri celebrations, went to Narasimhavana
to have the darsana of His Guru. He spent some time there before returning. {S. G.
Narasimhaiyya gave me, in 1984, these details and those about C. P. Ramaswamy lyer’s
proposed visit to Sringeri.}

It was customary in those days for the personal attendant on duty to prostrate before
the senior Jagadguru before finally closing the doors of His room at night. That day, O.
Ramaswamy was on duty. Of His own accord, the senior Jagadguru asked him about
his father, who was unwell at that time, and even made enquiries about his child. He
spoke to him for over half an hour; this was unusual. It was around midnight before
Ramaswamy left.
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The next morning (that is, on the morning of 26™ September, 1954), the senior Jagadguru
woke up early as was His wont. After some time, He was seen pacing up and down a
passage in Sacchidananda Vilas. Ramaswamy and Kavi Mahabala Bhatta were on duty that
day. The senior Jagadguru proceeded to Sandhya-mandapa on the riverside around 5:30
in the morning, accompanied by Mahabala Bhatta. He descended the steps leading to
the river. He sat on a lower step in padmasana and started to perform pranayama. \Water
was flowing over that step; as for the current, it was not strong. Mahabala Bhatta had the
shock of his life when, a few minutes later, he found the senior Jagadguru missing. He
looked around and saw Him floating down the river. Shouting for help, Mahabala Bhatta
jumped into the river, swam downstream and managed to reach and hold Him.

Ramaswamy, who had bathed in Sacchidananda Vilas and brought the ‘madi’ clothing to
be worn by the senior Jagadguru after His bath, reached the river just then. On seeing
Mahabala Bhatta in the river holding the senior Jagadguru, whose legs appeared, to
him, to be positioned in the padmasana, he was stricken with fear and began screaming
for help; he did not know swimming. Mahabala Bhatta began to be dragged by the current.
A person on the other bank entered the river to help. He was a good swimmer. With his
assistance playing a major role, Mahabala Bhatta managed to reach that bank with the
senior Jagadguru. The sage was motionless and not breathing. His legs were locked in the
padmasana. His face looked quite normal and relaxed. There was no sign of suffocation.

Hearing the cries, Padmanabha Upadhyaya, His Holiness’s Personal Assistant, quickly
arrived by boat. In a few moments, His Holiness reached the spot, running all the way
from Chandramoulishwara Thotti, where He had spent the night. On seeing the senior
Jagadguru’s lifeless frame, He rushed to it and rubbed it with great affection. The
doctor who reached there examined the senior Jagadguru. He determined that there
was no sign of life. Attempts were made to revive the senior Jagadguru but they turned
out to be of no avail. Some other doctors too reached the spot. Careful examination
revealed that not a drop of water had entered the lungs and the stomach was not bloated
in the least. It was clear that the death was not due to drowning. After performing
prandayama in the padmasana, the senior Jagadguru had, presumably, cast off His body
in yoga. His body was reverentially carried to Chandramoulishwara Thotti and placed, in
a seated posture, on a bed of sandalwood logs.

By now it was 9:30 a.m. and about two thousand people had congregated. His Holiness
was pacing up and down. Having loudly uttered “Amba (Divine Mother),” He sat for some
moments. Immediately thereafter, He collected Himself and was ready to execute the
final rites in the traditional manner. It was a scene of sombre grandeur, with spontaneous
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chanting of the Vedas and stotras. Around 10a.m.,
the senior Jagadguru’s body was adorned with
vibhati (sacred ash) and garlands of tulasi and
rudraksa-beads. It was carried to the northern
side of Bhagavatpada’s temple and seated in the
courtyard to the north-east of Bhagavatpada’s
shrine on a spot purified with kamandalu-tirtha.
His Holiness worshipped His Guru’s remains;
the pdja included abhiseka (religious bathing)
with paficamrta (comprising milk, curd, ghee,
honey and sugar) and with water, to the
accompaniment of the chanting of mantras.

The duly adorned body was then placed in a silver palanquin, and taken in a ceremonial
procession, accompanied by a retinue of guards, attendants and elephants. Kettle-
drums and conches were sounded. The body was carried through all the major streets
of Sringeri to provide everyone the opportunity to have a final darsana. A young
dalit woman who had delivered a baby days earlier came out of her house and held
her child up near the palanquin with the conviction that even this final darsana of the
sage would benefit it. Copious tears flowed from her eyes. Srinarasimha Bhatta had been
out of town and was returning to Sringeri; at that time, the procession was yet to start.
He was surprised to find a Muslim man running down the street crying, “All is lost!”
On Srinarasimha Bhatta enquiring the reason, he replied, full of grief, “All is lost. The
Mahasvamin has passed away.” Such was the universal regard for the senior Jagadguru.

His Holiness was part of the procession throughout. For some reason, He used a walking
stick that day. After the procession through the streets was complete, the senior
Jagadguru’s body was taken across the river to Sandhya-mandapa in Narasimhavana.
There, His Holiness performed abhiseka to it with water and freshly dressed it. The
remains were adorned with vibhiti (sacred ash) and garlands of rudrdaksa-beads and
tulasr. His Holiness’s worship ended by around 5 p.m. He had selected a spot to the north
of the Samadhi of the 33™ pontiff for interring His Guru’s remains. A pit had been dug
there. The senior Jagadguru was carried to that place from Sandhya-mandapa. His body
was lowered, in a seated posture, into the pit.

The prescribed procedure for interring a samnyasin includes smashing coconuts on his
skull till the crown of his head opens. The opening up of the ‘brahma-randhra’ symbolises
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the departure of the jiva, with the pranas, through it (as could happen in the case of one
ascending to the Brahma-loka, the highest realm). This, in turn, symbolises freedom
from rebirth in this world of mortals. In the case of a jivanmukta, however, there is
no such departure nor travel to even Brahma-loka; the Brhadadranyaka-upanisad
teaches, “His pranas do not depart (from the body). Being but Brahman, he is merged
in Brahman (in this very life).” Nonetheless, the prescribed procedure is followed even
in the case of a liberated samnyasin. The senior Jagadguru’s skull opened up even
as His Holiness struck it once with a coconut. Thereafter, as prescribed, His Holiness
broke His Guru’s danda into three pieces and placed them at His Guru’s feet. Next, He
broke His Guru’s kamandalu and placed that also at His feet. The pit was then packed
with alternate layers of sand and salt and covered up with mud. A linga made of mud
was installed directly above where the head was. A temporary shed was subsequently
set up to house the samadhi till the construction of a permanent structure. The Sastra
says that the death of a samnyasin is not to be mourned but celebrated as marking his
union with the Supreme. After this, His Holiness bathed, performed His ahnika and
returned to the samadhi to commence the aradhana of His Guru with deep dedication
and devotion; as required, sixteen priests were reverenced and fed. He performed the
aradhana on the next day also.

There is an incident connected with the spot selected by His Holiness to place the
senior Jagadguru’s body. One day, when doing pradaksina (circumambulation) of
the Samadhi of His Guru, the 33 pontiff, the senior Jagadguru observed that a pit
had been dug, a few feet away, to the north of the Samadhi. He was the last person
to concern Himself with such matters. However, on that day, He enquired why the
ground had been dug. The mestri (supervisor) was summoned. He explained that
he proposed to plant a tree there. Giving no reasons, the senior Jagadguru said,
“Do not plant any tree there. That spot is reserved.” The pit was then covered up.
This matter was not reported by anyone to His Holiness and, as He told me three
decades later, He was unaware of it at that time. Interestingly, the spot that He chose
to inter His Guru’s body was exactly where the pit had formerly been dug and which
the senior Jagadguru had termed reserved. Moreover, His Holiness had decided on
this spot overriding the strong views expressed that the internment should be done on
the northern side of the Tunga and not in Narasimhavana.

The senior Jagadguru had attained videhamukti on mahalaya-amavasya, one of the five
days in the year on which abhiseka is performed to Goddess Saradamba. The navaratri
celebrations proper commenced on the next day. His Holiness meticulously fulfilled all
His functions related to the navaratri. He did not, however, don the royal robes that year
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“The great jivanmukta had shed
His mortal form. How can | ever
describe the grace and affection

He had showered on me? He
had brought me up as His own
child. The sadness was deep but
that did not mean that | would
sit down for days, lost in grief.
That would not have been what
He would have wanted me to
do. | had His body interred near
His Guru’s samadhi. | resolved
that the structure to be built
there should be akin to the one
He had erected for His Guru.
| worshipped at His Samadhi
and also attended to my duties.
| knew that His grace would
always be on me.”

- His Holiness

during the nightly durbar conducted in Goddess
Saradamba’s temple. He had a photograph of
the senior Jagadguru placed on the throne and it
appeared as if the senior Jagadguru was Himself
presiding over the durbar.

The first time His Holiness described the senior
Jagadguru’s demise to me was in 1979, nearly
25 years after the events. Still His voice choked as
He did so and His eyes filled with tears. He said,
“My Guru had been occasionally saying that He
had finished doing what He had to do and, thus,
did not wish to continue to keep His body. However,
none of us thought that He had decided to cast
off His mortal coil. On mahdalaya-amavasya,
He went to the river for a bath. | cannot say
that the waters were deep or that the current was
powerful. He proceeded to perform pranayama
in the padmasana and allowed His body to be
carried downstream. His attendant Mahabala
Bhatta caught the body and was soon helped
out. On hearing the news, | went running but
it was too late. The great jivanmukta had shed
His mortal form. How can | ever describe the
grace and affection He had showered on me?
He had brought me up as His own child. The
sadness was deep but that did not mean that |
would sit down for days, lost in grief. That would
not have been what He would have wanted
me to do. | had His body interred near His
Guru’s Samadhi. | resolved that the structure
to be built there should be akin to the one
He had erected for His Guru. | worshipped at His
Samadhi and also attended to my duties. | knew
that His grace would always be on me.”

His Holiness’s formal coronation as the 35t
Jagadguru Shankaracharya of the Sringeri Sri



Sharada Peetham took place on the 16" of October, 1954, corresponding to asvayuja-
krsna-paficami of the cyclical year Jaya, under the star Rohini.

{The following description of His Holiness’s pattabhiseka is based on an anonymous
eyewitness’s written account (penned in 1954) that | was able to access for a few days,
in 1983.}

On 14™ QOctober, the Vyakhyana-simhasana (The throne of exposition), placed facing
north in the southern corridor of the Goddess’s temple, was adorned with garlands and
on it was placed a water-filled kalasa. Rtviks (priests) engaged in rituals centred on the
throne. Homas were performed adjacent to the throne, to the west of it. His Holiness
came to the temple to have darsana. He also offered His salutations at Bhagavatpada’s
temple. On the next day, after His morning ahnika, He Holiness went to the Samadhis
of the 33" pontiff and His Guru. He then crossed the river and, at the Vidyasankara
Temple, sought Sri Vidyatirtha’s permission to ascend the Vyakhydna-simhdsana.
Thereafter, He adorned robes made of
velvet and silk bedecked with precious
gems and went to have darsana at His
predecessors’ shrines, including that of

The auspicious moment of
coronation was signalled

Suresvaracarya, all on the northern side
of the river. In Goddess Saradamba’s
temple, He presided over the pdrnahuti
(final oblation) of the homas performed
there and received, with devotion, the
flowers and vibhiti presented to Him as
prasdada. He sat on a silver seat to the
west of the throne. His sandals were
bathed in the sanctified waters of the
kalasa and several gifts were made in
His august presence. Having propitiated
Goddess Sarada, He left for His abode in
Narasimhavana.

On the auspicious pitharohana

by the tinkling of bells. The

screen was drawn eastward
unveiling the throne and

aksata (unbroken grains of
rice mixed with turmeric

powder) was showered on
His Holiness by the gathered
priests. “Victory unto our
Jagadguru Sri Abhinava
Vidyatirtha” — this and many
more such shouts of chorus

and eulogies filled the air.

day, He came to Goddess Sarada’s temple and, wearing royal robes, ascended
the sanctified Vyakhydana-simhasana. The throne was veiled by a screen with
‘Srth” embroidered over it. The auspicious moment of coronation was signalled
by the tinkling of bells. The screen was drawn eastward unveiling the throne and
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aksata (unbroken grains of rice
mixed with turmeric powder)
was showered on His Holiness
by the gathered priests.
“Victory unto our Jagadguru
Sr1 Abhinava Vidyatirtha” — this
and more such eulogies in chorous
filled the air His Holiness’s golden
padukas placed in the vicinity of
the throne were bathed with the
sanctified water of the kalasa
and the remaining water was
poured on His Holiness’s head.

The grandeur of the occasion was enhanced by the chanting of Vedic hymns in unison.
Precious stones were rained on His Holiness. He then removed His royal robes in
the room adjacent to Saradambéa’s sanctum sanctorum, and adorned new royal
garments and a crown. Having witnessed the drati in Saradamba’s shrine, He went
in a palanquin to the Vidyasankara Temple. He entered the temple and after having
darsana, emerged and again sat in the palanquin. He then went to the various shrines.
In a short speech given by His Holiness following His coronation, He said that He was
greatly in need of His Guru’s grace to carry out His duties as a pithadhipati and prayed

for His Guru’s blessings.

233



234



CHAPTER 14

Technical Acumen

There was much that needed to be undertaken
by His Holiness. After His anointment as pontiff,
without delay, He clearly envisioned and spelt
out how the permanent structure at the samadhi
of His Guru should be and set the ball rolling for
its construction. His Guru had toured little and
for the final 14 years had not travelled at all.
Naturally, devotees all over were eagerly looking
forward to His Holiness gracing their places. Earlier,
comprehending His Holiness’s love of tapas, His
Guru had indicated to devotees that His beloved
disciple would undertake a tour only after satiating
Himself with His tapas. The time was nearing
when the persistent and pressing requests of
devotees could no longer be set aside. The Matha’s
administration, which was then being managed
by the Mysore Government as His Guru had often
been in a state of seclusion, needed betterment
and so did the Matha’s poor financial condition.
Facilities for the stay of devotees at Sringeri were
woefully inadequate and extensive renovations
were imperative. These and many other problems awaited His Holiness’s attention and
He set about solving them in His characteristic and inimitable style.

He was well aware that so long as the reins of control vested with the government, He
would not have full freedom to effect improvements at Sringeri. His foresight, however,
made it clear to Him that it would only be a matter of time before the management
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would be in His hands. Hence, He decided to defer His developmental schemes. To Him,
the call of devotees merited a higher priority and so He set out in 1956 on His first tour
of South India. City by city, town by town and village by village, He went and graced
devotees by the thousands. Conveniences for His stay constituted a highly variable
factor but He did not mind. Relentlessly, He drove Himself to the verge of exhaustion
to inculcate dharma and spirituality in the hearts of those who saw or heard Him. Apart
from being an inspiring and impactful teacher, He was a quick and eager learner and
keen observer too. He happily took walks in and studied fields, gardens and groves
during his camps. He sought to know all that He could about these from His farm-owning
disciples, agriculturists and horticulturists; for their part, they enthusiastically shared
with Him what they knew. Production units and technical centres drew Him and so
deep was what He absorbed about them that were He not a samnyasin, He would,
indubitably, have made an exceptional engineer.

Right from His early teens, He was inclined to examine gadgets and ascertain how they
worked. About a fortnight after His samnyasa, a devotee brought an ornate golden clock
and requested Him to accept it. His Holiness took it, gave it back to him and told him to
use it himself. When the devotee repeatedly pleaded with Him to mention something
that he could submit in lieu of the clock and which He would use, He said, “Since you
are so particular, you could give me a toolkit.” The devotee was nonplussed but said
that he would definitely bring one with him on his next visit. Six months later, he did so.
That afternoon, His Holiness took a functioning wall clock to His room. Since the clock
required to be regularly wound up with a key, He had conjectured that it must have a
coiled spring as its source of energy. Putting the submitted toolkit to use, He opened
the clock. He located the mainspring and identified what prevented the spring from
unwinding abruptly. Having a careful look at the system of meshed gears, He formed
an idea of how the slowly unwinding mainspring moved, via the gears, the minute and
hour hands. To have a closer look at the parts, He carefully disassembled the clock. He
did not try to pull out the mainspring, as He rightly concluded that it could be harmful.
Thereafter, recalling how He had dismantled the clock, He reassembled it. He then put
the clock back where He had taken it from. | learnt of this from His Holiness in 1976.

At that time, He also told me, “Some years later, | noticed that a timepiece that my
Guru sometimes looked at to note the time had stopped working and was lying unused.
| asked Him whether | could take it for a while to my room. He just nodded. | opened
and partially dismantled it. | found that its mainspring was broken and that a gear was
damaged. A little later, my Guru came to my room and saw the clock in pieces. With a
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Apart from being an inspiring and
impactful teacher, He was a quick and
eager learner and keen observer too.

Right from His early teens, He was
inclined to examine gadgets and
ascertain how they worked.

His Holiness at Mighty Scale Co., Kochi

At the Enfield Motorcycles Factory, Chennai At Integral Coach Factory, Chennai

Inside a Rail Coach at ICF, Chennai At Integral Coach Factory, Chennai
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Examining a computer print-out Watching IBM card-punch Machine

At a Transformer winding factory in Bengaluru
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Samadhi of Sri Candrasekhara Bharati Mahdsvamin

smile, He remarked, ‘Oh, so you are demonstrating that whatever is a combination of
parts will disintegrate some day!’ and left. Realizing that a new mainspring and a gear
would be needed and that these could not be got in Sringeri, | reassembled the clock and
put it back.” His Holiness opened, examined and understood on His own the working of
several mechanical devices.

In 1959, while He was still on His first tour, the government handed over the reins of
administration to Him. He straightaway started formulating plans for the betterment
of the Matha. He initiated the construction of a new guesthouse at Sringeri. To make
best use of the available land in the temple complex, He gave instructions for the
repositioning of the temples of Brahma and Rama. A ‘vimana’ over Bhagavatpada’s
shrine and a ‘gopura’ (ornamental gateway) for the Saradiamba Temple were part of His
schemes. He directed the renovation of the shrines of Goddess Bhavani and Stambha-
Ganapati in the Malahanikaresvara Temple. Though on tour, He kept Himself fully posted
of the progress of the works and ensured that what He had envisioned was coming up.
The new guest house, with several spacious rooms, each with an attached bathroom,
was completed shortly after His return to Sringeri (on 9 July, 1962). Jayachamaraja
Wodeyar, the former Maharaja and the then Governor of Mysore declared it open
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on 18" October, 1962;

His Holiness named the

building ‘Shankara Krupa’. He

supervised the renovation

of the shrines in the temple

complexandtheconstruction

in granite of His Guru’s

samdadhi in Narasimhavana.

Such was His Holiness’s plan

that the sanctum sanctorum

Sri Shankara Krupa of His Guru was akin to that

of the 33 pontiff and, like the latter, had a room in front of it. Between the two samadhis,

He provided a big room, where all the articles of worship could be comfortably stored

and which could be accessed from either side. The overall structure, with a large

frontage in the east and wide corridors on the north, west and south, gave the impression

of being unitary construction and belied the fact that a significant part of it was built

decades earlier than the rest. His Holiness consecrated the renovated shrines in the

Malahanikaresvara Temple in February, 1963 and performed the other consecrations,
inclusive of that of His Guru’s samdadhi, in March.

A substantial portion of Narasimhavana was then a higgledy-piggledy jungle. The
neighbouring Kage Hindlu, as the Kannada name implies, was basically a haunt for
crows. It was a bamboo forest with thorny bushes and undulating surfaces with pits
deep enough to render elephants invisible. His Holiness surveyed the area and decided
that it could be converted into cultivable land. Even the thought seemed preposterous
to many but then, as the Tamil saint Tiruvalluvar put it in his Tirukkural, “The great
are those who accomplish the unachievable. The petty are those who cannot.” His
Holiness gave detailed instructions to the then mestry (supervisor) Katte Srikantiah and
also arranged, on a contract basis, for fencing and the removal of the bamboo forest.
Though His Holiness had, in response to the earnest call of devotees, to set out again
on a tour in 1964, He kept Himself fully posted of the works in progress and frequently
sent His suggestions and orders. Gradually, His dream became a reality and green fields
sprang up.

Narasimhapura, situated to the south of Kage Hindlu, contained acres of land belonging
to the Matha on which expenditure regularly exceeded income. Years earlier, Srikanta
Sastry (who died in 1951) had tried to develop the place and had sought to establish
a diesel pump there but unfortunately, in spite of his great capacity for planning and
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execution, his schemes fell flat. His Holiness cogitated over what could be done there
and decided that fencing and clearance of worthless, thorny bushes would have to
be done first. He began to make regular visits to the place and Himself supervised the
operations, unmindful of heat, cold or rain. Never did He hesitate to enter thorny areas
and those believed to be infested with snakes. As had happened when some portions
of Narasimhavana were being developed, the supervisor at Narasimhapura and the
workers readily followed Him and put forth their best.

Some ill-intentioned ones gave Him misleading advices and this led to some minor
setbacks. Forinstance, repeated rotation of crops was suggested and it was made out that
the region was thoroughly unsuitable for developing coconut groves. His Holiness was
quick to see through their game. He had picked up too much knowledge of agriculture
and horticulture during His tour to be misled any longer. He had already determined that
the bane of the region was the haphazard policy of the earlier planners who cultivated
a crop and whimsically replaced it with another, hoping that the new crop would fetch
enhanced dividends. Examining the soil and keeping the climatic conditions in mind, His
Holiness decided what crops it would sustain. He had acquired much knowledge about
fertilizers and pesticides, both natural and synthetic, and about how best to attend to
various crops and groves. In the face of extreme

scepticism, He ordered the planting of coconut

saplings. His instructions were carried out to the

letter and lo and behold, Sringeri soon got its

first coconut grove. Parts of Narasimhavana and

Narasimhapura became, in time, beautified by

coconut trees, laden with many coconuts. He also

directed the development of areca palm groves

and gardens in the Matha and the cultivation of

fields. Taking into consideration the inputs from

the supervisors, He took a call on what agricultural

implements were to be purchased.

He did not keep His deep knowledge of agriculture and horticulture to Himself; He
suitably trained the supervisors. The supervisors He appointed were not people who
were agriculturists with years of experience. Indeed, the limited resources of the Matha
at that time made the job far from financially lucrative. Hence, His Holiness selected
His own staff and trained them for the posts. For instance, Ramappaiah, who did the
spadework in Narasimhapura, was earlier His cook, while Shankaranarayana Maiyya and
Malnad Venkatesha, who later served, one after the other, as the supervisors there, were
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His attendants. Ganeshayya, the supervisor of Narasimhavana in the 1980s, worked in
the kitchen earlier. When | interviewed him, he said, “l knew nothing when | came to this
job. Whatever | know today is solely because of His Holiness. He is my inspiration. | have
sometimes hesitated to tackle a particularly difficult piece of land but on seeing Him
go there, | have followed and so have my workers.” {Similar sentiments were expressed
to me by the other supervisors whom | spoke with, such as Srikantaiah, Ramappaiah,
Maiyya and Venkatesha.}

His Holiness was opposed to wasting materials, be it a nail, a sheet of paper or the
vestiges of a structural alteration or demolition. One day, He noticed a nail in the inner
qguadrangle of Sacchidananda Vilas. He had it carefully placed on a window sill. Some
days later, He asked the attendant who had been asked to place the nail on the window
sill to fetch it. A wooden carton with material was to be sent to the branch Matha at
Kotekar, near Mangaluru. His Holiness used the nail to complete the nailing in of the top
of that wooden box.

One morning, when His Holiness had just completed distributing tirtha-prasada in the
front hall of Saccidananda Vilas, a person in his late teens or early twenties approached
Him with a folder in his hand. When he reached His Holiness, the folder slipped from
his hand and two A4 sheets of paper fell on His Holiness’s lap and three settled on the
ground. As he stood flustered, His Holiness asked him to relax, gave him the sheets that
had landed on Him and waited for him to pick up the remaining ones from the floor. A
line or two was written in the Devanagari script on each of the sheets. The young man
had a look at the contents of the sheets, selected one sheet and submitted it to His
Holiness saying, “lI do not know much Sanskrit and this is my first attempt at writing a
verse in it. The verse is on Goddess Saradamba.” His Holiness read it and nodded. He then
asked him, “What is in the other sheets? | noticed a part of this verse in the sheets that
| returned to you.” He replied, “They contain portions of this verse. | inadvertently left
behind in my room the sheet on which | had neatly written the verse to submit to Your
Holiness. | tried to write it down from memory after coming here. | made some mistakes
before | managed to pen what | had originally composed.” His Holiness said, “Why did
you not correct what you had written on the first sheet instead of using another sheet?”
“How could | submit something with corrections?” he responded. His Holiness said, “I
would not have minded that at all. Anyway, if you were averse to showing me something
with corrections, you could have written on the back of that sheet. Why did you not do
that instead of using another sheet?” The young man replied, “Your Holiness would have
come across the unfinished portion if Your Holiness had turned the sheet. | did not want
that to happen.” Clearly amused, His Holiness said, “You have written just a line on top
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of the first sheet. If you did not want anything with corrections or incompleteness to be
visible to me, you could have neatly cut off just that portion and written in the remaining
empty sheet. Why waste paper?” No counter was forthcoming to this clincher.

Chandramoulishwara Thotti was an old stone construction where dignitaries such
as the Maharaja of Mysore were formerly housed and which served as a residence for
the 34" pontiff when He stayed on the northern bank of the Tunga. The construction
was archaic in style and, though massive, effective space utilisation was poor. His
Holiness humorously remarked, “This building was singular in a sense; in summer,
it let in sunshine and in the monsoon, rain.” He decided to remodel the structure
by removing certain irrelevant sub-
structures. None of the granite stones,
decorative and ordinary, that were
removed was wasted. They were partly
used in the upper portion of the structure
housing the samadhis of the 33 and 34
pontiffs. The remaining cut and dressed
stones were employed to rebuild the
Kalabhairava Temple, which had become
in dire need of repair. The stone structure
housing the idol of Kalabhairava was
the outcome of this exercise.

The following information relating to the
renovation of Chandramoulishwara Thotti
was provided in 1990 by T. M. Nagarajan,
a close disciple of His Holiness.

While renovating Chandramoulishwara
Thotti, His Holiness told the building
contractor, a devotee, “My Guru had
instructed that girders should be used in
the roof of Chandramoulishwara Thotti.”
The contractor tried procuring the girders
but was unsuccessful. He suggested that
RCC be used for the roof. His Holiness did
not accept this proposal.
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He asked Nagarajan, who was then working in a branch of the UCO Bank in Bengaluru
and had come to Sringeri for darsana, “This is an old stone building. Using RCC roofing
would not be appropriate. We should use girders only. Can you try to locate steel girders
for this building using your contacts?” Nagarajan collected the requisite measurements
from His Holiness and returned to Bengaluru. A steel trading firm that was a distributor
of Tata Steel held an account in the branch where he worked. In response to his enquiry,
the firm’s owner told him, “The girders with the specifications that you mention are
not available these days. We could try looking for some unused girders at the Mysore
Palace. The other option would be the Bangalore (Bengaluru) Railway Station. The
Railways are currently renovating it and if some old girders meeting your specifications
are available, | will try to get them for you.” Nagarajan realised that procuring the girders
was not going to be an easy task.

The firm had borrowed money from the bank and sometime later Nagarajan went with
the owner for stock verification. While they were taking stock of the materials, they
saw layers of steel plates stacked in a corner. When the steel plates were lifted, they
found twelve girders below. The owner exclaimed, “Oh my God! These must have been
procured during my father’s time. | had completely forgotten about their existence.”
He voluntarily offered to sell them to the Sringeri Math at a discounted price. Out
of the 12 girders, 10 of them completely conformed to the specifications given by
His Holiness. Nagarajan had them loaded onto a truck and sent them to Sringeri.
When His Holiness saw the girders, He exclaimed in happiness to Nagarajan, “My
Guru’s words are infallible. There has never been an instance of His utterances not
coming true. You have now fulfilled His wish that girders be used when renovating
Chandramoulishwara Thotti.”

As in the case of materials, His Holiness was against wastage of water and electricity. One
day, He came across a leak at the outlet of a water tank in Narasimhavana. Immediately,
He tore His handkerchief to get a piece of cloth of the right size to plug the leak and,
with it, stopped the wastage of water. It was only after that that He passed on instructions
to the supervisor to repair the outlet. The fact that because of the perennial river, Tunga,
bounding it, Narasimhavana has no dearth of water did not weigh with Him.

In November 1977, His Holiness’s ‘sastyabda-pirti (completion of 60 years)’” was
celebrated on a grand scale at Chennai; the various religious and public functions were
primarily organized by Dharmatma Vaidyasubramanya lyer. On 10" November, the
concluding day, it was past 11:00 p.m. before His Holiness’s pdja ended. After that, the
huge crowd dispersed. Vaidyasubramanya lyer’s second son, V. Jayaraman, noticed a
little later that lights in the corridors of the building were being switched off one by
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one. He was astonished to see that it

was His Holiness who was personally

going around the corridors of the

building switching off all the lights. He

approached His Holiness, prostrated

before Him and offered to do the job

of switching off the lights, so that

His Holiness could go in and rest. His

Holiness said, “These lights were unnecessarily being kept on. Why waste electricity?”
and continued to walk down the corridor, switching off more lights.

His Holiness renovated the pathasala at Sringeri and provided numerous conveniences
for the teachers and students. The old cowshed was unimpressive and difficult to access.
He built a big, easily accessible cowshed in Narasimhavana capable of accommodating,
with comfort, scores of cows and calves and, in a separate section, bulls. He also built fine
sheds for the elephants. To ensure and enhance approachability, His Holiness personally
decided where and what type of roads and pathways were to be laid in the Matha
and guided their construction.

A hexagonal wooden structure housed the samddhi of Sureévaracarya. His Holiness
replaced it with a stone structure with marble flooring. A vimana over the samadhi, a
room for keeping articles for worship and a mandapa in front of the sanctum sanctorum
and the adjacent room were some of the features of the new structure. His Holiness
performed the consecration here on 6" May, 1970. A seminar was held from the 6" to the
10™ of May in which traditional scholars as also delegates from Universities participated.
The Governor of Karnataka, Dharmaveera, inaugurated the seminar. Delivering His
benedictory address, His Holiness observed, “Wisdom is what differentiates humans
from animals. Knowledge helps one to sift the good from the bad and to pursue the
former and to even free oneself from the cycle of births and deaths. A part of one’s
karma of the past births’ is responsible for one’s present birth and lot more of it remains
to fructify. The Vedas alone impart the knowledge of the means by which one can secure
happiness not only here but also in the hereafter and also the knowledge that results in
liberation. When the Vedic teaching was being lost sight of, Bhagavatpada incarnated to
present the true import of the scripture and to lead the people step by step to the right
path. The purpose of this seminar is to investigate the methods of Bhagavatpada.”

There was no temple for Lord Subrahmanya in Sringeri. His Holiness demolished an old,
dilapidated building on the river front and built in its place a beautiful temple in stone
for Lord Balasubrahmanya. He consecrated it on 17t April, 1978.
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Kumbhabhiseka of the Samadhi of Sri Suresvardcarya.

Samadhi of SrT Suresvardcarya Kumbhabhiseka of Sri Balasubrahmanya Temple
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Kumbhabhiseka of Sri Balasubrahmanya Temple (above) and Malahanikaresvara Temple (below)
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In the 1980s, His Holiness took up the reconstruction of the Malahanikaresvara Temple. He
conceived of a new stone structure and had it built through expert sthapatis from Tamil
Nadu. He personally supervised every stage of the construction. The cost of the construction
was met by contributions from the Government of Andhra Pradesh and disciples. His
Holiness and His successor-designate and present pontiff (Jagadguru Sri Bharati-tirtha
Mahasvamin) performed the kumbhdabhiseka of the shrines of Lord Malahanikaresvara
and Goddess Bhavani on 11" February, 1985. With His keen sense of topography, His
Holiness recognized that it would be a boon to the state of Karnataka if the town of
Shivamogga (formerly Shimoga) in the north were to be connected to the coastal city
of Mangaluru (formerly Mangalore) in
the south by a motorable road on which
even buses could ply; the road through
the steep Agumbe ghat cannot, to this
day, be used by big buses. Knowing that
there was already a good road from
Shivamogga to Sringeri via Koppa and
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there was a fine road from Mangaluru to Karkala, He opined that what was needed was
to connect Sringeri to Karkala via Nemmaru and Kerekatte. He persistently prompted the
officials and ministers who came to meet Him over the years to consider and execute
this project. Finally, the road began to take shape in the 1980s and even as it did, He
started to use it and see the progress. This is now a part of National Highway 169 and a
great number of cars and buses ply on it every day.

While it is true that Sringeri has heavy rainfall in the monsoon season, artificial irrigation
does have to be resorted to at other times. His Holiness paid special attention to it.
In later years, He introduced drip irrigation in Sringeri. A votary of afforestation, He
planted many saplings and developed a forest on the hill with the Kalabhairava Temple.
Being aware that two to three feet high plants are tempting to cattle and sheep and
larger trees to greedy men, He did not mind the expenses of elaborate fencing. Having
a vast knowledge about trees, He was particular about what to plant and where. His
choice of the trees to be planted near the fences was different from His selection
for the interior regions. It was His planning that resulted in the optimal demarcation in
the Matha of regions for coconut groves, areca palm groves, fields and gardens.

A. R. Viswanathan, a disciple of His Holiness, developed and maintained a beautiful
garden with various types of flowering plants and trees in the compound of his house in
Bengaluru. Whenever His Holiness camped in Bengaluru and paid a visit to his house, He
viewed and enjoyed the garden. On several occasions, He discussed gardening with him.
Once, when Viswanathan went to Sringeri with his friend to have darsana, His Holiness
met them in private and conversed for over an hour about gardens, various plants and
some of the difficulties in maintaining and nurturing
them. Viswanathan’s friend was amazed at His Holiness’s
keen interest in and deep knowledge of horticulture
and concluded that His Holiness must be a specialist in
botany. His Holiness found it amusing when he told Him
so.

One afternoon, in May 1976, when | was walking from
Sacchidananda Vilas towards the samadhis of the 33"
and 34" pontiffs, | was surprised to see His Holiness
working alone in the garden in front of the samadhis.
He was wearing gloves and was holding a pair of
shears; near Him was a knife, a can of water and some
tape. He noticed me and gestured to me to come to Him.
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His Holiness planting a sapling and watering the plant

He told me that He was about to graft roses and that He would be using a method called
“T-bud”; having said this, He jokingly commented, “By ‘T’, | did not mean the tea that
people drink.” He then proceeded with the grafting; as He did so, He explained the steps.
He mentioned that before | had come, He had sterilized the shears and the knife to avoid
causing infection. Such was His love for the plants that before cutting, He addressed the
rosebushes saying, “Forgive me for causing you pain. | will take good care of you. You will
recover soon and be more beautiful than you are now.” | saw tears in His eyes as He said
so. He worked quickly but gently and soon the work was complete.

T. M. Nagarajan, who helped in getting the girders for Chandramoulishwara Thotti,
had many varieties of rose plants in the terrace of his house in Bengaluru. When he
left Bengaluru on transfer to another branch of the UCO Bank, he took all his plants to
Sringeri and submitted them to His Holiness. When he went to Sringeri later for darsana,
His Holiness showed him a splendid rosebush with roses of three colours and told him
that this was the plant with yellow roses that he had given Him. His Holiness had Himself
done the grafting that resulted in the rosebush with yellow roses becoming lovelier with
roses of two other colours too.

His Holiness saw and appreciated manure-based biogas plants in the course of His tours
and decided to set one up in Sringeri. He located it near the cowshed, which housed over
50 cows and from which manure was available in plenty. This biogas plant, the first of
its kind in Sringeri and the neighbouring areas, supplied gas to the Matha’s kitchens in
Narasimhavana and to the private houses situated therein. During His tours, at a place,
He saw a simple cement stove, with firewood as fuel, in which the smoke passed in
its entirety into an attached chimney. Impressed, His Holiness studied it carefully and
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Such was His love for the plants that
before cutting, He addressed the
rosebushes saying, “Forgive me for
causing you pain. | will take good care
of you. You will recover soon and be
more beautiful than you are now.”
| saw tears in His eyes as He said so.

While planning a building, His Holiness
gave importance to user-convenience,
good ventilation, non-wastage
of space, fulfilment of multiple
objectives, provision for expansion
and cost minimisation.

Inauguration of the Girls’ School

The new building of the School

(Sri Jagadguru Abhinava Vidyatheertha High School)

implemented a similar but somewhat
modified design in some of the
buildings in Narasimhavana for heating
water for bathing.

While planning a building, His Holiness
gave importance to user-convenience,
good ventilation, non-wastage of
space, fulfilment of multiple objectives,
provision for expansion and cost
minimisation. The ‘Sri Shankar Niketan’
and ‘Jai Shankar Niketan’ constructed
in the 1970s bear testimony to this.
They were designed to function as
guesthouses — each with several rooms
for the stay of individuals or families and
a hall for collectively accommodating
tourists arriving in buses for a short
stay — and also as kalyana-mandapas,
with halls, kitchens and rooms meeting
the needs of those wanting to conduct
functions such as a marriage or an
upanayana. The ‘Sharada Niketan’, a
big building with numerous rooms,
was so planned by His Holiness that
though initially meant to be a guest
house, it subsequently housed, and
that too without the need for changes,
the Matha’s girls’ school. His Holiness
started this school on 12 July, 1972 at
a time when there was no school for
girls in Sringeri. It was located ftill July
1986 in a building near the Jai Shankar
Niketan. When that building needed
to be repaired, His Holiness allocated
the far bigger Sharada Niketan for the
school, which to this day is functioning
there; in 2006, the school started
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admitting boys too and, in spite of the additional intake, Sharada Niketan has proved
adequate. His Holiness took into consideration the severe lashing of rains for days on end
due to the Southwest monsoon. He preferred to employ tiled roofs in His constructions
as He felt that they better suited the climatic conditions of Sringeri than flat RCC roofs.
He has said, “l have no formal engineering education but am ever ready to learn by
qguestioning, observation and practice.
Initially, | made some mistakes that | had
to undo by making small modifications

“l have no formal
engineering education but

am ever ready to learn by in the buildings; the consequence was

questioning observation some extra cost. However, | learnt from
’

and practice. Initially, | my mistakes and there are no such

made some mistakes that problems now.”
| had to undo by making

His Holiness planned and proceeded to
construct a building in Narasimhavana
at a scenic spot that is halfway up the
hill on which the Kalabhairava Temple

small modifications in the

buildings; the consequence
was some extra cost.

However, | learnt from my

mistakes and there are no is situated and from where one can
such problems now.” have a breath-taking wide view in the
western direction. Water supply to this

- His Holiness building, however, posed a problem.

Underground water is available in
Narasimhavana at the level of the river.
None of the pumps available had a total
head sufficient to lift water from that
level to this high-level building, which
His Holiness named ‘Bhairava Krupa’. He
came up with a simple and yet elegant
solution involving two pumps and a
water-tank. He had a pump installed
at a low level to supply water to a tank
that was positioned near the
cowshed, roughly midway between
Sacchidananda Vilas and Bhairava Krupa. A second pump was installed between Bhairava
Krupa and the tank. This two-stage arrangement ensured a copious supply of water to
Bhairava Krupa. A long tub was built adjacent to the tank. It was readily fillable with water
from the tank and cows quenched their thirst here when grazing freely. The water in the
tank and tub served several other purposes too.

252



On an occasion, there was an urgent
need to transcribe the contents of
an audio tape contained in a seven-
inch-diameter spool. The recording
had been done at a speed of 1 7/8
inches per second. The Matha’s tape
recorder that could accommodate
a seven-inch spool was capable
of playing back only at a speed of
3 % inches per second. A second
tape recorder was available that
could play at the required speed
of 1 7/8 inches per second but,
being small, could accommodate
only a five-inch spool. The task of
transcribing had been allocated to
me and | was at a loss as to how | should proceed. His Holiness came to my rescue
and told me, “Why do you not use to advantage the principle that the receiving
spool merely collects the tape that is moved by the spindle? | will show you what |
have in mind.” He placed the bigger tape recorder behind the smaller one and used
some packing material to ensure that the deck-levels of the two recorders lay in
the same horizontal plane. He then fitted the sending and receiving spools on the
larger of the two recorders. Instead of taking the tape in front of the head assembly
of that recorder, He passed it in front of the head assembly of the smaller recorder.
The recorders were turned on. The tape speed was decided by the spindle rotation
of the smaller recorder and as such was 1 7/8 inches per second. The larger machine
merely sent and collected the tape. Since the head of the smaller recorder was in
contact with the tape, its amplifier and speaker units provided the audio output.

In the 1970s, | had an occasion to design and construct for His Holiness an inverter,
working with a 6 volt D.C. secondary storage battery as the source, to supply a power
of 20 watts at 230 volts A.C. | was having some problems with the transformer that |
was employing in a parallel-inverter circuit. His Holiness asked me how the work was
progressing and | explained my difficulty. He said, “l was given some transformers and
they are lying upstairs, unused. You can use one if it suits you.” | decided to go upstairs
to see if any one of the available transformers would match my specifications but His
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“The working of the Holiness told me to wait. He called His attendant
projector interests me and and told him to go upstairs and fetch a particular
so | am observing it. As for transformer. “l have a particular specification

the contents of the film, in my mind. Hence, may | go and select one?”
| have personally been to | queried. His Holiness smiled and said, “Wait
most of the temples in South and see if the one that is brought suits you. If

India.” - His Holiness not, you can select another one.” To my surprise,

the transformer that was broughtcompletely
met my requirements. Apparently, His Holiness had intuitively arrived at
the specifications | had in my mind.

Once, a devotee wished to project before His Holiness a personal film with the footage
of some of the big temples of Tamil Nadu. His Holiness consented and, after the requisite
arrangements for the screening were made, the 16mm projector was turned on. His
Holiness stood up and gazed at the machine. “The film is being projected on the screen.
Your Holiness is facing the wrong direction,” said the devotee, politely. His Holiness
responded, “The working of the projector interests me and so | am observing it. As for
the contents of the film, | have personally been to most of the temples in South India.”
After a few minutes of studying the working of the projector, His Holiness sat down,
watched the film and expressed His appreciation of it to the devotee.

The following was narrated by Professor Mahadevan of lIT-Kharagpur and pertains to His
Holiness’s visit to Kharagpur in April 1977.

“l took His Holiness to the various departments at lIT-Kharagpur. In each department, He
posed pointed questions about the activities of that department. At the department of
Naval Architecture, He was particularly interested in gathering details on the different
methods of boat navigation during strong under
“Whatever is done should currents. He watched the demonstrations
be done well and the performed there with full attention. When He
public should reap the visited the department of Chemical Engineering,
benefits.” He enquired about the research projects on
- His Holiness pollution control. After learning the details, He
said, “Whatever is done should be done well and
the public should reap the benefits.

“His Holiness then visited the Railway Workshop. S. S. Narayanan, the Divisional Manager,
escorted Him around. With avid interest, His Holiness posed several questions, such as,
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‘With the facility here, how many locomotives can be attended to at a time? What kind of
repair works are done here?’ To Narayanan, it was indeed a different kind of experience,
for the entire ‘showing around’ was not a routine activity he was expecting akin to the
visits by most of the dignitaries.

“A visit to the Air force station was next
Climbing the cockpit ladder on the agenda. | had my own doubts as to
and reaching the pilot seat, whether His Holiness, a staunch practitioner
His Holiness surveyed of ahimsa, would be interested in visiting a
the interiors and learnt place associated with warfare. His Holiness
about several control asked me, ‘What is the next place of visit?’
devices and instruments Hesitantly, | said, ‘There is an Air Force station
in the cockpit. here. Will His Holiness visit such places where
warfare training and drills are conducted?’
Thoroughly amused at my question, His Holiness responded, ‘Why not?! What is wrong
in my visiting it?!” Duraiswami, the Officer-in-command, and other officers reverentially
welcomed His Holiness. He evinced keen interest in the fighter aircrafts. Climbing the
cockpit ladder and reaching the pilot seat, His Holiness surveyed the interiors and learnt
about several control devices and instruments in the cockpit from Duraiswami.”

During His visit to Coimbatore in the 1960s, His Holiness sent word to G. D. Naidu, an
industrialist, teacher and inventor, who has been referred to as the Edision of India, that
He would like to visit Naidu’s industrial exhibition. Naidu welcomed Him and, though
His visit was meant to be for a few minutes, He spent, as Naidu said in a talk (on 10%
March, 1969), a few hours observing everything in the exhibition minutely. So impressed
was Naidu with His Holiness’s interest, grasp and knowledge and, as reported by him,
His Holiness’s “many constructional works” that he named the training institute that
he subsequently started, “Sringeri Jagadguru Sankaracharya Vidyatheertha Training
Institute.” He later named after His Holiness a hall that he built as also one of the two
big bore wells that he set up to supply water to more than 1500 families. Such was the
impact that His Holiness had on Naidu, an atheist. Interestingly, Naidu had the institute
named after His Holiness inaugurated by ‘Periyar’ E. V. Ramaswamy Naicker, the well-
known social reformer and diehard atheist of Tamil Nadu. His Holiness, for His part,
inaugurated, on 23 April, 1971, the “E. V. R. Periyar Hall” constructed by Naidu. Naidu
said in a speech on 10" March, 1969, “One may be tempted to ask as to what connection
is there between Periyar and Swamiji, who are poles apart in religious matters. | am a
Sishya of Periyar and at the same time | am also a Sishya of the Swamiji.”

255



With G. D. Naidu

At G. D. Naidu’s Industrial Exhibition
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At the request of Raja Venkata Rao Limbekar, whose devotion to His Holiness was deep,
His Holiness camped at his bungalow in Secunderabad for a part of May, 1960. A rotund
jug filled with water and a tumbler were kept for His use in His private room. Sometimes,
without even His attendant being aware of this and just for the fun of it, He wrapped a
piece of cloth around the neck of the jug and secured it to a window such that the jug
hung freely from the window. He then placed the tumbler upside down on the jug in
such a manner that its rim covered the mouth of the jug. When He required water, He
tapped the lower part of the rotund jug, causing it to swing and tilt; this, in turn, caused
the tumbler to fall. In one swift and smooth motion, He dexterously caught the tumbler
and collected the water that poured out from the jug before the jug swung back to its
vertical position. When He wanted less water, He tapped the jug with less force and this
resulted in jug tilting to a small extent; when He wanted more water, He tapped the jug
harder. Such was His grasp of the dynamics of the jug and the flow of water that He was
able to ensure that His requirement of water was exactly met through a single tap and
such was His manual dexterity that not a single drop fell to the ground. {These details
were provided by V. Rajagopal Sharma who happened to witness His Holiness’s setup
and playful collection of water.}

His Holiness established branch Mathas at various places and consecrated many a temple.
These branch Mathas are intended to aid dhdarmika activities and serve to establish close
contact between the devotees and the Sringeri Math. Some of the branch Mathas also
contain facilities for devotees to stay. Kalyana-mandapas, libraries and research centres
have also been founded by Him.

Sringeri and the nearby regions did not have any hospital. Hence, K. S. Natarajan mooted
to His Holiness the idea of establishing a hospital and Vaidyasubramanya lyer threw in his
full support. A hill belonging to the Matha at the entrance to Sringeri was made available
by His Holiness for the hospital. Apart from providing land, His Holiness donated many
lakhs of rupees and, in His time, the medical facility grew from a small out-patient unit
to a full-fledged hospital in the early 1980s, with sophisticated medical equipment and
a full-fledged lab. Dr. V. Parameshvara, a leading cardiologist of Bengaluru, served as the
hospital’s Chairman. K. S. Natarajan functioned as its secretary and rendered yeoman
service to the hospital’s cause by his multi-faceted role. His Holiness frequently visited
the hospital and cheered and blessed the sick ones. With full knowledge of the role of
His Holiness, Natarajan reported, “His Holiness is indeed everything to the hospital, and
it is nothing without Him.” A scientific Research Academy with His Holiness as its trustee
engaged in the conduct of medical research.
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Inauguration of hospital Laying of foundation stone for the Maternity Block

His Holiness with doctors and other devotees The hospital as it stands now
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Inthe 1970s, His Holiness set up in Narasimhavana a new gate leading to the river. The old
gate was about 50 metres to the west. The route through it and the temporary wooden
bridge beyond it to Goddess Saradamba’s temple was circuitous. The path through the
new bridge would have been significantly shorter. However, the problem was that the
river beyond it was deep and putting up a temporary wooden bridge here (supported
by short wooden poles resting on the river bed) was unfeasible. The common view was
that the new gate was useless and several people even told His Holiness this. However,
during the floods that year, a huge deposit of sand filled that location. This had never
happened before. The post-flood depth there became comparable to that in the portion
of the river opposite to the old gate. To this day, decades later, the situation remains
unchanged. It was almost as if the river acted promptly to ensure that the gate put up by
His Holiness became optimally positioned. It was easy thereafter to put up a temporary
wooden bridge every year near the new gate; during the rainy season, as in the case of
the old bridge, it had to be removed and crossing of the river had to be done by boat.

Since people were put to inconvenience in the rainy season and since there occurred an
unfortunate event of boat capsize, His Holiness decided in the early 1980s to put up a
permanent bridge there. He meticulously collected details of various bridges in India and
abroad. He entrusted the construction of the bridge He envisioned to Gammon India.
When T. N. Subba Rao, the Managing Director of the company, visited His Holiness, he
was surprised to find Him speaking knowledgeably about various bridges, such as the
Laxman Jhula in Rishikesh, Howrah Bridge in Kolkata, Sydney Harbour Bridge in Sydney
and Golden Gate Bridge in San Francisco. He exclaimed to H. S. Nageswaran, a disciple
of His Holiness who had accompanied him (and who reported this in a talk), “I think
He has travelled all over the world!” His Holiness expressed His preference to avoid
columns in the middle of the river because, as He put it, He did not want the fishes in
the river to be disturbed by the construction work. Finally, after taking various factors
into consideration, He approved of Gammon India’s proposal to build a bridge with one
column in the middle of the river. He regularly watched over the construction.

According to Nageswaran, a superstitious consultant objected, “Connecting north to
south by a bridge is not a good idea.” His Holiness responded, “If you want to connect
east and west, it cannot happen here.” He added, “The Matha’s cowshed is in a certain
place. You may say that as some cow or calf has died here, this is not the right location for
a cowshed. | may accept your advice and build another cowshed at the place specified
by you. If, after | shift the cows to the new place, a cow or calf dies, what should | do?”
Turning to Nageswaran, He remarked that in such matters one should be pragmatic, not
superstitious.
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View of the bridge across the river

The Arches on both the sides of the Bridge
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Not only was His Holiness not superstitious, He was acutely discerning and logical. When
He was around 21 years of age, a magician came to Sringeri and had His darsana. He then
demonstrated to Him in private what he called, “My power of indrajala.” He showed His
Holiness the front and back of his open palm. He then quickly waved his hand and closed
his fist. When he opened his fist, His Holiness saw a golden ring there. The magician
went on to demonstrate several such tricks. Finally, he prepared a paper cone, showed
it to be empty and then poured some water into it. After a few moments, he jerked the
cone as if he were about to throw the water on His Holiness. But what fell near Him was
a variety of small flowers. He liked the performance and told the man so. He, however,
did not ask the magician how exactly he had performed the tricks because He felt, “Let
me not embarrass him with questions about the secrets of his trade.”

In the 1980’s, one day when | went to His presence, He stretched out His right hand
and told me, “Examine My palm.” | did so. “Is it not empty?” He asked. “Yes, it is,” |
replied. He waved His hands swiftly and while doing so, closed His fist. Then He burst
out laughing and opened His fist. It contained kurikuma (turmeric powder reddened by
adding lime juice). Giving some to me, He said, “This kunkuma did not materialize from

thin air. It is from Saradamba’s temple.”

He then told me, “Fetch a bowl of oil without telling anyone.” When | returned with a
vessel containing oil, He instructed me to heat it on a small electric heater. The oil was
soon boiling. Even as | watched, He dipped His right hand into the oil and pulled it out,
all smiles. It was then that He told me about the magician who had come to Him when
He was around 21 years of age.

“Though | did not ask the magician how he performed his tricks, | deduced them myself
on the basis of what | had seen. Just as he produced a ring, | manifested the kunkuma
purely by sleight of hand. He who is not discerning is likely to think that articles such as
rings and kunkuma can be so manifested only through supernatural powers. | did not
get burnt when | dipped my hand in the oil because, prior to My doing so, | had wet my
hand without your knowledge. Thanks to the water, the temperature on the surface of
my hand was far below that of the oil. | have read that a foreigner dips his hand briefly
in molten metal. Unfortunately, molten metal is not accessible to me right now or else |
would have duplicated his feat for you,” elaborated His Holiness.

“Feel My pulse,” He continued. As | did so, He closed His eyes. Soon, | was unable to
detect any pulse in His left wrist. A little later, the pulse was again detectable and He
opened His eyes. “You might have imagined that because | went into a state of deep
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meditation, my pulse ceased to be detected by you. Actually, | did not meditate. Instead,
it was through a strictly physical means that | briefly inhibited the blood flow to the
hand. My heart continued to beat normally.”

He then closed His eyes once more and began to speak in a variety of markedly dissimilar
voices. Had | merely been given a recorded version of the sounds, | am certain | would not
have been able to identify them as emanating from a single source; in fact, some of the
sounds clearly seemed to be those of females with high-pitched voices. He opened His
eyes and said, “What passes off as possession by a spirit is normally not so. It is easy for
a person to consciously speak like different people. So a deceitful man can pretend to be
possessed by some divine being and earn name, fame and money. People often do not
realize that their faces and, in particular, their eyes betray far more about the workings
of their minds than they imagine. This and information gathered through assistants can
help a fraud to pass off as a mind-reader. The behaviour of a person in the grip of hysteria
may give rise to the impression that he has been possessed by some spirit.”

His Holiness was an avid lover of nature. Not just pleasant scenery, trees, flowers, and
crops but also animals, birds, fishes and even insects interested Him. One day, when He
was nearing 16 years of age, He beheld a wasp in the course of His walk. It was bringing
a motionless grasshopper to the mouth of a hole prepared by it. His keen power of
observation and knowledge of insects led Him to know that the grasshopper was not
dead; it had been paralyzed by a sting of the wasp. The wasp entered the hole, emerged
and then dragged the grasshopper in. Thereafter, it closed up the hole and went away.
He had heard that the wasp lays an egg and provides a grasshopper as food for the larvae
that emerge from the egg.

He desired to see the developments within the hole but did not want to partially uncover
it. Nature, however, favoured Him. The next time He came to the spot, He found that,
for reasons unknown to Him, the mud cover of the hole had a small opening. He brought
His face close to it and peeped in. He saw the larvae that looked different from an adult
wasp. He decided to examine the larvae and the grasshopper in greater detail. For this
purpose, He required a magnifying glass but had not brought one. He did not want to put
off His study to another day. Being resourceful, He picked up a dried leaf, poked a small
hole into it and put a droplet of rain water on the hole He had made. Suitably holding the
leaf, He used the water drop as a magnifying glass and conducted His studies.
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On another occasion, He beheld a monkey sitting seemingly pensively with its hand in
the small gap between two very low-lying, horizontal branches of neighbouring trees. He
placed His head close to the ground to see what was in the monkey’s hand. He noticed
that it held an apple which, apparently, someone had dropped there. As the monkey was
unwilling to let go of the fruit, it was unable to extricate its hand and leave. “In spite of
its intelligence, this simian does not choose to let go of the fruit, withdraw its hand and
then pick up the same fruit by grasping it from below the gap,” thought His Holiness.

He felt pity for the monkey. With a plan to free it from the bondage of its own making,
He peeled a banana and took the fruit near its mouth. The monkey leaned forward and
began to eat the fruit but continued to hold on to the apple. He peeled a second fruit.
This time, He kept it at some distance from the monkey. The simian had no choice but to
release the apple in order to get the banana it wanted. As it was eating the banana, He
pulled out the apple and presented the same back to the monkey.

His Holiness has said, “God’s creation is so fascinating. Nature reminds us of God and
is, in fact, His manifestation before all. When one watches the ocean, one is overcome
with peace and when one looks at the starry sky at night, one experiences tranquillity
and becomes conscious of how very miniscule one is in the enormous cosmos. Sun-rays
playing on the ripples in water, green fields, the pranks of monkeys, the affection of
cows etc., are delightful. Even insects that many tend to spurn have so much to teach us.
Nature is a free, lovely show available for all to experience.”

Frontage of Pravachana Mandiram at Sringeri
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Inside Pravachana Mandiram

Private Secretary’s Office Laying foundation stone for Sri Bharathi Vihara

Sri Bharathi Vihara



Venu Vihara in Narasimhavana Quarters for Matha officials

Malahanikaresvara Temple Viméanas Kalady Temple after renovation
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CHAPTER 15

All-round Administrator

His Holiness’s taking over, in 1959, the reins
of administration of the Matha from the
hands of the Government bears testimony
to His administrative acumen. How this
happened is noteworthy. The administration
of the Matha did not pass into the hands of
the Mysore Government on account of any
mismanagement or impropriety in the Matha.
On the other hand, since Srikanta Sastry,
who had been handling the administration
of the Matha from the time of the 33™
pontiff, formally retired in 1931 and since
Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati, the
then pontiff, was often in a state of seclusion,
the Government of the Maharaja of Mysore
was requested on behalf of the pontiff

to help in handling the administration. L His Holiness’s taking ]
In response to this written request from over, in 1959, the reins of

the Matha, the Government, by an order administration of the Matha
(G.0. No. 397-99/Muz 118-33-8) dated from the hands of the

18 September, 1934, placed at the disposal Government bears testimony

of the Matha, the services of a senior B1t° His administrative acumen.rE
Amildar and issued instructions that the

Revenue Commissioner and the Deputy Commissioner, Kadur District, should generally
supervise the affairs of the Matha from time to time.
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Since the 34" pontiff continued to be in
a state of seclusion now and then, the
Government of the Maharaja issued an
order (No. 1030/Muz 174-35-2, Bangalore)
on 30" January, 1936, that, “the present
arrangement of lending an officer of
Government to work under the Math
will not be satisfactory and some further
action has become necessary to exercise
closer control over the affairs of the Math.
In these circumstances, Government are
pleased to direct that Sri Sringeri Math
with all its endowments and properties be
taken over under their management under
Section 25(3) of the Mysore Religious and
Charitable Institutions Regulation VII of
1927 for a period of two years in the first
instance. ... Mr. Y. Srikantaiya, Assistant
Commissioner, will be appointed as officer in
charge of the affairs of the Math and will be
responsible for the proper administration
of the Jahagir under the general control
of the Deputy Commissioner, Kadur District.
. The Muzrai Commissioner is requested to
L, In 1359. M take necessary action immediately and
to submit separate proposals for all subsidiary steps that may be found necessary for
giving effect to this order. He should make proper arrangements for the regular conduct
of the usual religious services in the Math and the Institutions attached thereto.”

Ly His Holiness dealt with the ‘2
Government with great dexterity
so as to effect the restoration
of the administration to the
Matha. His efforts bore fruit

The Maharaja of the Princely State of Mysore, Jayachamaraja Wodeyar, signed the
instrument of accession to the Indian Union on 9™ August 1947. With India gaining
independence on 15" August, 1947, and becoming a Republic on 26" January, 1950,
the Princely State of Mysore merged with the Republic of India. Thereafter, the control
of the Sringeri Math vested not with the Maharaja, a devoted disciple, but with the
Indian Government. It is known that if the administration of an institution passes into
the Government hands it is almost gone for good. His Holiness, however dealt with
the Government with great dexterity so as to effect the restoration of the administration
to the Matha. His efforts bore fruit in 1959.
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In response to a srimukha from Him dated 23 March 1959, the Government passed
the following order (Order No. RD 22 MDI 59 dated 26" March, 1959): “His Holiness
Jagadguru Mahaswamigalavaru of Sringeri Math has expressed a desire to assume
personal management of the Math and its properties. As the circumstances in which
the Math and its properties were taken under Government management in 1936
have ceased to exist, Government are pleased to direct that the management of
the Math and the properties belonging to it, both in and outside the state, with the
exception of the villages notified for vesting in the notification read in para 3 of the
preamble be handed over to the management of Sri Swamigalavaru with effect
from 1t April, 1959.” In pursuance to this order, ‘the Secretary to the Government,
Revenue Department, Bangalore’, wrote to ‘the Deputy Commissioner, Chickmagalur
District’, “In enclosing herewith a copy of the Government Order No. RD 22 MDI 59
dated 26" March, 1959 directing the restoration of the management of the properties
of the Math to His Holiness the Mahaswamigalavaru, | am directed to request you
to go to Sringeri and handover the management personally to His Holiness the
Mahaswamigalavaru or his Private Secretary at the close of 31 March, 1959 and
report the action taken to Government.”

The transfer of power was to be effected on 1% April, 1959. His Holiness was camping
at Karur in Tamil Nadu; He was there from 22" March to 14" April. At Sringeri, Sampangi
Ramaiah was the Officer-in-charge appointed by the Government. When the Deputy
Commissioner arrived at Sringeri, Sampangi Ramaiah was to hand over charge
to Lakshminarayana Sastry, His Holiness’s Private Secretary. His Holiness directed
Lakshminarayana Sastry to formally take control on His behalf from Sampangi Ramaiah
and asked Sampangi Ramaiah to continue to handle the Matha administration as before,
with the difference that he report to Him instead of to the Government. Sampangi
Ramaiah, who was a retired official who had been appointed specially for administering
the Sringeri Math, readily consented. While His Holiness continued His tour, Sampangi
Ramaiah functioned as His Administrator at Sringeri. This move of His Holiness was a
master stroke because it took some time before people could realise that the change
had occurred and by then it was too late for those opposed to it to do anything.

The Government did return the administration of the Matha to His Holiness but without
the 23 villages that had constituted the Sringeri Math’s Jahagir and 22 other Inam
villages that had belonged to the Matha. Hence, a body blow was struck to the income
of the Matha. In the place of the income from many villages and from an area within six
miles around Sringeri, the Matha had to make do with a limited compensation to be paid
annually. His Holiness took the matter in His stride. When the loss of income was
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mournfully related to Him, He cheerfully
replied, “The Matha had been functioning
well even before the lands were granted.
There is no cause for worry.” His stand was
thoroughly vindicated, for the patronage
of the devotees took over the patronage of
the former kings. He firmly held, “Isvara is
there to take care of everything. Whatever
He decides is indeed the best.”

His immaculate intuition and His razor-
sharp intellect contributed to His unerringly
evaluating situations and how they would
unfold. While He was easily and willingly
swayed by a person’s purity of heart and
very accommodative of incompetent
but sincere persons, He quickly sensed
hypocrisy, insincerity and the buttressing
of data to camouflage underperformance.
Whenever anyone confidentially disclosed
some matter to Him, He never divulged the
source when initiating enquiries and taking
action and ensured that the confider was
not put to any embarrassment or difficulty.
However, He was fundamentally unwilling
to lend His ears to backbiting or prejudiced
nit-picking.

His Holiness once asked a group of devotees
who came to see Him to sit. As one of them
started to speak, He unexpectedly closed
His eyes and said, “Before you start, | would
like to make one thing clear. | cannot do
anything that would hurt anyone’s feelings.
So please do not put me in that situation.”
He then opened His eyes and told them,
“Yes, you can proceed.” The devotees had
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to take care of everything.
Whatever He decides is indeed
the best.”

His immaculate intuition and His
razor-sharp intellect contributed
to His unerringly evaluating
situations and how they would
unfold. While He was easily and
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purity of heart and very
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but sincere persons, He quickly
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and the buttressing of data to

camouflage underperformance.




He had the knack of subtly
nudging groups that did not
see eye to eye to get together
for a common cause.

wanted to complain about a person but
were effectively denied the opportunity to
do so. They spoke about other matters and
left. Later, His Holiness solved their problem
on His own in a diplomatic way, ensuring
that both they and the person they had a
problem with were satisfied.

He had the knack of subtly nudging groups
that did not see eye to eye to get together
for a common cause. A set of devotees
showed His Holiness a building plan for a
branch Matha and sought His opinion about
it. He said, “It is good.” They left. Another
set of devotees who did not get along with
the first group came to His Holiness with a
plan of their own and asked His Holiness
what He thought of it. His Holiness said, “It
is good.” Learning of this, the first set of
devotees subsequently asked Him, “How is
it that Your Holiness approved of our plan
and then theirs?” His Holiness clarified,

“Suppose you show me a cow and ask me

about it. | may say that it is nice. Someone
else may show me a different bovine and |
may say that that is nice. If both are shown
to me and | am asked which is better, | may
specify one. Similarly, if all of you had come
to me together with the two plans, | could
have chosen one and the construction could
have been based on that.”

On another occasion, when some were upset that a person who had taken the lead

was being appreciated, He set them at ease saying, “Suppose a big log has to be lifted.
Several people need to put in effort together to lift it. On the other hand, this approach
will not do if a needle is to be picked up. For this, a single person needs to take the
initiative. In the same way, sometimes people may need to work together as equals
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to accomplish a task and sometimes may
need to work with someone taking the
initiative and leading. Here, the situation
is of the second kind. So why grudge his
leadership, especially when it is good and
effective?”

A person who was visiting a temple
regularly, stopped doing so. When asked
by His Holiness about it, he responded,
saying, “There is too much politics in the
temple and | feel that there is no need for
me to get embroiled in all this. | do feel
guilty about not going there. But what can
| do?” His Holiness asked him, “Have you
been to KGF (Kolar Gold Fields)?” “Yes,”
replied the devotee. His Holiness asked,
“What did you see there?” “Gold extraction
and a few other things,” the person replied,

L} ip hesitantly. “You know how much mud and
“Suppose a big log has to be other unwanted material is extracted and
lifted. Several people need to put brought to the factory daily. From tons of
in effort together to lift it. On the what is excavated, gold is obtained after a
other hand, this approach will not long process. How much gold is obtained?
do if a needle is to be picked up. Only a miniscule fraction of the material
For this, a single person needs to brought. However, the authorities do not
take the initiative. In the same stop the mining because of this. They
way, sometimes people may need discard what is unwanted and persist since
to work together as equals to the reward is worthy. What | am trying
accomplish a task and sometimes to impress is that your attitude should
may need to work with someone be like that. Do not bother yourself with
taking the initiative and leading.” unpleasant happenings. You offer your

worship and leave.”

- His Holiness

Ly b To the extent feasible, His Holiness

resorted to skill-based allocation of jobs and gave officials and supervisors considerable
freedom to function in their respective departments. The norm was that He did not
bypass any hierarchical order of control that He had established or allowed. For instance,
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in Narasimhavana and in Narasimhapura,
there were mestris (supervisors) under
whom many labourers worked. His Holiness
frequently made enquiries about the welfare
of all the labourers, whether permanent or
temporary, and also personally interacted
with them. However, when it came to
giving orders, He directed them through the
person in charge. Likewise, He channelled
several of the relief measures through
the supervisor. Hence, the prestige and
the authority of the supervisor were not
undermined though His Holiness visited
often. Power in the Matha was initially
concentrated in the hands of a few persons.

This provided scope for bottlenecks.
His Holiness effectively implemented
decentralisation, thereby reducing the

chances of disruption of smooth functioning.
He was of the view, “There is no one who
is wholly incompetent. It is just that it is
difficult to find a person who effectively
brings his abilities to the fore.” As for
Himself, He could comfortably manage even
with staff who, as far as others could discern,
were brainless and obdurate too. He gave all
the Matha staff, regardless of the person’s
rank, age or experience, a patient hearing
and considerately and promptly took steps
to mitigate grievances. He gladly accepted
and implemented any good suggestion from
anybody.

The following was narrated
S. Srinivasaragahavan of Madurai.

by

“Once, at the Matha premises near the
Meenakshi Amman Temple in Madurai, |
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To the extent feasible,
His Holiness resorted to
skill-based allocation of
jobs and gave officials and
supervisors considerable
freedom to function in their
respective departments.
The norm was that He did
not bypass any hierarchical
order of control that He had
established or allowed.

His Holiness frequently made

enquiries about the welfare

of all the labourers, whether
permanent or temporary, and
also personally interacted with
them. However, when it came

to giving orders, He directed

them through the person
in charge.
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He could comfortably manage
even with staff who, as far as
others could discern, were
brainless and obdurate too.
He gave all the Matha staff,
regardless of the person’s rank,
age or experience, a patient
hearing and considerately and
promptly took steps to mitigate
grievances. He gladly accepted
and implemented any good
suggestion from anybody.

the kumbhabhiseka of the temples
here! Several senior devotees
petitioned His Holiness to dispose
off the old building and construct
a new and spacious building for the
Matha at a different place in the
city. His Holiness rejected the idea
saying, ‘I consider this sacred, for
it was here that Vrddha Nrsimha
Bharati Mahasvamin  (the 32™
pontiff) invoked Goddess Minakst
in a coconut for the public to worship.
| cannot even contemplate disposing
off this sacred place. Let the expansion
take place here.”

in His
three

He was extremely just
dealings. The following
instances relating to court cases
were narrated to me by Giridhara
Sastry, who was the Administrator
of the Sringeri Math in the early
1980s.
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said to His Holiness, ‘All the other properties
of the Matha have been the recipients of Your
Holiness’s gracious glances. Since this place is
yet to receive the same, it continues to be in
this state, with no expansion.” As if perplexed,
His Holiness asked, “What makes you to say so?
With a road as the northern boundary and the
remaining three sides flanked by other buildings,
where is the scope for expansion?’ | said, ‘There
is still one side left unoccupied, pointing towards
the ceiling. Laughing aloud, His Holiness said,
‘Oh, you wish to extend the building skywards!
Alright, you have my blessings. Go ahead and
commence the construction. | will perform



A person had donated a stretch of land to the
Matha. As years went by, an adjacent portion
too came into the possession of the Matha.
The heir of the donor wanted to retake that
ungiven land. The then administrator of the
Matha declined the claim and the matter
went to court. Legal opinion was in favour
of the Matha winning the case by virtue of
adverse possession. At this juncture, the
claimant wrote directly to His Holiness seeking
His intervention. His Holiness examined the
facts and remarked, “Withdraw the case. Give
back what was not donated to the Matha.”
The fact that the Matha had already spent
thousands on the case and was likely to get
a favourable verdict did not deter Him from
taking this decision. In the meantime, the
person concerned wrote a letter expressing
his willingness to pay a sum of Rs.12,000
to effect an out-of-court settlement. It was
also learnt that the Matha’s lawyer was His Holiness was extremely
negotiating the offer. His Holiness instructed just in His dealings and
that not a single paisa should be collected was unwilling to allow any
and that the disputed land should be deliberate misinterpretation
returned forthwith. His instruction was of the facts.
complied with.

In a certain hearing in Bengaluru, it was the turn of the Matha to present evidence. When
reporting the case to His Holiness, the administrator voiced the legal opinion obtained
that presenting the facts in a certain buttressed fashion would be monetarily beneficial
to the Matha. “Will we be able to keep up in the future what we plan to indicate in the
court now?” queried His Holiness. The administrator’s honest answer was, “No. It will
be difficult for us to carry out what all we are going to declare.” “In that case, do not
represent the case in that fashion. Just state the facts as they are,” directed His Holiness.
He was unwilling to allow any deliberate misinterpretation of the facts.

His Holiness’s sense of justice was well-known. A particular samnyasin was asked to take
charge of the branch Matha at Rajahmundry in Andhra Pradesh. He regularly rendered
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accounts to Sringeri. Before he passed away,
he requested a person, Nageshwara Rao by
name, to attend to the branch Matha. With
the passage of time, Nageshwara Rao claimed
that the property belonged to him. The
matter went to court. One day, Nageshwara
Rao met His Holiness. His Holiness asked
him, “Why should we unnecessarily take such
matters to a court of law? Will not an out-of-
court settlement be better?” “Yes, indeed,”
responded Nageshwara Rao. His Holiness then
proposed, “Why not we present the facts to
a common arbitrator? You may choose any
judge or lawyer. We will submit all our papers.
You too submit your documents. Let the
arbitrator examine the case. If the decision is
in our favour, you may relinquish your claim.

Otherwise, we will hand over the property to His Holiness held that
you.” The proposal was of course fair and in confrontation and threats
fact, advantageous to Nageshwara Rao since seldom generate satisfactory
the choice of the arbitrator was to be his. solutions. In the main, He
Surprisingly, he replied, “This will not be of any effectively defused tensions
benefit to me. Your Holiness is a Jagadguru and animosity through soft
and is held in high esteem by the Hindus. As words, impeccable logic,
such, any Hindu arbitrator will decide in your tackling of emotions and
favour.” “You may select a Christian or Muslim bringing to the fore a person’s
as the arbitrator. There is no reason why sense of morality.

such a person should be biased in my favour,” "gy =

reasoned His Holiness. Nageshwara Rao was

not agreeable to even this. He said, “It will make no difference even if | select a non-
Hindu. Your fairness and sense of justice are very well-known. Whomsoever | select will
decide in your favour.” The case continued. The court decided in the Matha’s favour.

His Holiness held that confrontation and threats seldom generate satisfactory
solutions. In the main, He effectively defused tensions and animosity through soft
words, impeccable logic, tackling of emotions and bringing to the fore a person’s
sense of morality.
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A former manager of a branch Matha nursed, for
some reason, displeasure against His Holiness. He
incited the people in the houses neighbouring
that branch and submitted a joint petition to
Him. To cut a long story short, he sought to raise
an agitation against Him. He readily accepted His
Holiness’s invitation to see Him at Sringeri. They
had conversed for barely a few minutes when the
former manager fell prostrate at His feet, begging
His pardon. That His Holiness readily forgave and
blessed Him needs no saying. The former official
even offered his loyal services. Prior to meeting
him, His Holiness had remarked to me, in the
passing, “An agitation is pitched against me.”
Subsequently, in the course of His evening stroll
that day, He casually told me (and here, | reproduce
His exact words), “Agitation cancelled!”

A somewhat similar incident transpired in
connection with a branch Matha in Kerala. There,
an employee of the Matha who was taking care of
the place took possession of some of the Matha’s
lands. The land laws made it difficult for the Matha
to recover the property that was misappropriated.
His Holiness, on His visit to the place, sent for the
person concerned and spoke to him at length. The
employee, who had reverence for His Holiness,
was convinced and voluntarily parted with a part
of what he had taken over.

His Holiness had the knack of dexterously handling
even complex situations. Once, during His first All-
India tour, a young boy darted across the road | His Holiness had the knack
in front of the pilot van. The driver slammed the of dexterously handling
brakes and the van screeched to a halt directly over even complex situations.
the boy, who had slipped and fallen flat. Fortunately,
he fell between the wheels and escaped uninjured
though the vehicle was stationed atop him. The villagers who beheld the scene presumed
the boy dead and rushed in a rage towards the hapless driver, who was already stricken
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with trepidation. Meanwhile, the boy crawled under the van, emerged from the rear and
took to his heels, without the others noticing him. Not finding the boy, the irate crowd
began to rain blows on the driver. In moments, he was bleeding. The security guard got
out of the vehicle to rescue the driver but that was not to be his day. He grappled with a
villager who attempted to snatch his rifle and soon, both went tumbling down the slope.
The workhand managed to run away with the rifle, leaving the pitiable security guard
not only injured but also very insecure.

In the meantime, His Holiness’s car arrived there. He immediately identified the head
of the group and beckoned to him. Tempers ran high and villagers rushed towards His
Holiness’s car, gesticulating wildly. The force of their ire was spent the moment His
Holiness addressed them with soft words. His Holiness’s magnetic personality and
soothing words had a miraculous effect on the furious gathering. Wrath gave way to
reverence so much so that soon that the leader and the others stood with folded hands
before His Holiness beseeching Him to stay at that place and grace them. At His Holiness’s
instance, the leader sent for the man who had snatched the rifle away and returned it to
the security guard. The villagers had obtained a Guru and order was restored.

Inthe course of His tour of Kerala, His Holiness graced atemple in Pattambion 6" December,
1979. About that time, some statements of His Holiness had been misrepresented in
a section of the press and a hornet’s nest had been stirred. A strong crowd gathered
outside the temple demanding that they see His Holiness and talk to Him. They were
armed with sticks and were apparently belligerent. The then Personal Assistant to His
Holiness, K. M. Balasubramanian, talked to the accompanying security officials.
Unfortunately, they were far outnumbered by the crowd, which certainly would have
the upper hand in the event of an outbreak of violence. Worried, the Personal Assistant
appraised His Holiness about the situation. For His part, His Holiness was thoroughly
unperturbed. After awhile, He emerged from the temple; the vociferous crowd becameall
the moreboisterous. Unexpectedly, takingatray full of dry fruits He beckoned to an agitator.
The man was taken so much by surprise that he mutely stepped forward. His Holiness
handed him the tray and said softly but with force, “Distribute the prasddas to the
people.” The man began to do so. Meanwhile, His Holiness beckoned to a second agitator
and gave him a lot of fruits, again to be distributed. The distribution was thoroughly
unexpected by the crowd which had, as though mesmerised, stopped shouting by then.
His Holiness then said, “Repeat after me” and began to chant, “Hare RaGma Hare Rama
Rdama Rama Hare Hare. Hare Krsna Hare Krsna Krsna Krsna Hare Hare!” Initially, only
a few followed Him, but soon it became an impressive chorus. A belligerent crowd
was transformed into a bhajan party. Minutes later, His Holiness drove off in His car after
He had succeeded in assuaging the persons with comforting words.
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At times, His Holiness had to do something
on the spur of the moment in order to avert
impropriety but without giving rise to any
misgiving in those present. He once graced
a certain place in response to a pressing
invitation. There, the mangalarati was
performed. It would have been improper if He
had, in the customary manner, accepted the
arati. The arcaka approached Him with the
drati in his hands. Had His Holiness refused it,
it would have created a bad impression on the
assembled ones. It took only a split second for
His Holiness to find a solution. He reached for
the bowl containing mantraksata. Surely, He
could not be expected to receive arati when
He was having prasada in His hands. The
arcaka realised that he had to accept prasada
and so had no choice but to place the arati
down and come bare-handed. His Holiness
blessed him and the others and soon left.

His Holiness could handle even embarrassing
situations in an impeccable manner and
with consummate ease. During His camp at
Hyderabad from 20" April to 23 May, 1960,
His Holiness was one day visiting the houses
of devotees for paddapdja. Padmanabha
Upadhyaya (His Personal Assistant) and Kalasha
Shamanna were in the front seat apart from
the devotee driving the car. The driver of the
pilot vehicle that was in front of His Holiness’s
car realized that he was on the wrong road and,
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At times, His Holiness had to
do something on the spur of
the moment in order to avert
impropriety but without
giving rise to any misgiving in
those present.

His Holiness could handle
even embarrassing situations
in an impeccable manner and

with consummate ease.
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intending to make a U-turn, suddenly stopped the vehicle. Noticing the sudden stopping
of the pilot vehicle, the driver of His Holiness’s car also stopped. His Holiness, who
was discussing some important issues with Upadhyaya and Shamanna, took it for
granted that He had reached a devotee’s house and immediately alighted. He walked
straight into the house after opening the gates by Himself; the front door of the house
was open. Upadhyaya and Shamanna blindly followed.
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What His Holiness had entered was the house
of a Muslim family. He quickly sensed this and
that there was some slip-up. The people in the
house were mourning an unfortunate death
that had occurred a few days back. His Holiness
did not turn back and leave. Instead, addressing
a middle-aged woman who was weeping
inconsolably, He enquired kindly as to what the
matter was. The people in the house stood up
and one of them mentioned the cause of their
grief. His Holiness spent some time with them,
uttering soothing and consoling words. Such
was the way in which He freely interacted with
them that they spoke with Him as if they had
been intimate with Him for long. In a matter
of minutes, not only was there no weeping in
the house but the inmates appeared cheered
up. His Holiness asked for fruits to be brought

from the car and gave them to the family members. Having virtually become one of
them and assuaged them, He started to leave. The entire family followed Him to the

Not being obdurate, egoistic
or prestige-conscious, His
Holiness did not hesitate to
modify or even reverse His
instructions when additional
facts necessitated this.

At times, He took totally
unexpected decisions, the
reasons for which were
unapparent to the officials of
the Matha; generally, these
were prompted, as per His own
admission, by the ‘prerana,
divine inspiration’ that He

received.
h

e
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car and saw Him off. After He left, neither did
His Holiness chide His staff for the mix up nor
did He even show any sign that something
had gone amiss; it was as if He had been to a
devotee’s house and left as He would normally
have done. {The source of this information was
Kalasha Shamanna.}

Not being obdurate, egoistic or prestige-
conscious, His Holiness did not hesitate to
modify or even reverse His instructions when
additional facts necessitated this. At times, He
took totally unexpected decisions, the reasons
for which were unapparent to the officials of
the Matha; generally, these were prompted, as
per His own admission, by the ‘prerana, divine
inspiration’ that He received. For instance,



in 1977, during His second all-India tour, He was
scheduled to proceed to Delhi from Varanasi.
Extensive arrangements were initiated at Delhi
on the basis of the prior information available to
the organisers there about His tour programme.
Suddenly, He changed His stance and revealed
His wish to proceed towards Kolkata. None
could understand what had prompted Him to
say so nor did His Holiness give any explanation.
Since commitments had already been made
for Him to visit Allahabad, He decided to go
there from Varanasi and thereafter proceed
towards Kolkata. All agreed later that His
Holiness’s decision had been very timely and
wise. The then President of India, Fakhruddin
Ali Ahmed, expired about the time His Holiness
was scheduled to have arrived at Delhi. It would
have been rather odd if His Holiness entered
the capital at a time when there was State
mourning. Postponement of the visit to Delhi
enabled the devotees there to put in extra
efforts to hasten and complete the constructions
in Shankara Vidya Kendra, the branch in Delhi of
the Sringeri Math, prior to His Holiness’s arrival.
Hence, when He came to Delhi, He could perform
the kumbhabhiseka of the temples there. Had
He arrived at Delhi as scheduled earlier, this
would not have been possible as the works could not have been completed by then.

Being a light sleeper and capable of making do with only four hours of sleep, He used
to wake up once or twice at night, call out to see if the watchman was vigilant and, off
and on, go round Narasimhavana, checking even whether the cows and elephants were
doing well and ensuring that everything was as it should be, such as that just the required
lights were turned on and that too at the appropriate places only. After returning, He
fell asleep in a trice. He once demonstrated this to me in Sringeri, in 1975. Just after
completing giving darsana in the evening to the public, He sent for me. He was seated
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in His room. He said, “I had told you about

Being a light sleeper and falling asleep in a trice at night. Now watch.”
capable of making do with only Immediately thereafter, He closed His eyes and
four hours of sleep, He used to promptly fell asleep; His head drooped. A few
wake up once or twice at night, | moments later, He awakened and said, with a
call out to see if the watchman | |augh, “Good sleep.” It was only when he was

was vigilant and, off and on, in His sixties that He fully gave up going out at
go round Narasimhavana, night to check Narasimhavana.

checking even whether the
cows and elephants were The following was narrated by

doing well and ensuring that | K. M. Balasubramanian.

everything was as it should be,

such as that just the required
lights were turned on and

“Once, when His Holiness and His entourage
were camping at a certain place, a man was
that too at the appropriate appointed as a watchman to take care of the
places only. security and to ring the bell each hour. There

h @ Wwasa big hall in which everyone slept. The
watchman was also there. One night, His
Holiness went around having a look, as He sometimes did. When He inspected the hall,
he found the watchman fast asleep. Without waking him up, He took the clock that
the watchman required to ring the bell every hour and left. When the watchman woke
up from his slumber, he could not find his clock. There were many sleeping in the hall.

The watchman woke up some people, including me, asked if any of us knew what had
happened to the clock. | reprimanded him saying, ‘If you are not able to safeguard your
clock, how are you going to guard the assets of the Matha?’ The watchman desperately
searched for the clock and, on not finding it, did not know what to do. Later on, His
Holiness called me and said, ‘The watchman was sleeping during the night. That is
the reason | took the clock and came away. Tell him this.” He returned the clock; the
watchman learnt a lesson.”

It is well-known that favouritism is detrimental to effective administration. His Holiness
never gave room to any favouritism. Without exception, all those in the know who have
been interviewed have maintained with certitude that His Holiness’s dealings were ever
perfectly fair and they had not come across of a single instance of His Holiness having
acted biasedly in favour of any pdrvasrama-relative.

Members of His Holiness’s former family were fully aware of His Holiness’s impartiality.
A person once approached Ramanatha Sastry, His Holiness’s younger brother, requesting
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him to arrange for an allocation from His Holiness.

Understanding His Holiness’s nature, Sastry told His Holiness never let down

anyone who served the
recommendation from me. It will not strengthen Matha sincerely.

your case. At best, | can accompany you. If you are
fortunate, His Holiness will oblige; else He will not.”

him, “There is no point in your trying to seek a

Once, Ramanatha Sastry was in financial difficulties. Nageshwara Sastry, His Holiness’s
boyhood friend, approached His Holiness and asked Him to extend special help to
Ramanatha Sastry. His Holiness dispassionately replied, “What all there is in the
Matha does not belong to me. It belongs to Saradamba. | cannot extend special help
to Ramanatha merely because he happened to be my brother. | can be impartial and
that is all.”

His Holiness never let down anyone who served the Matha sincerely. A case in instance
is that of Padmanabha Upadhyaya. Upadhyaya was, when young, a student of the
pathasala. He came to the favourable notice of His Holiness. For some reason unapparent
to others, His Holiness instructed the cook to supply him some milk every day. The cook
grew jealous and started mixing some salt in the milk before giving it to Upadhyaya.
Upadhyaya never uttered a word of protest; he did not complain about this to His
Holiness either. His Holiness Himself discerned what was happening and, pleased with
Upadhyaya, took him into His service. Perhaps,
His Holiness had wanted to test Upadhyaya,
aware of how the cook would balk at the idea
of specially supplying the lad milk. His Holiness
personally trained him to handle Matha affairs
with dexterity and, in particular, to establish
rapport and get things done. He became His
Holiness’s Personal Assistant, who reported
directly to Him and whose job primarily
consisted in carrying out whatever task His
Holiness gave him. He served His Holiness with
great sincerity and was at His Holiness’s side
at any time he was required, be it day or night.
In 1974, he had to go to Delhi in connection
with some Matha work. His Holiness intuitively
felt that the trip should not be made as
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planned by Upadhyaya. Pressed to permit the trip, He
gave His half-hearted consent. Upadhyaya passed
away in an accident during that trip, in 1974. His Holiness
had his body flown to Bengaluru and transported to
Sringeri by road.

At that time, Upadhyaya’s three sons were young and his
two daughters were unmarried. His Holiness continued
to provide them accommodation in Narasimhavana
itself and took full care of them. In due course, all of
them became comfortably settled in life. His Holiness
remarked, “Upadhyaya did so much for the Matha. It
would have been highly unjust if | had not taken care
of his family.” His Holiness had, some years before
Upadhyaya’s death, given him suggestions that proved
to be monetarily beneficial to him. There had been a
dispute in his family regarding a division of property.
His Holiness had asked him to stake his claim for a
particular plot of land in Mangaluru and not to bother
much about the rest. Upadhyaya had obeyed. Later on,
the city developed in such a way that that land’s value
shot up.

Simple living and high thinking have characterised
- lp Mahdatmans.
His  Holiness
was particular
about doing
His  personal
works Himself.
He took His
attendant’s assistance only when that was
essential or related to His pontifical duties.
He maintained His things methodically. He
arranged His books so well that He could
locate a book placed by Him even years later,
B without the least difficulty. Mahabala Bayari,

His Holiness was particular
about doing His personal
works Himself. He took His
attendant’s assistance only
when that was essential or
related to His pontifical duties.
He maintained His things
methodically. He arranged His
books so well that He could
locate a book placed by Him
even years later, without the
least difficulty.

h
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who served as His personal attendant, recalled, when | interviewed him, that when His
Holiness wanted him to fetch a book, rather than telling him the name or the author
of the book, both of which would have been unfamiliar to him, His Holiness specified
to Him the room where that book was, in which bookshelf in that room, the shelf in
that bookshelf, the relative position of the book in that shelf and even its size and
colour. Whenever Mahabala searched as per His directions, he invariably located the
desired volume.

He had a prodigious and eidetic memory. He once told me, “l used to remember the
details of all works that were carried out in my presence. In fact, | could even recall the
exact number of nails used for a particular task carried out in my presence and also the
number of strokes with which each nail was driven in.” Many people were pleasantly
surprised that even after a lapse of several years, His Holiness not only remembered
them but also the particulars of their families. He was able to do this in spite of the fact
that thousands of people flocked to have His darsana. As He passed into His seventies
and His health deteriorated, there was some deterioration in His retention, which,
nevertheless, continued to be above par. Regarding this, He humorously commented,
“Earlier, my mind was like a camera. When an object came before it, it was registered
and the negative was permanently stored. Now, it is like a mirror, which reflects only
what is in front of it.”

In 1984, a person, who came to Sringeri for darsana, asked His Holiness, “I would
like to do Siva-pdja. May | have the linga that | submitted to Your Holiness
earlier?” His Holiness immediately fetched the linga concerned and handed it over to
the devotee. As He did so, He remarked, “It is twenty-seven years since you submitted
of the linga to me. At that time, you did not tell

He had a prodigious and 2
eidetic memory. Many people
were pleasantly surprised that

even after a lapse of several
years, His Holiness not only
remembered them but also
the particulars of their families.
He was able to do this in spite
of the fact that thousands of
people flocked to have His
darsana.

Ly ra

me that you would like to have it back some
day. Hence, there was every chance that |
might have given it away to some devotee in
response to his asking me to bless him with
alinga”

In the eighties, His Holiness started to have
difficulty in climbing stairs because of His
cardiac condition and to reduce the height to
be climbed at a time, a small wooden plank
about seven centimetres in height (with its
legs) used to be placed on a step. On reaching

285



a step, He would sidestep onto the
plank and climb to the next step. In
August 1989, | thought of designing
a thin, portable, electro-pneumatic
device with a flat surface for His

Holiness to stand on that would,

when placed on a step, lift up His
Holiness gently and smoothly to
the exact level of the next step. To
cater to steps of different heights, |
wanted to know the highest single

ste

p i

n Sringeri. Hence, | took

measurements at various places in
Narasimhavana and in the temple
complex. When | reported the
matter to His Holiness, He told me
“You need not have taken the trouble

of measuring various steps. | would
have told you that the highest step
is the first one in the Vidyasankara
Temple, counting from the surface for doing pradaksina. Its height is twelve and three
guarter inches. The top step there is ten and three quarter inches high.” His Holiness
then mentioned the step-height at the Samadhi of His Guru and that in the front of
Sacchidananda Vilas. When | checked the paper on which | had noted the heights, |
found that every single measurement that His Holiness had mentioned was completely
accurate. This was mind-boggling. It is noteworthy that His Holiness had never got
the steps in the Vidyasankara Temple measured. He must have spontaneously and
accurately judged their heights when swiftly climbing them in the past. Similar was the

’

h

Every day, His Holiness

attended to a large number
of letters from His various

He

attended to the missives
was a treat to watch.

devotees, not only from India
but also from abroad. The way

]
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case with the other steps. Moreover, He had
been able to recall effortlessly what He had
judged even when, as per His own statements,
His memory had deteriorated.

Every day, His Holiness attended to a large
number of letters from His various devotees,
not only from India but also from abroad. The
way He attended to the missives was a treat



to watch. | have seen Him reading one letter, writing something and dictating a reply to
a second letter read out to Him earlier while not failing to accord by a nod, permission
to sit down to some person who had been sent for — all at the same time. His Holiness
often grasped the essence of a letter even when only a portion of it was presented
to Him. It was well-known in Matha circles that when He hesitated to give prasadas
in response to a prayer for recovery from illness, there was no hope for recovery. | have
come across several such instances.

Jalaja Sakthidasan was a staunch devotee of the Matha. She and her husband,
Sakthidasan, were writers and had co-authored books about the Matha and His Holiness.
When her husband was in a serious condition, she wrote to His Holiness praying to
Him for His blessings for her husband’s recovery. | took the letter to His Holiness and
conveyed the contents, expecting Him to readily give prasadas. His Holiness heard
me out but at the end gravely replied, “There is no point in sending prasada.” A little
later, a telegram was received stating that Sakthidasan had passed away.

A lady wrote a pathetic letter to His Holiness stating that she had lost her mangala-
sttra with pendant and that she would consider herself blessed if His Holiness graced
her with one. When Giridhara Sastry presented the contents of the letter to His Holiness,
He readily asked for one to be sent. Giridhara Sastry despatched a mangalya and
forgot about it. His Holiness, however, enquired whether the needful had been done.
A little later, a variety of mangalyas of Goddess Saradimba were brought to Him.
He pointed at one of them and told Giridhara Sastry, “This type of mangalya should
have been sent to that lady.” As if in fulfilment of His Holiness’s wish, that very kind of
mangalya was what had been despatched to her.

His Holiness’s kindness manifested even when punishment had to be meted out to
an erring staff. Once, an employee of the Matha was extremely careless and this
resulted in a substantial loss. Giridhara Sastry, as the Administrator, decided to
recover the lost amount in instalments from that person’s salary and fixed the rate
of recovery. When he reported the matter g ] ] .
to His Holiness, He felt pity for the person His Holiness’s kindness

and said, “l concede that punishment has to manifested even when

be given but what you have imposed is too punishment had to be meted
much. Care should be taken to ensure that out to an erring staff.

no trouble is caused to his family and to him.
You have been recovering some fine until now.
That is sufficient. No further recovery need
be done.” Giridhara Sastry acted accordingly “gy

He was ready to forgive and
even help an erring Matha staff
who was repentant.

i &
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though the remission meant that hardly ten percent of
the lost amount was recovered.

Another staff of the Matha had committed a grave

offence. Some strongly recommended to His Holiness

to dismiss the man. His Holiness, however, did not take

the extreme step saying, “It is not difficult to relieve

the man of his post and send him home. However, we

should bear in mind that he has wife and children who

are solely dependent on him. Any punishment inflicted

upon him should not be so severe that his family finds

itself in dire straits. Hence, it is not proper to make

him jobless. On the contrary, it will not be advisable

to let him go scot free either, for his misdeed does

deserve some chastisement. Hence, he should be

transferred and given another post in the Matha which is suitable to him.” His Holiness’s
instructions were carried out and the person concerned, who was remorseful for what
he had done, was given another assignment. Later, at His Holiness’s instance, a devotee
got that person a job elsewhere with a much higher salary. Thus, His Holiness gave the
man a temporary punishment but never harboured any ill-will and later, even did him a
special favour.

On an occasion, a staff poured ghee from the Matha’s kitchen into a vessel that he had
brought from home. As he had to attend to some work, he kept the vessel at a particular
spot. This was observed and the matter brought to His Holiness’s attention. His Holiness
could have very easily exposed the concerned person and put him to shame but He
did not wish to do so. He asked another worker of the Matha to give the ghee to the
kitchen and to replace the vessel at the exact spot where it had been left. When the culprit
returned, he must have been in for a shock. He would have known that his theft had been
discovered but would have been thankful that it was not made public. At any rate, he was
in no position to complain, “I had kept some ghee in my vessel. It is missing now.”

A short employee wanted to fetch something that was beyond his reach. Seeing His
Holiness’s asana near him, he used it as a stepping stone, reached up and collected
what he wanted. In the light of the scripture, his act was sinful;, the Guru’s seat
is sacrosanct. When His Holiness came there, He noticed a faint imprint on His
asana formed by the dust on the employee’s foot. From the faint footprint itself, He
instantaneously identified the offender. He summoned him and explained to him, in
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private, the impropriety of what he had done and advised him to abstain from doing so
in future.

Without making suitable entries in the accounts, an official of the Matha gave money
to a person of his own personal choice. The time for the official’s retirement came. He
wanted to hush up the affair. However, His Holiness immediately comprehended the
situation. He told the official to settle the accounts and verify with the available cash.
The man struggled and appeared worried. He was told that he could take rest and
come the next day as that would be sufficient. The man went home. His Holiness felt
sorry for him, for the worried man was likely to have a sleepless night. He sent word to
that person’s residence telling him to be at ease. The guilty official was moved by His
Holiness’s kindness. Feeling ashamed, he rushed to His Holiness and confessed what he
had done. He said that he had lent money in an unjustifiable manner and the beneficiary
was delaying the repayment. His Holiness consoled him and asked him to enter the
amount as a loan in the books and to get that person to repay in instalments. Thus, not
only did His Holiness set right the problem, but also put the official at ease. He was
ready to forgive and even help an erring Matha staff who was repentant.

Shortly after His Holiness became the pontiff in 1954, He told Ramanatha Sastry that He
wished to meet Chennakeshava, a former employee. For some time prior to and after
His Holiness’s samnyadsa in 1931, Chennakeshava used to prepare and serve food to Him.
He had subsequently retired and settled down in Kota, a small town in Dakshina Kannada
district, not far from Sringeri. His Holiness directed Ramanatha Sastry to go and fetch him.
Sastry went to Kota and, after making some enquiries locally, managed to locate and
reach Chennakeshava’s house. Chennakeshava was in a very pensive mood and recalled
that he used to covertly divert much of the milk and curds meant for His Holiness to his
family. He continued to do so till he left the Matha and settled down in Kota. He told
Sastry that a strange disease had then crippled his limbs. He attributed this to his
misdeeds. He felt that he could never set foot on Sringeri since His Holiness would
be extremely angry with him and would never forgive him. Sastry comforted him by
saying that he had come on His Holiness’s instructions for the very purpose of taking
him to Sringeri. Chennakeshava’s fears only increased and he flatly refused to come
to Sringeri. Helplessly, Sastry returned alone and reported back to His Holiness.

On hearing Sastry’s account, His Holiness sent him again to Kota, this time in a vehicle
of the Matha and told him to bring Chennakeshava at any cost. He added that if
Chennakeshava still refused to come, He would be forced to go to Kota Himself. When
Sastry went and informed this to Chennakeshava, the latter became very apprehensive
but, left with no option, accompanied Sastry to Sringeri.
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As soon as Chennakeshava was ushered into His Holiness’s presence, he broke down
and, falling at His feet, confessed that he had wronged Him and sought His pardon. His
Holiness quickly assuaged him and told him that he was like a father to Him since he
had fed Him during His boyhood days in Sringeri. He added that He wished to reward
him for his services and gave him what was a very significant amount in mid 1950s.
Taken aback, Chennakeshava again referred to his usurping what was earmarked for His
Holiness and said that he was in no way worthy of receiving the money. His Holiness
completely comforted him. Chennakeshava then accepted the reward and received His
Holiness’s bountiful blessings. He returned to Kota in peace, relieved of his psychological
and financial burdens. {This incident was narrated by Ramanatha Sastry.}

It is pertinent that in the 1930s His Holiness did not initiate any remedial measures
even though He knew that Chennakeshava was largely taking away what he had been
officially instructed to serve Him in view of His frail health at that time. He also did not
give anybody any inkling of what was happening. Even when sending Sastry in the mid-
1950s, He did not assign any reason; it was Chennakeshava who confessed what he had
done to Sastry. Such was His utter indifference to any wrong done to Him. One can only
conjecture that His Holiness had intuitively discerned that Chennakeshava was contrite,
burdened with guilt and badly off. Moreover, in His unbounded compassion, He decided
to make him psychologically and financially unburdened and therefore sent Sastry to
him not once but twice and had been prepared to Himself go to Kota, if required. Many
are the cases such as this one where one cannot fathom why His Holiness went very
much out of the way to grace even someone who was apparently undeserving and
resistive too. What is patent, however, is that His Holiness overlooked a wrong done to
Him but was satiated to the extent of telling Chennakeshava, “You are like a father to
me,” just because Chennakeshava cooked and served Him food when young.

During His visit to Chennai, His Holiness was scheduled to visit a temple of Lord Vinayaka
in K. K. Nagar on 12™ December, 1977. He was received at the start of the street with
parnakumbha. A devoted lady with a long association with the Matha was waiting there
just hoping that His Holiness would visit her house, which was on the same street, but
understanding that such an unscheduled visit and that too, on His way to a temple was
quite improbable. However, when she managed to express her wish to Him, He walked
to her place, entered it and left shortly thereafter. Later, she went to His Holiness’s place
of stay and submitted a small silver tumbler filled with sugar. His Holiness, aware of her
modest means, sought to know why she was making this offering. She told Him that
He had mercifully graced her house but she had submitted nothing to Him at that time.
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A few months later, when she went

to Sringeri in 1978 to have darsana,

He remarked to the devotees near

Him, “Just because | had been to her

place at Madras (now Chennai), she

offered a large silver vessel to the

Matha.” The lady was amazed, for

what she had submitted was only

a small silver tumbler. After a few

months, when she made another

trip to Sringeri, He told the devotees

there, “Just because | visited her

place, she offered the Matha a large

silver vessel,” and as He said this, He

spread His hands wide apart. She realized that such was His magnanimity and kindness
that He viewed even a small offering made to Him with devotion as great.

The following was reported by S. Y. Krishnaswamy.

“On one occasion, in response to a small donation from me, for which | was apologetic,
He replied, ‘There is no question of it being small. The rain falls only in threads but it
makes a flood.”

Shankara Adiga, a personal attendant (who is now an arcaka at Goddess Saradamba’s
shrine), had a few dreams in which he beheld Padmanabha Upadhyaya who had
passed away years earlier and with whose son he was close. His Holiness provided Him
an opportunity to narrate the dreams to Him and even offered an interpretation that
pleased Adiga. During His Holiness’s camp at Bengaluru, Challa Annapoorna Prasad,
another attendant, was performing, on his own, pija to a small image of Ganapati in the
predawn hours of the dhanur-mdasa. His Holiness happened to pass by that room and,
hearing a soft sound of a pdja-bell, entered. He beheld Challa devoutly commencing
the mangalarati. Pleased, His Holiness waited and fully witnessed it. Challa was in for
a surprise when he turned and realised that His Holiness had patiently beheld even his
simple personal worship. When he had come to the Matha as a lad, he had been unable
to speak normally. His Holiness had intervened and set right his shortcoming.

His Holiness frequently made enquiries about the welfare of the staff and did whatever
was possible for their well-being. For instance, His Holiness once questioned the
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khiledar, Sitarama Bhatta, regarding his

His Holiness frequently made | phealth. Sitarama Bhatta mentioned that he
enquiries about the welfare of

the staff and did whatever was
possible for their well-being.

experienced abdominal pain and indigestion.
After suitable questioning, His Holiness felt
that the likely cause was gastric ulcer and
had him examined by a competent doctor.
The doctor confirmed that Sitarama Bhatta had gastric ulcer and prescribed medication
for it and some dietary restrictions. His Holiness made the necessary arrangements
and also ordered that a glass of milk be supplied to Sitarama Bhatta every morning till
his ulcer abated. Years later, when | interviewed him, Sitarama Bhatta recalled, with
gratitude, that His Holiness’s act of kindness had resulted in his suffering ending and
his health being restored.

The second son of a person employed in the Matha’s cowshed was greatly handicapped;

he could not see, hear, speak or walk and everything for the boy had to be done by

someone else. The worker did not know whether upanayana should be performed for

his son or not. The panditas whom he consulted were not able to give a definite answer

and so he decided to ask His Holiness. His Holiness patiently heard him out and said,

“Upanayana should be performed but because the boy cannot perform his nitya-karma,
it will suffice if you do some extra Gayatri-japa daily
on his behalf” Not stopping with this, He arranged
for the conduct of the function in the Matha and at
the Matha’s expense; the employee merely had to
initiate his son.

His Holiness never stood on prestige and
unhesitatingly helped even in ways that could be
misconceived as undignified for a greatly venerated
Jagadguru Sankardcdarya of a celebrated, orthodox
Amnaya-pitha (Vedic Seat). One night His attendant,
Malnad Venkatesha, had difficulty in sleeping on
account of mosquitoes. However, exhaustion got the
better of him and he fell asleep. Being an early riser,
His Holiness woke up prior to His attendant. Seeing
mosquitoes on Venkatesha, His Holiness neared him,
fanned him with His handkerchief and kept them
at bay. The breeze happened to stir the sleeping
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one from his slumber. As he awakened, His _ '
Holiness silently moved on. It took moments His Holiness never stood on

for Venkatesa to realise that His Holiness had prestige an_d unhesitatingly
Himself fanned him to drive mosquitoes away helped even in ways that could
from him. be misconceived as undignified

for a greatly venerated

The following was narrated by A. Subramonia | Jagadguru Sankardcarya of a
lyer who retired as the Principal of Sree | celebrated, orthodox Amnaya-
Sankara College at Kalady. h pitha (Vedic Seat). &

“As a student, | was fortunate to be under the tutelage of the great scholar, Sri
Neelakanta Sastry of Trivandrum. Sastry and | visited Sringeri during the annual
Ganapati-vakyartha-sadas. Once, after the night Candramaulisvara-pija, His Holiness
summoned Sastry for a discussion. By the time we both left, it was past 11 p.m. While
we were approaching the river, His Holiness’s attendant came running and caught up
with us. He had in his hand something wrapped in a towel. To our pleasant surprise,
he handed us about twenty ripe fruits and said, ‘As it is already late, the kitchen
may not be open. Hence, His Holiness has sent these for you. Indeed, by the
time we reached the bhojanasala (dining hall) on the other shore, it was locked.
Subsequently, when we had His Holiness’s darsana, He said, ‘It is better that you
have your dinner and then come for the pdja. People serving dinner have to clean
the kitchen after everyone eats and only then leave for the day. If you go late for
dinner, it would delay them further. Further, since they should report for duty as
usual, early in the morning, their reaching their home late at night would put them
to much inconvenience. Leave all the vratas (austerities) to me.” We were touched by
His Holiness’s thoughtfulness and compassion in sending us the fruits at that late hour,
lest we go hungry at night. Moreover, it was a lesson in being considerate to all that
His Holiness taught us in so gentle a manner.”

During His Holiness’s tour, at times, when

During His Holiness’s tour, at times, . . .
8 some vehicle failed to catch up with the

when some vehicle failed to catch . . .
rest of the convoy, His Holiness instructed

that His car halt to give time for that vehicle
to arrive. In case of delay, He stepped out

up with the rest of the convoy, His
Holiness instructed that His car
halted to give time for that vehicle

, of His car, stood on the roadside and got
h toarrive. rB His staff to make enquiries from the drivers of

passing vehicles as to whether they had seen
the Matha’s car. If He found the staff slow or inefficient in doing this, without the least
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sense of self-importance
that is common for
personages of His stature,
He waved His handkerchief,
and on a passing vehicle
stopping, Himself asked
the driver.

On an occasion, a car of the

Matha failed to catch up

with the convoy even after

some time. No information
‘ about it could be gleaned

from the vehicles passing by.
His Holiness ordered that His car turn back in search of the missing vehicle. After a while,
the Matha vehicle, which had stopped due to some problems, was located. Giridhara
Sastry, who was in it, came out and requested His Holiness, “We will repair the car and
come. Your Holiness may please proceed.” In a firm tone, His Holiness said that He
proposed to wait until that car was set right. After the repair, the convoy proceeded to
the next camp. There, He summoned Giridhara Sastry and told him, “How could | have
proceeded leaving you all behind? Would | not have had to spend time thinking of your
welfare!” His Holiness was willing to even put up with delay or change in His schedule for
the sake of those who were serving Him.

The following was narrated by K. S. Natarajan.

“When His Holiness came to Mumbai in 1967, | requested His Holiness to grace my
apartment for padapuja. He agreed and came home. My house was very close to the sea.
When His Holiness saw the waters, He was delighted. One day, my wife received a phone
call from the Matha stating that a lorry containing an idol sent by His Holiness was
on its way to the apartment. She rang me up and, on receiving the message, | rushed
home. The lorry delivered a box that was about four feet long, three and a half feet wide
and two feet high; it contained a marble statue of Sankara-bhagavatpada. | learnt that
His Holiness had selected my house for keeping the idol till installation because my house
had an extra wide door. So acute was His power of observation that He had noticed this
even on His short visit.”

Violence and compulsion were objectionable to Him and He consistently maintained that
the means as well as the ends should be righteous. When His Holiness camped at
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Delhi in 1967, the problem of enacting
compulsory legislation to prevent cow-slaughter
was strongly agitating the country. In response
to the demands of various devotees, He gave a
message, although personally He was reluctant
to involve Himself in any controversy in which the
passions of the moment submerged the faculties
of reasoning and the ultimate interests of the
country were forgotten. The message issued on
His behalf was as follows:

“Adhering correctly to the edicts of the
Vedas and sastras would be conducive to
welfare and prosperity. No injury should
be caused to any living being. Leading a
life wedded to ahimsa brings happiness.
Among animals, the cow is most helpful and
useful to mankind and is also an object of
supreme reverence. Protection of the cow is,
therefore, an act of great merit and killing it is Ly B
a heinous sin. Protection of the cow is thus an absolute necessity. At present,
various efforts at a number of places are being made to get cow-slaughter banned.

L g
Violence and compulsion were
objectionable to Him and He
consistently maintained that
the means as well as the ends
should be righteous.

It is the considered opinion of the Jagadguru that the efforts being made to achieve
the objective should be absolutely peaceful and should not cause even the slightest
injury or harm to anyone. Injury or harm to others results ultimately in difficulty and
loss to the country as a whole. In regard to the enactment of suitable legislation for this
purpose, knowledgeable persons should jointly consider, examine and decide in what
manner such a legislative measure could be brought about.”

Thus, in His message, He not only expressed His concern about cow-slaughter but also
advocated the eschewing of any violent methods to achieve the enactment of legislation
to ban cow-slaughter.

The following was reported by P. S. Narasimhan.

“An incident which lives in my memory happened on Vardhanti day in 1976. His Holiness’s
forthcoming tour of North India and His visits to Benaras and Delhi were being discussed.
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A leading disciple from Delhi was insisting that His Holiness
should, during the stay in Delhi, take part in a rally for the
protection of cows; this was scheduled as a big public
protest and was to be televised. Raising His voice, He told
the disciple, “I do not want all this. It is not necessary
that | should join a demonstration for cow-protection or
appear on television. | am, however, very much interested
in the protection of cows and maintain several cows in
Sringeri. This, one and all can see.” The next moment the
fleeting show of anger had subsided and His Holiness
was His usual personification of peace. After all the other
disciples had left, my wife and | had stayed back to take
leave of His Holiness. | referred to this incident and
expressed my humble admiration for the extraordinary
way in which His Holiness had been able to summon a
show of anger and then to revert to His usual poise in an
instant. His Holiness remarked, ‘There are certain occasions
when we have to exhibit a show of anger. Anger must
be under our control, to be used when necessary and
abandoned when the need ceases.”

When His Holiness was touring Tamil Nadu in 1964, the
convoy of Matha vehicles passed through a certain village.
The villagers stopped His Holiness’s car and surrounded
it. They were suffering due to prolonged lack of rain. The
simple and troubled village folk said to His Holiness,
“We have heard that you are the ‘Mazhai-Svamigal
lp (Svamin who

“There are certain occasions brings rain). Please bless us with rain.” His
when we have to exhibit a Holiness called the Matha officials and
show of anger. Anger must announced His decision to camp for the night
be under our control, to be in the village. He explained, “These people
used when necessary and have a lot of faith in God and to some extent,
abandoned when the need in me. If | now go away from this village, their

ceases.” faith will be impacted” The officials had
- His Holiness their own concern that all arrangements had

™ B been made for the evening programme at
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the next scheduled stop

and that the Matha’s

trucks had already left for

that destination earlier.

However, His Holiness

was firm in His resolve to

stay there and do puaja.

It was around 3:30 p.m.

at the time. In a while,

the trucks laden with

all the requirements for

the pdja returned. With

some difficulty, a small

house was identified

to store the belongings

and to set up the pdja. The pdja was completed that night. Within an hour, it started
pouring heavily, accompanied by thunder and lightning. The rain continued unabated
through the night. The next morning, the headman of the village accompanied by
some others approached His Holiness and prayed to Him to kindly stop the rain. They
expressed their immense gratitude to His Holiness and told Him that they now had
sufficient water. The rain stopped soon thereafter.

His Holiness had earned the sobriquet “Mazhai Swamigal (Svamin who brings rain)’ in
His first tour of Tamil Nadu in the late 1950s. At that time, there was a severe drought
in the region, with rains having failed for long. Tanks and wells had become dry or were
drying up. However, wherever He was prayed to for rain and invited, it had rained.

During His All-India tour, when He was observing caturmasya in Ujjain in 1966, a group
of persons approached Him and respectfully asked Him, “Swamiji, why have You not
yet blessed us with what we want?” His Holiness asked them what they desired. They
said, “Rain.” His Holiness had special prayers offered at a temple of Hanuman. It started
raining and they came to Him and expressed their gratitude. The next year, when He
reached Gaya on 25" April 1967, He was escorted by the Chief Minister to a meeting
held in a vast ground and attended by tens of thousands. The region was afflicted
by drought and His blessings were sought for rain. In His benedictory address, His
Holiness referred to the hardship the people were facing and said that He would pray
to Sarada-Candramauliévara for rain. Subsequently, He prayed; it rained.
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The following was penned and given to me years ago by H. N. Shankar, who served as
the Deputy Administrator of the Matha in the 1980s.

“His Holiness had set out for His evening walk in Narasimhavana. | had been
following Him a couple of paces behind. He was approaching the car park adjoining
Sacchidananda Vilas. Strolling along the pathway and looking at the rose and jasmine
gardens to His right and left, all of a sudden, He chanted the Kannada nursery rhyme
‘huyyo huyyo male raya; havina totake nirilla (O rain god, pour forth, pour forth. There
is no water for the flower garden). By the time he had chanted it the third time, it
started drizzling. As we approached the shelter of the car shed, the drizzle had picked
up into rain. Entering the shed, He turned around, faced the garden and surveyed
the scene in front of Him with a sweeping glance. After a brief silence, He remarked,
‘This is strange. We were taught this line when we were kids. Whenever | recall it and
chant it, it somehow starts raining. See, it is raining now. Svamigalu (referring to His
successor designate and present pontiff Jagadguru Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin)
even says, ‘Your Holiness should not recite this rhyme randomly. It will immediately rain.’
On a later date, | mentioned this to Sri Sannidhanam. “Yes, indeed! | have said so. | have
seen it rain after even a casual utterance of that line by His Holiness. It may be surprising
but | shall testify to it,” was His reply.”

When His Holiness was touring the Tanjavur District of Tamil Nadu in June 1959, two
persons met Him and asked Him in private, “How do you bring rain?” “l do not,” replied
His Holiness. “You are said to be the Mazhai Swamigal.” “People are free to call me what
they wish,” was His Holiness’s response. He added, “The one who blesses people and
bestows rain is God. | merely submit a request on behalf of people. The rest is entirely

up to Him. If | were to ever imagine that | am

1) lp the cause of rain, even my submission to God

“The one who blesses people will be in vain.” His Holiness told me of this

and bestows rain is God. | conversation in May 1974 when | told Him that

merely submit a request on | had just heard from the purohita, Ganapati

behalf of people. The rest is Subrahmanya Avadhani, that He had been

entirely up to Him. If | were referred to as “Mazhai Swamigal” in Tamil
to ever imagine that | am Nadu in the 1950s.

the cause of rain, even my
submission to God will
be in vain.”

Thefollowingwas narrated by A.S. Raghavan, an
eminent musical exponent of the Tiruppugazh
(Saint Arunagirinathar’s profound, devotional
- His Holiness | outpouring in Tamil primarily in praise of Lord

h ] Kartikeya).
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“During His Holiness’s visit to Kolkata in 1967, when the organizing committee members
were undecided about whom to invite for singing bhajans on a morning, His Holiness
told P. Subramaniam, the chief organizer, ‘Invite Raghavan of Delhi to sing Tiruppugazh
bhajans.” My group members and | were pleasantly surprised that none had any difficulty
in obtaining a week’s leave. On the scheduled day, | sat on the stage to begin the bhajan.
However, | learnt that His Holiness had left the venue earlier to fulfil devotees’ wishes
that He grace their houses, witness their padapdaja (performed to the padukas of His
Holiness’s Guru or to those of Goddess Saradamba) and bless them. | commenced singing
with a heavy heart. | sang for over two hours. Just as | finished singing the last verse, His
Holiness entered the venue, went straight to His seat and started blessing the devotees
with tirtha-prasada. | joined the queue, cursing my ill-luck that in spite of being called
to Kolkata at the behest of His Holiness, | could not sing anything in His august presence.

“When my turn came to receive tirtha, His Holiness remarked, ‘You sang very well. |
enjoyed listening to the Tiruppugazh. Unable to contain my disappointment, | blurted
out, “Your Holiness was not here when | sang.” Smiling at me, His Holiness said, ‘Oh, so
you think that | did not listen to your bhajan?’ | nodded my head. His Holiness continued,
‘I arrived at the venue when your performance was hardly halfway through. | observed
that the audience was engrossed in the bhajan. Had | entered the hall, | would have only
disturbed your performance. People would have got up and even queued up to receive
tirtha-prasada. There would have been commotion and you would have been forced to
stop the bhajan. Hence, | sat outside the entrance to the hall. | instructed my staff not
to let anyone know of my arrival. | enjoyed hearing your songs. | came in only after you
completed your singing.” | was awestruck by His considerateness and lack of ego.

“Later, when | went to Sringeri, | expressed to His Holiness that | felt bad that | did not
know Sanskrit and had not studied Vedanta. His Holiness asked me to recite a set of
verses of the Tiruppugazh and expound them. | did so. His Holiness pointed out that the
verses reflected the essence of the Upanisads and told me, ‘Have no regret. Chant the
sacred verses of the Tiruppugazh and sincerely reflect on their meaning. You will attain

m

sreyas (felicity).
His Holiness had instructed that the accounts of the Private Secretary’s office be recorded
for Him in a book and that that book be submitted to Him every fortnight. He used to go
through it carefully. He was particular that the money donated to the Matha be spent for

the right causes only. He said on different occasions that there was a great responsibility
on Him and the authorities in the Matha because devotees donated in the belief that
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their donations would be rightly used for good causes
and that it would be a grievous transgression if what
they gave was misused. He added that as far as the
donors were concerned, regardless of what happened
in the Matha, they would earn punya by virtue of their
having performed charity.

His Holiness personally oversaw the running of the
Matha. When He was on tour, He penned letters to
the Adminstrator to update him, make enquiries and
give instructions. For instance, in a letter (in Kannada)
dated 12.12.1981 to Giridhara Sastry and sent from
Namakkal (in Tamil Nadu) He wrote, “At Rajapalayam,
the Satacandi-homa was conducted with much faith,
devotion and grandeur. In Madurai, Sri Gopalakrishna
lyer and others offered their services and greatly

furthered
the zeal of the devotees. The Organizing
Committee made an offering of Rs. 50,000.
In the gathering itself, | passed on to Sri
Vaidyasubrahmanya lyer thatamount towards

the functioning of the Sanskrit College. ...

Letters received from the branch Mathas
must be diligently looked into and replied to
in a timely fashion. Else, the managers there
will lose interest. ..How many quintals of
areca nut were harvested this season? | was
informed that the she-elephant breached
the gaja-sala (elephant shed) at night and
destroyed some coconut saplings. To what
extent is this information factual? It must
be ascertained time and again that a sentry
is in place at the temple of Sri-Sarada during
the day and at night. Convey my enquiries
and benedictions that are preceded by
Narayana-smarana (the thought of Narayana,
the Supreme) to the main personnel of
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Narasimhapura, Narasimhavana and the
Matha. Ensure that they function with
enthusiasm. | have shown your letters to my
Sisya-svamin (the present pontiff, Jagadguru
Sri Bharati Tirtha Mahasvamin) and conveyed
your salutations to him.”

In a letter dated 30.7.1982 and penned in

New Delhi, His Holiness wrote, “The tours

of Gangotri and Yamunotri have been

completed comfortably. ... The proposal to

bring black granite for the Malahanikaresvara

Temple and dress those stones must be

laid to rest. ... It would be prudent to drop

the idea of letting out Sharada Niketan to

others. We will need it. ... It is apt to dispose

off the lands of Anantapura now. ... From those funds, a permanent Trust may be
established. ... Sri Ganeshaiyya of Narasimhavana writes to me frequently. Do keep me
posted about your views on the matters concerned. Has any damage been caused to
the coconut grove at Narasimhapura because of the delayed rains? Has the water from
the pumps been adequate? | accept your suggestion that an officer has to be appointed
whose job is to hasten the matters related to land reforms. Make the appointment...
What is the muhdarta of your younger sister’s marriage? Do not bother about the funds
required for that. | will make them available when required. Inform forthwith. Do not
hesitate...Hold the meeting of the Managing Committee of the Sri Sharada
Dhanvantari Charitable Hospital at Delhi. Sri Dharmatma {Vaidyasubrahmanya lyer}
is expected to arrive at Delhi by 14™ August. If Sri Natarajan, Sri Parameshwara and
the other essential people come at the same time, it will be conducive...Inform the
concerned, get their opinions and write to me.”

In a letter dated 10.12.1981 and sent from Rajapalayam (in Tamil Nadu), His Holiness
expressed with reference to the works in the Sri Shankar Math in Sultanpete in Bengaluru,
“All the works taken up but not yet completed must be completed. There are no two
ways about this. ...It would be sufficient if the existing structure is properly repaired
so as to provide good facilities for the people.” With reference to the Shankar Math in
Shankarapuram in Bengaluru, He conveyed, “If we keep adding to the works, that may
become a cause for concern for us later. ....It has been our experience that an initial
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estimate of a lakh of rupees ends up as an actual expenditure of two lakhs.” Referring
to the Sharada Dhanwantari Hospital in Sringeri, He wrote, “We must take note of the
fact that after the new doctor-couple has joined, the hospital has been functioning well
and the public opinion about it is rather favourable.” His Holiness directed Giridhara
Sastry to visit an elderly widow who had lived for long in Narasimhavana and was then
an inpatient at the hospital and convey to her His blessings. At the close, He enquired
about Giridhara Sastry’s mother. {Giridhara Sastry was kind enough to allow me access
to all the letters written by His Holiness to him.}

The following was narrated by V. Rajagopal Sharma.

“This happened during His Holiness’s camp at Hyderabad in January 1966. He had
allowed metosleepin Hisroom at night for afew days. The Maharaja of Mysore and Raja
Venkata Rao Limbekar had submitted high quality, imported mattresses and blankets
for His Holiness’s use. The attendant laid the bed for His Holiness at night before He
entered. After the door was closed, He removed His upper cloth, rolled it up and used
this as His pillow. He lay on deerskin on the floor; His lower cloth served as His blanket.
He chanted ‘Sambho Mahddeva’ thrice and fell asleep. In the morning, as soon as He
got up, He slightly rumpled the blankets on the bed. This went on for a few days. One
day, | asked Him, ‘Why is Your Holiness doing this?’ He clarified, ‘l am a samnydsin and |
do not want comforts. However, those who donate such articles expect me to use them.
If they come to know from the attendants that | am not utilising them, they may come
to the conclusion that the items offered were not regarded by me as good enough and
feel bad about it. As a result, they may trouble themselves further and get me even
more valuable objects. Why give room to all this? Because of seeing the blankets
rumpled, the attendants will not report to the eminent donors that | did not use them.””

The following was narrated by Dr. H. C. Visvesvaraiya.

“During one of His Holiness’s visits to Delhi, | was desirous of making a special wooden
cot for Him to sleep on, as the weather was extremely chill. Later, | found that His
Holiness did not lie on it but on the floor. Anxious, | submitted, ‘l have arranged for the
cot exclusively for Your Holiness’s use. It is brand new and no one has used it so far. |
will be very happy if Your Holiness uses it.” His Holiness smiled and said, ‘Yes, | will." Later,
| was surprised to find that He used it only to keep His articles on that and to occasionally
sit on that, but not for sleeping. He continued to sleep on the floor, unmindful of the
testing weather.”
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Justice Somanatha lyer (who retired as the Chief Justice of Karnataka and had been
the Governor of the State for some time) once asked His Holiness: “Your Holiness can
have all the comforts in the Matha. Instead of experiencing any comforts, Your Holiness
strains Yourself so much every day, from early in the morning to late at night. What
does Your Holiness get out of this?” His Holiness smiled at him and said, “Suppose
you are offered a choice between plain jaggery and badam halwa (a sweetmeat made
of almonds), which one would you choose?” Somanatha lyer said, “Where is the doubt
here? | would choose badam halwa.” “Likewise,” responded His Holiness, “those
who have tasted the bliss of the Supreme will not seek mundane comforts.” {This was
reported by Justice Somanatha lyer’s son, S. Shivaswamy.}

The following was reported by S. G. Narasimhaiyya.

“l asked His Holiness, ‘In the photos published in the Matha’s almanac and other
publications, Your Holiness is just dressed as a samnyasin. Should we not publish, instead,
photographs of Your Holiness in all splendour, fully decked with ornaments symbolic
of the position of the pontiff of this great pitha?’ He said, ‘This is my preferred way
of being. Intrinsically, | do not want any of the pomp and grandeur that the pitha is
associated with, though they may be required on specific occasions as per the age-old
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tradition of the pitha. By my Guru’s grace, | am firmly convinced about this. If | were
to have complete liberty, | would go away this very instant and, in solitude, immerse
and lose myself in the contemplation of the Supreme.””

Venkata Rao Limbekar wanted to gift what is presently the big branch Matha at New
Nallakunta in Hyderabad to His Holiness Himself. He told Him, “I want this to be the
personal property of Your Holiness. Even if, at some time, the Matha were to come
to a bad turn or things were to become greatly troublesome for Your Holiness there,
Your Holiness need not bother. Your Holiness could simply move in here.” His Holiness
told him, “lI am a samnyasin. | am not supposed to own anything and | have not even
a trace of a wish to do so. | would be quite happy to live in the manner prescribed
for paramahamsa-samnyasins. | would love to move on foot from one place to
another, bathe in a river or some other open body of water, subsist on what food |
may get by begging, sleep under some tree,
in some cave or in some temple, and spend
my time largely in meditation, focused on
the non-dual Truth and oblivious of the
world. My Guru has, however, assigned
me the duty of heading the Sringeri Math
and that is the one and only reason | am
shouldering this responsibilty. The scripture
teaches that the Supreme Brahman is all;
there is not even a jot or a tittle distinct from
It. Purely by the grace of my Guru, | know
that | am Brahman. So what is there in the
three worlds that is not mine? At the same

“I am a samnyasin. | am not
supposed to own anything and
| have not even a trace of a
wish to do so. | would be quite
happy to live in the manner
prescribed for paramahamsa-
samnyasins. | would love to
move on foot from one place
to another, bathe in a river
or some other open body of
water, subsist on what food
| may get by begging, sleep
under some tree, in some cave
or in some temple, and spend
my time largely in meditation,
focused on the non-dual Truth
and oblivious of the world. My
Guru has, however, assigned
me the duty of heading the
Sringeri Math and that is the
one and only reason | am
shouldering this responsibilty.

time, nothing whatsoever is mine, for | am
not the body-mind complex and am just
unattached pure consciousness. King Janaka,
according to the Mahdabhdarata, averred, ‘My
wealth is indeed unlimited; | have nothing/
| too have nothing and yet have everything.
As far as your offer is concerned, | fully
appreciate your sentiment and your deep
devotion to and concern for me. Please give
up the idea of gifting it to me. You could give
it to the Matha instead.” Limbekar told His h
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Holiness, “l am blessed to have heard Your Holiness say all this. | shall donate it to the
Matha. Having seen how Your Holiness heads the Matha, | know that Your Holiness will
manage and develop this as if it belonged to Your Holiness.” | learnt of this from His
Holiness in 1985.
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CHAPTER 16

He Graced All

Ever so many people came to His Holiness for blessings,
guidance and succour. These included those who
were ailing and wanted Him to relieve them of their

‘ suffering, those faced
080

Ever so many people
came to His Holiness
for blessings, guidance
and succour. These
included those who
were ailing and wanted
Him to relieve them of
their suffering, those
faced with difficulties
for which they sought
His guidance and sacred
intervention, people
desirous of progressing
in the spiritual path
and even those who
were enlightened. His
Holiness dealt with each
and every one in an
appropriate manner.
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with difficulties for which
they sought His guidance
and sacred intervention,
people desirous of
progressing in the spiritual
path and even those
who were enlightened.
His Holiness dealt with
each and every one in an
appropriate manner.

His Holiness accorded

high priority to spiritual

aspirants. An lItalian came to Sringeri in November
1974, hoping to receive some clarifications regarding
Gaudapadacarya’s Karikas on the Mandikya-
upanisad. However, His Holiness was rather busy at
that time; He was to accomplish ‘Sisya-svikara
(initiating a disciple into samnydsa and nominating
him as His successor-designate)’ on 11" November.
Hence, it was felt that it would be impossible for
the foreign aspirant to have a private audience
with His Holiness. Yet, when he made a request to
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His Holiness, He readily consented to spare
time for him and, with Sri Subbaramaiya acting
as an interpreter, answered his questions and
resolved his doubts. On being asked about this,
His Holiness said, “He is sincere and has come all
the way to India to learn. It is my duty to provide
him clarifications and, hence, obligatory on me
to spare time for him.”

On another occasion, three brahmacarins
from North India came to Sringeri to have His
Holiness’s darsana and obtain spiritual guidance
and blessings for their spiritual progress from
Him. It was around 6.40 in the evening when
they reached Narasimhavana. As His Holiness had
finished granting audience that evening and was
to proceed for His evening bath in a few minutes, His attendant was hesitant to inform
Him about their arrival. His Holiness, however, specifically asked him, “Has anybody
come for darsana now?” The attendant answered in the affirmative. “Usher them in,”
ordered His Holiness. Accordingly, the brahmacarins were led upstairs to the presence
of His Holiness. They prostrated before Him. He gestured to them to sit down. After
asking them, in Hindi, where they were from, He asked them the purpose of their visit.
They said that they were interested in progressing in the spiritual path and reverentially
posed their questions. His Holiness began His reply in right earnest. Since He chose to
give elaborate answers, it was around 7.15 p.m.
before the first of their major questions was dealt \_/6\(@7“‘{(\)//33\/
with. As was his duty, the attendant came and “How sincere these
informed His Holiness the time, by way of indicating brahmacérins are! It is
that it was getting late for His Holiness (who, after delightful to be of some
His evening bath and ahnika normally commenced help to them. It does not
His Candramaulisvara-pija in public around 8 p.m.). matter however much
His Holiness continued as if no interruption had my bath is delayed. Their
taken place. The spiritual question-and-answer requirements deserve
session progressed, with both the enquirers and His top priority.”
Holiness fully engrossed in it. Time passed on and at
8 p.m., the attendant again made his appearance,

only to be waved off. It was around 9 p.m. before W/C)\‘“%W

- His Holiness
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His Holiness finished answering all their questions. He then gave them His complete
blessings and prasada. They were visibly overjoyed and expressed their gratitude.
They left spiritually charged, with joyful hearts and fond memories. | was present
during the discussion and, in the middle of it, His Holiness had turned to me and said,
“How sincere they are! It is delightful to be of some help to them. It does not matter
however much my bath is delayed. Their requirements deserve top priority.”

One day, His Holiness was not keeping well and darsana had been highly restricted.
A spiritual aspirant in his twenties had travelled a long distance to see His Holiness
and was to leave the next day. When | made known the matter to His Holiness, He
instructed me to call him in. Unmindful of the strain, He patiently heard the aspirant
thoroughly and then gave him valuable spiritual advice.

His Holiness told me the following in 1987:

“When | was about twenty years of age, two Bairagis, who lived on the banks of the
Narmada in Madhya Pradesh, came to Sringeri. They wanted to have my Guru’s darsana
and seek some clarifications from Him. As He was in seclusion at that time, they were
unable to approach Him. They met me. One of them looked weak and somewhat
effeminate, while the other had powerful muscles and resembled a wrestler.

“In the course of his conversation with me, the first one hesitatingly said, ‘I have
been leading a life of renunciation but am not free from sexual desire. While | never
misbehaved with any woman, bad thoughts troubled me off and on. This was the
situation till a few months ago, when | met a Baba and posed my problem to him. He
gave me a large packet of medicinal powder and said that if | consumed a little of it
every day, | would obtain relief. | have been sincerely following his advice. My desires
have largely vanished. | think that | have gained a great spiritual benefit. However,
my muscular strength has come down and my chest has become a little like that of a
female. My companion is in need of help to deal with lust. He is hesitant to take the
Baba’s medicine because he fears that his muscles will become weak. He wanted to
ask Guruji whether in the interest of spiritual growth, he should overcome his
hesitation and resort to the medicine. | wanted to ask Guruji if | should continue with
this medicine or whether Guruji would give me some other medicine without the side
effects. We have, however, not had the good fortune of being able to talk to Him. Would
you like to keep and use some of the medicine that | have? | can replenish my stock
from the Baba who gave it to me.’ | declined his offer.

“The second person asked me, “You are young. Are you not troubled by sexual thoughts?’
| answered that | was not. At this, both of them asked, almost in unison, ‘Will You please
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help us and tell us what we should
do?’ | answered, ‘Do not use the
medicine. You cannot gain any
spiritual benefit by checking the
sexual instinct through it. Kings
employed eunuchs in their harems
because they were confident that
the eunuchs would not be tempted
and misbehave with the women.
none regards
eunuchs as great celibates. None

However,

deems that they became spiritually & " :

great on account of castration. On
the other hand, all of us regard sage
Suka as established in continence
and as spiritually great. His body
was intact but he was so free from

those |
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desire that even damsels in the nude did not care to

cover themselves when he passed by them. A dumb person cannot utter a lie but because
of that he is not looked upon as one who never lies. A person who is unconscious is
not revered as a yogin just because he is free from all thoughts of the world. Incapacity

Just as desire is bad for
the mind, so is hatred.
Both likes and dislikes are
impurities that agitate
the mind. The scriptures
speak of seeing the
defects in an object
just to neutralise a pre-
existing attachment born
of the notion that the
object is pleasurable. The
aim is definitely not to
generate hatred.

/\Q%C—D\‘)‘?'{Q/C)Ng/_\
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does not confer spiritual benefit. The medicine with
you temporarily and partially renders you equivalent
to a eunuch. It is, as far as gaining spiritual benefit is
concerned, no better than castration. | shall provide
you a medicine that will enable you to be rid of lust
and to gain spiritual benefit.

“| asked them to go to Saradamba’s temple, spend
half an hour gazing at Her with devotion and to pray to
Her with faith to rid them of lust. They returned after
half an hour. | told them, ‘In the Durga-saptasati it is
said that all women are the Divine Mother’s forms.
Whenever you are tempted by the sight of a woman
or think of a female with desire, immediately think of
the gracious Divine Mother. Feel that it is She who is in
the form of all women. Also implore Her now and then
from the bottom of your heart to free you from lust.



‘Need not contempt for women be cultivated
to combat lust?’ asked the muscular Bairagr.
| replied: ‘No. Just as desire is bad for your
mind, so is hatred. Both likes and dislikes
are impurities that agitate the mind. The
scriptures speak of seeing the defects in
an object just to neutralise a pre-existing
attachment born of the notion that the object
is pleasurable. The aim is definitely not to
generate hatred. Suka certainly did not hate
or look down upon any woman. He looked
upon everything as the Supreme Brahman.
The Bairdagis left Sringeri shortly thereafter.

“They returned after about a year. This time,

both of them looked healthy and muscular.

On seeing me, they joyfully said, ‘Swamiji,

your ‘medicine’ is very effective and has no

side effects” | clarified that Saradamba’s

grace and their dedicated efforts were what had cured them. During this trip, they had
the great good fortune of getting my Guru’s darsana and blessings.”

In the year 1984, His Holiness was scheduled to leave Sringeri for Kalady via Bengaluru.
A brahmacarin from Rishikesh came a little after noon for His Holiness’s darsana. His
Holiness had already left for His afternoon bath. The brahmacarin told me, “I have seven
guestions pertaining to Yoga and Veddnta which | wish to pose to His Holiness. They
are very important to me. | contacted numerous scholars, practitioners of Yoga and
samnyasins at Rishikesh, Uttarkashi, Haridwar and Kashi but none was able to satisfy me.
A scholar at Kashi directed me to Sringeri, saying, ‘If the Jagadguru of Sringeri cannot
satisfactorily answer you then there is none in the world who can.” That is why | have
come most eagerly to Sringeri.”

| told him, “His Holiness will be starting on a tour today. If you wait here, you can have
His darsana just prior to His departure. However, there is no time today for you to have
a lengthy private session with Him.” He said, “I will gladly wait to behold Him even if
it be for just a moment.” He then told me one of the questions that he had in mind
and requested me to tell His Holiness about him. | fulfilled his request shortly after His
Holiness completed partaking of His bhiksa (meal).
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When | submitted the information

conveyed by the brahmacarin

to His

Holiness, He responded, “The question
that he conveyed to you is good and
pertinent. As there is no time to spare
today, he could, if he wishes, meet me
at Bengaluru and pose his queries to me
there. If | happen to know the answers,
| shall tell him. Else, | shall readily admit
that | am not in a position to help him.”
In about half an hour, His Holiness came
out to the front portico of Sacchidananda
Vilas. Some devotees, inclusive of the

brahmacarin, were there.

The brahmacarin prostrated before His

Holiness. His Holiness looked at him

with compassion, raised His right hand in a gesture of blessing and said, in Hindi, “May
you be happy.” He then moved on. | quickly conveyed to him what His Holiness had
told me. Almost before | finished, he said, “The answers to all my questions became
fully known to me when His Holiness blessed me.” In the car, of His own accord, His
Holiness informed me, “When | saw that brahmacarin, | was struck with his sincerity.

\_/C&CD}wvng//wD\/
“When | saw that
brahmacarin, | was struck
with his sincerity. So, |
requested Saradamb3,
‘Please provide him
the answers he desires
straightaway.’ The kind of
sincerity that this spiritual
aspirant has deserves to
be rewarded.”

- His Holiness
=" ol
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Hence, | requested Saradamba, ‘Please provide
him the answers he desires straightaway.” The kind
of sincerity that this spiritual aspirant has deserves
to be rewarded.” When | submitted to His Holiness
what the brahmacarin had said, His Holiness joined
His palms and said, “Saradamba is so gracious.”

His Holiness’s spiritual advices were not only
unfailingly lucid and effective but also specific to
the individuals who sought His guidance. A sadhaka,
practitioner of spiritual disciplines, once came to His
Holiness and said, “l experience acute breathlessness
during meditation. As | begin concentrating, my
breathing rate gradually decreases and soon
respiration stops. Good focus of the mind accrues



but in a matter of moments, | feel suffocated. What
am | to do?” His Holiness replied, “You are aware

080

that control of breath and regulation of the mind His Holiness’s spiritual
are related. Hence, you make an involuntary effort advices were not only
to still your breath to improve your meditation. Your unfailingly lucid and

dhyana is, however, not deep enough to warrant  effective but also specific
almost no breathing. To rid yourself of the problem of to the individuals who
gasping for air, forcefully take a deep breath. Above sought His guidance.

all, ensure that you make no voluntary effort to /\QL//-\‘“%/\\-)Q/—\
alter the breathing pattern. Just pay attention to @ @

fixing the mind on the object of mediation. That is quite sufficient for you and you
do not have to resort to any independent steps to lower your respiratory rate.” The
person implemented His advice and found that his problem disappeared and his
meditation improved.

Another sadhaka asked His Holiness, “As | meditate, the Lord’s form becomes increasingly
clear. Saliva secretion appears to wax and | am forced to swallow. Since this occurs
every few minutes, it is quite a hindrance. What should | do?” His Holiness said, “In your
case, folding the tongue such that its tip is turned towards the gullet and rests lightly
on the upper palate will be helpful. Secondly, do not consciously or semiconsciously
anticipate the necessity to swallow.” On the first day, the sddhaka found the folding
of the tongue somewhat inconvenient but got used to it from the next day. The need
to repeatedly swallow started decreasing and, in less than a week, ceased.

Another sadhaka asked, “I experience sharp bodily jerks during my meditation. What is
the remedy?” In some cases, His Holiness identified such movements with the arousal
of the Kundalini but in the present case, He clarified, “You are not strong. Eat well and
take some physical exercise. The jerks shall not bother you.” The person acted as advised
and did find relief.

A young man approached His Holiness and reported, “I find my head feeling very
heavy within a few minutes of my commencing my dhydana. The uneasiness gives way to
pain and | end up with an acute headache.” His Holiness’s reply surprised the questioner.
He said, “The problem will automatically vanish in one week. Till then ensure that you
do not even accidentally direct your gaze to the tip of your nose or to the middle of
your eyebrows. Further, do not conjecture the form of your Ista-devata (chosen deity)
in the heart. Visualise it in front of you. You can resume your normal procedure after
one week.” The specified period passed and the difficulty ceased to be.
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A person approached Him and detailed his spiritual
practices. His Holiness heard him out and then just
advised him to be sincere, have full faith in God
and appeal to the Lord to render him pure. After
he left, He told me, “He expected me to give him
advice about atma-vicara (enquiry into the Self) and
samddhi. However, that would have been useless
for him. | understood that his mind is full of lust and
his behaviour in private sinful. God’s grace is what
can transform him. That is why | asked him pray to
God for purity of the mind.”

Once H. S. Suryanarayana asked His Holiness, “Where
is Siva? How will He appear?” His Holiness said, “Siva
is right here. He is in everyone; in you, in your wife,
in your friend and in your servant. You don’t realise
Him because of the delusion that you and the others
exist separate from Him.”

His Holiness easily distinguished the enlightened from the unenlightened. A person
who called himself Parabrahma arrived at Sringeri in 1956. He was untidy and had long
uncut nails and a big beard. His Holiness spoke with him freely and made arrangements
for his stay at the old guest house. Brahma observed no regulations and had no qualms
about urinating or defecating anywhere in public. He partook of food from a Muslim’s

house. To all appearances, he was an eccentric,

\_/C\F@,‘ﬂo\’ga//“a\/ bordering on lunacy. His Holiness, however,

“Siva is right here. He is  recognised that He was enlightened. Ananda Rao,

in everyone; in you, in who was in charge of the old guesthouse, told
your wife, in your friend  his nephew, Venkatasubba Rao, about Brahma.
and in your servant. When Venkatasubba Rao met Brahma and offered
You don’t realise Him salutation, the latter said, in English, “Happy man.”

because of the delusion  “How about realization?” queried Venkatasubba
that you and the others Rao. “You will get it” said Brahma. “How?” persisted
exist separate from Him.”  venkatasubba Rao. To this, Brahma responded, “The
- His Holiness  Mind will tell you.” Venkatasubba Rao reported this

conversation to His Holiness. His Holiness remained

‘/\Q%CS‘WJ’W silent and motionless for a while and then told him
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with a tone of finality, “He is a raja-yogin
and has realized the Truth of Vedanta.
His Holiness soon left on His first tour but
before that instructed the officials of the
Matha to cater to Brahma’s requirements.

Much later, Brahma boarded a train

one day. He had a proper train ticket

with him and entered the appropriate

compartment. Seeing his  uncouth

appearance, the ticket examiner took

him to be ticketless and ordered him to

alight. Brahma was defiant. In course of

the argument that followed between him

and the ticket examiner, he physically

assaulted the latter. It was strange that

Brahma did not show his valid ticket. The

altercation with the Railway employee led

to Brahma being handed over to the police

and then being produced in court. His giving answers such as, “Brahma has neither
name nor action,” led the bewildered Judge to conclude that the defendant was insane.
After examination by doctors, he was committed to a lunatic asylum. He chose to spend
years there though his disciples wanted to get him out. Their endeavour would have
fructified had he cooperated. He, however told them, “Your work is outside and mine
is here.” Some months after he was discharged, he died. Speaking of him, His Holiness
remarked “He was a jiidnin but few understood his ways and so he spent time inside a
lunatic asylum rather than outside it.”

A brahmacarin who was given to meditation stayed for some days at Sringeri. His
Holiness freely granted him interviews and provided him suitable facilities to carry
out his meditative practices. After he went back from Sringeri, His Holiness told me
that the brahmacarin had meditated well and praised him. He then took me to the
place where he had meditated, pointed out the spot where he had sat and mentioned
the direction he had faced. His Holiness then demonstrated the posture that he had
adopted. The brahmacarin had not given any of these details to Him; on the contrary,
towards the close of his stay, he had asserted to me that His Holiness must be
unaware of where and how he had practised meditation in Sringeri.

315



About His mode of answering queries, His Holiness
has told me, “l often give a solution based on
personal experience. As | have tried out numerous
methods when | was young, | usually do not have any
difficulty in appreciating the conditions described by
the sadhakas. Sometimes, after giving the questions
a thorough hearing and getting additional necessary
clarifications from the questioner, | try out what
he practises. | then use the resulting experience to
shape my reply. On some other occasions, | just feel
like prescribing a particular course of action and so do
it. | generally do not find it necessary to quiz disciples
before giving them suggestions. It is only God’s grace
that makes the answers helpful to the seekers.”

‘\/CK\\Q)fmw’gDﬁ\/
“| often give a solution
based on personal
experience. As | have tried
out numerous methods
when | was young, |
usually do not have any
difficulty in appreciating
the conditions described
by the sadhakas.”

- His Holiness

=g " Onall

| have beheld His Holiness trying out what had been described to Him. In May 1974,
| once asked His Holiness whether the transition to nirvikalpa-samadhi during
meditation could be effected by merely stilling the mind. He answered in the negative
and then said, “Let us try it out. You try to go rapidly into nirvikalpa-samadhi by stilling
your mind and | too shall do the same.” We sat face to face with one another. After
about 45 minutes, | gradually opened my eyes, only to find Him doing the same. He
had maintained perfect rapport with me and had duplicated my every move; this was

unmistakable from the conversation that followed.

His Holiness: Narrate one step of what you did and | shall state the next.

I: | fixed my gaze between my eyebrows.

His Holiness: Today, a light green hue manifested there.

I: Yes. | then started stilling my mind.

His Holiness: The hue vanished and an expanse was perceived.

I: Yes. The mind then became progressively calm.

His Holiness: Suddenly, you were transported into nirvikalpa-samadhi. It thus appears
that no fixation of the mind on the Atman was required. Is it not so?

I: Yes.
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His Holiness: Actually, just prior to the transition
you had, by force of habit, fixed your mind on
the Atman. Still your mind this evening as you |
did now but pull yourself out of meditation just
before you plunge into nirvikalpa-samadhi. Tell
me later what happened.

At 8:00 a.m. the next day, when | went to
prostrate before Him as usual, He, who had just
finished a japa, looked up and asked, “Did you
try it?” | replied that | did and found that what
His Holiness had said was perfectly valid. With
a smile, His Holiness remarked, “For the sake of
confirmation, | too tried out this morning what
| had told you to do and noted exactly what
| had observed yesterday.”

On many occasions, His Holiness spontaneously
said something that put a disciple’s doubts to
rest even before the disciple posed any question to Him. In 1983, with the blessings
of His Holiness, | was translating into English the ‘Yoga-sudhdkara’, Sri Sadasiva
Brahmendra’s gloss on Sage Patafijali’s Yoga-satras. The great yogin had, in his gloss,
cited a verse, the meaning of which is, “Having dissolved Prakrti in its entirety in a
sequence which is the reverse of that of its origination, one must contemplate on the
residual entity, which is pure existence, consciousness and bliss.” | wished to have His
Holiness’s clarification regarding this. That evening, He was seated on a rock in a coconut
grove in the Shankara Math at Bengaluru and | sat near Him on the ground No one
else was present there. Not wanting to disturb Him, \/G\CD @

| did not pose my doubt to Him. He closed His eyes (\/’0 D

for a while and then melodiously chanted a verse of On many occasions, His
Bhagavatpada’s Brahmanucintana. That verse means, Holiness spontaneously
“Prthvi (earth) should be dissolved in dpas (water),  Said something that put
apas in tejas (fire), tejas in vayu (air) and vayu in  a disciple’s doubts to rest
akasa (space). Akasa should be merged into avyakta ~ even before the disciple
(the subtlest material cause); avyakta, in its turn, posed any question
must be merged in the pure Absolute (Brahman). to Him.

I am the Absolute, the dissolver of all.” | was delighted
= Tonal

to note that His Holiness had taken up a verse that
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paralleled the verse that | had in mind. Of His own accord,
He began to expound the import of what He had cited. He
said, “One starts with something gross, say prthvi (earth).
Then one analyses, ‘Prthvi has no existence apart from its
material cause, apas (water), just as a pot has no existence
apart from its cause, mud.” This is the ‘dissolution’ of prthvi
in dpas. One proceeds in a similar manner till one reaches
avyakta. One then reflects, ‘This too has no existence apart
from the Atman, just a snake that is misapprehended in the
place of a rope has no existence apart from its substratum,
the rope.” This is the intended merging of avyakta into the
Supreme. Finally, only the Supreme remains. There is no
qguestion of dissolving It in anything and one meditates that
one is this Atman.

By His Holiness’s spontaneous citation and exposition, He

fully clarified what | had wished to know from Him. Four years

later, in a benedictory address delivered by His Holiness, in

Kannada, at the Shankara Math in Bengaluru on 5% September

1987, His Holiness recounted that when He was young His

Guru had referred to a verse in Sri Sadasiva Brahmendra’s

Atma-vidya-vilasa the meaning of which is, “After dissolving,

by means of the intellect, the five great elements (earth,

water, fire, air and space) in an order that is the reverse of that

of their origination, the sage remains calm, beholding

the Atman, which is the residue.” Thereafter, His Guru

had elucidated its import by citing the above-mentioned verse of Bhagavatpada’s
Brahmanucintana. 1t was on hearing this benedictory address of His Holiness that
| joyfully realised the correspondence between what His Holiness had told me and
what His Guru had told Him.

@ © His Holiness could intuitively foresee how things
\—/6&5’?“"//”3\/ would unfold. A sadhaka progressed rapidly by His

His Holiness could Holiness’s grace and attained the stage of savikalpa-
intuitively foresee how samaddhi. Subsequently, he told me that he felt
things would unfold. as if nothing was apart from him and that he felt

| = | extremely joyful. Till then he had been engaging
/\Q/@‘ °<D\9ﬁ only in saguna-dhyana. | later conveyed the details
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to His Holiness when He was strolling in the fields of Kage
Hindlu in Sringeri. He patiently heard me but said nothing
and just walked on. Presuming that | had not expressed
myself clearly and wanting to ascertain His Holiness’s
assessment of the situation so as to duly convey it to the
person concerned, | asked Him, “Is he now fit to be taught
nirguna-dhyana by Your Holiness?” “No,” replied His
Holiness with an unexpected emphasis. “Let him continue
with the meditation that he is doing. His present state is
just temporary. If he is not careful, a fall awaits him.” |
could not understand why His Holiness’s judgment was
so uncomplimentary. As it happened, the sadhaka failed
to be careful about a certain matter and suffered a major
spiritual setback.

It is possible for a Guru to raise the spiritual stature of
his disciple by the force of his tapas and the sakti

@ @ imparted by him

during initiation. The
It is possible for a Guru to
raise the spiritual stature
of his disciple by the force
of his tapas and the sakti
imparted by him during
initiation. The Sastras in
general and Tantra texts in
particular speak of various
forms of diksa (initiation),
such as sparsa-diksa
(initiation through touch).
His Holiness normally
confined Himself to giving
mantra-diksa though He
occasionally imparted
sparsa or another form of

diksa.
/\C/Lﬁe‘(‘"afcg\)\g/\

Sastras in general

and Tantra texts in

particular speak of

various forms of diksa

(initiation), such as

sparsa-diksa (initiation

through touch). His

Holiness normally

confined Himself to giving mantra-diksa though
He occasionally imparted sparsa or another form
of diksa. Before initiating a disciple into a mantra,
He usually decided what mantra would be most
appropriate for a disciple; in doing so, He took into
consideration the deity (such as Siva or Visnu) to
whom the disciple had particular fondness. At times,
He readily initiated a devotee who requested Him for
it; sometimes, in response to a request, He said that
He would consider the matter later and, on some
later date, gave the initiation on His own.
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It was in March 1971 at Chennai that | spoke to Him
for the first time, and my first words to Him were a
request for mantra-upadesa. My request took me
by surprise; earlier, | had no intention of even going
for His darsana, being under the impression that no
intermediary is required between God and a person
and hence, a Guru is superfluous. What was more
surprising was that He straightaway consented and
blessed me with initiation the next morning, after His
ahnika. Equally surprising was that when, in 1982, |
mentioned that some brahmacarins were desirous
of mantra-upadesa, He said, “Just bring who all you
would like to and | will initiate them.”

The following was narrated by Vaidyasubramanya lyer.

“In 1958, | invited His Holiness to my house in Madurai for padapija and bhiksa. He
readily consented. Subsequently, when | requested His Holiness for mantra-upadesa
(initiation into a mantra), He said, ‘We shall see later. Later, when, in response to my
request, He camped at Tenkarai, He asked me, ‘Have you been initiated into any mantra?’
| replied that | had been initiated into the Gayatri-mantra at the time of my upanayana.
His Holiness smiled and remarked, ‘When | ask this question, people do not, in their
replies, mention their having been initiated into the Gayatri-mantra.” On that day, He
graced me with mantra-upadesa.”

At times, even in the absence of any request, His Holiness conferred initiation on a
devotee on His own; sometimes, He obliged a devotee with an initiation into the specific
mantra asked for by the devotee; at times, even when a devotee mentioned his Ista-
devata, He chose to initiate him into the mantra of some other deity. There have been
instances where He did not give initiation even to a close devotee who craved for and
even repeatedly pleaded for it. He was the best judge for, it was He who knew what was
in the best interests of His disciple.

B. L. Subbaraya Murthy was dear to His Holiness and drove His car on several of His tours.
His wife, Kamalamma Subbaraya Murthy, desired that she be blessed by His Holiness
with initiation into the Bala-tripurasundari-mantra. However, she did not express her
wish to anybody. Once, when she had the darsana of His Holiness just after He had
finished bathing in the Ganga at Haridwar, His Holiness told her, “I will give you
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mantropadesa tomorrow.” When she went with
her husband to His presence the next day, He asked
her, “Which mantra would you like me to initiate
you into?” She had not expected that He would ask
her this. Becoming nervous, she mumbled, “I will
be happy to receive any mantra that Your Holiness
blesses me with.” His Holiness said, “I shall initiate
you into the Bala-tripurasundari-mantra.” Overjoyed,
she told Him, “Your Holiness is blessing me with the
very mantra that | had secretly longed for.”

A disciple, Jagannadhan (who, after samnyasa, was
known as Sri Santananda-bharati), was improperly
repeating the Subrahmanya-sadaksari-mantra and
that too without due initiation. He approached
His Holiness for mantra-upadesa and His Holiness
readily consented to bless him with the same.
Embarrassment precluded the disciple from revealing
his flawed practice. At the time of initiation, he
was in for a surprise when His Holiness, of His own
accord, began initiating him into the Subrahmanya-
sadaksari-mantra. By doing so, His Holiness set right
the lacuna in His disciple’s practice.

His Holiness generally gave mantra-upadesa only in

\/GNCD/‘MW?\%\/
At times, even in the
absence of any request,
His Holiness conferred
initiation on a devotee
on His own; sometimes,
He obliged a devotee
with an initiation into the
specific mantra asked
for by the devotee; at
times, even when a
devotee mentioned his
ista-devatad, He chose
to initiate him into the
mantra of some other
deity. There have been
instances where He did
not give initiation even
to a close devotee who
craved for and even
repeatedly pleaded for it.
He was the best judge.

OO

person though there were some exceptions. A devotee had a dream of His Holiness

initiating him into a mantra. Unfortunately, on waking up, he forgot what he had been

initiated into. He wrote a letter to His
Holiness about this. His Holiness directed
His Private Secretary to reply that the
mantra was ‘klim krsna klim’; through that
letter, He also specified in what manner
and how many times the disciple should

perform the mantra-japa.

His Holiness did not confine Himself to

Mantropadesa during solar eclipse at Rameswaram jUSt initiating a disciple into a mantra. He
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willingly gave clarifications about it when asked.
For instance, a knowledgeable lady approached
Him in Chennai (in January 1982) and requested
Him to explain the dhyana-sloka of a particular
mantra. His Holiness closed His eyes and gave
such a lucid description that it seemed to her
that He was seeing a form in front of Him and
describing it. She remarked that His Holiness’s
description was so wonderful that she could
readily conceive the form. His Holiness admitted,
“I did not mechanically translate the dhyana-
Sloka, for that would not have been of much
use to you. | visualised the form spoken of in the
verse. | focused my attention on a portion of the
divine form, described what | was apprehending
and thereafter moved on to another portion.
That is why | spoke slowly.”

| know for fact that His Holiness could easily
give an experience of samadhi even to an
ordinary person without spiritual training.
He, however, did not normally do so. He
opined that unless a proper foundation is laid,
abrupt elevation of the spiritual stature of a
person through sakti-pata, the imparting of
spiritual power by a Guru, can have adverse
consequences. He has said, “If you attempt to
confer a sudden impetus to the spiritual life
of one who is not ready for it, problems can
arise. The will-power and sakti of the giver can

His Holiness generally
gave mantra-upadesa only
in person though there
were some exceptions. His
Holiness did not confine
Himself to just initiating a
disciple into a mantra. He
willingly gave clarifications
about it when asked.

hold the mind of another in check and even bring it to a sharp focus. The effect is not
permanent. The recipient will initially experience the great bliss of deep meditation but
will not be in a position to repeatedly attain it because of his mind not being adequately
pure and on account of the techniques of meditation not having been duly mastered.
So long as the circumstances are alright, spiritual progress can continue but if adverse
destiny intervenes by introducing impediments, there are chances of a fall. This is because
such distracting and inhibiting influences prevent the smooth practice of spiritual
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disciplines. This makes meditation

difficult and induces a certain

degree of frustration. Base desires

that had been pushed into the

background on account of Sakti-

pata and held in partial abeyance

by spiritual endeavour, raise

their heads. An internal struggle

ensues and if conditions do not

become adequately favourable,

the situation takes a turn for the

worse. Meditation suffers and the

consequent check on the lower \_/C&Djﬁwfg%\/
instincts becomes weakened. Frustration is enhanced
and this is particularly engendered by the non-
fulfilment of the urge to regain the bliss experienced
in the meditation induced by the sakti-pata. Hence,
Sakti-pata is a tool that should be carefully handled.
For my part, | feel that it is apt to uplift an aspirant /\QL//CS‘“’;—@\JD/—\
step by step and ensure smooth progress. If this is done, as the foundation is strong,
the superstructure will not crumble.”

Even Maharajas sought

His Holiness’s guidance

on material and spiritual
matters.

Even Maharajas sought His Holiness’s guidance on material and spiritual matters. Two
letters to Him from Jayachamaraja Wodeyar, who ruled the Princely State of Mysore
from 1940 to 1947 and, later, was the Governor of Mysore (now Karnataka) and then the
Governor of Madras (now Tamil Nadu), serve as illustrations. The following is an English
translation of his letter in Kannada dated 6™ August, 1964 and penned in Mysuru:

Yo Yeve

Humble prostrations to the exquisite lotus feet of Sri Sringeri Jagadguru, Srimad Abhinava
Vidyatirtha Mahasvamin by me, who am a recipient of Your Holiness’s grace.

Mahasvamin! If it be Your Holiness’s will, please consider and plainly advise me what
I should do in the future — whether | should stay on in Madras (as Governor) or go abroad
(to a western country) and work or enter politics. Of these options, which one does
Your Holiness advice?

...l am sending this missive through A. G. Ramachandra Rao in a confidential manner.
It would be sufficient if Your Holiness were to convey Your Holiness’s opinion through
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him. Though | do not wish to trouble Your Holiness, | am compelled to write this letter as

| have no other option.
The extremely obedient server of Your Holiness’s feet,
Sd/- Jayachamaraja Wodeyar,

My humble prostrations.

Yoo

The following is an English translation of the letter written in Kannada from Mysore
by Jayachamaraja Wodeyar on 26" December, 1963:

Yo Yeoc

Having offered prostrations, Your Holiness’s dear disciple, the server of the Guru, the
king Jayachamaraja Wodeyar, submits as follows:
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By the grace of the lotus feet of Your Holiness, | am
well till today, Wednesday, the pusya-sukla-dasamri of
the (cyclical) year Sobhakrt. May the glorious Guru,
ever remaining in the kingdom of tapas, kindly grace
this missive with benedictions.

| am bearing on my head the Srimukha graced by Your
Holiness. The nyasa of the sodasaksari-mantra graced
by Your Holiness reached me and caused horripilation
in me. | desire to hear about the Mahavakyas in the
direct presence of Your Holiness. | yearn to come to
Your Holiness for this purpose and receive blessings in
person.

Praying that Your Holiness’s blessing may ever be on
me, with repeated prostrations,

Sd/- Jayachamaraja Wodeyar.
PAGA ke

His Holiness went out of the way to make Himself
accessible to devotees. Once, a poor lady from North
India came to Sringeri to have His darsana. She had
saved up for a long time in order to be able to make



the trip. She was in a position to stay in Sringeri only for a few
days and it was quite uncertain when she would be able to come
again. Till she left, His Holiness chose to give darsana for alonger
time in the evenings than usual, sitting casually on the floor in
the front hall of Sacchidananda Vilas. Devotees were able to see
Him at close quarters. For the period that she stayed at Sringeri,
the lady was present during His evening darsana, right from
the time He came and sat down to the time He got up and went
in. She sat with joined palms throughout, with her attention just
on Him and, now and then, wiping her tears of joy. She seemed
to be fully contented with just silently savouring His holy
presence; she went up to Him and spoke to Him only on two
days and that too, briefly. Since His Holiness did not tell anyone
why He was giving darsana for an extended period and that too
quite informally, it is possible that the lady took this to be the
norm. Many benefitted from the special, extended darsana.

One morning, His Holiness oddly chose to give tirtha-prasada
while standing in the middle of the front hall of Sacchidananda
Vilas, rather than while seated in the hall’s southwest corner, as
He normally did. The vessel containing the tirtha (holy water)
was placed on a stool. From His position that day, the road
from the Private Secretary’s office to Sacchidananda Vilas was
in His line of sight. As the distribution of tirtha drew to a close,
He beheld a lame man striving to come as quickly as he could on that road, heading
towards Sacchidananda Vilas; apparently, he was coming to have darsana and receive
tirtha but, as he was slow, was afraid that the distribution might end before he
reached. He had some more distance to cover on the road and to then climb two flights
of stairs to reach His Holiness. His Holiness called out to Him and told him to stay where
he was. Asking His attendant to follow Him with the
vessel containing the tirtha, He rapidly descended \_/CKCD}”@"\%\_/
the two flights of stairs and approached him. He His Holiness went out of
conversed with him for a few minutes. Thereafter, He the way to make Himself
tenderly gave him tirtha-prasada. Tears of joy flowed accessible to devotees.
from his eyes as the holy water entered his mouth. Devotees were able to

N . . see Him at close quarters.
A poor devotee was keen on inviting His Holiness to q

his house and performing padapija. The Matha staff /\Qy/\‘“%c)\@/\
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told him that for that he needed to remit Rs. 250. He did not have the amount and,
hence, dropped his plan. When His Holiness went to a house near his for padapdja, he
came there and stood in a corner looking at Him. His Holiness noticed Him and beckoned
to him. He then asked him, “What is troubling you?” The man poured forth his tale
of woe. His Holiness cheered him up and told him to go to his house and be ready.
When the padapuja and distribution of prasada were completed, His Holiness informed
His staff that He proposed to go to the poor man’s house. He went there and instructed
that arrangements be made for him to perform pddapdja. After he completed the
padapuja, His Holiness gave Him prasdda and blessed him. He asked His Private
Secretary to handover Rs. 250 to the man and left. Thus, His Holiness fully fulfilled the
man’s desire, saw to it that he did not have to spend anything and, apart from giving
him His invaluable blessings also helped him monetarily.

On an occasion, a poor purohita (priest) requested His Holiness to grace his house and
His Holiness consented to visit his place. Subsequently, it was found that His Holiness’s
car could not pass through the narrow lane in which the man’s house was situated.
It was suggested to His Holiness to drop the trip. However, His Holiness stood His
ground. He got down from the car, walked a considerable distance unmindful of the
scorching sun and reached the devotee’s place.

The following was narrated by Smt. Susheela of Erode.

“Once, when His Holiness was camping at Salem, | went for His darsana. He made
compassionate enquiries about our family business which was then going through a
rough patch. When | reported that we
had to sell our house and move to a
rented one, His Holiness consoled me.
| then made a humble submission to
Him: ‘l understand that Your Holiness’s
next camp is at Coimbatore and that
there would be no camp at Erode this
time. If your Holiness passes through
Erode without visiting our house, my
grief will be uncontrollable. | would
like the sacred dust of Your Holiness’s
feet to touch my house.” As | made this
prayer, | burst into tears. His Holiness
said, ‘Do not worry. That will happen.
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On His way to Coimbatore, His Holiness’s car entered the
colony where our rented house was situated. When the
car stopped in front of our compound gate, His Holiness
got out of the car, removed His padukas and started
walking barefoot. | was worried as to why His Holiness
had to remove His padukads, as the place was full of
sand and sharp stones. His Holiness walked slowly and,
on His entering the house, | could find the dust from His
feet forming footmarks on the floor! He then looked at
me with His characteristic smile and said, ‘See, | have
come. Are you happy now?’ Only then did | realize
that He had, in letter and spirit, fulfilled my request of
gracing my house with the dust on His feet. Choked with
emotion, | apologized, ‘Just to get my wishes fulfilled,
| have committed the sin of making Your Holiness
walk on sharp stones.” His Holiness said, ‘It was not a
problem at all. | am quite used to such terrain.”

As His Holiness’s car was passing through a road in a

city, He saw a beggar lying prostrate on the ground,

convulsing sporadically. He ordered His driver to halt

the car in order to attend to him. The driver said that

beggars often put up a show of sickness to earn the

sympathy of passers-by and get alms from them. His

Holiness refused to budge and said, “Regardless of

whether this man is genuine or not, | am going to help

him.” Hence, the driver halted the car. His Holiness

observed that the man had stopped having fits.

Without a moment’s thought He picked up His water-

vessel and asked for the water to be given to him. In the meantime, another car stopped
and its driver rushed with water to him before the vessel sent by His Holiness reached
him. When His Holiness resumed His journey, He remarked, “How fortunate the
other car’s driver was to have been able to help him! I did not have the privilege of doing
anything for him.”

During His second All-India tour, He was proceeding towards Yamunotri from Tehri on
19 June, 1982. He saw a car parked on the roadside. Sensing that the car might have
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broken down, He stopped His vehicle. He then
asked the couple occupying the parked car whether
there was any problem. The husband replied that
his car had stopped but requested His Holiness to
carry on with His journey. His Holiness demurred.
It was ascertained that the car had a damaged part
and that a spare was available in another vehicle
of His convoy. His Holiness readily parted with it
to fix the problem. The couple was thankful to
His Holiness for His timely help. Had His Holiness
not come to their aid, they would have had to put
up with considerable inconvenience, for it was
getting dark, that was a hill section and the nearest
habitation was far off.

| was once driving His Holiness from Narasimhapura

back to Sacchidananda Vilas, via the Durgamba

Temple. The road leading to the temple consisted
of many ups and downs and did not have an asphalt surface. At one point, the way was
blocked by a bullock cart. The cart driver was coaxing his bullocks up a slope but the load
coupled with excessive friction in the axle prevented the cart from moving up. The cart
had a faulty axle and this led to the cart swerving sharply to the right when the bullocks
put in additional efforts. On seeing His Holiness, the cart driver jumped down from his
vehicle and stood reverentially. He then moved his cart to the edge of the road to enable
His Holiness’s car to pass. Since the road was narrow, the resulting clearance for the
car was not much but, nonetheless, sufficient. His Holiness told me not to proceed and
asked His attendant to lend a helping hand to the cart man, who, however, said that he
would manage. He did not want His Holiness to wait because of Him. His Holiness, for
His part, deemed that the man needed aid and so must be helped before proceeding.
His Holiness’s attendant and | got down from the car and pushed the cart, while the cart
driver egged the bullocks on. His Holiness was unwell and so was observing the scene
from His seat. He called out, “Do not push the cart from near the axle or from the back.
Push the outer portion of the spokes and you shall get additional leverage. Alternatively,
you can hold the rim of the wheel.” Till then our struggles had been in vain but when we
implemented His Holiness’s suggestion we were glad to find that the cart started to inch
its way up the slope. Soon, it ascended the slope and, thereafter, the bullocks were in a
position to pull the faulty cart on their own. His Holiness asked me to slowly follow the
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cart in His car till it reached its destination. On the way,
He said, “It would have been most unfair and improper
to have left the bullocks to struggle and this man to
be stranded with his cartload. Had | not been unwell
and weak, | would certainly have joined all of you in
pushing the cart up the slope.”

When His Holiness was camping at Gobichettipalayam
(in Tamil Nadu), while giving tirtha-prasada to the
numerous devotes who were standing in a queue to
receive it, He noticed an old lady standing near the
entrance of the building and straining herself to have
a glimpse of Him. Being aged and infirm, she was
not in a position to stand in the queue for long to
receive tirtha. Also, she could not go near Him even
to have darsana as the whole hall was packed with
people. Discerning her difficulty, He got up from His
asana (seat) and, instructing two of His attendants
to follow Him, one with fruits and the other with the
vessel containing tirtha, briskly walked to the old lady.
He spoke to her, gave her tirtha, filled the vessel she
had brought with her and blessed her with fruits and
mantraksata (sanctified rice mixed with turmeric
powder). She repeatedly offered her salutations to

Him, shedding tears of joy. He returned to
His seat and resumed giving tirtha to those in
the queue.

A devout couple visited Sringeri. The husband
submitted to His Holiness, “We are very happy
that we had the darsana of Your Holiness
during the three days of our stay. As it has been
raining heavily during the nights, the boatman
refused to ferry us across the river at night
and so we have not been able to witness Your
Holiness perform the Candramaulisvara-puja.
As he ferried us during the day, we have had
Your Holiness’s darsana in the mornings.” His
Holiness heard them and then blessed them.

\_/C&Cr)fpaé’\%\_/
“It would have been most
unfair and improper to have
left the bullocks to struggle
and this man to be stranded
with his cartload. Had | not
been unwell and wealk, |
would certainly have joined
all of you in pushing the cart
up the slope.”

- His Holiness
emMEe
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In the evening, a surprise awaited the couple. A car had
been sent from Narasimhavana by His Holiness to take
them there so that they could see His pdja that night.

A tree uprooted by a gale fell across a road.
Consequently, all vehicles plying on that route
were forced to decelerate to a crawl and swerve to
beyond the edge of the road in order to get past the
obstruction. The car in which His Holiness was travelling
had just crossed the tree when He told the person at
the wheel to stop the vehicle. “If we move on, as many
others before us have done, motorists will continue
to be put to inconvenience at this spot. We should
move the tree to the side of the road,” He declared. In
deference to His command, His staff applied themselves

to the task of shifting the tree. Though unwell at that time, He did not remain a mute
spectator. He gave suggestions and contributed physically too. In a short while, the road

became unobstructed. The good deed done, He resumed His journey.

During His first tour of Andhra Pradesh in 1960, His Holiness had one day travelled for
about an hour when He espied from afar, a partially overturned automobile lying off the

road. Some motorists passed on without even
slowing down. He had His car halted near the
accident spot and rushed to the badly-damaged
vehicle. He saw a motionless, blood-splattered
man trapped within it. In a trice, He discerned
that the mishap had occurred only minutes
earlier and that the man was unconscious, not
dead. He instructed a responsible employee to
proceed speedily in a vehicle of His entourage
to arrange for an ambulance. Those were not
the days of mobile phones.

Having determined that the accident victim
could be freed only after setting his car upright,
He laboured, along with those who were with
Him, to do the needful. He was then in His forties
and His well-exercised muscles were firm and
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A tree uprooted by a gale fell
across a road. “If we move
on, as many others before
us have done, motorists
will continue to be put to
inconvenience at this spot.
We should move the tree
to the side of the road,” His
Holiness declared. He gave
suggestions and contributed
physically too. The good
deed done, He resumed His
journey.
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powerful. Nevertheless, as the vehicle was heavy, He had to put in
much effort before it finally stood on its wheels. He then cautiously
examined the wounded man and determined that it would be
safe to extricate him without waiting for the arrival of an
ambulance. Using an improvised

stretcher, He gently transferred

him to a spacious vehicle of the

convoy and instructed the driver

to proceed smoothly in the direction from which an ambulance
was expected. His actions ensured that the accident victim
received medical attention at the earliest. The man survived and
recovered; he owed his life to His Holiness.

A big pandal had been erected to accommodate devotees during

His Holiness’s stay at Kolkata in October-November,

1982. A few. days before .HIS .H.olmess was to leave \/c@e,(,‘{%\/
Kolkata, during one of His visits to the houses of
devotees for padapija, the pandal at His camp caught
fire due to bursting of crackers. The staff of the Matha
and the volunteers at the camp site worked bravely

The volunteer was
overwhelmed by His
Holiness’s kindness in
visiting him not once

but twice and specially
blessing Him.

to salvage as many items as possible from the pandal
on fire. In the melee, some suffered burns and had
to be administered first aid. One volunteer had to be
hospitalized. When news about the fire was conveyed /\Q%C\je‘“’;(/)yg/\
to Him, He returned to the camp-site, inspected the

damage and gathered the details. He spoke with, blessed and gave prasdadas to the
mildly injured. After bhiksa, He went to the hospital and spent time with the volunteer
admitted there. He blessed him profusely, averred that he would be completely
alright soon and gave him prasdda. Thereafter, He kept Himself fully informed about
that volunteer’s progress. He visited him again at the hospital before departing from
Kolkata, blessed Him and asked him to come later to Sringeri. The volunteer was
overwhelmed by His Holiness’s kindness in visiting him not once but twice and specially
blessing Him. He soon recovered completely and without complications.

During a visit to Coimbatore in the early 1970’s, His Holiness was requested to
deliver a benedictory address at a venue. He acquiesced. He noticed that the public
address system that had been temporarily installed for His speech reproduced
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sound faithfully. Always easily pleased, He publicly
appreciated the efforts of the organisers. From His
seat, He saw that loud speakers had been placed not
only within the hall but also on the sides of the road.
His keen power of observation led Him to discern that
it would be possible to decouple the speakers outside
the hall without difficulty.

He said, “Please disconnect the loud speakers on
the road. It is sufficient and, in fact, appropriate that
my speech be heard only here and not outside. This
is because people who are interested are already
seated inside. It is not right that people on the road
be subjected to the nuisance of having a speech they

are not interested in dinned into their ears. Often, during marriages, loud speakers
are connected in such a way that music blares into the ears of those on the road. They

wonder, ‘What a pain this function is!’ Instead of receiving the good wishes of everyone,

\/C&C);‘wf%\/
“Please disconnect the
loud speakers on the
road. It is sufficient and,
in fact, appropriate that
my speech be heard only
here and not outside.
This is because people
who are interested are
already seated inside. It
is not right that people
on the road be subjected
to the nuisance of having
a speech they are not
interested in dinned into
their ears.”

- His Holiness
= o

332

the bride and the bridegroom unnecessarily earn
the ill will of some whom they do not even know.
Functions, be they weddings or ones such as this,
ought not to cause noise pollution.”

The organisers were easily able to implement what
His Holiness had suggested; after all, He had already
discerned that the external speakers could be readily
decoupled. His consideration for the public and His
keenness to avoid noise pollution, a problem that
was largely overlooked in India in the early 70’s,
unlike now, are noteworthy.

A man who had served in the army came to have
His Holiness’s darsana. He was suffering from severe
depression. He considered himself the cause of
the gruesome death of hundreds of people and
this was tormenting him no end. Belonging to a
traditional Hindu family, he had learnt, by rote,
the Laksmi-nrsimha-kardvalamba-stotra and while
entering His Holiness’s room, he loudly chanted the



stotra. His Holiness spoke to him
compassionately. In response he
lamented, “Swamiji, | have killed
many people in cold blood. | have
thus committed an unpardonable
sin. | feel that | deserve to die
now. Will there be any expiation
for my acts?” When he finished
his emotional outpouring, His
Holiness did something unexpected.
He placed both His hands on the
person’shead and declared, “You will
be alright. Do not worry.” The man
was overjoyed at this unexpected
blessing and left with peace of mind.

Quickrisetogreateminenceisknown
to be attended with an inflation
of one’s ego. Nilakantha-diksita, a
great devotee of Siva and poet, has
written, “Regarding eulogies as factual descriptions, looking upon oneself as a god
and looking down upon fellow human beings as if they were worms are the consequences
of newfound affluence.” In the case of His Holiness,
\/C&Dfpgni(*%\/ however, no negative change whatsoever occurred
in Him consequent to His acquiring the status of
a much honoured and influential Jagadguru. For
instance, Ramaswamy Avadhani, who had studied
with His Holiness in Sringeri prior to His samnyasa,
told me in 1983, “Even after becoming a samnyasin
and, later, the pontiff, His Holiness has been
informal with me and even playful at times. During
a tour, He had been to the sea for a bath. He asked
me casually to come with Him into the ocean. |
protested that | felt scared stiff. He held me by the
hand and led me into the waters. ‘Let us swim,” He
said and began to float on His back. For my part, |
/\C%CD}“’JCONQ/\ feared that | would be drowned. However, He himself

Quick rise to great
eminence is known to be
attended with an inflation

of one’s ego. In the case

of His Holiness, however,

no negative change

whatsoever occurred in
Him consequent to His
acquiring the status of
a much honoured and
influential Jagadguru.
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held me up and, thereafter, led me safely to
the shore.”

His Holiness never forgot any good done for

Him. His Guru had personally taught V. S.
Ramachandra Sastri and made him a great
scholar in Tarka and Veddnta; he also became

an authority on Mimamsa. Later, he was
assigned the responsibility of expounding

the Tarka-sastra to His Holiness, with His
Holiness’s Guru regularly overseeing His
studies. These were completed in the late
1930s. Even after becoming a pontiff in 1954,

His Holiness held him in high esteem and interacted
with him accordingly. Ramachandra Sastri’s son,
V. R. Gowrishankar, the Administrator of the Sringeri
Math and its Properties since 1986, was kind enough /\Q%C)\‘“%W
to provide me, in 1983, copies of letters exchanged ‘

between His Holiness and his father. | was pleasantly surprised to note that in some
of His epistles, His Holiness had explicitly addressed Ramachandra Sastri as His
‘upadhyaya (teacher)’ and had written to him with due regards. From the letters written
\_/CF\\CD}W\’CQ/D\/ by him to His Holiness during the course of His
Holiness’s first South India tour, it is patent how very
appreciative he was of His Holiness’s great efforts for
the cause of Sanatana-dharma. He had even written
that the events of His Holiness’s tour deserved to be
engraved in gold. That he looked upon His Holiness as
his Guru was unmistakable and he had, in his letters,
sought His Holiness’s advice on various matters.
His Holiness had readily obliged; in a letter, He had
even recommended the practice of amanaska-yoga,
involving mental quietude. When he was ailing,
His Holiness wanted to travel to Bengaluru to visit
him and had to be dissuaded from doing so; when
he passed away, His Holiness took a special bath at
Sringeri even though it was uncalled-for as He was

/\Q%CD\‘“%&)ND/\ a sarmnydsin. Such was His sense of gratitude.

50O
His Holiness never forgot any
good done for Him.

His Holiness noted and
even praised some
good quality or other
even in an apparently
vile individual. It goes
without saying that He
was all praise for people
with noble qualities.
He said, “We are in this
world for but a while. Is
it not madness to pick
holes and quarrel during
our short sojourn here?”
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There is a story that the righteous Yudhisthira was

OO~
once asked to select a positively evil person. Even “o=

after diligent searching and deliberation, he was Because he grasps the
import of the sastras,

himself practises them
and induces others to

unable to pinpoint a single person whom he regarded
as vile, for, to him, everyone seemed to be possessed
of goodness. Duryodhana, for his part, was asked
to identify a good man. No matter how hard he follow suit, he is called
searched, he was unable to locate a truly good person, ‘Acarya’.

for, in his view, all were stained by sinful tendencies. /\QL//)WJ,”\\)Q/‘\
Having a crystal-like pure heart, His Holiness too, @ @

like Yudhisthira, was only able to identify the good in others. A poet has remarked that
noble ones make a mountain of a molehill-like noble quality of another but treat
even a major fault of another as if it were insignificant. His Holiness had this trait in
abundance. He noted and even praised some good quality or other even in an apparently
vile individual. It goes without saying that He was all praise for people with noble
qualities. He said, “We are in this world for but a while. Is it not madness to pick holes
and quarrel during our short sojourn here?”

It is said: “Because he grasps the import of the sastras, himself practises them and
induces others to follow suit, he is called ‘Acarya’”” This definition fitted His Holiness. For
instance, He advocated the consumption of sattvika food, which is conducive to health
and mental tranquillity; His own diet was purely sattvika. He held that abhiseka-tirtha
(water poured, with Vedic chanting, on an idol during worship) conduces to one’s mental
and physical well-being. Hence, distribution of tirtha-prasada formed an invariant part
of His daily schedule, both when He was at Sringeri and when He was on tour. During
His tours, the large crowds often necessitated His spending hours for

such distribution, so much so that it sometimes used to be around

3 p.m. before His bhiksa. He did not mind this in the least, for

devotees longed to receive tirtha from Him and their happiness

mattered much to Him. He advocated that people should

perform what is ordained for them by the scriptures; He

unfailingly and meticulously performed His ahnika

in the morning, afternoon and night, with each

ahnika being preceded by a complete bath. He

advised people to worship God; every night,

without fail, He performed pdja. He performed a short

paja to the idol of Ratnagarbha-ganapati and then elaborately
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worshipped the Candramaulisvara-linga, a
Salagrama and a Sricakra; this worship included
the performance of abhiseka while chanting the
Sri-rudra, camaka, purusa-sakta, durga-sikta and
Sri-sukta and the showing of three forms of arati.

Being meticulous and tidy was innate to Him. He
utilised an ochre handkerchief made of cotton.
Whenever crumpled with use, He refolded it in
such a way that it then appeared as if it were
a freshly ironed cloth, with the edges forming
perfect straight lines. It was not as if He did the
folding to the exclusion of other activities. He
folded His handkerchief impeccably even while
giving a serious discourse or reading a book.

In the course of His evening ahnika, as per the prescribed procedure for samnyasins,
He used to take up water in an uddharani (spoon) from a vessel, chant ‘om” and put the
water into another vessel, repeating this act over a hundred times. He performed all this
so exquisitely that not a single drop of water spilt on the ground. His hand movement
was the minimum possible and the speed was in perfect harmony with His rhythmic
chant of ‘om’. The public had no access to His dhnika-room and so it was not as though
His optimal performance was meant as a lesson for another.

050> _

He said, “One should perform all one’s actions in a

One should perform
all one’s actions in a
meticulous manner. Even
a minor task ought not to
be performed carelessly.
The time allocated to it
may be small and other
tasks may receive priority
over it but, when one is
engaged in it, one must
treat it as important.
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meticulous manner. Even a minor task ought not to
be performed carelessly. The time allocated to it may
be small and other tasks may receive priority over it
but, when one is engaged in it, one must treat it as
important.”

One day, His Holiness sat down in a coconut grove in
Sringeri and asked me to read the first 50 verses of the
Vidura-niti and select compositions of Bhagavatpada.
As | began chanting verses from the Vidura-niti, His
Holiness partially closed His eyes. When | came to the
22" verse, | heard a swishing sound. Before | could
react, a big leaf-stalk and a coconut fell from a tree



in the vicinity and landed on the ground
with a big thud less than a meter from His
Holiness. So concentrated was He on the
import of the verses that He was totally
oblivious of what had happened.

After reading from the Vidura-niti, |

passed on to the compositions of

Bhagavatpada, such as Manisa-paficaka

and Brahmanucintana. His Holiness listened

motionless, with a light smile. He opened

His eyes only a few moments after | had

finished. Suddenly, He winced in pain. Unseen by me, and unfelt by Him, an army of ants
had been biting Him on His legs and hands. His feet were red and swollen.

He knew by rote the verses that He had asked me to read out and had Himself mentally
recited them on hundreds of occasions. Yet, He concentrated upon them with such
intensity that He remained totally unaware of even loud extraneous sounds and injury
to His body. He was never inattentive to anything taken up by Him.

Gudalur Krishna Sastrigal, who was staying in Narasimhavana during a visit to Sringeri,
asked His Holiness one morning, “I noticed last night that the lights of Your Holiness’s
room were ‘on’ even past midnight. Did Your Holiness not sleep last night?” His Holiness
replied that He had been unwell, running high temperature, and this prevented Him
from falling asleep. Hence, He started reading a book on Veddanta to spend time usefully
rather than waste it waiting for sleep.

His Holiness did not believe in keeping to Himself what He had learnt. He personally
taught the texts of the Tarka-sastra several times and produced, in batches, scholars
fully versed in Tarka and themselves competent to teach it in its entirety to others. While
Tarka serves the end of scholars, His Holiness, being interested in the spiritual uplift of
people, laid particular emphasis on expounding Vedanta, be it for public at large through
His anugraha-bhdsanas (benedictory discourses) or through formal classes. In the late
1970s, He started to expound, in depth, the following: The Bhagavadgita with Sankara-
Bhagavatpada’s bhdsya and the sub-commentary of SriAnandagiri; the Taittiriya-upanisad
with Bhagavatpada’s bhdsya and Sri Acyutakrsnananda-tirtha’s sub-commentary
Vanamala; and the Brahmasditras with Bhagavatpada’s bhasya, Ramananda-sarasvati’s
sub-commentary Ratnaprabhd and Sri Pirnananda’s gloss on the Ratnaprabhd. While
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these classes were primarily meant for His

successor-designate (the current pontiff of

the Sringeri Math, Jagadguru Sri Bharati-

firtha Mahasvamin), several others,

including samnyasins and scholars, were

also blessed to be the students. | have

had the good fortune of attending these

incomparable, ambrosial classes and can

assert with confidence that His Holiness’s

explanations were lucid and without a single inessential word; in several places, it

was unmistakable that His Holiness’s words were backed by His spiritual practice
and enlightenment. He had said about His Guru’s

V“r@},g{@/w@y exposition of Veddnta (Relevant portions of two of His

speeches, one in Kannada and another in Tamil have

been integrated in what follows), “He expounded the

scripture strictly in accordance with the commentary

of Bhagavatpada. He effortlessly integrated into His

teaching of Vedanta, pertinent points from Nyaya,

Mimamsa, and Yoga. When the Vedanta-sastra

is taught, one way is to explain a text line-by-line.

Another is to expound the lines integrated with one’s

experience. The latter characterised His teaching; it

gave great joy.” All this perfectly fitted His Holiness’s

teaching of Vedanta.

His Holiness did not
believe in keeping to
Himself what He had
learnt. He personally
taught the texts of the
Tarka-sastra several times
and produced, in batches,
scholars fully versed in
Tarka and themselves
competent to teach it
in its entirety to others.
While Tarka serves the
end of scholars, His
Holiness, being interested
in the spiritual uplift of
people, laid particular
emphasis on expounding
Vedanta, be it for public
at large through His
anugraha-bhasanas
(benedictory discourses)
or through formal classes.

SR==V; o=

Once a sabha was held at Bengaluru where panditas
debated whether Bhagavatpada recognised
malavidya, primordial ignorance that rests in and
veils Brahman and is the basis of false knowledge
about the Atman. Traditional Vedantins, right from
the time of Padmapadacarya, have undisputedly
held that Bhagavadpada accepts malavidya.
However, Sri Saccidanandendra-sarasvati of the
Holenarasipura Matha and his followers contended
that Bhagavatpada did not admit the existence
of malavidya; they opined that there is no veil of
ignorance in deep sleep and that the only difference
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between deep sleep and liberation is that the former is temporary. Representatives
of both the schools decided to thrash out the issue in a debate and that was why the
sabha had been arranged. His Holiness witnessed the proceedings with avid interest.
A person asked Him why He did not pass a verdict in His capacity as the Jagadguru. His
Holiness’s poignant reply was, “l am not sitting here as any Jagadguru. On the contrary,
| am seated as one who was taught the Sastras and am confirming what | have learnt.”
He was so unassuming and neutral in spite of His being recognised by scholars all over
the nation as an unparalleled exponent of Tarka and Vedanta. The debate ended in
favour of the upholders of the traditional view.

The following is based on a written account, in Tamil, of K. S. Venkatarama Sastri, a vidvan:

“Once, the Maharaja of Cochin, himself an

accomplished scholar in the Nyadya-sastra,

had prayed to His Holiness to resolve one

of his doubts in the Nyaya-sastra. He

wrote a letter to His Holiness detailing his

query and sent it through a scholar from

Kerala. At that time, a vidvat-sadas was

going on in the august presence of His

Holiness. When the letter was submitted,

His Holiness directed one of the scholars to

read it out before the scholars assembled

at the vidvat-sadas, thereby initiating a discussion among the scholars. One by one, the
scholars attempted their resolution of the issue but one or the other scholar promptly
rebutted the replies. Erudite vidvans such as Mathur Venkateswara Sastri, who had learnt
under none other than Jagadguru Sri Candrasekhara Bharati Mahasvamin and later
became a professor in the Mysore University, and Madhusudana Bhattacharya, a
renowned Tarkika from Kolkata, too offered their explanations only to be subsequently
countered by the other scholars. The debate continued and it seemed as though it would
be eternity before a conclusion could be reached. His Holiness suggested to the scholars
that all of them reflect on the issue further and come out with a tenable conclusion
before the concluding session of the sabha.

“As it turned out, even on the concluding day, none of the scholars was able to resolve the
doubt to the satisfaction of the sabha. At this juncture, His Holiness Himself intervened
and presented an appropriate answer in His inimitably lucid style. The scholars were
awestruck by the splendid reply given by His Holiness. Mathur Venkateswara Sastri
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openly remarked, ‘Only His Holiness can put any doubt to rest. After all, is He not the
Goddess Saradamba in human form?’ It became a memorable sadas for the vidvans.
The Maharaja’s joy knew no bounds when he received the clarification offered by His
Holiness. He promptly wrote a letter to His Holiness conveying his reverential salutations
and gratitude for the guidance received.”

The following was narrated by Venkatasubba Rao.

“I felt an urge to have some traditional lessons from His Holiness. | went to Sringeri and
made known my desire. Right away, His Holiness agreed and said that He would begin the
lesson at three o’ clock in the afternoon. Some samnydsins and panditas also attended the
classes. The text taken for exposition was the Sri-daksinamiirti-stotra of Bhagavatpada.
Having given a lucid exposition of the first verse, His Holiness decided to explain the
second verse the next day. He was having a sore throat that day. Yet, He chose to teach
me saying, ‘You have come all the way from Bengaluru for this. Hence, | will teach.” In
the course of the class, an aged samnyasin posed some questions to His Holiness based
on the Tarka-Sastra. His Holiness said, ‘These lessons are meant for Venkatasubba Rao.
Hence, | am giving only those details that will benefit him. Tarka is not important for
him. If you seek to understand the text from the standpoint of Tarka then | am willing
to explain that one point itself for days on end, giving a different interpretation on each
day.” On the third day, His Holiness said, ‘This is enough. In fact, what | taught you on the
first day was itself sufficient for you. | took up the second verse on the subsequent day
' to ward off any possible feeling you may get
that the absence of continuation of the second
day is inauspicious.’

“l accompanied His Holiness on His Kundapura
camp. | was travelling in the jeep that was
piloting His Holiness’s vehicle when, at one
point, | noticed that His Holiness had ordered
His car to stop. He asked me to sit in the

front seat of His car and sent His personal
attendant, Mahabala, to the jeep. No

conversation ensued. His Holiness lost Himself
in the contemplation of the Atman. The effect
of His silent atmanusandhdana on me was
tremendous.”




After he opted for voluntary retirement,

Anantarama Seshan came with his wife Vaikuntham

to Sringeri in 1963 with the intention of settling

down there. During the caturmdsya that year,

His Holiness expounded, in chaste Sanskrit, the

Vedanta-paribhasa (an authoritative, technical

primer on Advaita-Vedanta) to the couple, several

scholars and a samnyasin. After the first day’s

class, the lady approached Him in the evening

and said, “lI am blessed to attend Your Holiness’s

class. However, unlike all the others, | am not

knowledgeable in Sanskrit and, hence, am unable

to understand Your Holiness’s exposition.” Blessing

her, He compassionately responded, “You will be

able to comprehend the text.” The lady found,

much to her own amazement, that from the next

day onwards, she was able to follow His exposition

and, that too, without any difficulty. Even the portion of the text that had been covered
in the first class became clear to her. Later, His Holiness started expounding the Vedanta-
paficadast to the couple. Though He did so in Sanskrit, she was able to clearly follow
His teaching. After covering a portion of this text, He told them that they could read
the book by themselves and that it would be clear to them. That is what came to pass.
| was given this information, decades later, by the lady herself. She even demonstrated
to me that she had understood the texts concerned by telling me correctly, in Tamil, the
import of some textual portions that | read out.

The following was narrated by Ganapati Subrahmanya Avadhani.

“One night, when His Holiness was performing padja in Lucknow in January 1967 and
everybody was enjoying it, an intruder dashed into the place. On seeing him wearing a
coat, trousers and shoes, the guard tried to stop him. He simply brushed the sentry on
duty aside and sprang forward. As he neared the pdja-mandapa, several others and |
gathered around him and tried to prevent him from advancing further. Being a well-built
man, he overcame the opposition. His Holiness noticed this. He gestured to us to let him
be. On being freed, he moved closer to the dais. His Holiness directed him to sit down. He
obeyed like an innocent child and squatted in Vajrasana, with joined palms. He quietly
watched the pidja with rapt attention. After finishing the pdja, His Holiness asked him to
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come the next day at eight
in the morning. He said, ‘His
Holiness is an embodiment
of compassion but the
people around are rude.
What am | to do if | am
treated by them in the
same way as today?’ His
Holiness understood his
predicament and advised
him to come wearing a
dhoti and an upper cloth.

“The next day, after finishing His morning ahnika, His Holiness told His attendant, ‘The
Sethji who was here yesterday will be coming to see me. Usher him in.” Later, the person
came wearing a dhoti and a shawl, with sandal paste on his forehead as also vibhiti
and a ‘namam’! We were pleasantly surprised to behold him thus. He was taken to His
Holiness. After some time, he emerged, beaming.

“On his way back, he met me. | conveyed my apologies to him. | then asked him what
brought him to His Holiness. He gave the following account:

“He was having a host of difficulties and was struggling to overcome them. One night he
had an unusual dream. A sage with a brilliant and smiling countenance appeared in front
of him. On waking up, he wondered who that might be. After some days, when he was
in his shop, he accidently spotted a child carrying a large photograph. To his surprise,
he found that it was a photograph of the sage whom he had beheld in the dream.
On enquiry, he learnt that the photograph was that of the Jagadguru of Sringeri who
was then camping in the city. He was filled with joy and immediately rushed to have
darsana. My companions and | had tried unsuccessfully to stop him. His Holiness had
duly blessed him and infused new strength into him.”

Sri Subbaramaiya was desirous of His Holiness’s padukas but did not request Him to
bless him with them. When His Holiness visited Sri Subbaramaiya’s place at Bengaluru,
he hoped that His Holiness would, of His own accord, grant him His padukas. After His
Holiness left, he was pleasantly surprised to find that His Holiness’s padukas had been
left behind. He thought, “There is no specific instruction from His Holiness that | may
keep them at home for worship. Hence, | should return them.” When he took them to
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His Holiness, He told him, “I left them there
for you. Keep them with you.” Every time
His Holiness camped at Bengaluru, he used
to request Him, “Please bless my house
with a visit.” His Holiness used to smile and
say, “I am very much there.”

The following was narrated by S. N.

Parameswara.

“His Holiness was once camping at my brother \/G\CD C\D/D\/
Srithandaveswara’s place. The room He stayed =N =" |
in had an open cupboard that contained “I'left my padukas there
some books. | had kept in that cupboard a for you. Keep them with
notebook in which | had written some slokas you.”

in Kannada; | recited these every day. After - His Holiness

His bhiksa, His Holiness glanced at some of

the books. When | went for His darsana in the /—\Q%CS‘“%EONQ/—\
evening, He told me, ‘Bring me the notebook.’

When | did so, He said, ‘I went through this notebook in the afternoon when | had
some free time. You have written some slokas in Kannada which you are probably
reciting daily. Some of the verses contain spelling mistakes. | have corrected them to the
extent that | could. | did so because | did not want you to recite them with mistakes. You
may verify their correctness and recite them.’ Saying so, He handed me the notebook.
For His unparalleled erudition and the seat He was occupying, He could have easily said,
‘I have corrected the mistakes. You may now recite them without error.” Instead, He only
said that He had corrected the mistakes to the extent that He could and that | might
verify their correctness. Such was His humility.”

During one of her trips to Sringeri, Alamelu Krishnan, who was deeply devoted to
His Holiness, submitted a pearl necklace and sari on behalf of her younger brother,
S. Subramaniam. His Holiness told her to convey His blessings to her brother and his
family. He then remarked, “Subramaniam drove my car when | was camping in Chennai.”
On her return to Chennai, she conveyed to her brother what His Holiness had said.
Pleasantly surprised, Subramaniam said, “As you are aware, | was very keen to drive His
Holiness’s car while He was camping in Chennai. However, much to my disappointment,
| did not get an opportunity to do so. All | could do was to imagine myself chauffeuring
His Holiness’s car. While that itself gave me consolation, | now am elated to hear
from you that His Holiness accepted my mental chauffeuring.” There was no question
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of His Holiness, whose memory was very strong, having erroneously thought that
Subramaniam had physically driven His car when He was in Chennai in 1986.

The following was narrated by R. Muthusundaram.

“Once, during my stay at Sringeri, | imagined lotuses in full bloom and offered them one
by one at the lotus feet of His Holiness. | commenced my mental arcana when His
Holiness started from Narasimhavana, continued it as He crossed the river and
visited the temples there and completed it only when He returned. Before entering
Sacchidananda Vilas, His abode, He turned towards me, smiled and majestically went
in. That evening, He sent for me. He held a silver coin with the image of Saradamba on
it in His hands and closed His eyes for a few minutes. His normally bright face appeared
all the more lustrous. He then blessed me with the coin and gave me mantraksata.
| subsequently went to the structure housing the samadhis of the 33 and 34t pontiffs
and attached the coin to my yajfiopavita. Krishnaswami lyer (who was the author of
books on the 34t pontiff and who, after samnydsa was known as SriJfidnananda-bharati)
observed me doing so and asked, ‘Did you do any padapdja?’ ‘This pendant is given
only to those who perform it,” he added. | told him that | had not formally done any
padapdja. | then described to him the mental worship that | had done in the morning.
‘Yes,” he said with certitude. ‘It is the fruit of that worship which you have got now.
Cannot our God-like Guru, who can grant the wishes in the minds of those who are
thousands of miles away, bestow the result of the manasika-padapdja (mental padapija)
that you did to Him in His presence? This is what He has done.”

The following was narrated by K. S. Natarajan.

( “In 1968, | stayed at Sringeri for five days and then
\/&‘p@"\%\/ y & Y

took mantraksata from His Holiness. As | was about
to leave, His Holiness asked me, ‘Where are you
Guru, who can grant the going?’ ‘“To Salem,’ | replied. His Holiness advised me
wishes in the minds of to spend the night at Bengaluru before driving on to
those who are thousands Salem. Being rather obstinate, | causally said, ‘I can
of miles away, bestow the manage to proceed to Salem without a stopover at
result of the manasika- Bengaluru.” Just as my car reached Bengaluru, its axle
padapuja (mental broke. It was evening by the time the repairs were
padapuja) that was done completed. My resolve to proceed to Salem remained.
to Him in His presence? As | was to start, there was a heavy downpour.

/\C%CD\G‘“’;CONQ/\ This put paid to my plan. Perforce, | halted for the

Cannot our God-like
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night at Bengaluru and resumed my journey early in the
morning. On my way, | found that a huge tree had fallen
across the road. Had | left Bengaluru the previous night, |
would have had to spend my time here, stranded in the
middle of the night. | realized that His Holiness’s advice

had been prophetic.”

The following was narrated by Ramani, a votary of

Hanuman.

“We had a 32 feet tall statue of

Afjaneya sculpted for installation at

a temple in Nanganallur in Chennai.

In 1989, we went to Sringeri and

requested His Holiness for His blessings for the

proposed consecration of the idol. His Holiness was very pleased with my efforts and
blessed me. He then asked, ‘Where do you intend to position the statue?’ | replied, ‘In
front of the statue of Lord Rama.” His Holiness remarked, ‘In front of Lord Rama, is it?
| gather that Afjaneya’s hands are folded in reverence but His tail is raised above His
head. When standing in front of Rama, would not Afijaneya have stood with His
tail somewhat lowered? If His tail is to be curled upwards, with its end above His

head, why not place Him beside Lord Rama?’ ‘It is \/CNCD/‘” ,\CQ%D\/
= A

impossible to place Lord Afjaneya’s statue there,
because there is no space for this in the sanctum
sanctorum,” | responded. His Holiness did not
say anything. The other committee members
and I discussed the matter and decided, ‘His Holiness
did not say anything when we reported the lack of
space. Hence, we shall go ahead as planned. As the
date of the kumbhabhiseka has been decided upon
and there is not much time left, it would be very
difficult to make any changes now.

“It so happened that when the idol of Sri
Afjaneya was being brought to the temple site,
a monkey suddenly jumped in front of the lorry.
To avoid collision with the monkey, the driver
slammed the brakes. A distressing consequence

His Holiness asked,
“When standing in front
of Rama, would not
Afijaneya have stood
with His tail somewhat
lowered? If His tail is to
be curled upwards, with
its end above His head,
why not place Him beside
Lord Rama?” What His
Holiness had had in mind
automatically came
to pass.

= on=all
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was that the tail of Afijaneya’s statue broke at some distance from
its end. We were in a quandary. We decided to get a sculptor
to modify the remaining portion of the tail and go ahead with
the kumbhabhiseka as planned. With the modification,
ARjaneya’s tail was no more above His head. We realized

that what His Holiness had had in mind automatically

came to pass in a way that was totally unexpected

by us.”

R. Pandurangan was desirous of pursuing the

M.B.B.S course and becoming a doctor. When,

in the early 1960s, he sought His Holiness’s

blessings, He said that by the grace of the

Divine Mother, his wish would be fulfilled.

Pandurangan, however, failed to get through the interview.

His Holiness again told him that he would obtain an M.B.B.S. degree.

Pandurangan failed to secure admission the second time too. His Holiness yet again
told him that he would obtain an M.B.B.S. degree. Finally, in the year 1963, he joined
the College of Integrated Medicine at Kilpauk, Chennai, for the G.C.I.M. course. This
course led to a G.C.I.M. degree that was not on par with the M.B.B.S. degree and involved
the study of Indian systems of medicine such as Ayurveda. When this information was
conveyed to His Holiness, He reasserted His response. The infallibility of His blessing
became clear only when it so happened that, in response to representations, the
Government decided to give the first and second year G.C.I.M. students the option of
joining the M.B.B.S. course, with their earlier studies being given due credit. Pandurangan
was accommodated in the M.B.B.S. course at Stanley Medical College and graduated
four years later; what His Holiness had assured him repeatedly came to pass.

Pandurangan then worked as Medical Officer at Vallanadu, near Tirunelveli. Later, he
completed a D.O. course at the Egmore Eye Hospital and was posted as Assistant Eye
Surgeon, Nagerkoil. In this manner, though seemingly impossible

earlier, he was able to graduate with an M.B.B.S degree as blessed

by His Holiness and thereafter, obtain a diploma in ophthalmology

too. {Dr. R. Pandurangan’s cousin, Sankaran, told me in the

early 1980s of how His Holiness had graced Pandurangan.

Both Pandurangan and Sankaran are deceased. Further details

and some corroboration were provided recently by the late

Dr. Pandurangan’s wife, Vasanthi Pandurangan.}
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The following was narrated by Rajam Nagarajan.

“In 1961, when His Holiness was camping in

Chennaiand myfatherand myhusband went for His

darsana, He told my father, ‘Ask your daughter to

sing during the Candramaulisvara-paja tomorrow

night” When this instruction was conveyed to me

at home, | was petrified. | had almost completely

lost my voice due to severe throat infection over

the previous few days. | was unable to utter even

a few words without breaking into painful bouts

of cough. | took all possible steps to remedy my

throat but there was no improvement. Even as

| left for the pdja the next evening, the cough

had not stopped. After the abhiseka, when His

Holiness looked in my direction and gestured that

I may begin singing, | immediately started. | did

not cough even once for the entire duration of my singing. After the pdja, His Holiness
gave prasada to all of us and told my father, ‘Your daughter sang very well. Many here
do not pronounce the Sanskrit letters sa, sa and sa distinctly. However, your daughter
did so.” He blessed me. When | reached home, | was flooded with questions from
my family. However, by then, my voice had shut down once again and | could not speak
a single word. It took another few days before | regained my voice. It was only because
| sang in obedience to His instruction that, by His grace, | could sing without the
slightest discomfort.”

On seeing that a good singer of Madurai who had lost

\/C&waf’%\/ her ability to sing regained it on His Holiness blessing

“The lady’s devotion her, K. M. Balasubramanian asked His Holiness,
caused the Divine “How did this happen?” His Holiness replied, “By
Mother to grace her. God’s grace.” “How exactly did her power of speech

Impelled by Her, | merely  return?” persisted Balasubramanian. His Holiness
functioned as a conduit said, “They are highly devoted people and came
for Her blessings.” here with the firm belief that the problem would be

- His Holiness  solved. The lady’s devotion caused the Divine Mother

: : to grace her. Impelled by Her, | merely functioned as
@ @ a conduit for Her blessings.”
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The following was narrated by V. Chandramouli.

“When His Holiness was camping in Ghatkopar in Mumbai, a Muslim had the opportunity
to have His Holiness’s darsana. Being conversant with Sanskrit, he introduced himself
to His Holiness in Sanskrit. His Holiness was surprised and conversed with him in Sanskrit
to encourage him. The man was very happy and told His Holiness that he had been
yearning to have His Holiness’s darsana for a long time and added that his father, who
was in Kolkata, too had the same desire. His Holiness told him that his father could
have His darsana when He visited Kolkata. His Holiness then asked for some stones
to be brought. Giving them to the man, He said, ‘These were given to me by some
Muslims who had returned from Mecca. You can keep them. If your father requires
one, you can give it to him too.” The man then asked His Holiness if he could watch the
Candramaulisvara-pdaja that night. His Holiness told him that he may do so. At the end of
the pdja, His Holiness blessed him with flowers. He preserved the flowers. Furthermore,
he embedded one of stones given by His Holiness in a ring and wore that ring.”

During His Holiness’s tour to Rameswaram, two Muslims named Allah Pasha and
Ibrahim came to have His darsana. Allah Pasha’s wife had suffered six
miscarriages earlier and the couple was childless. Desirous of a child, he had come to
seek the blessings of His Holiness. His Holiness blessed him saying, “You will beget a
good son.” Needless to mention, in due course, a male child was born to the couple.

The other person, Ibrahim, submitted to His Holiness that someone was causing him
great trouble in his business. He was in utter despair and had almost reached the point
of having to shut down his business. His Holiness said, “All your problems will cease and
you will be happy.” Soon, the one who was creating trouble went away. His departure
paved way for Ibrahim’s business to recover and grow without any impediments.

With their prayers fulfilled, both Allah Pasha and Ibrahim went to Sringeri and sought
His Holiness’s permission to offer padapdja (involving pdja to the padukds of His
Holiness’s Guru). His Holiness advised them not to do padapdja as such a mode of

‘ worship was discordant with the tenets of Islam.

N‘W"\@%&\/ They then requested Him to permit them to make

“All your problems will some offerings to the Matha. His Holiness granted

cease and you will be their fervent prayer and blessed them. {The

happy.” source of this information is an article authored by

- His Holiness K. V. Santhanagopalachariar in 1977 and published in
/\Qy@:“%,@\)g/.\ asouvenir.}
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On 15™ April 1984, His Holiness presided over the

conclusion of an Atirudra-mahayaga at Anegunda

(near Sringeri) and then returned to Sringeri. A few

days later, as He was giving tirtha-prasada in the

front hall of Sacchidananda Vilas in the morning, a

devotee showed His Holiness two small idols of Lord

Vinayaka and requested His Holiness to sanctify

them by His touch. His Holiness took the idols in

His right hand and remarked that they were

beautiful. With the idols in His closed palm,

He remained with His eyes closed for a while.

Thereafter, as He was about to give them to the

devotee, He asked, “Are you intending to worship

two idols?” The devotee replied, “I was desirous of \/CNCD/‘WS‘L%\/
receiving one from Your Holiness and of submitting His Holiness took the
the other to Your Holiness.” His Holiness smiled, gave idols in His right hand

him one idol and kept the other near Himself. and remarked that they

As the devotee moved on, His Holiness looked in were beautiful. With the

the direction of the entrance of the hall, beckoned idols in les cIoseFj palm,
to me and said, “Tell them, in Hindi, to come after He remained with His

20 minutes” | discerned that His Holiness was  €Yes closed for a while.
referring to two persons who were standing on the /\M)\QJ,W
final step leading to the hall and were looking quite @ @

ill at ease. They were wearing white pyjamas and kurtas, were bearded and had white
skull caps. One of them appeared to be in his fifties and the other in his thirties. | walked
up to these Muslims and conveyed the message of His Holiness. They promptly left.

In a few minutes, the distribution of tirtha-prasada to the devotees was complete. His
Holiness went inside, proceeded to the room on the eastern side of Sacchidananda
Vilas on the ground floor and sat on His wooden seat there. He had gestured to me to
follow Him and | did so. He called His attendant and assigned him a task that required
the attendant to go to the Matha complex on the northern side of the river. After the
attendant left, His Holiness told me to shut the door through which He had entered.
Having sat silently for a while, He told me, “The two would have come. Bring them in.
Shut the door behind you.” | did as told.

On His Holiness asking them to sit, they sat, not cross-legged but with their knees joined
and positioned on the ground. Abruptly, His Holiness started to recite something that
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seemed to me to be in Arabic. He began with the words,
“Bismillahir Rahmanir Rahim”, which | had heard Muslims
chant and knew that these words meant, “In the name
of Allah, the most Gracious, the most Merciful.” Hence,
| conjectured that His Holiness was reciting something
from the Quran. All | could quickly register was that His
subsequent chant had at its start what sounded like,
“Alam nashrah laka sadrak.” | was surprised because | had
never heard His Holiness chant anything like this before.
| noticed that the two Muslims were awestruck. They
quickly held their hands in the Muslim gesture of prayer,
with their open palms held towards their faces. When
His Holiness ended His chant, the elder of the two said,
in Urdu, “Baba, how wonderfully you chant the Quran!”
His Holiness ignored the compliment and asked, in

Urdu, “What is the purpose of your visit?” The younger man said, “My child is very ill.”
Without waiting for him to continue, His Holiness said, “Bring the boy.” The man said,

“l shall do so. He is with his mother in the car”

As he went out, the elder person told His Holiness, “I teach the Quran in a madrasa
and my son does so in another. Both of us, his wife and child arrived at Mangalore

(Mangaluru) a few days ago. We planned to see some
pretty places in Karnataka and Kerala. We took a taxi
and proceeded through Agumbe to the Jog Falls near
Shimoga (Shivamogga). We then wanted to proceed
to the origin of the river Tunga. However, as we were
nearing Koppa, my grandchild began to scream in
pain, clutching his abdomen. My daughter-in-law
tried her best to pacify him but could not. We took
him to a doctor at Koppa. He examined the child and
suggested that we admit him to a hospital there. We
did so. Despite several tests and treatment, there was
no improvement. The child was suffering much and
could not eat or drink anything. He threw up even
water. At night, due to exhaustion, my daughter-
in-law must have dozed off for a few minutes. She

\/CT\\OD/°WQ’\CD//SD\/

“His Holiness started to
recite something that
seemed to me to be in
Arabic. He began with
the words, ‘Bismillahir

Rahmanir Rahim’, which

| had heard Muslims
chant and knew that
these words meant, ‘In
the name of Allah, the
most Gracious, the most
Merciful.”

dreamt that the child was dead and was inconsolable /\Q%Cj JW
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after waking up. Three years ago, her first son, when aged
two, had clutched hisabdomen and screamed. Later, he died
in a hospital as his appendix had ruptured. Understandably,
this child’s suffering severe pain in the abdomen and that
too at the age of two was terrible for us. As there was no
improvement even by this morning, we decided to shift the
child to some big hospital in Mangaluru and got the child
discharged, against the advice of the doctor at Koppa.

“As we were starting, the taxi driver suggested that as we
would be passing through Sringeri en route to Mangaluru,
we should get the child blessed by you. He was sure that with
your blessings itself, the child would get relief. On hearing
this, my daughter-in-law insisted that we should bring the
childtoyou. My son and I strongly objected. We told her that
her father was an Imam and we were orthodox Muslims. How could we take our child
for blessings to some Swami who would know nothing of the Quran and would possibly
prescribe some idol worship, which was clearly prohibited in the Quran? She, however,
became hysterical and no matter how much we voiced our two objections to come to
you, she continued to insist. As she was becoming unmanageable and as the child was
crying non-stop and unable to take even a drop of water, we agreed, unwillingly, to bring
the child to you. When | saw you from a distance, you were giving an idol to someone.
That made us uncomfortable. | felt that not knowing that idol worship is taboo for us,
you would give us also some idol and ask us to worship it for the sake of our child. We
were somewhat relieved when you asked us to come back after twenty minutes. Now, by
your excellent chanting of the Quran, you have completely dispelled our misgiving
about our bringing our child to some Swami who would have no idea about the Quran.”

His Holiness listened passively. A few moments of silence followed. The younger
person entered with a bawling child in his arms and followed by his wife who was in
purdah. Even as she entered, she repeatedly wailed, in Urdu, “Baba, bless my child.” His
Holiness assured her, “Do not worry. The child will be alright. Allah is most merciful.”
She gained some composure and, in response to His Holiness’s gesture, both the
husband and wife sat down. The child continued to cry. His Holiness asked the child’s
father to hand Him the child. Placing the boy on His lap, His Holiness lifted the child’s
upper garment up. Gently rubbing the child’s exposed abdomen, His Holiness chanted
somethingin Arabic that, as far as | could make out, started thus: “Allahuma rabbi-nas.”
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Even as He ended His chant, the child stopped crying. :
The mother blurted out, in Urdu, “Baba, thank you, —
thank you.”

Gently rubbing the child’s
exposed abdomen,

His Holiness asked her, “Do you have anything with His Holiness chanted
you to feed the child.” She said, “Yes. | have milkand ~ something in Arabic that,
some eatables” His Holiness handed the child back ~ as far as | could make out,
to his father and asked her to give the boy milk. The ~ started thus: “Allahuma
child drank the milk given in a cup. Helping the child ~ rabbi-nas.” Even as He
to stand up, she told him, “Perform salaam to Baba.” ended His chant, the
The child smiled and did so. His Holiness smiled  child stopped crying. The
back. The elders profusely thanked His Holiness. He ~ mother blurted out, in
just said, “Be thankful to Allah and not to me,” and Urdu, “Baba, thank you,

permitted them to leave.

thank you.”

= Tonall
As they were about to leave, the elder Muslim said,

“It is because of the driver that we came to you. Would you see him?” His Holiness
said, “Yes. Send him in.” In a couple of minutes, the driver entered. He had removed his
upper garments. He was having kunkuma on his forehead and seemed to be in his fifties.

352

On seeing him, His Holiness smiled and
said, in Kannada, “You have come here
before” The man confirmed that he
had and performed namaskara. As he
was getting up, His Holiness asked him,
“Do you continue to chant ‘sumukhaya
namah’ and the rest?” The driver
replied, “I do so every day, without
fail. After | started chanting the twelve
names as taught by Your Holiness and
offering worship through them to the
picture of Vinayaka that Your Holiness
had blessed me with, my problems
ceased and | am living happily since
then.” His Holiness asked, “How is that
picture now?” The driver apologetically
said, “As | travel much and carry it
with me in my car everywhere | go,
it has faded.” Giving the driver the



Vinayaka idol that had been submitted to Him earlier in the day, His Holiness told him,
“Hereafter, worship this instead of the picture.” He then gave him a fruit and permitted
him to leave.

It is only recently that | ascertained, in the light of the words that | could recall of His
Holiness’s chanting of the Quran, that He had recited Surah 94, called “ash-Sharh (The
Opening),” and that this Surah comprises eight lines that convey:

1. Have We not opened your breast for you.

2. And removed from you your burden

3. Which weighed down your back?

4. And have We not raised high your fame?

5. Verily, along with every hardship is relief,

6. Verily, along with every hardship is relief.

7. So when you have finished (your occupation), devote yourself for Allah’s worship.
8. And to your Lord turn (all your) intentions and hopes.

As regards what His Holiness chanted when rubbing the child’s abdomen, | recently
ascertained, on the basis of His initial words, that it is a dua (supplication) about which,
according to the Hadith: “Aisha (R.A.) narrated: Whenever Allah’s Messenger (S.A.W.)
paid a visit to a patient or a patient was brought to him, he used to invoke Allah saying,
‘Allahuma rabbi-nas adhhabal ba’sa, ashfi wa entashafi, la shifa’ illa shifa’uka shifa’
la yughadiru sagama (O Lord of the people! Remove this pain and cure it. You are the
One Who cures. There is no cure but Yours. Grant such a cure that no illness remains).”
This supplication is to be chanted while rubbing with the right hand the affected part of
the patient and that was precisely what His Holiness had done.

His Holiness was once camping at Kotekar, near Mangaluru. It was about 2:30 p.m. He
was seated in His private room. He was telling me about an event when He abruptly
got up, walked to the door leading to the open veranda in the front of the building
and opened it. In moments, a man came rushing there. He was sweating, his shirt and
trousers were dirty and his forehead was bandaged. His Holiness gently asked him
who he was and what he wanted. The man blurted out, in Kannada, “Please save,” but
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could not proceed further as he began to sob.
Even without his having said anything more, His
Holiness told him, “Your son will be alright soon.
Do not worry.” Then gesturing to him to wait,
He went inside and brought two big packets of
cashew nuts and one large pack of almonds. He
gave them to him, saying, “Give some of these to
your son daily, after some days.” Having respectfully
taken the dry fruits, he told His Holiness, “My son is
in hospital. The doctor told me today that my child
is suffering from cancer” “No, he does not have
cancer. He will come home soon from the hospital
and be well,” His Holiness stated emphatically.
The man joined his palms, thanked Him and left.
His Holiness shut the door, resumed His seat and
continued to talk to me from where He had left.

The next evening, when He was completing

His evening walk, He saw the man standing at a

distance, with palms joined. He smiled at him and

entered the building. The man remained where

he stood. After His Holiness had gone for His evening bath, when | came out, the man
walked up to me and said, “Last evening, after | had returned to the hospital from
here, the doctor came and said, ‘There was a mistake; reports had got mixed up. Your
son does not have cancer. We can discharge him in two days. After taking him home,
give him good nourishment.” Please convey this to Swami. | am very thankful to Him.
As | did not wish to disturb Him today, | stayed at a distance.” | replied that | would
submit his information to His Holiness. As | was starting to leave, he added, “l am a
Christian. When | was shell-shocked on hearing that my child has cancer, a Hindu friend
\_/G&C/wae\/w/D\/ told me to approach Swami for blessings. That is
why | rushed here yesterday. | am glad that | did so.”
Later, when | reported the matter to His Holiness,
He just heard me in silence.

“No, he does not have
cancer. He will come home
soon from the hospital

and be well,” His Holiness  The following was reported by Venkatarama Sastry.
stated emphatically.

S==v; ox—um

A devotee took a group of foreigners including a
Christian priest to Sringeri and had the darsana of His
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Holiness. His Holiness started chatting
with them in His customary cordial
style. The foreigners too freely voiced
their doubts about Hinduism and its
various tenets, including idol worship.
His Holiness responded to their queries
with convincing answers. The topic
then shifted to Advaita philosophy. His
Holiness gave a lucid explanation of
the non-dual philosophy. Noticing the
priest’s inability to grasp the subject, His
Holiness resorted to catechism to drive
home the points that He expounded
earlier.

His Holiness: Who are you?
Priest: | am so and so.

His Holiness: No, | did not ask your
name. Who are ‘you’?

Priest: | am the son of so and so.

His Holiness: No, no, not that. Who are ‘you’?

Priest: | am the priest of...church.

His Holiness: | did not mean that. Tell me who ‘you’ are.
Priest: (Confused) | don’t know.

His Holiness: (Smiling) See, this is the problem. We do not know who we really are.
Your name, relationship to someone else and your profession — all these pertain to your
body and not to you. Now, tell me, what are you called when you are starving?

Priest: A hungry man.
His Holiness: Correct. What are you known as when you are overeating?
Priest: A glutton.

His Holiness: That’s right. Well, when you are travelling?
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Nc ='<D/D\/ Priest: A traveller.
S
His Holiness: Yes. Now consider this. Descriptions like
‘hungry man’, ‘glutton’ and ‘traveller’ are based on
actions, again, pertaining to your body. Do you get the
There you are. ‘You’ are feeling that you are a different man every time you are
that unchanging common called by a different name?
entity behind all these

changing names Priest: No, it is ‘" known by various names and
and forms. That indeed is relationships.

your true identity.
His Holiness: There you are. ‘You’ are that unchanging

- His Holiness common entity behind all these changing names
and forms. That indeed is your true identity.

His Holiness then expounded the unreality of the
/‘\Q%@}WJ;CO\Q/\ universe according to the tenets of Advaita and the

underlying Supreme Reality, the substratum of all
names and forms. The delighted Christian priest profusely thanked His Holiness and
was happy that he had received a valuable teaching that day.

The following is abstracted from an article penned by T. R. Ramachandran, a close
disciple of His Holiness.

“One day in Hong Kong, | wanted to recite a sloka, a gentleman had advised me to but
could not get the text there. So when | came to Mumbai, | looked it up and after a few
days went to see His Holiness who was camping in Madurai. Casually one afternoon,
He sent for me upstairs and simply said the same Sloka and explained the meaning.
There was no provocation, no reason why it happened; it just happened. Was |
flabbergasted and stunned? No, | was excited and thrilled. ‘Isn’t it verse 12 of SataslokT ?’
| asked (having read it only a few days earlier). He nodded with a twinkle in His eyes.

“On another visit, | requested His Holiness to guide me in my sadhana, and He
said a verse from the Vivekaciddmani, which means, ‘The fool thinks ‘I am the
body. The sastraic scholar has the sense of ‘I’ in the body and the jiva (the soul).
The mahatman who has knowledge born of discrimination always thinks of himself in
the form, ‘I am Brahman! ’ | told His Holiness that | understood the meaning well, but
would like to get the anubhava (experience). Simple, straight and as usual, sweet was
His reply: ‘Oh, it will happen when you practise saksibhava, identifying yourself with
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consciousness, the witness of even the mind. | feel
grateful for this most useful guideline which can make
the goal easy within reach.”

The following is culled from an article penned by
K. V. Narayanaswami.

“In 1965, Imentioned to His Holiness that | wanted to give
up my professional work (as a lawyer and concentrate
on the study of the Upanisad bhasyas and the Sdtra-
bhdasya. His Holiness smiled and asked me if | would
like a cow with one horn or a cow with both horns.
The question surprised me and | could not catch its
significance, | replied, ‘Of course, a cow with both
horns.” ‘So should it be with you,’ said His Holiness and
continued. ‘You must pursue the worldly occupation
N/ewf\%w and also study the sastras side by side, slowly shifting
the emphasis to the latter until the world falls off
from you. You are well grounded for a dhdarmic way of
life. You are influential and are respected. You should
utilize this opportunity for securing support for service
to society, which is only another name for worship of

witness of God.” A glorious concept: Service to society is worship
even the mind.” of God.”

“Oh, it will happen when
you practise saksibhava,
identifying yourself
with consciousness, the

- His Holiness The source of the following information s

/_\C’%C)\‘“"W K. S. Sankaran.

“Alady who was hardly thirty lost her husband in an accident. The responsibility of looking
after her two young sons fell on her shoulders. One day, she requested His Holiness for
an audience with Him. He asked her to come and see Him the next morning and told me
also to come with her. She asked Him, ‘Why is it that | have to undergo so much suffering?
| have not committed any sin. Why then should | suffer? Now that my husband is dead,
who will look after me?’ Despite His busy schedule, His Holiness spent His time consoling
her. He explained to her that the whole world is impermanent. He then proceeded
to point out that one suffers due to one’s own karma; there is nobody who does not
undergo suffering. He advised, ‘Your children are like your eyes. It is your duty to bring
them up well. You are academically well-qualified. Take up a teacher’s job. That would
fetch you sufficient money to meet the needs of your family. My blessings are with you!
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No sooner had His Holiness blessed her, she felt great peace. Her morale grew manifold
and she resolved that she would do as per His Holiness’s advice. She visited the Matha
regularly. By His Holiness’s grace, she and her children did well in life.”

The following is a transcription of excerpts from a talk by Dr. G. Lakshmipathy.

“l had the great good fortune to be His Holiness’s personal physician for a time. When |
was first asked to treat His Holiness, | certainly could see this as a great honour. However,
I had my own trepidation and little anxiety on this score because | was being asked to
treat not an ordinary person but a great and exalted person, a jivanmukta. My thoughts
were on the following lines: ‘Treating a great and exalted person like His Holiness is
something quite beyond my training. Normally, when | examine a patient, | feel clean
while the patient is the one who is unclean. In this case, however, | am going to examine
someone who is so completely pure, physically, mentally and spiritually. | am the one,
in this case, who is impure, for | am full of worldly ambitions and capable of unholy
thoughts. Next, how am | going to ask His Holiness questions regarding sleep and diet,
because persons like Him go into nirvikalpa-samadhi often and subsist on very little food?
In fact, yogins can cure themselves if they want; doctors are only used as instruments
by such people to enact divine dramas.” The first thing He told me when | saw Him was,
‘Please treat me as a patient and not as a preceptor.” With that, His Holiness completely
put me at ease. In fact, in the presence of His Holiness, | felt a kind of peace that |

@ @ had never known before. Every time that | examined
m‘wé’ﬁ\/ Him, | used to do a sastanga-namaskara and pray,
His Holines said, “I ‘Swamiji, | have given a prescription. Please make
stopped taking ayurvedic Yourself better’
medicine because the

vaidya is aged and has to
put up with difficulty to
prepare it. Of course, he
is quite willing to do it for
me but | don’t want him
troubled.” Such was His

compassion that He was

“His Holiness had some breathing trouble and was
under the treatment of an ayurvedic physician in
Bangalore (Bengaluru). He told me that his medicine
was giving Him great relief. Being an allopath, | felt
jealous. When | went to see Him later, He said that
His trouble had recurred. | queried, ‘What about
the ayurvedic medicine?’” With some satisfaction, |
more concerned about thought that that medicine was ineffective. However,
the physician’s strain He said, ‘I stopped taking it because the vaidya is

than His health. aged and has to put up with difficulty to prepare
it. Of course, he is quite willing to do it for me but

/\C%(D\‘“”W | don’t want him troubled. Hence, let me take your

358



medicine. Your medicine is also effective.
Such was His compassion that He was
more concerned about the physician’s
strain than His health and was willing to
satisfy me in spite of my jealousy.

“I suffer from migraine. Once, when
| reached Sringeri, | had a terrible
headache, nausea and vomiting. | was
suffering greatly and lying in a corner,
almost moaning. The Matha’s office then
reached me with the message: ‘As soon
as the doctor comes, His Holiness would
like to see him. The moment | got the
message, | sat up and was completely
alright. This had never happened before.
Miracles do happen.

“His Holiness was ever in a state of equipoise and
total peace. Once, in Coimbatore, His Holiness

\/C\Q\« \Q%D\/

"Left to myself, | would visited the Sarada Temple and | went to have His

like to sit like this and darsana. A function was in progress. All kinds of
meditate.” Saying so, people were around and the sound level was pretty

His Holiness went into a high. Nadasvara was being played loudly. Apart from
trance. noise, there was smoke from the homa-kunda. | was

finding it difficult to sit amidst the din and bustle

TNCASYIEAY ’
@"'\C)\g/\ crowd, smoke and sweat. However, His Holiness

was sitting on the dais, completely at peace, with a
beautiful smile on His face, eyes half closed. | thought that this was the greatest sight |
had ever seen because | could not take my eyes off Him.

“When | went to see Him some time later in Sringeri, | was thinking that it would be nice
if | saw Him again in that state. At that time, He was very busy and was also ill. | told
Him, ‘Gurunadtha, | think You are exerting too much and should take rest. If You were
not a Jagadguru, | would not have allowed You to take up all these responsibilities.” He
said, ‘What can | do? Left to myself, | would like to sit like this and meditate.” Saying so,
He went into a trance. | did not know what to say. Once again, | had the opportunity to
behold Him as He was when seated on the dais, glowing with tejas.”
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The following was narrated by K. M.
Balasubramanian.

“I once contracted severe diarrhoea
and lay in my room. | did not even go
for His Holiness’s darsana as | was
exhausted, having had loose stools for
three days. He asked someone in the
Matha the reason for my absence. That
person reported that | was unwell and
suffering from diarrhoea. His Holiness
straightaway came to where | was
_ | staying in the Matha. On seeing Him,
B got up and prostrated before Him.
He said, ‘Do not worry. | will send you
some medicine’ and left. He then sent
some medicine through an attendant.
| found that it was made of herbs and
was delicious and tasted like halwa. |
had it once in the morning and again in
the evening. Actually, the first dose itself put an end to my diarrhoea. When | went for
His Holiness’s darsana, He asked me, ‘How are you? How was the medicine?’ | replied,
‘I am fine. The medicine was like nectar.” To this, His Holiness responded, ‘Earlier, when
you had the disease, the medicine was nectar for you. If you have the same thing now,
it will be poison. If anything remains of it, discard it.”

After retirement, Thyagaraja Dikshitar settled down, with the permission of His
Holiness, in Narasimhavana. He once fell ill. The doctor who examined determined that
he needed to be hospitalised for a few days. He was, however, unwilling to consider
this on the ground that he performed agnihotra every morning and evening and this
would be disrupted if he were to be admitted. On learning of His refusal, His Holiness
came to his house and asked him, “Would you prefer to perform agnihotra today and
stop doing it for long thereafter or would you prefer going to the hospital now for a few
days and, thereafter, duly resume performing agnihotra? If you do not effectively deal
with your present illness, you would be going in for the first option that | mentioned.”
Thyagaraja Dikshitar decided to get admitted to the hospital; he returned fit in a few
days and, in the prescribed manner, resumed his daily agnihotra.
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A samnyasin staying in Sringeri was in a very poor \—/C&Df’ﬂ (CD%D\/
A

state of health and not in a position to do even his
ahnika. His Holiness told him to present his condition
to the doctor who had come to Narasimhavana.
The monk did so. He later told His Holiness that
the doctor had prescribed medicines for him but he
did not intend to take them. The reason he gave was,
“l am a samnydsin. A samnydasin is not supposed to

“I am not asking you to
take medicines to render
yourself fit to enjoy
life. | want you to take
medicines so that you
are physically fit enough
to carry out the duties of
your asrama, which you
are unable to do now.”

take care of his body.”

His Holiness: Do you know that |, a samnydsin, am
also taking tablets? - His Holiness

Samnyasin:  Your Holiness is the Jagadguru /\M\‘“"W
Shankaracharya of the Sharada Peetham. - @ :© '

His Holiness: | am not asking you to take medicines to render yourself fit to enjoy life.
| want you to take medicines so that you are physically fit enough to carry out the duties
of your asrama, which you are unable to do now. By properly engaging in spiritual
disciplines, you would do good to yourself and also be an inspiration to those who are
suitably inclined, to lead a life of renunciation. If you are just lying in a corner breathing
twenty times a minute, not only will you not be in a position to uplift yourself through
spiritual disciplines, you would even cause some of those who are dispassionate to feel
distaste for samnyasa. As for myself, | take medicines because my Guru has instructed
me to take care of this Matha; | am supposed to engage in what is prescribed for a
samnyasin and also to attend to people who come here for solace, clarifications and so
on. In order to keep the body functional enough for this, | take the medicines prescribed.
You too do so.

The samnyasin was convinced with what His Holiness told him and took the medication
prescribed for him.

The following was narrated by V. Subramanian.

“My association with His Holiness started in 1956 when He made His first visit to Kerala.
He visited Nagercoil and from there my father (Vaidyanatha lyer) escorted Him to a tiny
village called Bhimanagari, which houses our family deity, Balamba. His Holiness entered
the small temple. He then instructed the priest to lift the small platform on which Balamba
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“That is the place where
an accomplished saint
who was a member
of this family attained
siddhi. He passed
away as a monk and so
aradhana, as is done for
samnyasins, must be
performed for him.”

-His Holiness
= ol

362

was kept, pointing out that in
a particular portion below, a
tile would be missing. One can
imagine everybody’s surprise
when that was exactly what
was found. His Holiness said,
‘That is the place where an
accomplished saint who was a
member of this family attained
siddhi. He passed away as a
monk and so daradhana, as is
done for samnydasins, must be
performed for him; it should
be done on the full moon day
of the month of vaisakha!
From then on, the aradhana
is performed every year on
that day”

His Holiness was camping in

Vathirairuppu (in Tamil Nadu)

in October, 1957. After paja, He

retired for the night to His room

there. After some time, He
abruptly got upand quietly walked out of the residence.
Except for a few street lamps that were flickering, it
was pitch dark everywhere. The Chaturagiri hill was at
a distance and the Mahalingaswami Temple was on its
summit. His attention was drawn to it. He closed His
eyes in contemplation, and after some time, started
to head back to the camp. In the meantime, some
disciples and townsfolk had woken up and, perplexed,
approached His Holiness. His Holiness asked, “There
is a temple on top of the hill. What temple is that?”
Some replied, “That is the Mahalinga Temple.” His
Holiness declared, “I am going there tomorrow
morning. Make preparations without delay” The



next day, He proceeded by car to a small town at the
base of the hill and from there ascended the hill by foot.
He walked briskly. The others were unable to keep pace
with Him and lagged far behind. He reached the top of
the hill around 12:30 p.m. There was not even a trace
of strain or fatigue on His face. He went to the Sundara-
mahalinga Temple and then that of the Goddess. It was
around 5:00 p.m. by the time His afternoon routine
was completed. He then decided to visit another shrine
on the hill, that of Candana-mahalinga. His Holiness
permitted only Sundaram, a man who lived on the hill
and knew every portion of it, to accompany Him. His
Holiness proceeded in silence, leading. He had darsana
of Candana-mahalinga. Telling Sundaram to wait, He
headed for another peak. He crossed some rough paths
and proceeded swiftly as if He was most familiar with
the place. Sundaram was stunned to see the speed with
which His Holiness was navigating the dense path and
proceeding so comfortably to a part of the hill rarely
visited by anyone. He had never before seen a stranger
walk at such a great pace on the hill he knew so well.
When it was past six o’clock but there was no sign of
His Holiness, Sundaram climbed up a huge tree nearby.
From his position at the top of the tree, He spotted His
Holiness seated in a clearing on the hill. In front of His
Holiness was a person in ochre robes, with matted hair
tied in a knot. His Holiness appeared to be conversing with him. Sundaram thought he
was hallucinating, for His Holiness had gone there alone and he had never seen that
person before. Inexplicably experiencing haziness of vision and tiredness, he descended,
rested for a while and returned to where He was supposed to wait. In a short while, His
Holiness climbed down and returned to where Sundaram was waiting. His Holiness did
not stop but continued to walk. He went to the Candana-mahalinga’s shrine and climbed

down the mountain. Sundaram quietly followed His Holiness. Subsequently, His Holiness
returned to Vathirairuppu. Sundaram did not breathe a word of what had transpired that
evening to anyone. However, later, when a samnyasin known to him visited Chaturagiri,
he told him all that had transpired. The samnyasin was amazed and exclaimed that the
person His Holiness conversed with that day was a great siddha-purusa, unavailable to
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others. {These d'etalls were c.uIIed from'two arn.cles \/Cr\\o,)fww’\co//sb\/
that appeared in the fortnightly Tamil magazine,

Shakti Vikatan, in the issues dated 20™ February, 2008 His Holiness wished to
and 7" March, 2008. These two articles were written ~ do penance in solitude in
by Kudanthai Shyama and were a part of a series titled ~ the Chaturagiri hill for a
Chaturagiri Yattirai (Pilgrimage to Chaturagiri).} few days. The devotees

of the town had a tough
Hariharasubramanian, a native of Vathirairuppu = Hme dissuading Him from

recently recalled that his father had told him, “His
Holiness wished to meditate in solitude in the

doing so as they were
afraid of His safety; the

Chaturagiri hill for a few days. The devotees of the hill was home to

town had a tough time dissuading Him from doing wild beasts.

so as they were afraid of His safety; the hill was

home to wild beasts.” /\Q%(D\“Q%”CDND/\

The following was narrated by Srinivasan of Singikulam.

“When His Holiness camped at Singikulam in Tamilnadu, on the day after His arrival,
He walked early in the morning to the backyard of the house. | had to walk past
the backyard to fetch milk for the pdja and make other arrangements for the
camp. | beheld His Holiness standing there and looking at the hill on top of which the
temple of Goddess Bhagavati is situated. Not wanting to disturb His Holiness, | stood
silently at a distance. His Holiness noticed me and signalled me to proceed with my
work. | obeyed. Later, at about 10:00 a.m., an attendant of His Holiness came to
me and said, ‘His Holiness wishes to go to the hilltop and have the darsana of
Goddess Bhagavati” This was unexpected and we were all thrilled to hear this.
Sometime later, He climbed the hill and spent some time in Her shrine. He then went
to and saw all the eighteen fountains on the hill before descending.”

A person in his late twenties happened to visit Sringeri in 1984. On entering
Sacchidananda Vilas, he told me, who was standing in the front hall, that he was a
lawyer and proceeded to say, “lI came here for sightseeing. | am an atheist but am
curious to see what the head of this Matha is like. Can | see Him? As | have no respect
for samnyaisins, | will neither remove my shirt nor prostrate before Him.” | told him, “His
Holiness will be giving darsana in a few minutes. Anybody can go in. You can decide for
yourself whether you want to go in or not.” | then went inside and, in a few minutes,
opened the door for people to enter the room in the eastern side of Sacchidananda
Vilas where His Holiness was seated. The lawyer followed a group of devotees into
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the room. He stood right at the back. In a few
minutes, His Holiness’s eyes fell on him. His
Holiness beckoned to him, holding a fruit in
His hand. The lawyer stepped forward, abruptly
prostrated and remained so. Some time
passed but the lawyer did not show any signs
of getting up. Finally, His Holiness asked him
to rise. He got up with tears in his eyes and,
in a choked voice, requested His Holiness to
bless him. His Holiness gave him His blessings
and also prasada. The man then went out.
When | came out after some time, | found
that the lawyer was the sole person in the
veranda. He approached me and said, “Are
you wondering why | behaved in this fashion?”
| responded, “No, | have seen such things
happen many a time.”

The following was narrated by K. C. Mahadevan.

“A man came to the place where His Holiness was camping and started shouting,
‘What are these Swamis for? What is their role in this world? | want to see this
Swami and question him.” He had a pistol on his person. When the matter was reported
to His Holiness, He calmly said, ‘Let him in./ As he entered His Holiness’s room, He
welcomed him with a smile. The moment he looked at His Holiness, he unexpectedly
joined his palms and then prostrated before Him. After he got up, His Holiness spoke
with him and blessed him. He emerged a reformed man.”

The following was penned by Nagendra Rao.

“In the summer of 1967, at the end of my first-year classes at the Indian Institute of
Management in Calcutta (Kolkata), | went to Delhi to visit my parents. His Holiness
was camping in Delhi at that time and my mother was very particular that | should
go to seek His blessings. | mentioned to her that | was extremely allergic to meeting
and wasting time on holy men and samnyasins. However, after much persuasion by
her, | agreed but told her that under no circumstances would | go in the traditional
mode of visiting Him (which is wearing a dhoti and angavastra). | would go just as
| was, in a shirt and a pair of trousers, or | would not go at all. My mother had little
choice and she accepted what | said with a somewhat heavy heart.
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“We went to visit His Holiness. At that time, He was

staying in the house of the then Deputy Speaker of

the Lok Sabha. People had congregated to meet Him

but somehow, we were called in immediately for a

personal audience with Him. His Holiness was seated

on a silver dsana in a corner of a fairly large room

in the front portion of the house. When we were

ushered into the room, He immediately beckoned to

us to come to Him. It was at this point that, suddenly,

a spontaneous transformation came over me. The

innate purity of His nature and the great power of

His tapas were such that | suddenly felt unclean and

rather out of place in the vestments that | had come

in and, therefore, was extremely reluctant to go forward. He was kindness itself and
repeated several times that | should come forward and made me sit within a couple
of feet from Him. His first response on my sitting down was, ‘Why did you not come
to see me in Calcutta, my son? Your mother had shown me a photograph of yours and
| was watching every day to see whether you were among the hundreds of people
who came by. This was but one more surprise, which left me totally dumbfounded. In
the first instance, | never really thought we could get in to see Him so quickly. And in
the second instance, | certainly did not expect that He would remember me from the
photograph that He had seen. Of course, at the time | had no idea of His Holiness’s
phenomenal memory and His punctilious attention to even matters of the smallest
\/GNCD)w\’\//WD\/ detail. Ordinary people often imagine limitations
in great souls which are really not there, because
they judge them by their own limited abilities
and attitudes.

“Why did you not come
to see me in Calcutta, my
son? Your mother had

shown me a photograph  «“aq | started to recover my power of speech, | felt one
of yours and | was should be very honest in the presence of one who, |
watching every day to now started feeling, was a very unusual person and
see whether you were one of great spiritual magnitude. | launched into my
among the hundreds of oy 1anation as to why I had not come to see Him in
people who came by.” Calcutta. | explained to Him rather tersely that | had
-His Holiness heard that He saw only people of wealth and high

social standing and that | had really little use for
/\Q%@)hbaazo\)\g/\

meeting such personalities, no matter how spiritual
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or famous or eminent they were considered to be. There was pin-drop silence from all
the servitors around. In my estimate never before had anyone been quite so irreverent
and that too in so explicit a manner, in front of His Holiness. | fully expected to be told
to leave the room, never see His face again — in other words, some form of the Hindu
equivalent of excommunication on the spot.

“His Holiness’s response was totally unexpected. He just smiled and said, ‘1 am told
you are a student of business administration. Are you?’ | said, ‘Yes. He then asked me
if it was not true that | had to study some elements of law as part of my course work.
| again said, ‘Yes. And He said, ‘Is it not also true that in law, as it is practised in the
land, hearsay information is not considered evidence?’ | began to see what He was
driving at and said He was correct. He then asked me that as a man endowed with
considerable education and a fair degree of discrimination, was it not expected of me
to have come there personally to see whether the allegations were true or unfounded.
He was so logical and reasonable that | had really nothing left to say and | agreed
with Him. What | also found remarkable at the time was that His Holiness used not
the arcane letter and word of the traditional sastras of which | knew little at the time
and for which | had even less regard. He used the very branches of secular learning
with which | was fairly conversant and
for which | had high regard, to make
His point. This was another surprise
to me. | had really not expected His
Holiness to have such an immense
understanding of and familiarity
with the various branches of secular
knowledge.

“At this stage, it suddenly seemed
as if the flood-gates of a dam had
opened and | then asked Him in very
homely language as to what | should
do to improve myself spiritually.
His Holiness immediately said that
| had already been initiated into the
Gayatri-mantra and it was sufficient
for me to repeat this. He then also told
me to go to the seashore whenever
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| had the opportunity, sit on the beach, and observe
the waves coming in. | asked Him, ‘Then what, Your
Holiness?’ He said, ‘And observe and observe, and
observe! ‘But Your Holiness, | am not anywhere
close to the sea,’ | said. He replied, ‘Then go and look
at the blue skies when there are no clouds.” ‘And
then, Your Holiness?’ | asked. ‘And then look and
look and look and that would be the sadhana for
you,” was the reply from Him. Since | had absolutely
no acquaintance then with the formal methods of \/G\CD‘ :CQ/D\/
dhyana and | had heard the word ‘samadhi’ in only CS=Pps ="

a vague sort of way, the full significance of what  “Then go and look at the

His Holiness told me escaped me. It has been my blue skies when there
experience since that time that His Holiness’s words are no clouds. And then
were never uttered in vain and they always bore look and look and look
fruit sooner or later” and that would be the

sadhana for you.”

The following was narrated by Ramasubramania lyer. . .
& y y -His Holiness

“My ailing grandmother was in her nineties when /\Q%C)\‘“%W

His Holiness graced my house in Tirunelveli.

Compassionately addressing her, He said, ‘Chant the name of Rama continuously.’
My grandmother replied that she would do so. His Holiness did not leave the matter at
that. ‘Saying that you will do it is insufficient. You must actually do it. Now repeat after
me.” He then chanted the sacred Rdma-nama and she chanted after Him. How fortunate
she was to have received initiation at that age and that too unasked and further, with
the Guru Himself coming to her! She proceeded to chant the Rdma-nama continuously.
Some months passed. Her condition became critical. Under these conditions there was
every chance that her mental chanting would get interrupted. Strange are the ways
in which the grace of His Holiness acts. Unexpectedly, a group arranged for akhanda
(unbroken) chanting of Rama-ndma. The place of chant being nearby, the divine
name reverberated in my home day and night. Shortly thereafter, my grandmother
breathed her last. Thus till her last days, an opportunity had been provided for her to be
sanctified by the holy name of Lord Rama.

During His visit to Thenkarai in December, 1981, His Holiness was returning after
His Candramaulisvara-pija at night to His room, which was on the first floor of the

368



building. Upon His climbing a few steps, He experienced
breathlessness and sat down on a step for a while. A devotee
remarked, “The steps are steep.” “The steps are the same as they
were in 1958 when | came here. It is just that | have become old,”
smilingly retorted His Holiness, much to the amusement of all
present there.

One day when His Holiness was camping at Rameshwaram in
1980 and was in His room with Vaidyasubramanya lyer, He could
hear, from a loud speaker outside, a Harikatha (discourse on God,
with singing) on the greatness of Rameshwaram being delivered
by Krishna Premi, an eminent Harikathad exponent. Even as His
Holiness was listening to the glories of the Lord, He closed His
eyes and remained motionless for long. Thereafter, He slowly
opened His eyes and said to Vaidyasubramanya lyer, “l had gone
into Samadhi.” Such was the

His devotion to God that on

hearing an exposition of the

o Lord’s glories, He spontaneously
became fully focused on the Lord. {This is based on an
article in Tamil published in the magazine Bhagavata
Dharma in July 2012.}

When His Holiness camped in Dewas in Madhya
Pradesh in January 1983, as He was seated giving
darsana to the public in the morning, some started
to sing a Hindi bhajan. Soon, numerous others joined

in. As He heard the words to the effect, “This is my \_/6\6))“‘"\%\/

Such was the His devotion
to God that on hearing an
exposition of the Lord’s
glories, He spontaneously

became fully focussed
only sometime after the singing was complete. He on the Lord.

then appreciated the crowd and blessed that their /\Q/CD"'\CD\O/\

hearts be ever full of devotion.

prayer that my mind should remain centred every
moment on Your feet; on Your feet, O Bhagavan,”
tears of joy began to well up in His eyes. As the singing
progressed, He became increasingly moved and
soon plunged into meditation. He opened His eyes
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Many a time, when His Holiness stood next to the sanctum sanctorum of
Goddess Saradamba in Sringeri, His lips moved and it was discernible that He
was conversing with Her. When He read, in the course of His worship of Laksmi-
Narasimha every year on Narasimha-jayanti, the chapter in the Bhdgavata-purdna
about the Lord’s manifestation, He invariably became overcome with emotion.
On coming across two photographs, one in which His Holiness appeared to be
saying something to an idol of Narasirmha in a temple and another in which He appeared
to be listening to the Lord saying something, | asked His Holiness about this. “That day,
| did speak with Narasimha. | asked Him if He was quite comfortable there,” He clarified.
“The Lord told me that He was.”

His Holiness’s performance of pija was, throughout, a feast for the eyes. He performed

arcana in such an exquisite manner that the

\/CNCD/%”"\%\/ flowers that He gently threw up from His seat to
“That day, | did speak with the Candramaulisvara-linga placed on the top step
Narasimha. | asked Him if inside the pdja-mandapa often formed a pretty
He was quite comfortable pattern. When He performed arcana with plenty
there. The Lord told me of dark maroon roses one night in Chennai, the
that He was.” flowers offered formed a neat, thick garland around

) ) the linga. The gathering of devotees that witnessed
-His Holiness .
this even forgot the normal decorum and started

%‘“%W clapping spontaneously.
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His Holiness’s
performance of
puja was, throughout,
a feast for the
eyes. He performed
arcana in such
an exquisite
manner that the
flowers that He
gently threw up
from His seat to the
Candramaulisvara-
linga placed on
the top step inside the
puja-mandapa often
formed a
pretty pattern.

} OIS

Q‘,a‘ \%\_/

“The naivedya was
very hot. How could
| offer it to the Lord?
So, | had to wait for
some time for it to
cool down before
| offered it to Him.”

-His Holiness

/—\C%Cihﬂ’o



The following was narrated by A. Ramaswamy, a close disciple of His Holiness.

“Once during a pdja session, | noticed that the curtain that had been drawn to enable His
Holiness offer naivedya to the Lord in private as per tradition was opened after a longer
time than usual. Later, when | had the darsana of His Holiness, | was curious to find out
what caused the unusual delay. Straightaway, | posed my question to His Holiness. He said,
‘The naivedya was very hot. How could | offer it to the Lord? So | had to wait for some
time for it to cool down before | offered it to Him.” His Holiness’s devotion to God was
unparalleled. His performance of pdja was bewitching. He never thought of the idols as
mere images of God. He always felt the living presence of God in them. Naturally, He did
not wish to offer a naivedya that was too hot and would hurt the Lord.”

He took personal interest in the welfare and

the studies of the students of the pathasala

in Sringeri and spoke to the students now and

then. He renovated the pathasala building and

provided them comfortable accommodation

and a good atmosphere for studies. At times,

he probed the students’ knowledge by gentle

qguestioning. If the student did not know

the answer, He never humiliated the boy

but merely went on to the next question,

often after having given a brief clarification.

He established Veda-pathasalas at numerous places. He started the Veda-posaka-

sabha for facilitating the teaching, study and propagation of the Vedas. Through it, He
encouraged Vedic scholars by providing them financial

N‘wech\g assistance, honouring them and presenting them

with cash awards. The Veda-posaka-sabha has been

unfailingly doing this every year during the five-day

Sankara-jayanti celebrations. It also conducts Veda-

examinations in this period; students from pathasalas

all over the country have been taking these highly

valued examinations. The successful students receive

He took personal
interest in the welfare
and the studies of
the students of the
pathasala in Sringeri

and spoke to the certificates and cash awards. Vedic scholars are honoured
students now and on other occasions too such as on dsvayuja-krsna-
then. caturdasi, His Holiness’s birthday.

PR The following was narrated by Venkatappa Yajnanarayana
/—\C/C): aM (who became $ri Jianananda-tirtha after samnyasa).
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“As | was fortunate enough to accompany His
Holiness during His tour of Andhra Pradesh, | was

O8O

Appreciating the able to witness numerous incidents that underscored
agnihotrin’s strict the faith He had in the Vedas and the regard He had
adherence to his dharma o gidikas. Whenever He visited a village or a town
despite his penury, His in Andhra Pradesh, He posed the question, ‘Is there

Ho.li.ness instructed the any agnihotrin (a maintainer of the ordained fires
officials of the Mathato g performer of the agnihotra rite every day at
construct a new house dawn and dusk) living in this place?’ If the answer

at the expense of the was ‘Yes, He expressed His wish to pay a visit to the
Matha and offer it free house concerned. Whenever He visited any such
of cost to the sincere house, He praised the agnihotrin for his faith in

agnihotrin. performing such rites and specially blessed him

/\QV/C)\‘“%/CO\W and his family. He also advised the people who

accompanied Him to such places to be sincere
in the performance of their nitya-karma.

“Once during His camp at Tenali, He heard about a sincere agnihotrin and decided to
visit his house. The person concerned was informed about His Holiness’s proposed visit
and he was, naturally, delighted. When His Holiness came to his place, He asked him
to take Him to the place of his agnihotra worship. The house he lived in as also the
shelter where he performed agnihotra were in a dilapidated condition. Appreciating his
strict adherence to his dharma despite his penury, His Holiness instructed the officials
of the Matha to construct a new house at the expense of the Matha and offer it free
of cost to the sincere agnihotrin. We were all moved at this compassionate gesture
of His Holiness. Within months, the house was ready for the agnihotrin to occupy.”

His Holiness presided over the conduct
of several Atirudra-mahdydgas (in which
the Vedic Srirudra-prasna is collectively
chanted 14,641 times and offerings are
made into fire), Sahasra-candi-mahayagas
(in which the Devi-mahatmya is chanted
a thousand times and offerings are made
into fire), koti-kunkuma-arcanas (in which
arcana is done to Ssri-cakras, chanting
the names of the Divine Mother from
the Lalitha-sahasranama) and homas,
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such as the Rgveda-samhita-homa
(in which the hymns of the Rk-
samhita are chanted and offerings
made into fire), Yajurveda-
samhita-homa and Samaveda-
samhita-homa. All these were
conducted for the welfare of all.

There is no record in the Sringeri

Math of an Atirudra mahayaga or

a sahasra-candi-mahdyaga having

been performed in the Matha prior

to Tipu Sultan requesting that a

sahasra-candi-mahaydga be done.

Tipu wrote (Selections from the

records of the Sringeri Mutt, Vol. |, Mysore, 1927. Record 65), “I have written to the Asaf
of Nagar to supply you all the materials required for the great yaga; Triyambaka Rao of
Nagar and the Amildar of Koppa will camp at Sringeri to see to the necessary supplies of
vessels, clothes, images, etc. Kindly see that the rituals are performed according
to the prescribed rules, giving liberal cash presents to Brahmanas and feed them in
thousands every day.” In a subsequent letter, he acknowledged the miraculous effects
of the yaga, how he was successful in his enterprise, how rains fell and how the land
yielded rich harvests. It was only over 150 years later that such a yaga was performed
in Sringeri. This was organized by His Holiness in connection with the completion
of 60 years by His Guru.

After becoming the pontiff, the first time His Holiness presided over the performance
of an Atirudra was at Rudrapatna; this was conducted from 20" December, 1961 to 1*
January, 1962. The first time He presided over a sahasra-candi-mahdydaga during His
pontificate was at Sringeri in March, 1963; this was conducted for world-peace. As for
the first koti-kunkuma-arcana, it was performed in Sringeri, in January 1964.

The following was narrated by Vaidyasubramanya lyer.

“In 1965, at my request, His Holiness was pleased to come to Madras (Chennai) and
bless the Atirudra-mahayaga and sahasra-candi-mahadydga celebrated at a site, then
belonging to me, opposite my house. A few years earlier, in 1960, when His Holiness
had been walking on that very site, | told Him that it was an unclean place; | did not
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know beforehand that He would come there. He remarked, standing near some plantain
trees, ‘Why do you say so? It seems to me to be a sacred place.’ In 1965, the two ydgas
were performed at that place. The parnahuti (performed at end of the rite) was over
by noon. That evening, at the close of my speech in the public function presided over
by His Holiness, without any premeditation, | dedicated the site for temples to be
constructed for Vinayaka, Saradamba and Sankara-Bhagavatpada and for a ‘Pravachana
Mandiram (Hall for discourses)’ to be built behind them. | did not know why | suddenly
took that decision. After the function was over, His Holiness told me that that afternoon,
He had discussed with His Personal Assistant, Padmanabha Upadhyaya, as to whether
| would be willing to give that site for the purpose of putting up temples there as it
had become sanctified by the Atirudra and Sahasra-candi. Upadhyaya had told Him
that the plot would be very expensive to purchase and so they should not mention
the idea to me. His Holiness had then dropped the matter. | explained to His Holiness
that the thought of making the announcement had arisen suddenly in my mind. It had
arisen only because the same thought had occurred to His Holiness earlier and my
mind had become sanctified with the reflection of His Holiness’s thought. This is now
the site of the Pravacana Mandiram and the three shrines and the road in front has
been named ‘Sringeri Math Road’.”

The following was narrated by S. Ramakrishnan.

“In 1977, during His stay at Chennai, in response to the request of myself and the other
committee members, His Holiness came to a vacant plot in the street where | reside,
graced the assembled devotees and also performed pdja
there. Later, | spontaneously experienced an intense
desire to construct a temple for Goddess Sarada at this
place. My associates and | managed to purchase the plot
and had it registered in the name of the Sringeri Math.
Vadiyasubramanya lyer laid the foundation stone for the
construction and it was in his speech that he disclosed for
the first time that after His visit to this place in 1977,
His Holiness had expressed to him that it would be good if
a temple were to be constructed here. His words cannot be
in vain. Purely by His grace, we were able to surmount every
problem, such as paucity of funds, and successfully build a
temple housing the idols of Saradamba, Vinayaka and Krsna.
His Holiness camped here for two days each during His
visits to Chennai in 1982 and 1986; Jagadguru Sri Bharati-




tfirtha Mahasvamin, the
present pontiff, performed
the kumbhabhiseka of the
temple in 1982”

His Holiness invited those
knowledgeable in the
sastras, such as Vedanta,
Tarka, Mimamsa and Vya-
karana, from all over the
country to participate in
the Vidvat-sadas (assembly
of scholars commencing
every year on Vindyaka-
caturthi and ending on the subsequent paurnami. A scholar par excellence, He presided
over and personally participated in the annual Vidvat-sadas. He ensured that humiliation
of others, particularly budding scholars, was not indulged in and if any such attempt were
made by a pandita, He gently intervened. When students spoke, He encouraged them
by posing simple questions that they could have the pleasure of successfully answering.

The following was narrated by A. Ramaswamy.

“l was in my teens when | chanced to attend a vidvat-sadas at Sringeri. Realising that |
could not make out anything from the scholarly debates of the assembled panditas, | left
the sadas. After the night Candramaulisvara-paja, His Holiness sent for me and enquired
why | did not sit through the sadas. | replied that it did not make sense to me to sit in the
sadas, pretending as if | was able to grasp the import @

of the scholarly discussions, when, in reality, | did not ‘\/C&fﬂ‘?»ﬁ\/
comprehend anything whatsoever. “It is not necessary that

you should be able to
“/No, that’s not the right attitude, His Holiness grasp everything that is

corrected me. ‘It is not necessary that you should discussed in the sadas.

be able to grasp everything that is discussed in the Even mere hearing of
sadas. Even the mere hearing of the sastras will fetch sastras will fetch you
you punya. So it is sufficient if you sit in a sadas and punya.
listen to the scriptural discussions. From now on, . .

e it it to attend vidvat-sadas wh - His Holiness
make it a poin 9a en w. vat-sadas whenever ygu M~ O
get an opportunity. Sometime or the other, you will Q) O

377



start comprehending the import of these scriptural
discussions.” | followed His Holiness’s advice, and,
needless to mention, | immensely benefited from it.”

For the propagation of Sanskrit, His Holiness started
the Sura-sarasvati-sabha. This sabha has a graded
sequence of courses, with books for each level
and teachers to train students. Those passing the
examinations are awarded certificates. For spreading
sanatana-dharma and facilitating connection with the
Sringeri Math, He started magazines called Sarkara-
krpa in Tamil, Kannada and Telugu and Tattvaloka in
English. The Abhinava Vidyatheertha Mahaswamigal
Education Trust was started with the blessings of
His Holiness and caters to the publication of books;
Tattvaloka is published under its aegis.

\—/CNCD/??"\%\/ Besides giving a fillip to the learning of the Vedas and
Sahkara-bhagavadpéda the Sastras, He also encouraged secular education.
established this pitha Apart from the girls’ school that He started in
for dharma-pracara Sringeri in 1972, He founded the Jnanodaya School in
(propagating dharma) Bengaluru in April 1988. As intended by Him, this has
and not for the pracara developed into a big institution. He was the patron of
(broadcasting) of its own  the Sree Shankara College at Kalady since 1960; this
good deeds (dharma)! institution provides education leading to university

/\Q/Q/CS‘Q,EO\)\D/—\ degrees in Science and Arts.

T. S. Nagarajan narrated the following conversation that he had had with His Holiness.

I: Even those who hardly do a good deed take to boisterous propaganda. The Sringeri
Sharada Peetham is involved in initiating and executing so many dharmika activities for
the welfare of people but does not publicise such good deeds. Many people are not even
aware of the good work of the pitha. | am agonised at this state of affairs.

His Holiness: Sankara-bhagavadpada established this pitha for dharma-pracara
(propagating dharma) and not for the pracara (broadcasting) of its own good deeds
(dharma)!
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The following is excerpted from an article by S. Y. Krishnaswamy published in a souvenir

in 1983.

“His discourses are always tempered to the occasion and by logic and analogy and often

by illustrative anecdotes, He makes what is difficult look easy.

“Once, when | ventured to ask Him about a concept of salvation in which God and
the individual continued to remain separate, He said, ‘What kind of salvation is this?
Even after obtaining moksa, you are Krishnaswamy and | am a pontiff and | must keep

wondering if you are going to do namaskara to me!’

“Once, in order to expound the variety in God’s
creation and God’s endowment to each of a
particular skill for survival, His Holiness said, ‘Take
the bees. They fabricate a hive consisting of many
apertures. There is a uniformity and perfection about
the honeycombs which are remarkable. Birds make
nests. One is surprised at the intricacy displayed in
joining the little twigs together so as to make the
nests stable. The mosquitoes sit on our skin to drink
our blood. They do not take as much time as a doctor
does to take blood specimen from our body.

“He could go on and on with hundreds of such
examples. Only the great can simplify the non-simple.”

On His tours, it was customary for Him to give at
least one anugraha-bhasana (benedictory address)
at every city, town or village that He visited. Though
He delivered thousands of discourses, not one of
them was discordant with another, even when the
verses taken up by Him for exposition had dissimilar
meanings. This was because He put things in the
proper perspective. For example, inaspeech delivered
in Chennai, in Tamil, in January 1982, on the topic of
karma, He cited a verse of Bhartrhari’s Niti-sataka to
the effect, “Salutations to that karma on account of
which Brahma, like a potter, is constantly engaged in

\_/C(\\(D/‘m\’ \CD%D\/

Once, in order to
expound the variety in
God’s creation and God’s
endowment to each of a
particular skill for survival,
His Holiness said, “Take
the bees. They fabricate
a hive consisting of many
apertures. There is a
uniformity and perfection
about the honeycombs
which are remarkable.
Birds make nests. One is
surprised at the intricacy
displayed in joining the
little twigs together so as
to make the nests stable.
The mosquitoes sit on our
skin to drink our blood.
They do not take as much
time as a doctor does to
take blood specimen from
our body.
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the task of creation; Visnu was hurled into
the problem-maze of ten incarnations; Siva
was forced to wander for alms with a skull .;,
in His hands and the Sun is compelled to
daily course through the skies.”
He put it into proper perspective by saying, = & -
“The poet has said so. He has given an

exaggerated account in order to highlight

ﬂ
the power of fate. Actually, free will does J X
play a major role and I$vara is not bound :i

by karma.”

Another aspect of His

However,
7 &‘

benedictory

addresses was His practical approach. For :
instance, speaking on the study of the |

Vedas, He said, “A parrot and a man may utter the same words A person goes to another
in response to the latter’s call but does not give the same weightage to the same words

uttered by a parrot. The chanting of a Veda-pandita

\/C\(@j,wfg\%b\/ and that being played back by a tape recorder may

“A parrot and a man may
utter the same words. A
person goes to another

in response to the latter’s

call but does not give the
same weightage to the

same words uttered by a
parrot. The chanting of
a Veda-pandita and that
being played back by a

tape recorder may sound

similar. However, the
former is chanting the
Veda, while the latter is
not.”

- His Holiness

sound similar. However, the former is chanting the
Veda, while the latter is not. The scriptures specify
that the Veda must be learnt only from a Guru if it is
to be efficacious. It may be possible to learn by rote
Vedic passages by employing a recorder. However,
this will not confer the punya that learning from
a Guru would. Nowadays, however, some have
difficulty in finding a good Vedic scholar to teach
them regularly and for long; also, because of their
hectic work schedules, they seem to find it difficult
to go to a Veda-vidvan’s place every day for long.
Even such persons will do well to learn at least a
few times from a teacher and get the words and
intonations right. Thereafter, it does not matter if
they employ recordings to strengthen and refresh
their memories.”

His Holiness commenced His discourses with an

%:“%W invocatory verse about God and ended them by
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chanting, in effect, “Victory to the Lord”
and getting His audience too to do so;
the exact words that He normally chanted
were, “hara namah parvati-pataye hara
hara mahadeva. janaki-kanta-smaranam
jaya jaya rama rama.” He thereby indicated
that one should constantly think of God or
do so at least at the start and end of every
activity.

As was apparent to anyone who listened
to them attentively and with devotion, His
Holiness’s talks were beneficial, pregnant
with import, lucid, practical, punctuated
with rib-tickling humour, cogent and
smooth-flowing, with not a single sentence
or phrase out of place or superfluous. They
also bore, when relevant, the unmistakable

stamp of His own direct experience. The following comprises extracts from a benedictory
address of His Holiness at Chennai in 1982; that He was speaking on the basis of the
scripture as also His own experience is patent.

N‘mn’\%\/
“Practice meditation,
commenced in the
aforesaid manner, with
just a form of God as the
object of focus and with
the eyes kept closed.
Some day that divine
form will be apprehended
even when the eyes are
opened, as though it has
manifested itself in front
of you.”

-His Holiness

“Practice meditation, commenced in the aforesaid
manner, with just a form of God as the object of focus
and with the eyes kept closed. Some day that divine
form will be apprehended even when the eyes are
opened, as though it has manifested itself in front
of you. For this, what is needed is perseverance
for a time with the practice of meditation. As one
persists with the practice, there finally occurs the
direct perception of the divinity that was meditated
upon. When this stage is reached, if one were to
have something in mind at that time, one would even
receive clarification regarding it. That response would
characterise the word of God. The person concerned
can uplift himself as also those around him. You
can personally experience all this, subject to your

/\Q%Cje‘ﬁ%w assiduously striving for a time towards that end.
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“Can meditation be done on the Supreme as devoid of attributes? Yes, it can. You may
ask, ‘How should | do it?’ Behold an external light briefly. Forget the world while doing
so. While you take no notice of the world, close your eyes. Conceive that both your
eyes are proceeding to look within. As you conceive thus, a light shall be seen on its
own. What kind of light? What usually shows up is a spontaneous glow that is bluish
or one that bears semblance to moonlight. When the light manifests, promptly think, ‘I
am of the very nature of pure consciousness. Consciousness is all-pervasive, and retain
just this thought. If you practice maintaining this thought, you shall progress all the
way up to asamprajiata-samadhi. With progression in practice, your meditation shall
ripen into asamprajiiata-samadhi proper that results in the dawn of enlightenment.

“Due to the excellence of meditation, there arises in the mind the realization of the
Supreme Brahman. There occurs Brahman’s sphurana, manifestation. What is this
manifestation like? It is like when we sometimes aver, ‘Aha! This is now so obvious.’
After such manifestation of the Supreme Brahman, there is no further requirement to
meditate. The Supreme Brahman, which manifested, continues to remain unveiled.”

The Mundaka-upanisad describes the Guru whom a disciple desirous of enlightenment
should approach, as versed in the scripture and established in the Supreme Brahman;
it goes on to teach that those who approach such an enlightened Guru with some
desire obtain the consummation of that desire, while those who are dispassionate and
serve him are freed from rebirth. The
Katha-upanisad points out that one does
not become enlightened when taught
the Truth by one who is unenlightened.
Bhagavatpada has described the Guru
to be sought as one who has realized
the Truth and is ever intent on what is
good for his disciple. Vedanta-desika, the
eminent Visistadvaitin philosopher and
preceptor who lived in the 14" century,
has described an ideal Guru in the first
verse of his Nydsa-vimsati. In a talk
delivered by His Holiness in the Meenakshi
Amman Temple in Madurai in 1958 and
attended by thousands, His Holiness took
up this verse and, elaborating on it, spoke
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of the characteristics of a Guru. Such was His broadmindedness and readiness to accept
whatever was good that it did not even strike Him as unusual that He, an Advaitin and
the pontiff of a Matha founded by Sankara-bhagavatpada, was taking up, and that too,
in a Saiva temple, a verse of a Visistadvaitin who had attacked advaita in his works such
as Sata-disant. That verse conveys, “One who is desirous of liberation should seek a
preceptor who is (a) grounded in a good tradition, (b) a person of steady knowledge
(of the Truth), (c) sinless, (d) versed in the scripture, (e) established in Brahman, (f)
replete with the sattva-guna, (g) a speaker of what is true (or the Truth), (h) with conduct
that is in accordance with the prescribed codes, (i) free from showing off, jealousy
and other such negative traits, (j) unmoved by sense-objects, (k) an enduring friend
(=not one who abandons a disciple), (I) compassionate and (m) corrector of disciples
when they err.” His Holiness had in full measure each and every characteristic of an ideal
Guru spoken of in the Mundaka-upanisad, by Bhagavatpada and in this verse.
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CHAPTER 17

At Home With the Young

Though children and great sages
are poles apart since the former
are devoid of knowledge while
the latter have reached the acme
of insight, sages seem to be
often attracted towards children,
perhaps because of the latter’s
innocence. His Holiness was no
exception. He readily extended
His affection and kindness to
them.

On an occasion, His Holiness was seated in the front veranda of Sacchidananda Vilas
in Narasimhavana giving darsana to the assembled devotees. At the rear end of the
gathering stood a young boy and his sister. His Holiness noticed them as they were
straining to get a clear view of Him. He quickly beckoned to them to come near Him.
Eagerly, the boy and the girl approached Him. His Holiness tenderly enquired their
names. The children were thrilled to hear His Holiness speak to them and joyfully gave
their names. “Where are your parents?,” His Holiness then asked. “As we wished to

Sages seem to be often
attracted towards children,
perhaps because of the latter’s
innocence. His Holiness was
no exception. He readily
extended His affection and
kindness to them.

see Your Holiness, we crossed the Tunga and came
here,” replied the boy. “Our parents have gone
to see some of the places on the other side of the
river”” His Holiness was pleased with the faith of
the children and graciously asked, “What do you
wish?” The children sought to be blessed that they
progress in their studies. His Holiness readily gave
His benediction and prophesied, “You will turn out
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to be good graduates.” He blessed the children with silver coins of Saradamba, which
are normally given only to those who perform padapija. If He found young ones
to be sincere enough, He did not even hesitate to bless them with mantropadesa and
initiate them into the spiritual path at a young age itself.

He had, on more than one occasion, given

He had. on more than one students private interviews, clarified their
’

occasion, given students
private interviews,
clarified their doubts —
material and spiritual
—and also solved their
problems. His smiling
countenance and easy
approachability generally
put the young questioners
totally at ease so that
the boys and girls felt at

doubts — material and spiritual — and also solved
their problems. His smiling countenance and
easy approachability generally put the young
guestioners totally at ease so that the boys
and girls felt at home with Him. In spite of His
tight schedule, He normally did not turn down
requests from schools for addressing students.
In His message to them, He stressed the
importance of their duties — sincerity towards
studies and inculcating good traits. He exhorted
them to cultivate the eight atmagunas listed
by sage Gautama. These eight qualities are:
home with Him. Compassion towards all beings, forbearance,
freedom from jealousy, purity (physical and
mental), freedom from laziness, auspiciousness,
absence of stinginess and freedom from attachment. His Holiness’s exposition of
these may be seen later in this book in the chapter titled Cogent Elucidations.

His Holiness taught the young that it was important that they should be grateful,
respectful and obedient to their parents, elders and teachers. He pointed out that
ingratitude was, according to the scripture, unpardonable. Since parents normally
accompanied their young wards when the latter were addressed by His Holiness, He
reserved some advice for them as well. He said that narrating to their wards good
stories from the puranas served to strengthen their moral values. For instance, on
hearing the story of Hariscandra and of the success he attained in the end, one may
feel inclined to speak the truth. His Holiness told the parents that loving their wards
and paying suitable attention to them is necessary and they should do what they can to
ensure that their children do not go astray.
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A certain devotee’s son had no inclination towards religion. Much as the father tried
to goad him and put him in the theistic path, he could not succeed. He submitted his

His Holiness taught
the young that it
was important that
they should be
grateful, respectful
and obedient to their
parents, elders and
teachers.

“Despite the sincere
and repeated efforts of
the parents, if a child
does not assimilate
good values owing
to strong adverse
tendencies of the past,
parents have little
choice but to remain
calm and unperturbed.”

- His Holiness

plight to His Holiness. His Holiness told him, “While you
are the cause of your offspring’s birth, like every child,
he has brought with him samskaras (impressions and
tendencies) from his previous lives. Those tendencies
do have an influence on the way he thinks and behaves.
For your part, you should persuasively tell him what is
good for him and set an example by the way you conduct
yourself. That will suffice. Do not be unduly perturbed
over this.” It dawned on the devotee that parents have
the responsibility to see that their children imbibe good
values. However, despite their sincere and repeated
efforts, if a child does not assimilate those values owing
to strong adverse tendencies of the past, parents have
little choice but to remain calm and unperturbed.

When His Holiness was camping at Dharwad, at the
request of the Headmistress of an orphanage, He readily
consented to visit the school. The Headmistress showed
His Holiness around the place. She then introduced
her wards to Him one by one, saying, ‘I found this one
abandoned in a railway station at the age of three. This
one was picked up from a dustbin...” As He listened to her
and saw the orphans, his heart melted and He was visibly
moved.

He was at the Shankara Math, Shankarapura, Bengaluru, for His Caturmasya in
1987. One morning, students of Shree Ramana Maharshi Academy for the Blind
were brought there; they wanted to sing bhajans in His presence. To fulfil their
wish, He, who had finished giving tirtha-prasada, continued to sit in the hall.
The bhajans commenced. The sheer impact of the chorus was such that in less
than a minute, tears swelled in His eyes. He made no attempt to contain them
for almost the entire duration of about thirty minutes. After they were done,
the children were lined up in a queue to receive His blessings. He blessed them
by firmly placing a fruit in the outstretched palms of each and every one of them.

He also gave away gifts of clothes to them.
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Usha Venkatachalam recalled: “lI was a kid
of four when in 1964, His Holiness graced
our house during His visit to Tirunelveli. He
blessed us all with prasada and got into His
car, about to leave. | was happily engrossed in
some play inside the house and did not realize
that His Holiness was leaving. That was when,
from deep inside the lengthy passage of our
village house where | was at play, | heard the
sound of His car start. | darted from inside
. screaming, ‘Guru-svami is leaving. Hearing
my shrill shout, His Holiness instructed His
driver to stop. It took me a while to cover the
long distance to the veranda. He waited for
me despite His tight schedule. Once | approached the car, He gave me a fruit and most
lovingly blessed me placing His lotus hand on my head.”

B. R. Vidyashankar was eleven when he had this memorable encounter with Him:
“In December 1976, | tagged along with my grandparents to Panaji where His Holiness
was then camping. It was about six in the morning. While all others were up and
about by then, | was still fast sleep. His Holiness came out to behold the arati of the
dhanur-masa-pija to Candramaulisvara. | was then woken up by my grandparents;
| later learnt that He had indicated to my grandparents to let me be. Still sleepy, | stood
there rubbing my eyes as He was on His way inside. Prodded by my grandmother,
| prostrated before Him. | was unmindful of having been in my shorts and shirt. He
beckoned me to follow Him and led me to His room on the fourth floor. ‘How do you
find Goa? Are you
having a nice time?’ He
asked me. | was fully
awake by then, thanks
to the little walk. ‘Yes,
having a good time, |
replied. He stood at the
big open window that
overlooked the harbour
and asked me to come
near. It was dark outside
on that winter morning.
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In the lights of the ships and boats there, | could see the harbour and the Mandovi
River. What a beautiful sight it was! He made it all the more memorable for me
as He pointed out, ‘Look at that large ship over there at a distance. Do you also see
the Mandovi River that is meeting the sea? See how beautiful the scene is!” After that,
He did not send me empty-handed. He blessed me with a pack of dates. What a way to
be woken up at the start of a day! By His grace, | can relive every bit of that fascinating
experience to this day.”

The following was recalled by Ramanatha Sastry: “lI went with Vaarini, my two-year
old daughter to His Holiness’s Coimbatore camp for His darsana. As we were about to
take leave, He pointed to the tray of fruits in front of Him to Vaarini and asked her
to indicate her favourite one. She looked at the collection for a while and refused to
choose any. She mumbled something; | clarified that she liked biscuits and that was
what she did not find there. He promptly despatched one of His attendants to get a
packet of biscuits. On seeing the packet brought, her face lit in delight. But not all was
so smooth. He handed to her two biscuits from the packet. Vaarini refused to
take the bait. She wanted all of the packet and remonstrated right there. After a
few moments of harmless teasing, seeing her unrelenting, He put those couple of
biscuits back in the packet and now held it forth for her. Her anger turned to glee
in a trice and she snatched the pack from His hands. With a smile, He remarked,
‘Look at her self-esteem at this tender age. She is just about two and is so assertive
and demanding!””

His Holiness knew of seven-year-old Rajalakshmi’s fondness for pomegranates. He

asked her to pick her choice from the tray of fruits in front of Him. Unable to find any

pomegranates there, she settled for an apple and picked it. He then pulled out a large
bright red pomegranate that He had concealed
behind Him. She wanted that. “You have made
your choice already. Why ask for this now?”
He teased. After some pleading, she had both
from Him.

His Holiness was in Kalady in 1980 for Sarikara-
jayanti and an Atirudra-mahadyajia. Young
Viswanath went there with his grandparents.
Having helped himself to a sumptuous lunch
at Thekke Madom, he went to sleep in the
shade of a tree in the garden. By about 3 p.m.,
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tirtha-prasada at the usual hour, guilt and shame
tormented Viswanath, holding him back from
approaching His Holiness. Eventually, he joined
the queue. When his turn came, he extended
his hand in front of His Holiness, taking care to
avoid eye contact. Slowly pouring tirtha into his
cupped palm, His Holiness queried, “Oh! When
did you arrive from Bengaluru? Who all have
come with you?” His Holiness knew very well
that he had been there for a few days by then.
Viswanath silently scampered away and sipped
the tirtha. Fully eased out of his shame and
tension by His Holiness’s gentle teasing, he
grinned sheepishly to himself. He even relished
reliving the event again and again.
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His Holiness to Thekke
Madom on His rounds.
accompanied by Ramaswamy and
Mahabala, His personal attendants.
Seeing Viswanath sleeping there,
Ramaswamy tried to shake him
out of his slumber, saying, “Get up,
get up! His Holiness is on His way
here.” With his eyes still shut,
Viswanath summarily dismissed the
intrusion. “Don’t lie! His Holiness
is in Kalady; | am in Bangalore
(Bengaluru),” He muttered and
quietly went back to sleep. Watching
all this from a distance, His Holiness
was amused. He instructed that the
boy not be disturbed and walked
on. Around 5 p.m., Ramaswamy
informed Viswanath of what had
transpired a couple of hours back.
The next morning, when His Holiness
was blessing the devotees with

came
He was




Almost every child who had the good
fortune of beholding His Holiness would
have one or the other cherished memory
associated with Him. He had a knack of
making every child feel that He singled
him or her out to shower His singular love.
Invariably, all of them felt dearest to Him.

A child asked His Holiness, “Did a
crocodile grasp Your foot when You
were young?” “No,” He responded,
“that happened in the case of
Sankara-bhagavatpada.” The child
asked, “Then who are You?” “Oh,
| am just someone who is getting
along because of Him,” responded
His Holiness, to the amusement of
all present there.

He had a knack of making
every child feel that He
singled him or her out to
shower His singular love.
Invariably, all of them felt
dearest to Him.
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CHAPTER 18

L ove for Animals

His Holiness was a lover of animals. In the late
1970s, an Ayurveda-vaidya (physician qualified in
Ayurveda) gave His Holiness a rare preparation,
the composition of which was his guarded secret.
The physician said that his preparation would heal
any wound. The quantity supplied was small and
so it was precious. One day, His Holiness beheld
a dog that whimpered in agony due to a deep
knife wound. Moved as He was, He immediately
ordered for that rare medication be applied to the
dog. Whoever would have thought that such a rare
medicine, possibly meant for some future use of
His Holiness, would be parted with for healing a
dog? The application was continued for a couple of
days. The wound healed well and quickly too. The
dog returned to its normalcy.

Hurting dogs with stones is a pastime of many
sadists. His Holiness vehemently opposed and
prevented such unwarranted cruelty. When He
was once addressing a group of school students
in Bengaluru, the howl of a dog was heard. It
prompted Him to promptly remark, “Someone had
pelted a dog with a stone. Itisimproper and indeed
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sinful.” The spontaneity of His reaction bore
testimony to His concern for animals and
disapproval of people sadistically causing

injury to them.

The following was narrated by Rajam
Nagarajan: “Once His Holiness entrusted
me with the task of cleaning and repairing
some ornaments of the Sarada Temple.
Something interesting transpired around
that time.

“There was this dog Kariya (the black one),
wandering about in the matha premises.
He used to howl during arati at the end of
the night padja to Lord Candramaulisvara,
adding to the peal of bells and blowing
of conches. While some found this
a disturbance, His Holiness did not
mind it in the least. Some mischievous
boys tried leaving the dog far away
from the matha premises, only to find
Kariya navigate his way back soon
thereafter. Once Kariya even swam across
Tunga in spate to make his way to
Narasimhavana. He was so strongly
wedded to those precincts that in a
lighter vein, His Holiness once even
remarked that Kariya must have had some

connection with the matha in his previous
birth!

“One day, as His Holiness was returning after darsana at the samadhi of His Guru, He
told Kariya, who was following Him at a distance, ‘Come here.” The dog immediately
obeyed. Pointing towards me, His Holiness said, ‘Look, this Mami is working on some
important assignment for the Matha. She needs security. Be with her and guard her’
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From then on, Kariya started living
by my house, eating whatever |
served. He followed me wherever
| went. Even others were able
to notice the metamorphosis in
the dog’s behaviour. Vaikuntam
Anantarama Seshan told me,
‘Rajam, Kariya has been with
you ever since His Holiness had
instructed him to guard you. This
dog that roamed about aimlessly
in these surroundings is now fully
alert and guarding your place. |
have not seen such a disciplined
dog before.” His Holiness seemed
to have a two-way love and
communication with animals.”

Inthe 1940s, His Holiness began to
rear a deer named Hari. Hari was
extremely fond of Him; he was
domesticated and docile. After
the deer’s demise, He had with
Him a spotted antelope, which
too, He named Hari. Knowing the
ways of Hari, His Holiness said,
“Sometimes Hari would jump
at someone. It is incumbent on
the person concerned to remain
motionless. Hari’s wont is to just
stand up on his rear feet and

rest against the person; he then returns to his normal posture.” For his part, Hari was
extremely fond of His Holiness and followed Him wherever He went. He used to be
present beside Him even when He conducted His classes, resting on a seat specially
provided for him and feeding on some green grass.

Hari kept the company of His Holiness whenever He gave darsana. His Holiness told
me humorously, “Hari seemed to be a great advaitin; he made no distinction between
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me and himself. Even as people placed

“Hari seemed to be a great fruits before me, he had no compunction
advaitin; he made no in devouring them then and there.” Being
distinction between me and extremely swift, Hari would sprint across
himself. Even as people placed the entire Narasimhavana and return in

fruits before me, he had no
compunction in devouring
them then and there.” His Holiness fed and sported with some
peacocks that were in Narasimhavana. Of

minutes, much to His Holiness’s delight.

- His Holiness course, they were not trained by Him and

He never regarded them as pets in the true
sense of the term. However, He did spend time with them and delighted in watching
them spread out their colourful feathers and dance. He once reared two rabbits.

Jagadguru Sri Saccidananda Sivabhinava Nrsimha Bharati Mahasvamin, the 33" pontiff,
reared a monkey which He had found during one of His tours. He liked it to the extent that
He did not hesitate to cuddle it. His Holiness too appreciated monkeys and was charmed
by their pranks. On an occasion, He saw a huge monkey which, to others, appeared
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fearsome. He did not fear it in the least and held a fruit for it in His out-stretched palm.
The simian took it and began to eat it. His Holiness was overwhelmed by love for the
monkey and immediately put His arm around its shoulders. The monkey was surprised
but seemed to relish the embrace. It stood still, as if posing for a photograph, which
indeed was taken, and then continued to enjoy the fruit.

In 1977, His Holiness had been to Brindavan, where SriKrsna had sported in His childhood.
He camped for the night at a building housing a shrine and belonging to the Rajmata of
Gwalior. As it was warm and stuffy, He chose to sleep in the open. Some advised Him that
it might be a tad dangerous as several monkeys were around there. He, however, felt no
trepidation and rested for the night with the starlit sky for His roof. Many monkeys were,
in fact, moving about nearby but none monkeyed with Him in the least.

Rama Sastry, His Holiness’s pdrvasrama farther, once chanced upon a forlorn tiger cub
in a forest near Sringeri. He fancied rearing it. When His Holiness saw the little one, He
fondled it. Rama Sastry took it to his home in Bengaluru, but as his neighbours grew
apprehensive, he had to give it away to a zoo.

There was in Narasimhavana a pretty cat of golden hue. His Holiness addressed
it as ‘Bekku. It would, like a dog, respond to His call. His Holiness played with
it, teasingly waving a cloth in front of it as it jumped to catch the cloth.
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After His Holiness had finished His
Candramaulisvara-pdja at night, when He
went to the samadhi of His Guru, the cat
great, He was unfettered by would be waiting for Him. It followed Him
attachment towards them. when He returned to Sacchidananda Vilas

and received milk there. When the news

of the cat having disappeared reached

Him, He heard it with equanimity. He discerned that it had died and so any attempt
to find it would be futile. While His love for animals was great, He was unfettered by

While His love for animals was

attachment towards them.

His Holiness was knowledgeable about birds and could comfortably describe the ways
of the birds in and around Sringeri. In 1989, when a person, who had come to Sringeri
for darsana with His wife and son, told His Holiness that his son loved birds and wanted
to become an ornithologist, He told the boy that near Sringeri there was a paksi-dhama
(the Uluve Bird Sanctuary) and asked him to visit it. He then described the migratory
birds that came there for nesting. Expressing His sympathy for the plight of the local
birds during the rainy season, He once said, “The small birds can hardly fly out during
the heavy rains that continue non-stop for days on end. Their store of energy is small
and they cannot be without food for long. So they have to put up with the ordeal
of coming out of their shelters to feed. They can become fully wet even under their
feathers. This makes them more susceptible than otherwise to feeling cold.

He strictly prohibited fishing in the Turnga from Matha’s premises. He once humorously
remarked, “Human urine is regarded as impure. Fish urine is not spoken about. The
fishes in the Tunga, unlike the fishes in the sea, do not drink water. They, however,
urinate much to pass out the water entering their body, which has a much greater
concentration of salt than the fresh water of the river. Their urine obviously mixes with
the surrounding water. Nonetheless, even the most orthodox do bathe in the river in
the vicinity of the fish in the Matha and do become purified. The flowing water of a
river is, according to the scripture, suci (pure).” To two fishermen who came to Sringeri
from coastal Kerala and asked Him to advise them what they could do in Sringeri that
would please Him, He said, “You fish there. Feed the fishes here.”

There were two elephants — Shankara and Sharada — in the Matha. During His first
tour of South India, they were young and small enough to be transported in the
Matha vehicles. They accompanied Him on that tour. He had a special connect with
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and affinity for them. He had a spacious
gaja-sala  (elephant-shed) built at
Sringeri. Every day, after having a meal
near the Office of His Private Secretary
in Narasimhavana, the elephants halted
opposite Sacchidananda Vilas in the
road below to receive fruits. Often, His
Holiness personally fed the elephants,
placing the fruits directly into their
mouths. They consumed them with gusto.
He even spoke to them lovingly and they
seemed to have a way of understanding
Him to an extent. After enjoying His
caressing, they moved on, led by the
mahout. His Holiness also performed the
traditional gaja-pija on the appropriate
occasions.

It was once reported to Him that one of

the pachyderms was unwell. When the

elephants arrived at the steps opposite
Sacchidananda Vilas that afternoon for
their routine feed of fruits, He enquired
about the symptoms in detail from the
mahout and the supervisor. He quickly

Often, His Holiness
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diagnosed the cause and decided on the requisite medication. He directed His attendant

to fetch a handful of a certain herb from the coconut grove behind Sacchidananda Vilas.

Before proceeding to fetch it, the attendant gave Him his description of the herb to ascertain

that he had the right one in mind. His Holiness corrected his misidentification and ensured

Elephant-shed built by His Holiness

that he brought the right one. His Holiness
then personally supervised administering that
medication.

Once, around 2 o’clock in the night, one of
the elephants had been trumpeting for a
while. His Holiness awakened, walked up to
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The cows seemed to love Him and
- on sensing that-His attention was on
them, they gently nudged Him; that
was their way of seeking two rewards
__—some fruits and a gentle stroke or

two of His hands. His performance

of the customary ‘go-pija (cow-
worship)” with great interest was a
~ delight to watch.

Cowshed complex built by His Holiness
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= the gaja-sala to investigate for Himself and

directed the necessary follow up action.

Cows were part dear to His Holiness.
He took good care of many of them.
Hot summer, long-drawn wet rains
and cold winters witnessed in Sringeri
(being in the Malanad region) do not
constitute the most conducive climate
for cows. Especially during winter and
rains, they need special care. For their
comfortable stay, He built a spacious
gosald (cowshed) to house over sixty
cows in Narasimhavana. He planned and
set up specially earmarked grass fields to
supply fresh feed for the cattle. During His
evening strolls and sometimes even
otherwise, He visied them in their shed.
He lovingly patted the cows and fed them
personally; He also played with the calves.
The cows seemed to love Him and on
sensing that His attention was on them,
they gently nudged Him; that was their
way of seeking two rewards — some fruits
and a gentle stroke or two of His hands.
His performance of the customary ‘go-
paja (cow-worship)’ with great interest
was a delight to watch.

In addition to cows, the gosala housed
an impressive and sweet bull in the early
1980s. This bull won awards in many
bovine shows. The earlier one was quite
violent. On one occasion, that bull broke
loose and threatened to wreak havoc. His
Holiness was present on the scene. It was
suggested that He move away to safety



“If every man decides to protect his
~own cows, then cow-slaughter will
— | come-to-an-end.—Reople—muysthear jne
mind that cows are sacred animals and
they nourish us with their milk. Evéh_
cows that do not yield milk are useful
for the manure that they produce.
— ———Hence, at least a sense-of gratitude
should cause us to attend to the plight
of aged cows, oxen and bulls.”

e

- His Holiness

but He was more concerned with the safety of others; He stayed put and personally
directed the operations to bring the bull under control and left only then. When | went
for His darsana a little later, He recounted what had transpired near the gosala, making
animated imitations of the facial expressions and the violent movements of the bull,
thus adding a humorous touch to the narrative.

Many people vociferously protest against cow slaughter and swear by cow protection.
His Holiness believed more in practice than in sloganeering; He took great care of cows. He
opined that cow-slaughter cannot be eradicated completely unless every master of a cow
resolved to take care of his animal even after it has stopped yielding milk. His Holiness’s
message was, “If every man decides to protect his own cows, then cow-slaughter will
come to an end. People must bear in mind that cows are sacred animals and they nourish
us with their milk. Even cows that do not yield milk are useful for the manure that they
produce. Hence, at least a sense of gratitude should cause us to attend to the plight
of aged cows, oxen and bulls.”
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CHAPTER 19

Nation First

As per the Ramayana, Lord Rama said, “The mother
and the motherland are superior even to heaven.”
While having transcended the limiting senses of
‘I and ‘mine’ by virtue of His realization of and
firm abidance in the non-dual Reality, His Holiness

manifested intense patriotism.

He greatly valued the freedom movement. Having
a keen sense of history, He was quite conversant
with the lives of great freedom fighters and spoke
admiringly and movingly of those who unhesitatingly
sacrificed their lives for Indian independence. He
was steadfast in
His commitment
to the sovereignty
of our country. He
firmly maintained

Having a keen sense
of history, His Holiness
was quite conversant
with the lives of great
freedom fighters and
spoke admiringly and
movingly of those
who unhesitatingly
sacrificed their lives for
Indian independence.
He was steadfast in
His commitment to
the sovereignty of our
country.

that while we may have some differences of opinion
on matters internal to us, as a nation, we must have a
single voice in our dealings with external entities.

When the nation’s sovereignty came under the threat
of foreign aggression, He offered prayers to the

Lord for the nation’s welfare and also contributed
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“In ancient times,
the task of protecting
the nation and its
people was enjoined
on the Ksatriyas. That
duty has now been
entrusted to you.
Whatever subgroup
you may belong
to, all of you of the
armed forces have a
paramount duty and
that is to guard the
nation.”

- His Holiness

significantly to the National
Defence Fund. It may be
recalled that in the wake of
the Indo-Pakistan war, the
Prime Minister of India, Lal
Bahadur Sastry, gave the
slogan, ‘Jai Jawan, Jai Kisan’
in 1965 and appealed for
generous contributions.
In 1965, to mark the 49"
Vardhanti of His Holiness, grand celebrations were
organized in Chennai. With offerings from devotees, His
Holiness performed kanakabhiseka (worship with gold
coins) to Goddess Saradamba. Stirred by the call of the
nation, during the felicitation functions at the conclusion
of the celebrations, His Holiness spontaneously donated
those gold coins along with a monetary contribution
to the National Defence Fund. These were received

in person by the Chief Minister of Tamil Nadu, M. Bhaktavatsalam. His Holiness made
generous donations even during th